Autism and Internationalised Schools: The Search for a Socially Just Education in the People's Republic of China

Jonathan Hay, BA (Hons.) (Bishop Grosseteste University), MSc (University of Nottingham)
August 2024
This thesis is submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Education and Social Justice).
Department of Educational Research, Lancaster University, UK.
Word Count: 56,172

Abstract

This thesis uncovers the extent to which Chinese internationalised schools are capable of providing autistic students with a more socially just education. This notion of a socially just education is taken from a critical disability understanding of social justice that has not been employed in China. Evidence has indicated that autism remains misunderstood in China and that autistic people have fewer life and educational opportunities. Currently, autistic students are excluded within Chinese public education and research has found that non-traditional learners such as autistic people may be better supported in the underresearched internationalised school sector. It is important, therefore, that a developing school system that has the potential to support autistic individuals be evaluated through a disability centred framework. Twenty participants (10 autistic students and 10 internationalised schoolteachers) participated in qualitative semi-structured interviews. These interviews were used to inform the thesis research question. In an original contribution to the field of autism educational research in China, this thesis is the first to investigate the empowering nature of Chinese internationalised schools and if they can or cannot provide a socially just education to autistic students. Furthermore, this research adds to the limited number of qualitative autism studies in China and distinguishes itself by being one of, if not the first, study to truly include the voices of autistic teenagers. Ultimately, this thesis finds that Chinese internationalised schools are incapable of providing autistic students with a more socially just education for several reasons including political control of the education system and the existence of a Chinese Confucianist understanding of education that permeates throughout society. Findings have implications for education within China, Chinese internationalised schools, autism education worldwide, and the recognition that evaluative frameworks that centre disability and the needs of autistic people do exist and can be utilised in various contexts.

Contents

Abstract	1
List of Figures	5
Acknowledgements	6
Author's Declaration	7
Chapter 1: Introduction	8
1.1 Confucian Attitudes Towards Disability in China	9
1.2 The Current Gap in Research	10
1.2.1 Gaps in Qualitative Autism Research	10
1.2.2 Gaps in Chinese Internationalised School Research	11
1.2.3 Gaps in Theoretical Understandings of Disability	11
1.3 Research Aim and Research Questions	12
1.4 Thesis Structure	13
Chapter 2: Literature Review	14
2.1 Autism	15
2.1.1 A Condensed History of Autism	15
2.2 Models of Autism	19
2.2.1 A Medical Model of Autism	19
2.2.2 A Social/Rights Model of Autism	26
2.3 Disability, the Education System, Autism, and a Burgeoning Approach to Education in The People's Republic of China	32
2.3.1 Disability in Chinese Society	
2.3.2 Autism and the Chinese Education System	
2.3.3 The Chinese Education System, Autism, and Internationalised Schools	
Chapter 3: Theoretical Framework	
3.1 Critical Disability Theory	
3.2 A Socially Just Education	
Chapter 4: Methodology	
4.1 Methodological Assumptions	
4.2 Research Methods	
4.2.1 Semi-Structured Interviews	
4.3 Participant Sampling & Demographics	
4.4 Ethics, Ethical Reflexivity, and Positionality	
4.4.1 Ethics	64

4.4.2 Ethical Reflexivity and Positionality	70
4.4.3 Reliability and Validity from a Phenomenological Standpoint	75
4.5 Data Analysis	77
4.5.1 Familiarising Oneself With the Data	79
4.5.2 Generating Initial Codes	79
4.5.3 Searching for Themes	81
4.5.4 Reviewing Themes	82
4.5.5 Defining and Naming Themes & Producing the Report	85
Chapter 5: Findings	85
5.1 Findings: Feelings of Value	86
5.1.1: Value as An Individual	87
5.1.2 Isolation from Devaluation	95
5.2 Findings: Lack of Engagement	103
5.2.1: Lack of Agency	104
5.2.2: Lack of Voice	112
5.2.3: Lack of Support	118
5.3 Findings: School and Preparation	124
5.3.1: Student and Teacher Responses	125
5.3.2: Student Responses	128
Chapter 6: Discussion	130
6.1: Reiteration of Normality	131
6.2: Lack of a Disabled (Autistic) Voice	136
6.3: Discussing Power, Politics, Society, and China	140
Chapter 7: Conclusions	140
7.1 Main Conclusions	142
7.1.1 The Reiteration of Normality in Chinese Internationalised Schools	142
7.1.2 The Absence of a Disabled (Autistic) Voice In Chinese Internationali. Schools	
7.2 Limitations	144
7.2.1 Sampling and Diversity	144
7.2.2 Nascent Investigations and Research Scope	
7.3 Recommendations and Implications for Future Research and Practice	
7.3.1 Implications for Autism Research in China	145
7.3.2 Implications for Chinese Educational Policy	146

7.3.3 Implications for Autistic People	147
7.4 In Closing	148
References	149
Appendices	226
Appendix One – Ethical Approval	226
Appendix Two – WeChat Message Text for Student Participation	227
Appendix Three – WeChat Message Text for Teacher Participation	227
Appendix Four – Teacher Participant Information Sheet	228
Appendix Five – Student Participant Information Sheet	231
Appendix Six - Parent/Guardian of Student Participant Information Sheet	234
Appendix Seven – Participant Consent Form	237
Appendix Eight – Interview Questions Asked to Student Participants	238
Appendix Nine – Interview Questions Asked to Staff Participants	241

List of Figures

Figure 1: Student Participant Information	62
Figure 2: Teacher Participant Information	
Figure 3: Thematic tables highlighting the initial themes and sub-themes	81
Figure 4: Thematic table showing reviewed themes and sub-themes	83
Figure 5: Coded responses from the theme of 'Feelings of Value' and the correspon	nding
sub-themes	86
Figure 6: Coded responses from the theme of 'Lack of Engagement' and the corres	sponding
sub-themes	103
Figure 7: Coded responses from the theme of 'School and Preparation' and the	
corresponding sub-themes	125

Acknowledgements

There are several people who I would like to take the time to thank and, without whom, completion of this thesis would not be possible.

First, my thanks go to my twenty participants for giving up their valuable time to speak with me. Their opinions, thoughts, insights, and the discussions we had formed the basis of this research, and I can only hope that this thesis does them justice. The nature of autism education in China has become more greatly informed precisely because of these participants.

Second, I would like to thank my supervisors, Dr. Sue Cranmer and Professor Jo Warin for their support, feedback, encouragement, and for the discussions that we have had that have helped me develop as a researcher. My thanks goes to all members of the Centre for Social Justice and Wellbeing in Education at Lancaster University and, more specifically, to those members of faculty instructing and supporting on the PhD Education and Social Justice course. The seminars attended, feedback given, and discussions had have proved invaluable.

I would like to give a special thank you to my friends and family especially to my mother, for reading every piece of work I have written since I began my undergraduate degree. Your 'readers opinion' and 'thoughts for next time' have been so greatly appreciated and you will hopefully enjoy reading this thesis too. As well as to my greatest friend, Dr. Rory Baxter for being my closest confidant and at my side since our MSc days. I look forward to the day we can hopefully collaborate professionally.

My final thank you goes to my wife, Paballo, and my son Pulé. Thank you for your neverending love and support and for listening to me talk and talk and talk, endlessly, about all things PhD and CDT. Pulé, your arrival has spurred me on to complete this thesis and I promise that daddy's evenings will be a little more free now. To you both I say, Ke le rata haholo ka bobedi.

Author's Declaration

I declare that this thesis is my own work and has not been submitted in substantially the same form for the award of a higher degree elsewhere. No sections of this thesis have been published or submitted for a higher degree elsewhere. This thesis is not the result of joint research.

Jonathan Hay

Chapter 1: Introduction

This doctoral thesis investigates the extent to which Chinese internationalised schools can provide students diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder (henceforth referred to as autism) with a more 'socially just' education. Within the People's Republic of China, disabled people are viewed with sympathy and pity and, resultantly, receive fewer life, employment, and educational opportunities (Stein, 2015; Zheng et al., 2014). This reality that disabled people in China face extends to autistic children who are found to have an impaired quality of life because of them being autistic in China and prevented from accessing a meaningful education (Liu et al., 2016). This thesis seeks to make an original contribution to the field of autism education within China by drawing upon the experiences of autistic students enrolled in the burgeoning Chinese internationalised school sector as well as directing attention to the structure of these schools, the power dynamics within them, the attitudes of teachers towards those with autism, and the ethos of these schools in relation to neurodiversity and the development of a neurodiverse educational community that currently does not exist. It will identify how capable Chinese internationalised schools are of providing for autistic students by focussing predominantly on the experiences and perceptions of the students themselves rather than on the more common-place non-autistic viewpoint that does not represent the beliefs or the interests of the autistic community (Pellicano et al., 2014). Whilst this thesis is concerned with the education of autistic students in the Chinese context, one must remember that autistic students around the world continue to be stigmatised and receive an education that frequently fails to cater to their needs and inadequately prepares or recognises them as citizens who deserve to participate in society (Obeid et al., 2015; Shah, 2001; Tipton & Blacher, 2014). Consequently, the findings reported in this thesis may have wider implications that are applicable beyond China and that could inform practice around the world. Before these issues are investigated empirically, it is important to begin this introductory chapter by offering some contextual background information, specifically the wider Confucian attitude towards disabled people in Chinese society. Although this thesis is specifically addressing autism, the legal classification of autism as a disability means that shedding some light on how Confucian thought and, by extension, Chinese society, views disability is essential in understanding

the current position of autistic people in the country. This introductory chapter will also draw attention to the current gap in research literature and will highlight the scope and aims of this doctoral thesis. Finally, the structure of the thesis will be outlined both for the purposes of clarity and to allow for a transparent presentation of the development of this piece of research. For the sake of clarity and transparency, it is important to draw attention to the fact that I, the author of this thesis, am both a teacher (by training) and autistic. As such, this thesis is, understandably, influenced by this position that I have outlined.

1.1 Confucian Attitudes Towards Disability in China

As a Confucian heritage country, attitudes towards disability in China are, understandably, in keeping with the dominant Confucian thought, even though they can sometimes appear contradictory. There are scholars who adhere to the view that Confucianism sees disability positively, and for whom the Confucian virtue of ren (benevolence) is of the upmost importance. Frequently described as the most valuable of the Confucian virtues (Guo & Cui, 2012), ren encourages good and proper treatment towards oneself and others, in particular children, the elderly, people with illnesses, and disabled people (Gu, 2006). The importance of ren within Confucianism has led to the belief amongst many Chinese scholars that not only do disabled people benefit when others demonstrate the virtue of ren towards them, but also that the encouragement of proper treatment towards those with disabilities is akin to viewing disabled people as being highly regarded within Chinese society (e.g. Xie & Chen, 2014). Whilst it may be true that the virtue of ren does encourage society to view disabled people in a more positive light than might otherwise be the case, it is important to recognise that *proper* treatment does not automatically equate with respect, equitable treatment, or even equality. Yu et al. (2011), for example, found that positive attitudes towards disabled people in China do not stem from the idea that they are equal in society, but from pity and sympathy towards them.

For those who believe that Confucianism views disability in a negative light, Confucian philosophy has influenced thinking that has resulted in disabled people being viewed as helpless or deserving of sympathy (Shang et al., 2011; Zheng et al. 2014. Whilst it could be argued that such beliefs are antiquated, attitudes towards disabled people are still heavily influenced by Confucian thought and practices (Degenhardt & Zhang, 2015; Zhang, 2014)

and are predominantly negative (Zhang, 2014). Whilst specific Confucian thoughts shall be discussed later in this thesis, this belief is objectionable and engenders discrimination.

1.2 The Current Gap in Research

As indicated, this thesis has been written to address the gaps that exist within the relevant research literature. These gaps are comprised of gaps in qualitative autism research and autism education research in China; gaps in research surrounding the concepts and practices of Chinese internationalised schools; and the absence of research concerned with alternative frameworks apart from Confucianism through which to view concepts of disability and social justice. These areas will be addressed thoroughly in chapter 2 and, regarding critical disability theory, in chapter 3. Before then, however, a brief overview of what some of these issues are would be helpful to keep in the back of one's mind throughout the reading of this thesis. These three specific topics will now be discussed in turn.

1.2.1 Gaps in Qualitative Autism Research

As with most disability research in China, interest in autism has only blossomed within the past ten years (Clark et al., 2019). It is of no surprise, therefore, that autism research within the 'Middle Kingdom' still has a way to go before the recognition and acknowledgement of autism becomes more prevalent in mainstream Chinese society. As with any developing field, 'scientific' quantitative research usually dominates (Shuval et al., 2011). This is certainly the case here as most autism research in China is of a medical nature (e.g. Liu et al., 2021; Yang et al., 2021). Despite an increased medical interest in autism in China however, work by Sullivan and Wang (2020) and Khan et al. (2013) has indicated that most autism research continues to be conducted in North America and Europe thus, inevitably, pointing towards an under investigated field in China. From a qualitative and education-based standpoint, as will be discussed in detail in chapter 2, little exists in the way of pre-existing research (Wang et al., 2019). Some work addresses the necessity for a more complete understanding of the needs of China's autistic population – both educational and social (e.g. Bak et al., 2022; McCabe, 2013; Zhang & Spencer, 2015) but the majority of research instead addresses the causes, symptoms, and treatments of autism within China (e.g. Wang et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2022; Zhou et al., 2019), and

further reinforces the current preference for quantitative, scientific investigations over qualitative educational ones.

1.2.2 Gaps in Chinese Internationalised School Research

As of 2019, China had emerged as the market leader for international schools of the non-traditional type (internationalised schools) that allow the enrolment of locally based Chinese nationals (Bunnell & Poole, 2022; Civinini, 2019). However, the pedagogical and commercial practices of these schools remain under reported (Bunnell & Poole, 2022; Golis, 2024; Hayden & Thompson, 2013) and the schools themselves maintain an air of mystery due to their separation from the local community and solitary, more independent nature (Kong et al., 2020). Research has been conducted investigating the experiences of expatriate teachers working in Chinese internationalised schools (Bunnell & Poole, 2022, 2023; Golis, 2024) however, considering 80% of students attending these schools are local nationals (Bunnell, 2022), little research has been conducted on the experiences of local national teachers working in Chinese internationalised schools or the students they serve. In fact, several literature reviews could find no research concerned with these topics. Research did discuss the fact that internationalised schools are selected as they have the potential to offer students needing additional support a sanctuary of sorts (Golis, 2024; Kostogriz et al., 2022; Young, 2018) opening the way for a discussion to take place in chapter 2 of how these under investigated 'safe havens' (Golis, 2024) could potentially offer autistic students a more socially just education.

1.2.3 Gaps in Theoretical Understandings of Disability

Although little research exists on the topic, theoretical understandings of disability in China remain heavily rooted in Chinese Confucianist and Chinese Communist ideologies (X. Qu, 2022; Y. Qu, 2019; Zhang & Rosen, 2018). So far, however, the impact of Chinese Confucianist and Chinese Communist ideologies have resulted in the concept of disability being sidelined and disabled people placed into positions of powerlessness (Lin & Yang, 2018) as will be discussed in greater detail in chapter 2. Because Chinese Confucianist and Chinese Communist understandings of disability seem to have resulted in the stifled development of disabled people in society, this thesis will suggest the need for an alternative understanding of disability to be more fully outlined in chapter 3. This alternative understanding of disability will come from the perspective of Critical Disability

Theory that, owing to a lack of work conducted around qualitive studies of disability in general in China, is better situated as an alternative understanding to disability than Critical Autism Theory despite this thesis focusing specifically on the experiences of autistic people. This is not due to an inherent weakness of Critical Autism Theory (as will be discussed briefly in chapter 2 and 3) but is due to the fact that Critical Disability Theory is a broader theory that, considering the lack of research concerning disability in general in China would allow for this thesis to be, where necessary, situated within considerations concerning disability research at a generic level as well as the specific context of autism.

1.3 Research Aim and Research Questions

In response to the gaps in research, and in an attempt to answer the research question: To what extent are Chinese internationalised schools able to provide a more socially just education to autistic students, this thesis relies on the following sub-questions:

- a. To what extent do autistic students enrolled in Chinese internationalised schools perceive themselves to be valued and included by their schools?
- b. What attitudes do teachers who teach in Chinese internationalised schools have towards autistic students, real or hypothetical, enrolled in those schools?
- c. What perceptions do autistic students enrolled in Chinese internationalised schools have of their life and employment prospects as a result of their education?
- d. To what extent do Chinese internationalised schools propagate awareness of and promote neurodiversity?
- e. To what extent do autistic students enrolled in Chinese internationalised schools have a 'voice' within their schools in matters relating to themselves and their education?

Whilst containing descriptive elements, these research questions are exploratory in nature and, by adhering to Critical Disability Theory (CDT) (Goodley et al., 2019; Puar, 2017), seek to recognise the voices and lived experiences of autistic students. Answering these questions will provide an insight into the potentially inclusive nature of Chinese internationalised schools, allowing a determination to be made as to whether they can offer a more socially just education to autistic students. The thesis addresses the inequitable

position that autistic students currently occupy within the Chinese education system and seeks not only to inform practice within the Chinese context but also to be applicable to the education of autistic students world-wide.

1.4 Thesis Structure

This thesis is organised into 7 chapters. The current chapter (chapter 1) has provided some useful background information, has outlined the gap in current literature and has drawn attention to the research aims and questions that are central to this piece of work. Chapter 2 is a comprehensive literature review that starts with an analysis of autism. The purpose of this analysis is to raise awareness of the difficulties that autistic students may face in school and in life in general and to recognise how knowledge surrounding autism has developed historically. Whilst this area will be expanded upon further in chapter 2, it is important to note that, for the purposes of this thesis, the discussion surrounding the historical development of autism does not include an in-depth investigation of autism theory. This is not due to autism theory being seen as unimportant but is instead due to a consideration of the parameters placed upon this thesis (adhering to a word count, for example) and the plethora of extant work that has been conducted that outlines the development of autism theory more clearly than work documenting the somewhat 'hazy' accounts of the development of autism historically. The literature review will finish by providing an in-depth look at the current position of autistic students within the Chinese education system before drawing attention to the concept of internationalised schools and the opportunities they may offer autistic students, together with the potential they have to realise the concept of a socially just education on a theoretical level.

Chapter 3 introduces the concept of critical disability theory and how the theory relates to autism and to my notion of a socially just education that has been influenced both by pre-existing work surrounding the concept, and by the teachings and theoretical underpinnings of CDT.

Chapter 4 describes the methodology used for the purposes of my research. It begins by explaining my interpretative phenomenological perspective that serves as the basis of this study and outlines my epistemological and ontological beliefs as well as locating these within the wider debate of methodology. I then proceed to outline and defend the qualitative methods used for data collection in this study, namely semi-structured individual

interviews. This chapter introduces participant demographics, essential for any possibility of replicability, and information concerning the participants and why they were selected for participation. The chapter addresses important ethical issues arising in this study, including participant consent, protection from harm, participant confidentiality, and my position as a researcher and the power dynamics that need to be considered when occupying such a position. The chapter concludes with an explanation of the data analysis technique employed and a consideration of how reliable and valid this method of analysis was.

Chapters 5 reports the findings of the research in relation to the themes and sub-themes uncovered during the process of thematic analysis of the data collected from the participants involved.

Chapter 6 forms the main body of the discussion as to whether or not Chinese internationalised schools are able to provide a more socially just education to students diagnosed with autism. This chapter provides an analysis of the findings discussed in Chapter 5 through the lens of CDT and the concept of a socially just education as derived from the theory. The chapter moves beyond the Chinese context and discusses these findings as they relate to autism education worldwide. It is in this chapter that I draw upon the literature discussed in chapter 2 to further inform pre-existing research.

Chapter 7 presents my conclusions regarding the extent to which Chinese internationalised schools are capable of providing students diagnosed with autism with a more socially just education. During this final chapter I offer an honest analysis of the limitations of this study before suggesting the range of potential implications of its findings on policy and practice both within the Chinese context and around the world. I finish this thesis by making recommendations for future research and by presenting a statement encouraging the inclusion and involvement of those diagnosed with autism in any future research concerning autism.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

In order to investigate the extent to which Chinese internationalised schools are capable of providing students with autism with a more socially just education, it is important that the parameters of the discussion are outlined from the start. As research

surrounding autism in general is extensive, owing to nearly eighty years of work on the topic, it is impossible for this thesis to explore every avenue of inquiry. The following literature review seeks, instead, to provide an introduction to and critical analysis of the concept of autism and to investigate the current situation and status of autistic students within the pre-existing Chinese education system and society. It will finish by describing the nature of internationalised schools and their potential to realise the concept of a socially just education for autistic students on a theoretical level.

2.1 Autism

In the words of the National Autistic Society, autism is 'a lifelong developmental disability which affects how people communicate and interact with the world' (National Autistic Society, 2022). Those who identify as autistic or who have received a diagnosis of autism usually have difficulties in one or more areas of functioning, including difficulties in social interaction and communication, impairments in reciprocal social interaction, and the existence of restricted or repetitive interests and behaviours (Hodges et al., 2020; Joon et al., 2021; Seltzer et al., 2003). Owing to the increased prevalence of autism in the world (Zeidan et al., 2022), autism research remains a popular area of academic inquiry, with recent literature investigating sex differences and the comparatively low number of females diagnosed with autism in relation to males (Bedford et al., 2020; Lai & Szatmari, 2020; Zhang et al., 2020), improved screening for clinical diagnoses of autism (Lipkin et al., 2020; Shahamiri & Thabtah, 2020; Wang et al., 2020), participatory research that encourages autistic people to both design and conduct research concerned with autism (Ariel-Cascio et al., 2021; Botha, 2020; Courchesne et al., 2022; Pickard et al., 2022), and the concept of convergence which seeks to discover similarities between 'types' of autism and the reason why 'multiple forms' of autism exist (Kelly et al., 2020; Tai et al., 2020).

2.1.1 A Condensed History of Autism

As a result of the work conducted by Austrian American physician Leo Kanner (1943, 1944, 1965), autism was initially viewed as an exceptionally rare developmental disorder and an early form of childhood psychosis or schizophrenia that was exacerbated by toxic parenting and existed, in the medical community at the time, as a well outlined, distinct diagnoseable condition with no possibility of co-morbidity (Silberman, 2015; Volkmar & McPartland, 2015). Kanner's 'discovery' of autism and his emergent theories

surrounding its nature, its cause, and the recommended treatment for it have subsequently undergone significant revision and development. Nonetheless, they continue to be held at least partially responsible for creating incorrect lines of inquiry that were potentially damaging to the field of autism research and that have contributed, to an extent, to the longlasting negative stereotypes faced by those with autism, and for directing attention away from work that was closer to presenting a more 'true' depiction of autism (Rosen et al., 2021; Silberman, 2015). The decision by Kanner to propagate the description of autism as a rare and well-defined developmental disorder is interesting, particularly in view of the fact that research has revealed that he was almost certainly aware at the time of the work of fellow Austrian physician, Hans Asperger. Asperger had used the word autism, in its modern sense, in an earlier paper entitled Autistic psychopathy in childhood (Asperger, 1944), and had described many of the same features of autism as Kanner, but from the perspective that autism was not especially rare and that those with autism were more likely to present as socially odd 'little professors', as opposed to Kanner's description of autistic children whose needs would be best served in specialised institutions (Chown & Hughes, 2016; Silberman, 2015). It was Kanner's narrower, 'classical' depiction of autism, however, that enjoyed mainstream recognition and popularity, whilst Asperger's work went all but forgotten by the predominantly English language medical journals of the day, partially because of stigma attached to 'German science' that followed the conclusion of the Second World War. In the decades following Kanner's 1944 publication, work continued, incorrectly linking autism with schizophrenia, and propagating the narrative of autism as a rare condition characterised by extreme isolation that most physicians would not encounter in their practice (e.g., Andrews & Cappon, 1957; Chapman, 1966; Eisenberg & Kanner, 1956; Kanner, 1965; Ward & Hoddinott, 1965). It was only in the late 1960s that the relationship between autism and schizophrenia began to be seriously questioned (e.g., Rutter, 1968) and as late as the end of the 1970s that the relationship between autism and schizophrenia or psychosis was categorially dismissed within the scientific community (Volkmar & McPartland, 2014). By the end of the 1970s and due to developments in the understanding of autism, it was evident that Kanner's description of autism and his diagnostic methods were in need of revision. This came in the form of the inclusion of autism in the American Psychological Association's (APA) Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-III, 1980) as a developmental disorder in its own right

(Rosen et al., 2021). During this paradigm shift, research began to focus on the varying degrees to which autism presented in individuals diagnosed with the condition, and on the fact that the seemingly individualised nature of autism necessitated a move away from viewing it as condition with a universal phenotype and towards the idea of a continuum, or autism spectrum, that identified and recognised different levels of 'severity' and functioning (Millichap, 1988; Minshew & Payton, 1988; Wing, 1988). Furthermore, 'newer' forms of autism began to be recognised, such as Asperger's syndrome that enjoyed renewed interest following the translation of Asperger's work into English by Uta Frith (1991), and pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified (PDD-NOS) that was used to diagnose autistic individuals who displayed 'milder' symptoms than those diagnosed with either Asperger's syndrome or Kanner's/classical autism (Matson et al., 2007; Waler et al., 2004). This wider definition of autism called for more specialised diagnostic tools which were designed to address the variety of ways that autism can present and which comprised a number of approaches including psychometric tests designed to report on the adaptive skills, executive functioning skills, and the intelligence of autistic people (Baron-Cohen et al., 2001; Torralva et al., 2013). As a result of the introduction of these tests, it became common practice to label autistic individuals as either 'high functioning' or 'low functioning', where 'high functioning' indicates an average or above average IQ score, comparatively higher levels of independence, and social abilities that, whilst still impaired, are 'advanced' enough to allow at least partial access in neurotypical society (neurotypical being used as a term to describe the predominant, non-autistic neurotype (Beardon, 2021)). By contrast, 'low functioning' describes those diagnosed with autism who may also have an intellectual disability, limited independence, and significant or extreme difficulties in socialising (Baio, 2012). Historically, Asperger's syndrome and PDD-NOS have most often been associated with 'high functioning' autism owing to their 'less severe' symptoms and, in the case of Asperger's syndrome, the complete absence of 'autistic delays' in childhood, together with the presence of highly developed language skills not normally seen in diagnoses of classical autism (Soulières et al., 2011).

Whilst the concept of the autism spectrum has existed since the early 1980s, a true spectrum approach to autism has only recently been adopted, with the DSM-5 (APA, 2013) merging Kanner's/classical autism, autistic disorder, Asperger's syndrome, and PDD-NOS into the aptly named umbrella category of autism. This move has been controversial, with

bodies such as the World Health Organisation (2016), in their published International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems 10th Revision (ICD-10), continuing to view the constituent disorders that comprise the DSM-5 umbrella category of autism as related but separate conditions. Furthermore, the autistic community itself remains divided in the debate around the concept of an autism spectrum umbrella. For example, many individuals previously diagnosed with Asperger's syndrome feel as though a part of their identity and a relationship with their diagnosis has been taken away following the subsummation of discrete conditions under the umbrella of autism (Giles, 2014; Huynh et al., 2020; Smith & Jones, 2020). Others, however, have welcomed the change and have suggested that a spectrum approach allows for a united autistic front (Huynh et al., 2020; Smith & Jones, 2020). Although the debate surrounding the spectrum approach is likely to continue for some time, its very existence shines light on what is an important chapter in the history of autism, namely that autism is not simply a diagnosed medical disorder or difference, but that it has become, for many autistic people, an identity or community whose constituent members share a collective or, at the very least, interrelated culture, consciousness, trauma, history, and societal goal (Botha et al., 2022; Hume & Burgess, 2021; Milton, 2016). Initially, the autistic community was overwhelmingly comprised of physicians who worked with autistic individuals, the parents of autistic children or adults, and academic researchers involved in the field of autism research (McVey et al., 2023). Relatively recently, however, there has been something of a paradigm shift, as autistic individuals have started re-claiming their community in their own name and image (Botha, 2021; Botha et al., 2022; Parsloe, 2015). Work has been done, for example, to move away from a linear understanding of autism as having individuals who are 'low functioning' at one end and 'high functioning' at the other, towards recognising autism as a 'dynamic disability' that presents differently in every individual and results in unique strengths and challenges that manifest differently in all autistic people depending on a cacophony of factors including environment, specific life events at that point in time, and societal attitude (Ripamonti, 2016). Furthermore, technological advances, such as the arrival of social media, better quality communication devices, and the emergence of online communities, has meant that autistic people, who have long occupied some of the most marginalised and isolated positions in society (Jones et al., 2022; Pearson et al., 2023), have been able to come together to discuss autism issues, raise arms against injustice,

collaborate, communicate, and share autistic experiences of autism directly to the autistic community. (Egner, 2022; Tisoncik, 2019).

2.2 Models of Autism

Although discourse surrounding autism has gradually begun to be opened up to autistic people who want to make their voices heard, it is clear from the history of autism, as outlined above, that there are multiple ways of conceptualising and viewing the neurotype. At one end of the continuum is the medical model of autism that views it first and foremost as a medical condition that can be understood through scientific and academic research into its characteristics or clinical markers, its neurological and genetic components, and the levels of 'functioning' that autistic people display (Anderson-Chavarria, 2022; Waltz, 2008). At the other end of the continuum, and of particular importance for this thesis, are social models of autism that hold that the concepts of disability (in this case autism) and 'normality' are socially and ideologically constructed in order to prevent disabled people from full participation in society as a result of their disability (Anastasiou & Kauffman, 2013; Anderson-Chavarria, 2022). Both models have had a significant impact on autism policy and educational support for autistic people, and on how autism is viewed by society as a whole. They will be discussed in turn, paying particular attention to an education policy and practice standpoint so as to better understand the impact of the different models on existing thought surrounding autism and education.

2.2.1 A Medical Model of Autism

As may be evident from the condensed history of the autism outlined in this thesis, the medical model of autism is, to all intents and purposes, the documented history and historically accepted and dominant approach to viewing autism (Anderson-Chavarria, 2022; Silberman, 2015). Although this assertion may seem to devalue the impact of other models of autism on research, public or educational policy, and even on general awareness of the condition, studies on the history of autism continue to highlight the dominant position that the medical model has always held and continues to hold in the field. Whilst it is unnecessary to reiterate the clinical 'discovery' and history of autism, it is important, because of its popularity, to draw attention to the impact that a medical approach has had on the way that autism is viewed in general, how autistic people are or are not supported in society, and how policy has been influenced. As the medical approach to autism initially

concerned itself with the identification, treatment, and, in some cases, cure of autism (Anderson-Chavarria, 2022), the clinical symptoms of autism are particularly important in assessing the impact of a medical model. From a medical standpoint, the very existence of autism as a diagnosable and recognisable 'disorder' that can be studied, treated, and cured relies on the existence of an agreed set of symptoms that identify autistic people as being different from the neurotypical population. The symptoms of autism, that exist primarily as unwanted pathologies in the medical field (Barnes & McCabe, 2012; O'Reilly et al., 2020; Verhoeff, 2015), impact the lives of those with autism and, in turn, inform policy and practice in relation to the treatment of autistic people within various public spheres, including education. These symptoms will be discussed in turn in order to shed light on what they are, how they affect the lives of autistic people within educational institutions, and how educational services have adapted and responded to them.

2.2.1.1 Difficulties in Social Interaction and Communication

Perhaps one of the most identifiable and 'well known' symptoms of autism is the often cited (and diagnosis dependent) difficulty that autistic people have in social interaction and communication (APA, 2013; Wood-Downie et al., 2021). How these difficulties present, however, varies from person to person. Some autistic people, often regarded as 'low functioning', may, for example, display significant delays in spoken language including, in some cases, the complete absence of spoken language, unusual or inappropriate language usage, echolalic speech patterns, and language comprehension problems (Gernsbacher et al., 2016; Maljaars et al., 2012; Prelock & Nelson, 2012; Schaeffer et al., 2023; Ellis-Weismer et al., 2010). At the other end of the medically accepted linear spectrum of autism, those considered to be 'high functioning' have been identified as possessing average or, in many incidences, above average language skills (Narzisi et al., 2013; Noterdaeme et al., 2010; Wilson et al., 2014). Whilst advanced language skills have been regarded as a strength, difficulties in language usage persist in those with 'high functioning' autism, resulting in their language being described as eccentric, unusual, idiosyncratic, or odd (Attwood, 2008; Luyster et al., 2022). Furthermore, highly developed language skills can often mask the difficulties that some autistic people have in pragmatic language (Cardillo et al., 2021; Dolata et al., 2022). This can lead, in some cases, to misunderstandings and subsequent ostracization or isolation (Bauminger & Kasari, 2000; Locke et al., 2010; Parsons et al., 2017).

Whilst language usage has been regarded as both a strength and a challenge, a more universally recognised difficulty across the medically defined autism spectrum is the autistic experience with non-verbal communication and social interaction (APA, 2013; Bottema-Beutel, 2017; Davis & Crompton, 2021; Yavuz et al., 2019). From a medical standpoint, difficulties in social interaction and communication have been attributed to several causes, including the following: a deficit in an autistic person's theory of mind, which suggests that autistic people struggle to understand, empathise, or imagine another person's emotional situation, state of being, or thoughts and feelings (Andreou & Skrimpa, 2020; Baron-Cohen et al., 1985; Livingston et al., 2019; Matthews & Goldberg, 2018; Shamsi et al., 2017;); a social motivation theory that suggests that autistic people have diminished social motivation resulting in less attention being diverted to communication and social interaction as a whole (Bottini, 2018; Chevallier et al., 2012; Dawson & Bernier, 2007); and an anxiety based model that proposes that the mechanisms underpinning a lack of social motivation stem from increased anxiety rather than an inherent diminishing of social motivation in autistic people (Bagg et al., 2023; Factor et al., 2016; Swain et al., 2015). Additional theories providing possible reasons for autistic difficulties in social interaction and communication have focused on executive dysfunction and the challenges that autistic people face in information processing and in shifting attention from one task to another (Hemmers et al., 2022; May & Kana, 2020; Xie et al., 2020). As autistic people have been shown to have impairments relating to executive functioning and cognitive flexibility (Di Sarro et al., 2021; Pellicano, 2007), it is feasible to suggest that these impairments could make transitioning from an independent task (for example completing an assigned piece of work at school) to another task (engaging in a conversation with a teacher or classmate) difficult to navigate or to complete successfully, especially if the two tasks require a different set of skills or processes to complete (Ozonoff et al., 2004; Sawaya et al., 2021).

Regardless of the reasons *why* autistic people experience difficulties in social interaction and communication, a significant amount of research has documented the fact that these challenges are substantial and can prevent autistic people from making meaningful connections within society, from living fulfilling lives, and from accessing the same opportunities afforded to non-autistic people (Cassidy et al., 2018; Elmose, 2020; Hedley et al., 2018; Mazurek, 2014).

Within inherently social institutions such as schools (Connell, 1993), difficulties in social interaction and communication can produce a variety of challenges for autistic people that may not necessarily manifest organically in other spheres of society. These difficulties include adhering to spoken and unspoken rules that exist between peers, communicating effectively and appropriately with peers and teachers, making meaningful connections with peers and teachers, and navigating complex socio-political systems that exist within educational institutions (Crompton et al., 2020; Ghanouni et al., 2019; McDougal et al., 2020; Pesonen et al., 2023; Sulaimani & Gut, 2019; Thomas & Bambara, 2020). As a result, many autistic people have had a less than positive schooling experience. For example, research has highlighted that autistic students are the most likely demographic to experience bullying (Blake et al., 2012) with 86% of the autistic population attending school finding it difficult to manage (Carrington et al., 2017). Furthermore, it has been reported that autistic people experience a greater sense of loneliness than their non-autistic peers, especially when entering adolescence (Deckers et al., 2017; Lasgaard et al., 2010) and that rates of 'autistic anxiety' (Beardon, 2020, 2021), particularly in school age populations, result in greater levels of academic and social difficulty (Adams & Emerson, 2021; Ambrose et al., 2021; den Houting et al., 2018) and decreased levels of participation in school activities that may potentially lead to academic underachievement and feelings of loneliness (Estes et al., 2011; Meindl et al., 2020; Rotheram-Fuller et al., 2010). In response to the difficulties with social interaction and communication and the potential impact of these difficulties on the autistic experience of formal schooling, research has evolved aimed at promoting the increased inclusion of autistic students within their schools (Brede et al., 2017; Saggers & Carrington, 2021; White et al., 2023). For example, in nations such as the United Kingdom and the United States, it is common practice to provide additional learning or friendship support for autistic learners (Davis et al., 2022; Raulston & Hanson, 2021; Zilli et al., 2020). Such support may take the form of social skills clubs (Chen et al., 2023; McDaniel et al., 2022), 'buddy' programmes (Corsi, 2023; Ziegler et al., 2020; Ziegler & Morrier, 2022), or in-class targeted support from a specialist teacher or support professional, designed to facilitate inclusion and involvement in class (Meindl et al., 2020; Stephenson et al., 2021). Whilst there are an exhaustive number of supports available for autistic students, the thinking behind the support offered is often focussed on the idea that the behaviour or behaviours exhibited by the autistic person are inherently detrimental to

success in school. Social skills training, for instance, usually requires the autistic learner to learn how to communicate with their neurotypical peers in a neurotypical way, rather than encouraging neurotypical individuals to be aware when communicating with autistic people (Bottema-Beutel et al., 2018, 2021; Hull et al., 2017; Keats et al., 2022). Likewise, targeted interventions designed to encourage and support autistic students to become more involved in the life of the school often have the opposite effect. Research has found that, despite support and interventions being put in place to promote assimilation, autistic students are still marginalised and rejected by their neurotypical peers and are more likely to experience bullying (Chatzitheochari et al., 2014; Cook et al., 2016). Whilst this finding may seem pessimistic, it is supported by the fact that, in many instances, support for autistic students exists as a policy directive which, in reality, has a long way to go in ensuring that autistic students are truly included (Hasson et al., 2024; Roberts & Webster, 2022). Indeed, research has shown that some educational institutions or teachers within them are unwilling to engage in truly meaningful change so as to include autistic learners due to a lack of understanding about autism and to the persistence of the belief that autism exists as a problem to be fixed rather than something to be accommodated (Roberts & Simpson, 2016; Wood, 2021).

2.2.1.2 Restrictive/Repetitive Patterns of Behaviour/Interest

Despite existing as a core feature for a medical diagnosis of autism, the concept of restrictive or repetitive patterns of behaviour or interest (RRB) remains poorly categorised and vague when referenced in extant literature and when identified or reported upon in clinical settings (Leekam et al., 2011; Uljarevic et al., 2022). That being said, it is important for the sake of clarity within this thesis that an attempt be made to identify what medically defined RRBs are. Recent research by Uljarevic et al. (2022) utilized the largest existing data set of RRB domains and reported that the three most predominant examples of RRB are: (1) 'repetitive motor behaviours' that include hand and finger movements (such as hand wringing or flapping), repetitive body movements (some of which may be self-harming in their nature) or motions or repetitive use of objects; (2) 'insistence on sameness' that manifests as individualised rituals with difficulty adapting to major or minor changes in routine; and (3) 'restricted or circumscribed interests' that could be described as obsessive or inflexible in their intensity or focus. These findings corroborate previous research that, although focussed primarily on the difficulties with social interaction and

communication experienced by autistic people rather than on RRBs (Boyd et al., 2012; Zhou et al., 2021), refers to a significant number of autistic people who display examples of repetitive motor behaviours, an insistence on sameness, and restricted or circumscribed interests, either exclusively or in conjunction with one or more of the other three predominant examples of RRBs previously referred to (Uljarevic et al., 2022). Further research has found that all autistic people seem to experience all the three most common examples of RRB to a greater or lesser extent (Berry et al., 2018; Bourreau et al., 2009).

From a medical perspective, the existence of RRBs within the autistic population is universally viewed as maladaptive, problematic, or unwanted (Bourreau et al., 2009; Lai, 2023; Leekam et al., 2011) Explanations for the existence of RRBs amongst autistic people predominantly focus on the 'atypical', 'divergent', or 'unusual' nature of autism and on the expression of the condition in an individual (Uljarevic et al., 2022) rather than on the possibility that RRBs represent a coping strategy for autistic people, developed to allow for the sense of order, structure, and routine they need to survive in a neurotypical society that has not been designed with their needs in mind. For example, a comprehensive literature search conducted for the purposes of this thesis and encompassing the past twenty years, revealed that almost all relevant research, which it should be noted is scarce, associated the occurrence of RRBs with the presence of higher levels of anxiety within autistic populations because of their autism (Jefferson & Erp, 2023; Russell et al., 2019; Sellick et al., 2021).

From an education perspective, the existence of RRBs can present a challenge for both the autistic student and for the institutions in which they are educated if they are enrolled in a formal schooling program (Klin et al., 2007; Lin & Koegel, 2018). Whilst some research has recognised that the highly structured nature of the school environment can help autistic students establish 'positive' routines and offer a sense of 'sameness' that many of them rely on (Bolourian et al., 2022), other research has identified the potentially traumatic impact of schooling on autistic students because of, for example, unexpected routine changes that are an accepted and often inevitable reality of school life, as illustrated by nations' reactions to the COVID-19 pandemic and the manner in which autistic children were reported to have responded (Alhuzimi, 2021; Amorim et al., 2020; Colizzi et al., 2020; Genova et al., 2021). Moreover, whilst specific RRBs may differ from person to person, in general they usually consist of at least one element that is universally viewed as

detrimental within schools (Jaffey. & Ashwin, 2022). In the case of repetitive body, hand, or related motor movements, research has indicated that, despite the possible negative outcomes of preventing autistic students from moving (Lengel & Kuczala, 2010), there still exists a stigma surrounding movement or self-stimulatory behaviour (Kapp et al., 2019) with behavioural expectations such as sitting still to show readiness, having 'calm hands and feet', and the propagation of 'whole body listening' approaches continuing to be the norm despite running the risk of being considered ableist (Parekh, 2024; Poed & Fox, 2023). Being prevented from engaging on a daily basis in self-stimulatory or repetitive bodily movements, often required for autistic coping or survival (Beardon, 2021; Kapp et al., 2019), has been shown to result in a significant decrease in the quality of life for the autistic person (McCormack et al., 2023; Sandoval-Norton et al., 2019).

The presence of restricted or circumscribed interests can sometimes be of some benefit to the autistic student at school. If, for example, their interests lie in an area that may result in employment, encouragement and a willingness to accommodate an interest could be an outcome and could lead to a future career (Koenig & Williams, 2017; Wood, 2019). However, such encouragement and support, whilst admirable, would appear only to be true for a select few cases. Research has indicated that autistic students who do not display 'desirable' interests may not benefit from the engagement of their interests in school and may instead be forced to modify or eliminate their interests so as to cater to neurotypical expectations (Gunn & Delafield-Butt, 2016; Mercier et al., 2000; Wood, 2019). Moreover, restricted or circumscribed interests have often been described as allencompassing and capable of absorbing all the attention of the autistic individual (Murray, 2021; Wood, 2023). From an education perspective, the result is a student who may be intently focussed in one area of learning but disinterested in others (Gunn & Delafield-Butt, 2016; Mancil & Pearl, 2008). It is unsurprising, therefore, that research has indicated that, regardless of ability level, autistic learners often underperform at a general academic level when the areas that stimulate and interest them are ignored within the classroom (Gunn & Delafield-Butt, 2016). Whilst attention has been given to the presence of RRBs amongst autistic students in schools, a great deal of focus has been placed on encouraging them to adapt their behaviour in order to fit into school rather than the other way around (Gunn & Delafield-Butt, 2016; Wood, 2019). These findings further highlight the fact that the medically based model of autism continues to thrive within the field of education where

support consistently focusses on 'normalising' the autistic student rather than on making adjustments to suit their needs. Even where support does focus on an autistic individual's strengths (such as a specific interest in mathematics, for example), the support available only exists for as long as a skill or talent is deemed educationally appropriate or useful. In the case of RRBs in general, they continue to be viewed as unusual, disruptive, odd, or unwanted (Bourreau et al., 2009; Lai, 2023; Leekam et al., 2011) within society and, by extension, within schools.

2.2.2 A Social/Rights Model of Autism

Whilst the far-reaching and all-encompassing impact on society of a medical model of autism cannot be understated, there has been growing research into the concept of a social model of autism (Anastasiou & Kauffman, 2013; Chapman, 2019; Runswick-Cole et al., 2016). This model takes inspiration from the wider concept of a social model of disability that refuses to characterise disability as a problem to be rid of, instead shifting the 'blame' of disability away from disabled people and towards pre-existing political and societal institutions and infrastructures that, by their very existence and operation, 'disable the disabled' (Davis, 2016; Shakespeare & Watson, 1997). Although the social model of disability is in stark contrast to a medical model, it is best understood (in this thesis at least) as comprising multiple socially based models rather than a single unified approach. As the use of a traditional social model of disability has spread to the realm of autism studies, research has indicated that adjustments are needed to the model in order to truly account for the nature of autism and to ensure that autistic people are not automatically designated the permanent occupiers of powerless positions (Anderson-Chavarria, 2022; Levitt, 2017; Woods, 2017). One socially based model of autism is the human rights-based model. This model infuses the theoretical underpinnings of a social model of disability with the need to respect and consider the individuality and autonomy of the autistic individual and their needs which differ from person to person and context to context (Hodge et al., 2023; Sarrett, 2012). To paraphrase and expand upon the work of Woods (2017), whilst the social model of disability drew attention towards societal structures and away from the disabled individual as being the problem, the social/rights-based model of autism goes further by holding societal institutions accountable for making changes to benefit autistic people rather than simply recognising a discriminatory societal structure and doing nothing about it.

A social/rights model of autism relies heavily on the fact that our societal understanding of autism remains medically informed (Graby, 2016; Silberman, 2015; Woods, 2017) thus allowing society to continue to treat autistic people as being less than. Work by Silberman (2015), however, and his documentation of the history of autism has highlighted the fact that the medical 'truth' of autism has been almost continuously revised over the past eighty years. Far from the disabling nature of autism being a universal truth, continuous updates to diagnostic criteria, disagreements regarding the causes of autism, and even disputes surrounding what autism is add to the idea that medical knowledge and thought about autism is fallible, incomplete, and a human construction designed simply to push a disabling agenda and present autistic people as 'other' (Silberman, 2015). Indeed, the existence of multiple diagnostic frameworks, such as the DSM-5 (APA, 2013) or ICD-11 (WHO, 2024), that have different diagnostic criteria, suggests that the scientific 'facts' of autism are open to interpretation and change. The fact that a medical model of autism is open for debate is of no particular surprise, especially considering that what we 'know' about autism stems essentially from a small set of case studies (Silberman, 2015; Waltz, 2013) put forward by Kanner (1943), who frequently made grandiose and spurious claims regarding his own research, scientific methods, and discovery of autism (Silberman, 2015), Asperger (1944), whose writing and beliefs about autism changed in the late 30s and 40s to better reflect trends in Nazi psychiatry which he is now believed to have been consciously embracing (Sheffer, 2018), and Bettelheim (1967), who, apart from possessing contentious academic qualifications, was believed to have engaged in plagiarism and abuse of power in his academic career (Silberman, 2015). Whilst there is no doubt that the work of these individuals did introduce autism into society in the early to mid-twentieth century, it has been written that, for example, 'the Klein and Bettelheim texts are written in a format more closely approximating a fictive narrative than a medical text' (Waltz, 2005: 433) and that 'diagnoses of autism are essentially storytelling in character' (Duffy & Dorner, 2011: 201). The result of this is not, as a medical model would suggest, a comprehensive understanding of autism based upon solid scientific work but is instead a diagnoseable disability that, despite being built upon unstable foundations, has real consequences for individual lives.

Whilst it is not disputed that autistic people experience the world differently to non-autistic people, it is considered incorrect within a social/rights model of autism to equate differences with deficiencies (Dinishak, 2016; Jaarsma & Welin, 2012). It has been

reported, however, that most of the language used when referring to autism has been medicalising, pathologizing, and deficit-based (Monk et al., 2022; Gernsbacher, 2017) which suggests the existence of autistic deficiencies as opposed to autistic differences. Where this is the case, a social/rights approach would be to argue that the purposeful and targeted use of 'othering language' in relation to autistic people positions the 'problem' of autism within the autistic person and, due to the power of language, determines how autistic people should be viewed and informs attitudes (Woods, 2017). The prejudice faced by autistic people due to the language involved in the autism discourse is not necessarily consciously propagated or recognised as a societal problem by those who are not targeted by it (i.e. non-autistic people). However, it is precisely because non-autistic people and societal structures are not made responsible for making adjustments that benefit autistic people (Woods, 2017) that autistic people continue to face implicit discrimination and exclusion from all areas of society. Studies investigating neurotypical perceptions of autism, for example, found that whilst participants explicitly stated that they had positive views towards autistic people, implicit negative views were the most commonly held (Dickter et al., 2020). Furthermore, despite research recognising that autistic people do not view themselves with a pathology of autism in mind (Botha & Gillespie-Lynch, 2020; Kapp et al., 2013), that fact has been ignored, and autistic people have been discriminated against by being excluded from the very research that is about them because they are autistic and are therefore seen as incapable of producing reliable knowledge and understanding about autism (Frith & Happe, 1999; Hens et al., 2019). Whilst not an exhaustive list, these attitudes towards autism do little or nothing to help the development of a society that values difference and encourages autistic inclusion. Whilst these attitudes may not stem inherently from explicit prejudices against autistic people, a social/rights view would argue that they exist because of the dominant medical model of disability with which they share the same conscious or unconscious aim – the restoration of normality and dominance of the abled over the disabled (Oliver, 1996).

Although the wider realm of social models of disability (including a social/rights model) have gained significant support amongst disabled people, activists, and academics, this has not led to an uptake of such models within educational institutions, educational policy, and educational practices.

Owing to the neo-liberal belief prevalent throughout most of the world's education systems that the main purpose of education is to support and promote a globally competitive economy (Adams, 2013; Ball, 2016; Hall & Pulsford, 2019), many of the educational practices and policies in place in schools, at both a national and international level, may look familiar. Practices such as standardised testing (Ambrosio, 2013; Hursh, 2007, 2017; Rasco, 2020), the promotion and privileging of the 'sciences' over the 'arts' (Aróstegui, 2020; Fautley, 2019), and the removal of freedom within educational policy (Dale & Robertson, 2009; de Saxe et al., 2018) stem directly from the influence of neoliberalism within the education systems of the world and, as indicated by previous research, often work against the educational interests of the students who fall within the ambit of the neo-liberal mandate (e.g. de Saxe et al., 2018; Waite & Waite, 2021; Wong, 2022). It is unsurprising, therefore, that educational systems, programmes, practices, and policies, designed to integrate autistic students into mainstream or specialist schooling, have been influenced and shaped by the prevalent neo-liberal agenda. Methods designed to support the education of autistic students in mainstream schools, such as social skills training, enrolment in the mainstream classroom, buddy systems, or targeted interventions, may be the subject of research (Petersson-Bloom & Holmqvist, 2022), but the effectiveness of these practices has been questioned as the focus has steadily shifted from the perspective of educators aiming to 'normalise' their autistic students towards the extent to which they succeed in ensuring that autistic students are truly successful in all aspects of their formal schooling. For example, research conducted within urban schools reported that, despite the existence of autism-related interventions, they are rarely implemented or adopted in practice owing to the fact that the needs, requirements, and priorities of schools do not align with the desires and needs of autistic students (Locke et al., 2015). Similarly, the use of technology within the mainstream classroom has been touted as a means of addressing the social difficulties that autistic students often face (e.g. Ibrahim & Alias, 2018), but has been found to have limited success and often presents the illusion of learning when, in reality, it serves as a time filling activity rather than a valuable and facilitative educational experience (Knight et al., 2013). It is important to recognise that not all research has concluded that commonly used interventions for autistic students are unsuccessful. Indeed, two long-term systematic reviews of academic and skills intervention in American public schools found that interventions were at least somewhat effective in supporting the academic and social

development of autistic students (Alresheed et al., 2018; Macmillan et al., 2021). That being said, on closer inspection, some approaches included in the analysis, such as the work conducted by Blakeley-Smith et al. (2009), that focussed on adjusting the academic environment and curriculum demands placed on autistic students to nurture success, are a step beyond the commonplace interventions normally implemented for autistic students, particularly in public schools. Moreover, it was identified that further research is required to adequately inform knowledge surrounding intervention strategies, autistic students, educational approaches and curriculum areas (Alrasheed et al., 2018; Grynszpan et al., 2014; Stokes et al., 2017; Virues-Ortega et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2013), and authors acknowledged that publication bias, in which studies with positive results are often overrepresented in literature (Shadish et al., 2016), may well be present in systematic reviews relating to autism and educational interventions (Alrasheed et al., 2018) possibly due to the influence of the neo-liberal educational agenda on discourse surrounding the concept of 'disabled' education. Rather than focussing on specific interventions, Petersson-Bloom and Blomqvist (2022) noted that the success of inclusive intervention strategies was dependent on there being an awareness and understanding of and a respect towards autism and autistic people on the part of educators who had received appropriate training on the subject. This perspective could tie into current literature that, in some instances, does seem to be contrasting in nature. In these cases, the success of an intervention could be down to the beliefs held and attitudes perpetuated by educators towards their autistic students. To once again paraphrase Woods (2017), the language and attitudes used to describe and view an entity results in the entity being described and viewed in that manner.

It was stated that this chapter would investigate the social/rights approach to autism within educational institutions, policy, and practices. However, the investigation has only been possible through a deficit focussed approach that highlights the fundamental *absence* of such an approach. The literature search failed to find any concrete examples of a social/rights approach to autism being implemented, even in isolation, in educational policy and practice. This was despite a review of research and policy documents dated within the past five years from a variety of nations such as the UK, the US, and Australia who found that 'There is a timely need for focus of attention on more "overt and systematic policy support for inclusion in school settings" (Carrington et al., 2024 p. 6). Research conducted with teachers in Bhutan for example found that they supported both a social/rights approach

to educating autistic students that is inclusive in nature, nurturing, accepting of differences, and supportive of the agency of autistic students and a more neo-liberal or medical system of 'micro-exclusion' that sees autistic students segregated in self-contained or specialist autism classrooms (Dukpa, 2022). Similarly, whilst research conducted in The UK and Ireland recognised that teachers may have positive attitudes towards autistic students (Russell et al., 2023), these attitudes do not translate into a social/rights model reality within the schools that autistic students attend. The fact that positive attitudes exist towards autistic students is not enough to ensure inclusion (Russell et al., 2023) and is certainly not enough to remove from them the burden of adapting to a neurotypically designed societal institution.

As mentioned during chapter 1 of this thesis (and highlighted above), the history of autism and subsequent models of autism that owe their origins to that history can often appear 'hazy' or even overwhelming owing to the sheer amount of work that exists surrounding them. As such, it has been important to highlight the parts of autism history and models of autism that are relevant to this thesis specifically rather than providing a complete overview of every avenue and lens that autism has been investigated from. To that end, concepts of autism theory (aside from reference to the diagnostic symptoms of autism from a medical model outlined previously) have, in general, gone without investigation in this thesis. This is not due to this area of autism studies being considered unimportant but is due primarily to the scope of this thesis. References to autism theories such as monotropism, for example, that is described as a particularly powerful autistically developed theory of autism (Woods & Waltz, 2019) and sees the differences experienced by autistic people explained by the existence of 'attention tunnels' (Woods & Waltz, 2019) that views attention available outside of these 'tunnels' as a limited resource (Chown, 2017; Murray et al., 2005; Woods & Waltz, 2019), is a particularly powerful theory of autism that is often neglected due to research not relying on autism theory (Chown, 2017; Milton, 2017). That being said, these existing theories of autism, whether adhered to or not, have been well documented and, whilst their inclusion in this thesis would be interesting, the parameters of this thesis have necessitated that literature addressing disability in China in general and autism within the Chinese education system take precedent. This decision is valid as it is this literature rather than well documented autism theory literature (that, in order to be introduced to the Chinese context, first relies on work in China promoting a

more complete understanding of disability in general) that is concerned with the lived reality of disabled and, by extension, autistic people within China and the education system especially considering the fact that disability in general and autism specifically remain under-researched areas in the context of China.

2.3 Disability, the Education System, Autism, and a Burgeoning Approach to Education in The People's Republic of China

As this thesis is concerned with a more 'socially just' education for autistic students enrolled in mainstream schools in China, and as autism is classified as a disability, it is important to consider how disability as a whole is viewed in Chinese society, what the Chinese education system currently looks like for autistic students, and how the concept of an 'internationalised school' might offer a more 'socially just' education for them. Whilst the medical model remains the preferred approach for researching disabilities, including autism (Graby, 2016), China's unique socio-political culture and its impact on the Chinese education system means that a more in-depth Chinese-focussed investigation of autism and of the education system is warranted.

2.3.1 Disability in Chinese Society

Within the People's Republic of China, disabled people represent some of the most marginalised and ostracised members of society who are continuously denied the right to participate in society and, as a result, receive fewer life, educational, and employment opportunities (Stein, 2015; Zheng et al., 2014). This attitude towards disabled people stems from the way that disability has been viewed historically within a collectivist society that has significant difficulty in tolerating or accepting it (Babik & Gardner, 2021; Ersan et al., 2020; Huppert et al., 2019). Even more important to understanding disability within a Chinese context is the fact that Confucianism underpins every aspect of Chinese society and has even been adopted by the Communist Party of China (CPC) as a means of ensuring political dominance and the continued support of the Chinese population (Bresciani, 2023; Chen, 2021; Wang & Nahm, 2019). As a political and moral philosophy, Confucianism is concerned with the creation of a peaceful and harmonious civilisation through cultivating an individual's behaviour and bettering the attitudes and propriety of humanity (Sun, 2008; Tan & Tan, 2016). Modern applications of Confucianism, however, especially political

Confucianism as adopted by the CPC, have re-conceptualized the notion of a peaceful and harmonious society to one that is obedient and that follows a strict social hierarchy, with the CPC on top (Wang & Nahm, 2019). This modern view of Confucianism has meant that the philosophy that is still so ingrained within Chinese society (Degenhardt & Zhang, 2015; Zhang, 2014) encourages disability to be seen at best, as an impurity or undesired state of being (Lam et al., 2010), and, at worst, as a curse or punishment (Li, 2015). Whilst attitudes do exist that are not inherently negative, such as viewing disabled people with sympathy or pity (Shang, Fisher and Xie 2011; Yu et al., 2011; Zheng et al. 2014) or believing that blind people are in possession of mystical powers (Li, 2015; Lu, 1996), these viewpoints are, nevertheless, misguided and ill-informed and have resulted in the stagnation of work designed to make Chinese society more accessible to disabled people (Zhang & Song, 2012). That being said, the majority of disabilities are seen as a consequence of punishment (Zhang, 2014) with the negative view of disability, as promoted by Confucianism, also extending to the role of the family. The birth of children with disabilities is often seen as a consequence of familial actions (Zhang & Rosen, 2018). The ensuing stigma can result in disabled children being denied social and educational opportunities which serves to further dehumanise, devalue, and misjudge those with disabilities (Deng & Poon-McBrayer, 2012; Lam et al., 2010; Li, 2015; Yang, 2009).

Regarded as a 'hidden disability' (Hurley-Hanson et al., 2020) and so potentially less obvious within society, autism and autistic people, are very much at the receiving end of the collectivist and Confucianist inspired ableist attitudes prevalent in Chinese society. Currently, only one evaluation has been undertaken in China to determine the level of knowledge about autism. It found that only 57%-65% of Chinese citizens were aware of what autism is compared with 86%-91% of citizens from the United States, whilst 38% of Chinese participants endorsed and promoted negative autism stigma compared with 14% in the United States (Yu et al., 2020). Furthermore, research has indicated that, due to the stigma surrounding autism in China, only 9% of parents would seek out professional help if their child displayed symptoms of autism (Sun et al., 2015), whilst 80% of parents would choose to 'wait and see' if symptoms persisted (Huang et al., 2013) rather than have their child 'exposed' as autistic. Such attitudes are not surprising considering that, even within state-controlled media outlets, autism is wrongly identified as a childhood disorder, autistic people are categorised as either savants or inpatients in hospitals, and negative depictions

of autistic people as a burden to society, or as unable to contribute to society in any meaningful way are prolific and represent the only official government stance disseminated amongst the Chinese population (Tang & Bie, 2016). Chinese societal views of disability and, by extension, autism, have meant that disabled people in China continue to be excluded and to be viewed as inharmonious burdens whose existence is, at best, begrudgingly tolerated. This attitude towards disability does not exist in isolation and permeates all aspects of Chinese society, including education.

2.3.2 Autism and the Chinese Education System

Within the past ten years, there has been an influx of research surrounding ASD in China (Clark et al., 2019). Despite first being recorded in China in 1982 (Tao, 1982), it was only as recently as 2006 that autism became recognised by the public and professionals alike, following its inclusion in the government's list of disabilities (Hu, 2019). Autism research, therefore, remains in its infancy in China, with most work being of a quantitative and medical nature, focused around the aetiology of autism and diagnostic developments in the field (Wang et al., 2019).

There is some qualitative literature about the education of autistic students in China and about the historical and recent developments and shortcomings of China's education system. Sun et al., (2013) conducted a comprehensive review of literature concerning educational provision for autistic students, highlighting the fact that these students remain discriminated against and excluded from public and special education. Further research corroborated these findings, drawing attention to the fact that government inclusion policies, designed to ensure the participation of autistic students in mainstream and special schools, were treated as non-mandatory guidelines, often ignored by individual schools (Sun et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2018). Other research has documented the problems experienced by autistic students within the mainstream education system owing to the social difficulties they experience, the inflexibility of the Chinese education system, and the limited training on autism of teachers in China (Clark et al., 2019; Huang et al., 2013; Liu et al., 2016).

It is important to recognise that much of the existing literature concerning the education of autistic students in China is descriptive in nature and is limited to stating experiences, policies, and history. Work by Sun et al. (2013, 2019), whilst informative and

valuable to the field of autism and education in China, does not go beyond recognising the unjust and inequitable position of autistic students. Some research, e.g., Huang and Wheeler (2007), attempts to fill this gap by offering solutions to the barriers facing autistic students. They argue that better awareness of autism, better training of teachers, the development of a formalised curriculum, and autism-friendly legislation and financial support could help create a more equitable and accessible education system for them (Huang & Wheeler, 2007). These solutions, however, are open to criticism for merely addressing the symptoms of an education system that does not value neurodiversity rather than challenging the Confucian philosophy underpinning a system which regards disabled students as 'uneducable' (Yuan et al., 2021).

This preliminary literature search and review revealed that most existing work draws upon autism in mainstream public and special education (e.g., Clark et al., 2019; Huang et al., 2013; Sun et al., 2013; Tong et al., 2019; Yi & Siu, 2020; Zhang et al., 2010), rather than with Chinese internationalised schools which is the focus of this thesis Some studies have conducted nascent investigations into autism within the wider realm of private education, however, these studies are confined to kindergartens (e.g., Xu Yun et al., 2018) which, given their well-established foundations, popularity, and high enrolment levels (Li et al., 2019; Wang, 2010) should, realistically, be considered an extension of the Chinese public education system. Furthermore, the findings of these studies are difficult to apply to a wider context due to the age range of kindergarten students in China (two to six years), and the fact that autism presents differently as an individual ages (Esbensen et al., 2009; Seltzer et al., 2003; Shattuck et al., 2007). The school experiences of an autistic kindergartener may be dramatically different to those of an autistic adolescent.

When examining pre-existing literature concerning public mainstream and special education or private education, it becomes apparent that, excluding medical research, most is investigating either teacher attitudes towards autistic children (Ballantyne et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2016; Lu et al., 2020) or the impact of various interventions on autistic students at school (Lee et al., 2019; Liao et al., 2020; McCabe, 2013). Very little research has drawn upon the voices of autistic students or engaged them as research participants. During this literature review, I found only one example of autistic students as participants in a study that addressed the role of school bullying in the development of various mental health problems commonly faced by autistic adolescents (Chou et al., 2020). Several studies have

given a voice to the parents and families of autistic children in China (McCabe, 2007; McCabe-Hobart, 2008; Zhao & Fu, 2020), but these investigations have explored the perceived difficulties of having an autistic child rather than the difficulties of being autistic in a neurotypical society. The failure to include autistic people in research may stem from the stigma surrounding autism within Chinese society which considers autistic people to be incapable of making decisions for themselves or lacking the ability to articulate their lived experiences (a phenomenon referenced previously in this literature review, albeit in a different cultural context). The attitude that autistic people are somehow incapable extends throughout the education system and sees autistic students being ignored or unsupported in mainstream public schools (Liu et al., 2016), being neglected in special schools that cater predominantly for those with sensory impairments (Clark et al., 2019; LaValle, 2013), or being absent from schools altogether due to the stigma surrounding ASD in China (Huang & Wheeler, 2007; Wang et al., 2019). This literature review has revealed that the position of and outcomes for autistic people enrolled within the traditional public mainstream and special Chinese education system seem bleak. However, there has been no research focussed on the growing number of private education institutions that have a more holistic approach to education and could alleviate the difficulties faced by autistic students in the Chinese education system.

2.3.3 The Chinese Education System, Autism, and Internationalised Schools

As with other Confucian-heritage countries, education occupies a coveted position within Chinese society. Educational success has the potential to offer an individual and their family upward social mobility and better life prospects (Cheon, 2006; Hildebrand et al., 2008; Yen & Wu, 2015). In China, a large population fosters a competitive society and education system (Shirk, 2021), with the future for many students determined by examination results and their academic performance within formal education (Hill, 2013; Kirkpatrick & Zhang, 2011). It is important to reiterate that research suggests that disabled people (including those with ASD) have been systematically excluded from receiving a good quality public education (Deng & Manset, 2000; Hua, 2003; Xiao, 2003) because of societal attitudes towards their 'impairments' (Xu et al., 2018), inadequate levels of teacher training (Deng & Zhu, 2016; Ellsworth & Zhang, 2007), and limited knowledge of disability (Ma & Tan, 2010; Wang et al., 2012; Yu et al., 2011). The consequences of such exclusion are that disabled people have fewer life prospects than non-disabled people (Lin

& Yang, 2018; Stein, 2015), remain at the 'bottom' of society to be viewed as pitiful and needing of sympathy (Shang et al., 2011; Zheng et al., 2014), and are deprived of their voice in matters affecting themselves, their lives, and their education (Xu et al., 2018).

Despite rising levels of nationalism and isolationism that have been a defining feature of Xi Jinping's premiership, the popularity of alternative 'international' educational methods has increased dramatically amongst the Chinese population. From Montessori schools to schools taking a 'mastery learning' approach and to experimental schools that focus on learning through experience, the impact of 'international' (i.e. non-traditional Chinese) educational methods and programmes has continued to increase in China (Ma & Zhao, 2018; Poole, 2018). Whilst the nine-year compulsory education provided in China's public schools is renowned for its focus on academic success and for catering to the needs of 'traditional learners' (Xu et al., 2018), the Chinese 'international' education sector takes a different approach. 'International' education in China comprises two strands, international schools and internationalised schools. The differences between the two are subtle but essential to this thesis.

Whilst all teaching and learning within educational institutions in China is closely monitored by the government, international schools are not subject to the same laws and regulations. They do not fall under the jurisdiction of the Chinese government and are instead owned, operated, and administered by their respective home nations (Yan et al., 2015). An English international school operating in China, for example, would follow the English national curriculum, would be permitted to teach from textbooks that may not be approved for use within the Chinese education system, would teach in a pedagogical manner similar to schools in England, and would only allow non-Chinese passport holders to attend.

By contrast, internationalised schools are Chinese owned and operated private schools. Whilst still under the jurisdiction of the Chinese government, they have considerably more freedom than Chinese mainstream public or special schools. They have grown in popularity in recent years since they cater for the increasing number of Chinese middle-class parents who may have studied abroad themselves (Ma & Zhao, 2018) and who want a more internationally based education for their children (Poole, 2020). Many of these parents are also seeking to avoid the pressures placed on students by mainstream

Chinese public schools (Young, 2018). Whilst learning the core content of the Chinese curriculum, students at internationalised schools are permitted to supplement their education with foreign curricula in an environment which emphasises 'western' educational practices such as differentiated instruction, greater pastoral support, an increased focus on facilitated learning, and a variety of assessment options (Young, 2018). This approach is in stark contrast to the Chinese public-school system that relies on the infamous *zhongkao* and *gaokao* examinations which can, potentially, direct the life course of students (Kipnis, 2011; You, 2019).

This chapter has provided a brief outline of the history of autism, the way in which autism and autistic people are viewed by the predominant medical model and the developing social/rights model, how disability as a whole is viewed in China, and how autistic people are excluded within the Chinese education system, coupled with the difficulties that autistic students may experience within mainstream educational institutions (Martin et al., 2021). Enrolment in an establishment that is more student centred and accepting of differences, such as a Chinese internationalised school, may offer a better quality of education and better life outcomes than an exam-orientated system that, as research has shown, often fails to consider the needs of autistic students (Preece & Howley, 2018; Wood & Happé, 2020). An inclusive and social/rights approach to education is one which has been long sought after and desired by many autistic people within the People's Republic of China. Such an approach may come in the form of the relatively modern phenomena of Chinese internationalised schools which have adopted a more studentcentred methodology. Until this thesis, there has been little attention given in research circles to the extent to which Chinese internationalised schools are able to provide a socially just education to marginalised groups which, for the purposes of this thesis, comprises autistic students.

Chapter 3: Theoretical Framework

Of paramount importance to this thesis is the concept of a socially just education. Research from within China and from the wider world suggests that this is not currently provided to autistic students who find themselves excluded from educational institutions (Huang & Wheeler, 2007; Wang et al., 2019). The provision of such an education for autistic students could, however, have the potential to lay the foundations of a more

accessible society and better life opportunities for them. The thesis will now examine the concept of Critical Disability Theory (CDT) and will contend that a consideration of a socially just education through the lens of CDT is the appropriate path to take to determine what a socially just education should look like.

It could be argued that discussion of a CDT lens could have taken place under the heading of either the literature review (Chapter 2) or the methodology (Chapter 4). The fact that it does not is not because these areas are considered unimportant, nor is it designed to interrupt the flow of the thesis itself. It is, instead, designed to highlight the importance of CDT as the most appropriate framework within which to judge and evaluate the extent to which an education system or style of education is 'socially just', thereby determining whether that system or style is theoretically capable of effecting meaningful change in the education of autistic students.

In discussing this concept of 'evaluation' and CDT's existence as an evaluative framework, it is useful to include an operational definition of evaluation. In the case of this thesis, evaluation, as described by Saunders (2006), serves a 'means of giving voice to the disadvantaged, dispossessed, or disenfranchised and their actual and potential relationship with policy implementation' (p. 197). This notion of the purpose of evaluation is particularly useful to keep in mind especially as CDT is concerned precisely with these practices as will become clear during this chapter. Drawing upon Chelimskey's (1997) work as referenced in Saunders (2006), this thesis primarily utilises the evaluation perspectives of knowledge (that seeks to provide a deeper understanding to the field of autism education and disability in China), accountability (in measuring the extent to which Chinese internationalised schools are capable of providing this 'socially just' education that they elude to through the lens of CDT), and development (in utilizing CDT as an evaluative tool that is able to, on a theoretical level at least, strengthen the institutions of Chinese Internationalised schools in their ability to provide a socially just education for autistic students). By briefly exploring an operational definition of evaluation and highlighting the perspectives of evaluation adhered to in this thesis, one hopes that the 'voice' (Saunders, 2006) of the participants who exist as part of the evaluated institutions within this thesis is recognizable throughout.

3.1 Critical Disability Theory

Mladenov (2016) described disability as occupying a unique position in the field of social justice in that, unlike other areas relating to social justice, it is often neglected and overlooked by both critical theorists and social justice activists. This is a view that has persisted for some time in the field of disability studies. Davis (2002) expressed concern that whilst important issues such as racism and sexism understandably gain attention, disability was not considered important as a distinct category of oppression. For example, Mladenov (2016) notes that work by Fraser has explored issues of gender, sexuality, class, and race but not disability. Norwich (2013) argues that Sen's capability approach is incomplete in regard to disability issues, whilst Rawlsian contract theory has been criticised for seemingly ignoring issues pertaining to disability (Cureton, 2009).

Due to the tendency of activists and theorists, in the past, to exclude disabilities, it is the author's belief that the only frameworks appropriate for the analysis of issues relating to disabilities are those designed with the centring of disabilities in mind. CDT presents itself as an appropriate and relevant framework through which the critical study of disabilities can take place. Firstly, despite its use collaboratively with other critical theories (e.g. Annamma et al., 2013; Erevelles & Minear 2010), CDT centres disability, meaning that disability is not seen as an afterthought in the field of social justice (Hosking, 2008). Secondly, CDT holds itself accountable to those with disabilities (Minich, 2016). It positions itself, uniquely, as working with disabled people and for disabled people in matters relating to disability. It comprises a broad and diverse set of theoretical and practical approaches that study disability as a construct based in historical timeframes, and in social, political, and cultural attitudes towards disabilities (Meekosha & Shuttleworth, 2009; Vehmas & Watson, 2014). In common with other critical theories, such as Critical Race Theory (CRT) and Critical Social Theory (CST), the use of the term critical reflects the theory's adherence to the Frankfurt school of social theory that seeks to "liberate human beings from the circumstances that enslave them" (Horkheimer, 1982, 244). Like traditional disability studies, CDT is based on the social model of disability which states that people with limitations or impairments are not necessarily disabled by their differences, but by societies' failure to account for, adapt to, and include those with impairments (Oliver, 2013; Oliver et al., 2012). This is in direct contrast to the medical model of disability which views the disabled person as needing fixing so as to conform to 'normal' values and adapt to

society (Fisher & Goodley, 2007). Some critical disability theorists, however, raised concerns regarding the overly materialistic viewpoint of the social model of disability which is unable to accept the debilitating effect of an impairment on a disabled person (Crow, 1996; French, 1993; Morris, 1991). In response to this criticism, Carol Thomas (1999, 2007, 2010), designed a new approach to disability that is gaining popularity amongst theorists (Watson, 2012). Thomas's social relational model of disability views societal attitudes as a major factor in the cause of disability, but also recognises the disabling nature that impairments can have and always will have on disabled people, regardless of society. In the case of autistic people, whilst many of the difficulties faced on a day-to-day basis can be attributed to society and the environment in which one lives (Beardon, 2020, 2021), it must also be recognised that the fact of being autistic and one's internal autistic experience can be and is seen by some autistic people as an impairment in and of itself. CDT holds emancipation at the heart of its approach. It attempts both to describe societal constructs and to investigate the disabling nature of these constructs on those with impairments (Goodley et al., 2018). Although CDT makes clear that it is concerned with those who are devalued or disabled by society, many theorists refuse to adopt concrete criteria to determine who is classified as disabled. This may be due to the uniqueness of disability which, as highlighted by Garland-Thompson (2002), has the potential to affect anyone at any time and will affect everyone, should they be sufficiently long-lived. In recognition of this fact, CDT aims to deconstruct the artificial barriers and differences which it argues have been placed between abled and disabled (Shildrick, 2012). Goodley (2011, 113) believes that differences between abled and disabled people are socially produced for the non-disabled elite to retain dominance over those who are disabled. The problem, therefore, is not with the disabled person, but with the systems in place which are designed to reinforce the normality of the elite and to view those with disabilities as problems (Davis, 2010, 9).

Ultimately, the goal of CDT is the empowerment of disabled people in all aspects of life (Hosking, 2008; Devlin & Pothier, 2006, 8). However, empowerment can prove difficult to define, owing to the extensive use of the term in a wide variety of specialisms both inside and outside the fields of education and disability (e.g. Conger & Kanungo 1988). Rappaport (1984) suggests that empowerment is best described by the results of its absence, namely alienation and powerlessness (Dempsey & Foreman 1997). Using

Rappaport's (1984) description and a review of CDT literature, this thesis has identified two issues that alienate and disempower disabled people. They are:

- 1. A desire to reiterate normality which suggests that disabled people are somehow abnormal and in need of fixing (Garland-Thompson, 1996, 9; Kumari-Campbell, 2001, 44, 2008(a), 2008(b), 2009, 166; Goodley, 2009; Meekosha & Shuttleworth, 2009; Tremain, 2017, 33 & 86; Wolbring, 2008). This viewpoint is consistent with the medical model of disability that, despite receiving much criticism, continues to be propagated in society (Haegele & Hodge, 2016).
- 2. An absence of the voice of the disabled in issues regarding disability, resulting in disabled people not being heard or given the chance to present their views. CDT concerns disability and so should involve those who are disabled (Charlton, 2006, 217-227; Goodley et al., 2017; Hosking, 2008; Reaume, 2014; Shildrick, 2015).

Although the above is hardly an exhaustive list, these issues have received significant attention in literature, and any progress towards addressing the issues of the alienation and disempowerment of disabled people would surely go a long way towards accomplishing the goals of CDT. Empowerment, as a goal of CDT, is key to establishing legitimate equality between abled and disabled people (Devlin & Pothier, 2006). Through the empowerment of disabled people, the socially constructed barriers separating the abled from the disabled can be broken down (as described by Shildrick, 2012) and the current bipolar situation of us and them (Vehmas & Watson, 2014), can be removed. According to CDT, the empowerment of disabled people would ultimately give them their voice in society, increase their ability to participate in the world and, most importantly, put control of their lives back in their hands (Devlin & Pothier, 2006). Whilst CDT has inspired many disability specific theoretical frameworks, it is recognised by theorists as unique in being the most comprehensive, well developed, and theoretically viable framework through which to view any and all disability. For this reason, Critical Autism Theory (CAT) which centres autism rather than disability as a whole and concerns itself with the construction of autism and the emancipation of autistic people (Milton & Ryan, 2023; O'Dell et al., 2016; Woods & Waldock, 2021) was, despite its importance, deemed to be insufficient for the purposes of this thesis. This was due to CAT's similarity to and basis in CDT coupled with its relative newness (Woods et al., 2018) which meant that CDT presented itself as a more

complete framework, better able to critique institutions and the extent to which they are able to operate in a socially just manner and provide socially just services such as education. Moreover, as briefly mentioned in chapter 1 and in chapter 2 when discussing the absence of references to autism theories such as monotropism, it is important to remember that understanding of disability within China that has, until now, been viewed through a Chinese Confucianist and Chinese Communist lens does not lend itself readily to a CAT investigation owing to the fact that the power dynamics investigated from a CAT perspective that relate specifically to autism (Waltz, 2014; Woods et al., 2018) have not yet, within China, been considered from a broader disability standpoint (that autism falls under) that CDT is positioned to explore. Simply put, a CDT lens was deemed more viable for this thesis than a CAT one lest this thesis attempt to 'run before it can walk.'

3.2 A Socially Just Education

As previously outlined, according to CDT the reiteration of normality and the absence of a disabled voice are two of the main reasons why disabled people remain marginalised in society as a whole and in various institutions within it. It makes sense, therefore, that the promotion of a socially just society or institution through the lens of CDT would involve the empowerment of disabled people through the acceptance and awareness of difference as opposed to the reiteration of normality, and by recognising disabled voices in matters concerning the disabled individual rather than stifling those voices and preventing disabled people from taking ownership and agency over their own lives. According to CDT, therefore, education can only be considered socially just if it allows, accepts, and accommodates difference within its system, and if it allows disabled students to have a voice in matters pertaining to their disability, their education, and the way in which their disability interacts with both their own education and with the education system as a whole. It may be argued that defining and achieving the concept of a socially just education system through these two aims alone is not possible. However, since these two aims represent the primary areas of struggle for disabled people, all other realms of struggle could, according to CDT, be subsumed within them.

For example, for the few autistic students currently enrolled within the Chinese public school system, their academic and, consequently, life success rests almost exclusively on the *zhongkao* and *gaokao* (middle school and high school) examinations that

all students are required to take. These examinations allow entry into the most prestigious high schools and universities, and, if a favourable result is achieved, provide better life opportunities (Pires & Duarte, 2019). However, as previously described, autistic students are less likely to succeed in a high stakes and stressful examination dominated education system (Fleury et al., 2014; Keen et al., 2016; Wood & Happé, 2020). The fact that autistic students are still subject to the same examinations and expectations as their neurotypical peers, despite the well-documented difficulties that they may have in thriving in such an environment, serves as an example of how 'normal' educational practices are reiterated and how autistic students are simply expected to adapt to an environment that is not suitable for them and does not consider the autistic experience. Whilst any number of reasons or combination of reasons may be responsible for this particular example of autistic disadvantage, it is not a discrete category of disempowerment that CDT has overlooked. Rather, it is an example of a situation where, consciously or otherwise, normality is reiterated. In other words, this specific example of social injustice is not categorised by the reasons behind its causation, but by its consequences and outcomes (i.e. the reiteration of normality).

The absence of a disabled voice in matters relating to disability is related to the reiteration of normality and the consequent failure of society to accommodate disability, but there are some important differences between these two forms of disempowerment. As is illustrated by the example of autistic students in an exam orientated system, the reiteration of normality, within the realm of education, is primarily the result of conscious or unconscious actions taken or not taken to maintain the powerful position occupied by the 'normal' elite. The absence of a disabled voice, however, represents the conscious or unconscious decision that disabled people are incapable of taking agency over their education, the education system and educational policy that serves them, and, consequently, their own lives. For example, research investigating the higher education prospects of disabled students in China, including some autistic students, reported that, despite overcoming the challenges of an education system that does not consider the needs of autistic people and despite successfully navigating middle and high school examinations, disabled students were still more likely to be the victims of both intentional and unintentional exclusion (Li et al., 2021). Likewise, investigations into the higher education prospects of the wider disabled population in China found that the existence of a diagnosis

of disability excluded students from certain fields of study, only granted them access to poorly funded 'disabled' universities, or, in many cases, barred them from entry into university altogether (Human Rights Watch, 2013). Although it may seem that these barriers represent a desire to reiterate normality rather than to exclude a disabled voice, the fact that, in many cases, disabled students have met the standards of a 'normal' education and have achieved 'success' without there being support in place, only to be denied access to educational institutions because of their disability, suggests that the decision that disabled people are incapable has been made regardless of any actions on their part. Simply put, a disabled person may well succeed in an education system that does not accommodate disability, but such success does not mean that the disabled voice is heard or valued. The actions, success, and voice of the disabled may simply be disregarded as a result of their disability. Achieving the standard of 'normal' is only part of the struggle when the very existence of a disability precludes further progress, and the disabled voice, whether spoken through words or actions, is simply not enough to access all aspects of society. The reiteration of normality and the absence of a disabled voice are separate challenges that CDT seeks to address and rectify. It is important to recognise, however, that they are intrinsically linked and exist in symbiosis with each other. The reiteration of normality contributes to the stifling of the disabled voice, and the absence of a disabled voice around issues relating to education and educational policy ensures that a non-disabled narrative and, consequently, the reiteration of normality continue to thrive.

It is not the aim of this thesis to identify specific socially just practices within the context of Chinese internationalised schools, nor would it be practical to do so. Whilst specific practices can be identified as inherently unjust, the extent to which a practice can be regarded as socially just depends not on the practice itself, but on the culture that prevails as a result of the interaction between practices, and on how far that culture goes towards eliminating the reiteration of normality and the absence of a disabled voice. This thesis adheres to the viewpoint that has long been identified within CDT and within the field of education that the concept of a socially just and inclusive education does not exist as either a service to be provided or a concept of 'best practice' to be implemented following a professional development session, but rather as a culture and philosophy that disrupts and challenges pre-existing normative ableist thought and practices and that establishes, instead, meaningful access to, and support, belonging, and acceptance within

educational institutions and educational policy (Ashby, 2012; Grenier, 2010; Mutua & Smith, 2016; Oyler, 2011; Rood & Ashby, 2020; Routel, 2012; Young & Mintz, 2008).

To that end, it is essential that this thesis focusses on the thoughts and lived experiences of autistic students attending a specific type of school, namely Chinese internationalised schools, and on the teachers teaching at them in order to understand whether or not these schools, whilst they may differ in their specific practices, are capable of creating a culture that accepts and values autism as a difference or disability and recognises the importance of and values the autistic voice in matters relating to education and educational policy. Although a CDT lens has been discussed from both a wider and more thesis-specific perspective, it is important to reiterate that this thesis is concerned with autism alone, and to emphasise that an evaluation of whether or not Chinese internationalised schools are able to provide a socially just education for autistic students cannot be accurately extended to other disabilities or differences or as a one-size fits all solution to the disability-wide struggle that falls within the purview of CDT. Each individual disability is a complex field of study in its own right, and presuming that an educational culture that benefits autistic people would also benefit individuals with Down's Syndrome, for example, is just as damaging and discriminatory as the reiteration of normality and the absence of a disabled voice. That being said, one could be optimistic that the acceptance of a specific disability, the valuing of the disabled voice, and the creation of a culture that values a specific disability would bode well for the wider disabled population and would represent a metaphorical 'foot in the door' for all disabled people regardless of their disability.

Thus far, chapter 2 of this thesis has outlined the literature surrounding autism, models of autism, and the concepts of disability, autism, education, Confucianism within Chinese society, and the concept of Chinese internationalised schools whilst chapter 3 has introduced CDT and the concept of a socially just education. These chapters have highlighted the current state of autism educational research in China and have explained the theoretical underpinnings of this thesis. In forthcoming chapters, CDT will be utilised to contribute to pre-existing autism educational research in China to provide an answer to the extent to which Chinese internationalised schools can provide autistic students with a more 'socially just' education.

Chapter 4: Methodology

This chapter will detail the philosophical position of this thesis and will centre interpretative phenomenology and a qualitive methodological approach to answering the research questions outlined in Chapter 1. It will then explain and evaluate the choice of semi-structured interviews as the research method used to uncover the extent to which Chinese internationalised schools can offer autistic students a more socially just education. Following this, the eligibility criteria and the demographics of the participants recruited to take part in the research will be outlined, coupled with a thorough description of the ethical process used to protect them. As well as outlining my positionality as a researcher, this chapter will address the concept of reflexivity and the steps taken to uncover valid findings from a thematic approach to data analysis.

4.1 Methodological Assumptions

As with any piece of research, this thesis is informed by a specific set of ontological and epistemological assumptions which, in turn, are informed by my own beliefs in relation to research, the purpose of research, what research can uncover, and how research should be conducted. Ontology refers to the philosophical concept of 'being' as well as to the related notions of existence and reality (Ylönen & Aven, 2023). Epistemology, on the other hand, concerns itself with knowledge, what can be known, and the origin, nature, and scope of knowledge (Ejnavarzala, 2019). From a research perspective, ontology defines one's research framework whilst epistemology concerns itself with what can be known or uncovered through using that particular framework (Al-Ababneh, 2020). The interaction, therefore, between ontology and epistemology cannot be understated. It is this ontoepistemological relationship that defines any and all avenues of research, regardless of topic, field, or discipline. Owing to the fact that the ontological and epistemological foundations of research transcend disciplines (for example the sciences and social sciences), it is not surprising that a broad division exists around the very nature of knowledge and the concepts of objective knowledge and subjective knowledge (Baise, 2020). As the concepts of objective and subjective knowledge are inherently opposed to each other, so too are the paradigms of positivism and interpretivism that have developed because of the discussions and debates that have arisen due to the dualistic schism

mentioned above. These two paradigms will be discussed in turn and will be followed by an introduction to my own interpretative phenomenological position.

Positivism is an empirical philosophical world view and approach to research that posits that the only true or factual knowledge or, indeed, the only knowledge worth knowing is that which can be uncovered or learned about through observation or measurement (Alharahsheh & Pius, 2020; Saunders et al., 2012; Scotland, 2012). In the case of positivism, observation or measurement is a rather broad term, but refers to the concept that science and the seven-step scientific method of; Questioning, Research, Hypothesis, Experimenting, Data Analysis, Conclusion, and Communication is the only way in which the truth surrounding any given topic can be garnered (Saunders et al., 2012). Any line of enquiry that veers away from this process is purely subjective and cannot be considered as true with any validity. From a positivist researcher's viewpoint, the role of the researcher is limited to that of an independent data collector and interpreter who, whilst involved in the research processes of research design, data collection and data analysis, remains removed from the experimental process itself and has minimal interaction with participants when conducting the experiment (Park et al., 2020). To paraphrase Hacking (1983), positivism, in its most basic sense, can be seen as a set of six principles described below:

- 1. The logic behind scientific inquiry is the same regardless of the discipline.
- 2. Science is concerned with explaining and predicting a given phenomenon.
- 3. All knowledge is testable, and research needs to be grounded in empiricism.

 Deduction is used to develop a hypothesis which is proven or disproven through evidence-based findings. This evidence must be observed, and compelling.

 Arguments or 'common sense' is insufficient as evidence.
- 4. Relating to the previous point, 'common sense' has no place in positivist research.
- 5. Science knows no viewpoint and exists to uncover universal laws governed by logic rather than morality, politics, or any other external value.
- 6. For a universal law to be true, experiments must be replicable under any circumstance.

(Hacking, 1983: 41-42)

In this thesis, the principles of positivism are illustrated by the medical model of autism that was discussed thoroughly in the literature review. The medical and scientific approach towards autism and autistic people in China and in the wider world is inherently positivist and remains the preferred approach of the majority of medical researchers, psychiatrists, and psychologists who specialise in autism (Glynne-Owen, 2010; Kourti, 2021).

In contrast to positivism, interpretivism posits that reality is subjective and socially constructed, and exists not as one definitive truth but as an infinite number of equally valid truths that can only be understood from the experience of the individual in question (Alharahsheh & Pius, 2020; Schwartz-Shea & Yanow, 2020). Developed through the critique of positivist assumptions, interpretivism refuses to accept that the study of human beings can be conducted by considering them as indistinguishable from any other physical phenomena (Alharahsheh & Pius, 2020). Interpretivism places significant value on the lived experiences of the individual including their cultural experiences, the circumstances in which they find themselves, the time and place in which they live, and, ultimately, what constitutes a given person's or group's social reality (Alharahsheh & Pius, 2020). In rejecting knowledge relating to the human world, interpretivism moves away from the foundations and universal laws propounded by the positivist tradition and believes that research is not intended to be used to provide sweeping generalisations, but instead is needed in order to produce a rich insight into the world from the perspective of an individual or group whose lived experiences of a particular phenomenon, and the documentation of these experiences, can better explain the phenomenon in question (Alharahsheh & Pius, 2020).

As the field of education is firmly entrenched within the social sciences (Friedenberg, 1951) and as this thesis is concerned with qualitative data, it may be fairly evident that I have adopted an interpretivist position when conducting my research. As an autistic person investigating the experiences of autistic people, I am vehemently opposed to the positivist exploration of autism. This is not simply because of the inherent criticisms of positivism that I, as an interpretivist, will always have, but is due primarily to the objectification of autistic people that results from traditionally positivist disciplines and

fields of study or research. The treatment of autism as a medical mystery, as a perversion of normality, or as a condition needing to be cured because it does not conform to societal expectations fails to recognise the validity of the experiences of autistic people living in a world that is not designed for them. An interpretivist approach should not be rejected to make way for further positivist aetiological studies which may, at best, explain why autism exists but not how it feels to be autistic or, at worst, propose a 'cure' for autism and a pathway for the destruction of an entire community and their culture, communication, experiences, and understanding of the world.

Having identified why I am inclined to subscribe to an interpretivist viewpoint, it is important to highlight that interpretivism does not exist as one unified position. There are a variety of interpretivist approaches, with the three most popular perspectives being hermeneutics, concerned with the interpretation and understandings of texts (Littlejohn & Foss, 2009; McManus Holroyd, 2007; Smith, 1991; Williams, 2000); symbolic interaction, that investigates the way that individuals use symbolism within social contexts (Littlejohn & Foss, 2009); and interpretative phenomenology that was deemed most appropriate for this thesis and will now be discussed in greater detail.

Interpretative phenomenology (henceforth referred to phenomenology for ease) is concerned with identifying and understanding people's perceptions of the world and the context or situation that they find themselves in. It seeks to identify and describe a given phenomenon by investigating it from the perspective of those who have experienced and continue to experience it (Teherani et al., 2015) and aims to uncover the exact phenomena that was experienced and the way it was experienced. Whilst not embedded within the camp of critical theory, phenomenology is compatible with critical theory in that it is capable of clarifying the structures that a given critical theory (in the case of this research, CDT) seeks to alleviate. This position of clarifying structures has led to research recommending that those compatible lines of dialog be kept open (Procyshyn, 2020). Phenomenology lends itself perfectly as a foundation for the research that forms the basis of this thesis because there is no previous research in existence which focusses on the ability of Chinese internationalised schools to provide a more socially just education to autistic students. The novelty of this field of investigation means that any phenomena experienced, and the way a given phenomenon is experienced has not previously been uncovered or identified. This will now be achieved by applying a phenomenological

approach to the research. To be able to assess the extent to which autistic students are provided with a socially just education depends on the experiences of the autistic student themselves, and on the explicit or implicit attitudes of others towards them that shape their experiences. By examining subjective experiences that have either been lived by an autistic student or been identified as a genesis for those lived experiences from a phenomenological position, new understandings, appreciations, and meanings can be formed or re-formed, and a more complete understanding can be given to the experience or experiences (Laverty, 2003; Neubauer et al., 2019). As my own strictly interpretivist position makes it impossible for me to engage with traditions that may see themselves as a bridge between positivism and interpretivism, interpretative phenomenology posits itself as the most suitable approach to clarify, describe, and understand human experience as it exists in its most raw and unfiltered sense (Littlejohn & Foss, 2009). In contrast to pure hermeneutics which relies on a reflective rather than a living interpretation and on the concept of a 'correct' interpretation rather than allowing an individual to attach their own meaning (Littlejohn & Foss, 2009) and symbolic interactionism which focusses on interpreting a new subjective meaning of a given event that stems not from one's own experience of the event but from the symbol that arises when an experience is deemed valid and mutually agreed upon (Littlejohn & Foss, 2009), phenomenology is concerned with the pre-reflective, individually determined experience and meaning of an event that remains understood purely in the context of one's own lifeworld (see Apostolescu & Marino, 2022), unencumbered with the requirement that if an experience is to be considered valid it must be mutually agreed upon (Neubauer et al., 2019). Phenomenology therefore remains free to investigate, uncover, and assign meaning to the lived experiences of the autistic students identified in this thesis without any preconceived notions or parameters in place that may restrict or nullify those experiences. Interpretative phenomenology allows for lived experiences to be expressed and recognised as undiluted and unrestricted truths that, in accordance with the interpretivist position, constitute one's own socially constructed reality.

4.2 Research Methods

This thesis has seen me employ a qualitative approach to research and research design. Qualitative research, though a rich term, can be broadly described as a naturalistic approach to understanding a given social phenomena in the phenomena's natural setting (Bryman, 1988; Bryman et al., 2022; Nassaji, 2020). Distancing itself from the

scientifically and numerically grounded traditions of quantitative research, qualitative research relies less on the formulation of experimental designs and the successful identification of an independent variable, and more on uncovering the processual and socially constructed reality of an individual or individuals through a developing closeness between researcher and participant, through more unstructured and 'social' research methods, and through an idiographic understanding of an individual and their experiences with a given phenomenon (Bryman, 1988; Bryman et al., 2022). For the purposes of this thesis and from an interpretative phenomenological standpoint, qualitative research methods provide an opportunity to gain a clear understanding of the experiences of autistic students within the Chinese internationalised schools they attend. Qualitative research methods offer the chance for participants themselves to explain their thoughts, feelings, and truth surrounding a given experience, resulting in a rich understanding of that experience that is taken directly from the participant themselves, rather than an understanding of a given experience being limited to quantifiable 'facts' (Cleland, 2017; Foley & Timonen 2015).

In order to gain a more complete understanding of the experiences of autistic students within Chinese internationalised schools and in an attempt to answer the research question, 'To what extent are Chinese internationalised schools able to provide a more socially just education to autistic students,' a variety of qualitative research methods were considered. Initially, it was thought that unstructured interviews and focus groups would be the most appropriate methods owing to their ability to facilitate in-depth conversation, to put participants at ease, to generate rich and meaningful data not constrained by specific lines of questioning, and to provide for as natural a conversation or, in the case of focus groups, a discussion as possible (Alshenqeeti, 2014; Bihu, 2020; Castillo-Montoya, 2016; DiCicco-Bloom & Crabtree, 2006; Sagoe, 2012). However, following a deeper investigation into the limited literature concerning conducting qualitative research with autistic people, and taking into account issues such as the well-documented difficulties that autistic people have with social communication and with changes to routine and the fact that these difficulties, integral to autism, have the potential to cause anxiety or discomfort for autistic participants taking part in qualitative research (Beresford et al., 2004; Harrington et al., 2014; Nicolaidis et al., 2019; Preece, 2002; Preece & Jordan, 2010), it was felt that the unstructured nature of these proposed interviews and focus groups would

not be appropriate. That decision was reinforced by a period of reflection on my own positionality as an autistic researcher for whom unstructured interviews and focus groups would also provide too many challenges, thus limiting their effectiveness and, from a researcher's position, the effectiveness of my own involvement in the research. The obvious solution to this problem might seem to be to add structure to the interviews and focus groups. Further investigation, however, established that although semi-structured interviews would be an appropriate qualitative research method, semi-structured focus groups would not. Whilst a phenomenological focus group is not oxymoronic by default (Bradbury-Jones et al., 2009), such a method does require an individual within the focus group to have the freedom to, in the words of Bradbury-Jones et al. (2009), 'describe their experiences in an uncontaminated way.' It could be argued that the very act of adding further structure to a research method that is already more structured than an interview does inherently 'contaminate' the descriptions of the participants as they become more concerned with addressing the topic at hand in a manner that is conducive to the group discussion, rather than being able to truly express and describe their own lived experiences. For these reasons, semi-structured interviews alone were used to investigate the experiences of autistic students attending Chinese internationalised schools, and the experiences of teachers employed at Chinese internationalised schools together with their opinions of working with autistic students.

For full 'participatory research' that includes autistic participant perspectives on how research is conducted (Chown et al., 2017), it may have been beneficial to provide participants with the ability to choose from a research method that suited them. This possibility however was not viable owing to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic that had resulted in restrictions in China that were only just being scaled back when this research was taking place. Furthermore, my position as a relatively new academic researcher and as an autistic person who struggles specifically with social communication, meant that 'task switching' and adopting different research personas that would have been needed to be adopted had participants chosen from a range of research methods would have been 'too much' for me to be able to handle during this point in my research career. Whilst the specific reasons why semi-structured interviews were chosen as the research method for this thesis has been referenced in the previous paragraph and will be highlighted in the coming sub-section of this chapter, it could be useful for a reader of this thesis to keep the

following in mind; Semi-structured interviews have long been considered a solid and appropriate research method when working with autistic people due to their flexibility, on one hand, and structure, on the other, that have helped include autistic people in research (Cridland et al., 2015). This alone, coupled with the lasting effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and my position as an autistic researcher meant that semi-structured interviews served as an appropriate, inclusive, and participatory research method for this thesis.

4.2.1 Semi-Structured Interviews

Semi-structured interviews have long been a respected qualitative research method employed by those operating from an interpretative phenomenological perspective (Balushi, 2016). They present researchers with a method that is powerful in its ability to uncover participant thoughts and opinions surrounding a given experience, is flexible and free enough to allow a participant to expand upon a given point or to allow a researcher to delve deeper into a line of questioning, and is enough of a 'middle ground' between structured interviews at one end and unstructured interviews at the other to circumnavigate both the 'stiffness' and formality or the awkwardness and 'looseness' that often come with interview methods that lie on either end of the continuum (Adams, 2015; Brown & Danaher, 2017; Cohen et al., 2018). For the purposes of this research, semi-structured interviews were particularly useful as they provided participants with the opportunity to discuss and describe individual experiences, thoughts, and beliefs. They were able to expand upon any aspect of the interview if they wished to do so, but its semi-structured nature also offered them a form of protection from incidences arising that may cause distress. Participants were aware that an interview script was readily available to serve as a transitionary device between questions (a list of interview questions asked is available in appendix 8 for student participants and appendix 9 for teacher participants), thus taking the pressure away from them to finish or continue a line of questioning in a succinct manner when they had nothing more to say, As this research was investigating the thoughts and experiences of autistic students, and of teachers who may teach them, it was important to develop two separate lines of questioning to take into account the differences between these two groups of participants. In some cases, questions underwent very little or no change. Other questions, however, had to be reconceptualised and completely rewritten. For example, it would have been unproductive to ask a non-autistic teacher whether they believed they were supported in their school as an autistic teenager. These differing lines of

questioning allowed the interviews to uncover the experiences of the separate groups of participants and ensured that the experiences and attitudes as disclosed by the participants, were relevant to the research. A great deal of effort was made to ensure that the questions the participants were asked would allow them to express their thoughts and experiences with as much detail as they deemed appropriate, without wasting their time.

In facilitating the interview process and in helping participants collect their thoughts and formulate responses to a particular line of enquiry, the questions asked were grouped into sections. These sections investigated (1) the concept of valuing autism and/or being valued as an autistic student within Chinese internationalised schools; (2) the quality of education provided to autistic students and the extent to which this education can lead to meaningful opportunities; and (3) difference and attitudes towards difference that exist within the school community. Although these sections may seem vague, it is important to remember that they exist as three categories only in this written thesis. Participants were not provided with the detail of these three abstract areas of concern but were simply asked a series of questions that could then be collapsed into these three sections for ease of presentation. It is also important to recognise that the creation of these three sections ensured that I was able to view reported participant experiences through the lens of critical disability theory. It is through the lens of CDT, with its focus on the disabling phenomena of the reiteration of normality in society and on the absence of a disabled voice that the findings of this research will be determined.

Twenty interviews were conducted. In keeping with emerging trends that aim to promote 'autism friendly research' by, for example, being flexible in the way research is conducted, and allowing for and promoting the existence of differences in participants' communication preferences (e.g. Cage & Howes, 2020; Vincent, 2019), participants were given the choice to be interviewed in any way that suited them including face-to-face, online, a combination of face-to-face and online, and through electronic messaging. The preferred option of all the participants was for an online interview and accordingly all the interviews took place online using *Zoom Video Communications Inc.* and *Microsoft Teams* and all were audio recorded. There were a number of other factors making online interviews particularly appropriate including the effects of the COVID 19 pandemic that saw travel to and within the Chinese mainland severely restricted, the geographical size of China that makes face-to-face meetings difficult, the busy lives of the participants who, as

teachers or students, have little time for physical meetings, and the fact that the very nature of autism can make face-to-face interviews difficult, particularly if attending an interview involves either travelling to an unfamiliar location or inviting an unfamiliar person into a familiar location. Although the limitations of online interviewing have been well documented, for example struggles with technology (Namey et al., 2020), the inherent price wall that must be overcome to engage in an online interview (Lobe et al., 2022), and difficulties in detecting participant distress or meaning (Lobe et al., 2022), it was deemed to be more important to ensure that the participants were comfortable in being interviewed and that they had a sense of involvement and agency in the research they were involved in. Furthermore, as a consequence of the COVID 19 pandemic that took place as this thesis was being written, using online programmes for work, school, and communication is no longer seen as a second or least favourable choice. Indeed, research has suggested that a lasting legacy of the pandemic could be the continued use of online technology for the conducting of interviews. Researchers have been forced to confront and overcome the perceived limitations of online interviewing, and research participants, like the wider general population, have had significant experience with online conversations be it for work, school, or otherwise (Lobe et al., 2022). Of the interviews conducted, the shortest lasted for forty-one minutes with the longest lasting for one hour and forty-three minutes. The mean interview time across all twenty participants was recorded as one hour and six minutes.

4.3 Participant Sampling & Demographics

Since this thesis is inherently focussed on the educational experiences and outcomes of autistic students, it should be of no surprise that they would be included as participants. However, it was also essential that the research should include teachers who teach within the Chinese internationalised school sector, since it is they who are 'doing' the educating and they who are also engaged in establishing the symbiotic and cyclical relationship of a particular school culture and the institutional and pedagogical practices that take place within the school environment. Furthermore, the inclusion of teachers as participants was deemed necessary owing to the authority that they possess in the classroom (Buzelli & Johnston, 2001; Graça et al., 2013), particularly in China where research has suggested that an authoritative educational style leads to the establishment of a hierarchical structure within Chinese classrooms in which the teacher sets the agenda and has the power to shape

a child's formal educational experience depending on whether or not the child adheres to school and teacher-imposed norms, expectations, and behaviours (Huang et al., 2019; Jia et al., 2009; Shi et al., 2021).

To be considered eligible for inclusion in this research, teacher and student participants had to meet a certain number of additional criteria. These criteria and the rationale behind them will now be discussed.

Student participants had firstly to have a formal diagnosis of autism, secondly to be between the ages of fifteen and eighteen, and thirdly to be currently enrolled as a student at an internationalised school within the *political* rather than *geographical* mainland of the People's Republic of China. The need for participants to have a formal diagnosis of autism does not come from a desire to de-legitimize the experiences of those who have self-diagnosed as autistic, nor does this requirement in any way suggest that all of those who have self-diagnosed as autistic are not autistic.

The need for participants to be aged between fifteen and eighteen was included to ensure that the interviews would be as comfortable and as informative as possible. Research has indicated that a common pitfall when interviewing younger children or adolescents is the reluctance of the children to engage in the interview process for a variety of reasons including shyness, a lack of familiarity between the child and the researcher, and, in some cases, only agreeing to an interview due to pressure, perceived or real, from parents, teachers, or even the interviewer themselves (Adler et al., 2019; Folque, 2020; Kutrovátz, 2017; Lund et al., 2016). In addition, due to the possible existence of power imbalances, differences in cognitive development levels between a child participant and a researcher, differences in communication skills, and differences in a child's ability to verbalise their own world view compared with the ability and interpretative skills of an adult (Kutrovátz, 2017), it was deemed that the most appropriate option for this thesis was to conduct the research with older adolescents. Another factor informing the decision to establish an age range for the student participants came from the fact that, as discussed in the literature review, the limited research that has been conducted in China with autistic participants has often taken place in kindergartens. This piece of research, therefore, provided an opportunity to investigate the experiences of autistic students from the opposite end of the school age continuum. Furthermore, it was felt that older students would be able

to give a more reflective and richer detailing of their thoughts, perceptions, and experiences at a Chinese internationalised school than if they had only been attending school for a shorter period. Finally, whilst a discussion concerning the ethical implications of conducting research with autistic people is forthcoming in this chapter, the very fact that this research was looking to recruit autistic students as participants was also a consideration in the decision to impose an age requirement. Due to the nature of autism, which was discussed in the literature review, the challenges of conducting qualitative research with younger children that I have already addressed, and a consideration of my own circumstances as an autistic researcher, I concluded that to conduct interviews with younger autistic children would be too challenging a task for me to undertake. The final requirement that student participants be attending an internationalised school within the Chinese political mainland stems from the fact that this research is concerned with the experiences of autistic students enrolled in schools of this specific type. Specifying the *political* as opposed to the *geographic* Chinese mainland reflects the fact that the education system in place on the Chinese island of Hainan, for example, is the same as the education system in Beijing, whilst the education system in the Special Administrative Region of Hong Kong, which, geographically, forms part of the Chinese mainland, is, politically, an entirely separate system.

In order for a teacher participant to be deemed eligible for participation in this research, they had to be working as a teacher in a Chinese internationalised school and be a Chinese national. As previously addressed in the literature review, there is a clear distinction in China between an international school and an internationalised school. An English international school in China, for example, is, for all intents and purposes, an extension of the English education system. It admits English students or students who are seeking an education based on the English curricula and follows the guidelines, rules, and regulations put forward by the Department of Education. In contrast, one of the curiosities of Chinese internationalised schools is that they offer a 'flavour' of international education and provide students with access to international curricula whilst still retaining their status as majority Chinese owned and operated and under the scrutiny of the Chinese education department (Ma & Zhao, 2018; Poole, 2020). Whilst it may have been interesting to hear the views of non-Chinese teachers working in Chinese internationalised schools (of whom there are many), it was beyond the scope of this thesis to do so. Chinese internationalised

schools are still very much under the jurisdiction of the Chinese Education Department. As a result, non-Chinese teachers, whilst professionals in their field, have little impact on the pedagogical approaches or cultural practices within them. To have included non-Chinese teachers within the scope of this research would have run the risk of changing the focus away from the study of the schools themselves. For this reason, only Chinese nationals, who have teaching qualifications and can make an impact on the culture within a school, were considered eligible for participation. As in the case of student participants, teacher participants had to be employed in a Chinese internationalised school within the *political* rather than *geographical* mainland of the People's Republic of China.

It is also important to note that all participants, whether teachers or students, completed the interviews in English. Whilst this was not a requirement for participation, most Chinese internationalised schools, and all the schools from which participants were drawn for this research, use both English and Chinese as dual languages of instruction and do so, usually, from the age of two. My presentation as a British interviewer and researcher, and the participants' higher levels of linguistic competence in English compared with mine in Mandarin, meant that being able to engage in an interview in English was, on reflection, a *de facto* requirement to participation. That being said, the participants were not told that they had to use English exclusively and some participants did switch comfortably between English and Mandarin during the interview.

For qualitative research, especially qualitative research of a phenomenological nature, there has been some debate regarding the ideal sample size for research of this essence to take place. Creswell & Poth (2017), for example, suggest between five to twenty-five participants whilst Morse (2018) recommends a minimum of six. It has been suggested however that there exists no correct answer concerning the number of participants who should be recruited for phenomenologically based research (Bartholomew et al., 2021; Simth et al., 2009; Giorgi, 2009), with the number of participants dependent, instead, on the nature of the research and research question(s). What does seem to be universally agreed upon, however, is the fact that phenomenological traditions do indicate that sample sizes should be relatively small (Bartholomew et al., 2021) so as to deal with faster levels of saturation that stem from the need, according to Giorgi (2009) cited in Bartholomew et al. (2021), to 'fully voice participants' expressed consciousness' within

each, in this case, interview that takes place. Based on these recommendations, my research involved a sample size of twenty participants split between ten students and ten teachers.

Despite research suggesting that the prevalence of autism in China is either slightly below or comparable to western and world-wide prevalence (Sun et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2018; Zhou et al., 2020), cultural attitudes towards autism in China, the level of knowledge of and identification of autism in China, and the anxiety and uncertainty that can accompany a willingness to divulge one's autism diagnosis even in the comparatively more informed western world (Hill, 2004) all mean that the potential to recruit participants for this study was limited. Moreover, the requirement for students to attend a Chinese internationalised school and the age range imposed on student participants further decreased the potential population of this study to no more than an estimated few thousand. To overcome this issue, I relied upon my position as an autistic person with connections to a number of informal and unofficial 'internationally minded' autistic support groups based within China, using my membership of these groups (as a member utilising support services rather than as a professional providing support) to recruit participants. 'Internationally minded' support groups, rather than strictly Chinese support groups were used because, as previously discussed in the literature review, Chinese parents who send their children to Chinese internationalised schools tend to distance themselves somewhat from traditional Chinese perspectives towards education and possess a more eclectic and international mindset, often based on their own experiences of life outside China. A call for participation was issued through the Chinese messaging and social media application WeChat (see appendix 2 for a copy of the message sent) and was sent to the aforementioned groups. The parents of interested participants then contacted me directly for more information. Although these issues will be addressed more comprehensively in the forthcoming part of this chapter entitled; 'Ethics, ethical reflexivity, and positionality,' I believe that my own status as an autistic person and my non-professional membership of these autistic support groups did much to galvanise interest in this research, especially from the parents of participants who, on multiple occasions, expressed their surprise and excitement that their children would be engaged in a piece of autism research conducted by an autistic researcher. Whilst it would have been preferable to have a representative sample of autistic students, of the ten student participants recruited, only one was female. This ratio is not in keeping with the traditional 4:1 male to female ratio frequently cited in literature

(Dimech, 2021). That being said, owing to the paucity of knowledge about autism in China compared with, for example, the United Kingdom or the United States, together with research that has indicated a far greater gender imbalance between males and females diagnosed with autism in mainland China (Wang et al., 2018; Zhou et al., 2020), it is not surprising that males may have been over-represented in this research compared to the situation that might have arisen had the research taken place in another nation more in line with the global gender prevalence of autism. Furthermore, owing to the limited population of potential participants and the specific type of schools from which they could be chosen, little could have been done to make this sample more representative. Whilst this is not a problem in and of itself, it is still worth recognising, especially when looking to the future of autism research in China and the avenues that future studies could explore.

In the recruitment of teacher participants, a call for participation was once again issued through WeChat (see appendix 3 for a copy of the message sent), though this time the message was sent to several large, internationalised teacher groups within China. Convenience or opportunistic sampling was employed in selecting participants on a 'first come, first served' basis, not because of a concern that any other form of sampling would lead to too few participants (as was the rationale behind using convenience or opportunistic sampling with student participants), but because the number of responses received far exceeded the number of participants required. In the case of this research, convenience sampling is logically justified because the 'sample universe' from which both students and teachers were drawn was specific enough to avoid any possibility of making broad sweeping claims as to the experiences or attitudes of either teachers or autistic students in general within mainland China (Robinson, 2014). Teacher participants comprised seven females and three males. This was in line with expectations, especially since research has indicated that the gender disparity in Chinese schools continues to grow, with female teachers making up the majority of the teaching workforce (Zhou, 2023). A disparity also existed concerning the geographical regions of China represented for both teacher and student participants. The majority of teachers and students either worked at or attended schools in eastern China, whilst western and central China were underrepresented. The most likely explanation for these differences in geographical representation comes from the socio-economic makeup of China as a nation. Eastern China is, for example, significantly more wealthy as a region than any other part of China, with western and central China

being some of the least wealthy (Yan & Mohd, 2023). It is unsurprising that eastern China, with its greater numbers of internationalised schools, is overrepresented, given the cost of sending a child to an internationalised school, coupled with the tendency of internationalised schools to open in wealthier areas. The overrepresentation is in keeping with the wealth and development disparities that exist between the different geographical regions of China.

Before turning attention towards the ethics of this research, it is important to outline the need to describe the participants fully. Both student and teacher participants were given pseudonyms to protect their identities and provide anonymity, and all gave consent for their data to be recorded. In relation to student participants, their name, gender, age, and location in China were recorded. A column denoting their autism diagnosis was not deemed necessary since such a diagnosis was essential for their participation.

Figure 1
Student Participant Information

Participant name	Gender	Age	Location in China
(Student)			
John	Male	15	Eastern China
Michael	Male	17	Eastern China
Peter	Male	16	Southern China
James	Male	17	Eastern China
Steve	Male	17	Northern China
Rory	Male	17	Eastern China
Alexander	Male	17	Southern China
Andy	Male	17	Eastern China
Liam	Male	17	Eastern China

Kate	Female	16	Western China	

In regard to teacher participants, along with their name, gender, age, and location in China, their number of years as a teacher and their highest qualification were recorded. This decision to record the length of their teaching experience and their level of education was made to see if these factors can have an impact on attitudes, either positive or negative, towards students deemed to be 'different' from the norm, as is the case with autistic students.

Figure 2

Teacher Participant Information

Participant	Gender	Age	Highest	Number of years	Location in
name (Teacher)			qualification held	teaching	China
Clare	Female	39	Undergraduate Degree	18	Southern China
Bill	Male	46	Master's Degree	20	Eastern China
Nora	Female	35	Master's Degree	9	Eastern China
Louise	Female	31	Undergraduate Degree	10	Southern China
Lily	Female	25	Undergraduate Degree	3	Eastern China
Tom	Male	42	Master's Degree	14	Eastern China
Alan	Male	39	Undergraduate Degree	18	Eastern China

Helen	Female	29	Post Graduate	6	Northern China
			Certificate		
Ella	Female	41	Undergraduate Degree	19	Eastern China
Penny	Female	37	Undergraduate Degree	14	Southern China

4.4 Ethics, Ethical Reflexivity, and Positionality

The following section will address the concepts of ethics, ethical reflexivity, and the positionality of myself as a researcher engaged in research from an educational research perspective. That is not to say that the concept of ethics, defined most simply as the standards of conduct that exist and govern various fields of study (Resnik, 2020), is only important from an educational research perspective, but that it is beyond the scope of this thesis to consider the ethical standards and requirements of every extant discipline, aside from cross-disciplinary issues, from anything other than an educational research perspective.

4.4.1 Ethics

Within the realm of educational research, steps must be taken to ensure that participants are protected from harm, are considered as autonomous beings in their actions and decisions, are assured of their privacy (unless maintaining confidentiality were to cause harm), are offered some form of reciprocity as a result of their participation (no matter how brief), and are treated fairly and equitably as far as possible (British Educational Research Association, 2018; Hammersley & Traianau, 2012; Zwozdiak-Myers; 2020).

Before any research was conducted, ethical approval was sought and granted from the ethics committee at Lancaster University (see appendix 1 for a copy of this approval letter) and any and all research conducted during the course of this doctoral research was in line with the approval granted. Resultantly, teacher participants were provided with a participant information sheet (appendix 4) and a consent form (appendix 7) acknowledging

their rights as a participant and their willingness to participate in the research. Student participants were also provided with an information sheet (appendix 5), as were their parents or guardians (appendix 6), and were required, along with their parents or guardians to sign a consent form that acknowledged their rights as a participant and their willingness to participate in the research (appendix 7). In keeping with good research practices, the participant information sheets were transparent, (Bryman et al., 2022; Cohen et al., 2018), as to the purposes of the research and included why an individual's participation was needed, what would be required of the participants, what actual participation would look like, what data would be collected, what would be done with participant data, what could the participant expect in return for their participation, and what rights should the participant be aware that they have. The information sheets further outlined to them what was required of me as a researcher, including the measures that would be taken to protect participant privacy and anonymity, how participant data would be stored, and the contact details for me, my doctoral supervisor, and the course leader for the Education and Social Justice course at Lancaster University, should they have any questions, queries, comments or complaints. In designing the participant information sheets and consent forms, attention was given to the growing sense that, in certain fields, information sheets and consent forms have become increasingly more complicated over recent years (Ennis & Wykes, 2016), thus impacting participant comprehension. To address this issue, participant information sheets and consent forms were written as simply as possible, whilst still including all the relevant information needed for participants to make an informed decision as to their participation. Furthermore, participants were sent both the relevant information sheet and the consent form electronically and were encouraged to take their time in deciding if they would like to participate, thus giving them the opportunity to make an informed decision about their participation in the research in their own time, and without the pressure of having to answer immediately. Participants were given a further copy of the information sheet prior to the commencement of the interview to ensure that their participation was truly informed (Nind, 2017). Participants were offered the opportunity to preview the questions that would be asked and the lines of enquiry to be investigated, with the caveat that, owing to the semistructured nature of the interview, the exact wording of questions may change depending on circumstance, context, and participant responses. Whilst, in fact, no participants expressed a wish to see the questions in advance, and they all declined the opportunity to do so, the

option was included with the well-being of the autistic participants in mind, owing to the fact that they could potentially find the unpredictability of the interview process challenging (Cridland et al., 2015).

Of particular relevance to this research were three issues that I anticipated could have the potential to cause harm to those participating in this study if not navigated correctly. The first issue was the fact that half the participants included in this study are autistic people. Owing to the nature of autism, as discussed in the literature review, and the fact that autistic participants would be described as 'vulnerable' (Cascio et al., 2020, 2021), it was important that every conceivable step be taken to ensure that they were comfortable with participating in this research, including during interviewing. The steps taken included ensuring that I was familiar with the interview procedure and the concept of the 'interview guide' so as to best support my participants (Brinkmann, 2007; Minichiello et al., 2008), that I remained patient, in possession of a relaxed and approachable demeanour and open to communication (Brinkmann, 2007), and, most importantly, that I had a good understanding of autism, how autism may display itself in the behaviour of an individual, and various strategies that can be employed to make an autistic individual feel at ease (Cocks, 2008; Krogh & Lindsey, 1999). The strategies employed took the form of clear and concise questioning, the option of multiple methods of communication, such as writing if needed or requested, taking breaks as needed or requested, and allowing participants to be interviewed in the manner that they preferred. As a result of taking these measures, many of the student participants, at the end of the interview, expressed their enjoyment of it, as best illustrated by James' comment that 'this was really fun, I enjoyed that' or Alexander's remark that he 'didn't know answering questions could be so cool. They're all about me so I know the answers!'

The second issue to be addressed arose as a result of conducting research with participants who were both autistic and teenagers. Because of the intersectionality of being both autistic and a teenager, it was essential to ensure that the students' participation and their consent to participation was something that they themselves wanted and that it was not just the wish of their parents or guardians whose consent to their child's participation was provided separately. Whilst the consent of a parent or carer is essential for a child or, in some cases, for an autistic person to be included in research, this consent should not replace or overrule the need for consent to be obtained from the child or autistic person

themselves (Dockett et al., 2009). In these cases, steps should be taken, including discussion with the child or autistic person, to ensure that their consent is freely given, owing to their vulnerability to having their consent provided for them (Cocks, 2008; Mishna et al., 2004; Potter & Hepburn, 2005). Furthermore, it was important to ensure that the autistic teenagers participating in the research were not infantilised in any way whilst, at the same time, recognising that research with both young people and autistic people requires clear and concise communication, a lack of ambiguous questioning, and sensitivity to their needs as both teenagers who are still developing on an emotional, social, and cognitive level and as autistic people who require researchers to have an appreciation of the autistic experience. Only one such incident of concern arose during the timeframe in which participants were being recruited. A parent/guardian, interested in their child participating, contacted me to inquire as to what should be done if their child did not want to participate in the research but the parent/guardian wanted them to. My response to the parent/guardian was that 'whilst parental/guardian consent was essential for a child under the age of eighteen to participate in the research, no consent given by the parent/guardian can overrule the consent of the actual participant.' In order to safeguard against the possibility of there being similar incidences of which I was not aware, I spoke with each student participant at the start of their interview so as to ascertain whether or not their consent had been freely given, without coercion from a parent, guardian, or any other authority figure present in the student's life.

The third issue to be addressed was the protection from *future* harm for participants, particularly because this research was conducted with Chinese participants, living in China, regarding their views on aspects of the Chinese education system. Owing to the sanctity in which the Chinese education system is held in China, the fact that it exists as an inherently political institution, and its use as a mouthpiece through which to disseminate Chinese political ideologies (Fan, 2020; Huang et al., 2015; Xu, 2021), any criticism of, or even conversation about it is, in certain circles, seen, at best, as an unwanted conversation about the Communist Party or, at worst, as a criticism of the Communist Party. As a non-Chinese researcher asking questions rather than providing answers and with no ties to China, any risk to myself was minimal. This, however, may not have been the case for my participants. With that in mind, great effort was taken to protect the identity of all participants who took part in this research especially the identity of teacher participants who work within the

political sphere of education and are often expected to 'tow the party line.' In addition to the pseudonyms assigned to each participant, direct quotations were only used in this thesis after explicit permission had been obtained from the participants in question, as has been put forward as good practice by research (Creswell & Poth, 2017; Eldh et al., 2020; Saunders et al., 2015). Participants were assured that neither their recorded interview nor their full interview transcript would ever be seen by anyone other than me and themselves, should they wish to assert their right of ownership over their data collected about them. By embedding these strategies in the research, participants were adequately reassured that there would be no negative consequences as a result of their participation, as is well demonstrated by the following interaction between myself and the teacher participant, Lily, that allowed me to use my judgement of the situation to listen to her concerns, remind her that she was under no obligation to participate, and, ultimately, assuage her fears, thereby allowing the interview to continue with her consent.

- (Lily) So, no one will ever know this is me right?
- (JH) Yes, that's correct.
- (Lily) and no one will hear this recording or see the trans...trans...cription? Is that the word?
- (JH) Transcription, yes that's the word. And yes, you're right. No one will ever hear this interview apart from me and no one will ever see the whole transcription apart from me. You can see it too if you'd like to? With your permission, I might quote you in my thesis but the whole transcription won't be published.
- (Lily) Okay good, that's fine...you won't say what school I work at will you?
- (JH) No. Anything that could identify you won't be included. Just, as we mentioned earlier, your age, gender, highest qualification, number of years teaching, and whether you're in the east, south, west, or north of China is all that will be included.
- (Lily) You could be talking about anyone.
- (JH) Exactly, the data we include is often very vague and could describe millions of people in China.

- (Lily) Okay, that sounds good. My principal probably would ask so many questions about what we talked if he knows it was me.
- (JH) I gather that's not something you would want?
- (Lily) Definitely not! I don't want trouble but it's okay. He won't know.
- (JH) Okay...remember, if you would like to withdraw you are most certainly free to do so. Especially if you're worried about taking part. Would you like to see the information sheet again to think about it?
- (Lily) No, no, I was just checking. I'm good, we can go.
- (JH) Okay well, if you change your mind, even after the interview, you have two weeks to let me know so I can take your responses out of the thesis.
- (Lily) Okay, that's good.

The existence of a two-week period following the interviews during which participants could withdraw was essential in ensuring that they were protected from future harm. It gave them time to reflect on the interview process and on how comfortable they would be with their words possibly being echoed in a doctoral thesis. Whilst it is important to note that no participants chose to withdraw after participation, the option was still granted to all participants in keeping with good, ethical practice (Creswell & Poth, 2017).

In discussing the concept of 'protection from harm', it is important to consider the needs of the reader of this thesis as well as the needs of participants and myself as researcher. Whilst the findings identified in chapter 5 are qualitatively rich, they could be, at times, distressing and potentially shocking for a reader to read. This 'trigger warning' serves to both respect and protect the reader's emotional and intellectual boundaries (Spencer & Kulbaga, 2018) whilst inviting them to read on with this consideration in mind.

On a final note, whilst participants were not offered financial reimbursement for taking part in this research, they did express a sense of satisfaction at having engaged in the research process. Steve, for example, at the conclusion of his interview, stated:

'It was like a thing where you lie on the sofa and the doctor makes you better by talking to you. Thanks for letting me do this, it was good.'

All participants were directed towards support services should they feel the need for them. The importance of this step, which may often be overlooked in qualitative research, is highlighted by Steve's comment. In discussing participants' thoughts and experiences, it is important to remember that not all of these reflections and conversations are pleasant. Some may illicit traumatic thoughts and memories and, whilst such issues did not arise in this piece of research, I viewed it as my duty to these participants to consider them not simply as data sources but as human beings whose experiences mattered, whose welfare was considered, and whose participation was a collaboration between them and me to uncover their valuable perspectives.

4.4.2 Ethical Reflexivity and Positionality

The concept of (ethical) reflexivity and researcher positionality and its importance is one that has been long discussed in qualitative research (e.g., Bourke, 2014; Chacko, 2004; Holmes, 2020; Sultana, 2007; Warin, 2011). Described at its most fundamental as a researcher's world view and the stance that is adopted by the researcher surrounding a particular piece of research and the social/political context that the research exists in as a result of said particular worldview (Foote & Bartell, 2011; Holmes, 2020; Rowe, 2014), positionality and the identification of positionality is essential in understanding how research was conducted, why it was conducted, and the results of the research conducted (Grix, 2019; Holmes, 2020; Rowe, 2014). Reflexivity is described as the ongoing process in which researchers come to know themselves in their research and are able to disclose themselves and recognise the impact that the existence of the researcher and their influence has had on research (Bryman et al., 2022; Cohen et al., 2018). Reflexivity is essential in order for a researcher to engage in the necessary process of identifying, critiquing, evaluating, reflecting on, and articulating their positionality in research.

As 'reflexivity informs positionality' (Holmes, 2020), it is vital to identify myself as a white, autistic, British, adult male, whose professional experience has been within the English education system. Recognising these aspects of my existence neither precludes me from nor establishes me as essential to uncovering the extent to which Chinese internationalised schools are able to provide autistic students with a more socially just education. They are, however, aspects of myself that have influenced this piece of research and the writing of this thesis.

As there can be little objectivity within the field of education (Dubois, 2015; Holmes, 2020), Ormston et al.'s (2014) concept of 'empathetic neutrality' comes in to play. The researcher strives to promote neutrality by recognising their own biases, by taking conscious steps to prevent them dictating the research and research process, but ultimately, by recognising that these subjective viewpoints will never fully be neutralised (Holmes, 2020). The goal here, therefore, is not to seek a purely objective research process, but to recognise that a research process will always be subjective and that it is the responsibility of the researcher to acknowledge this, whilst doing their best to ensure that research is conducted with the participant's viewpoint and experiences in mind.

In the case of this research, my position as a researcher, my 'whiteness', and my 'Britishness', historically and contemporarily viewed in China as desirable qualities (e.g., Cheng, 2019; Dikötter, 2015) undoubtedly had an impact on the power dynamics of the interviews, especially with teacher participants as is demonstrated in the first teacher interview I conducted that was with Lily:

- (JH) Thank you for agreeing to be interviewed today.
- (Lily) I can't say no can I really?
- (JH) You definitely can say no. You are under no pressure at all to take part in this interview if you don't want to or if you're not sure. That's not a problem at all.
- (Lily) No, not that, it's like what people say because you're handsome, British guy, and this is a PhD.
- (JH) I'm sorry, I'm not too sure what you mean.
- (Lily) Like, I have to do the interview. I want to do the interview. Like not a bad thing but kinda like I can't say no to candy. Not a bad thing but it's important because it's a PhD.
- (JH) Ah I see what you mean. Well, this is just a conversation really. You're the participant so it's your opinions that are the important bit. I'll ask questions and we'll have a chat based on what you say but just think about it as colleagues having a chat.
- (Lily) Yeah okay. Ha yeah, I forgot you're a teacher. Okay, no problem.

As a result of this interaction with Lily, I made the conscious decision, in all future teacher interactions, to highlight the fact that, despite my position as a researcher or interviewer, and despite our inherent racial, national, or cultural differences, I was, to all intents and purposes, a fellow teacher interested in knowing my colleagues' thoughts and opinions surrounding a given topic. Presenting the interview in this light and highlighting the similarity between me and the teacher participants rather than our differences was intended to make both the concept and the reality of the interview and the participant experience of the research process in general less threatening, less formal, and more natural.

The process of dismantling the power dynamic that exists between researcher and participant was slightly more difficult when interviewing students, especially autistic students, who, given their status as a 'disabled population' often find the power dynamic between researcher and participant even more pronounced (Fletcher-Watson et al., 2019; Pickard et al., 2022; Pellicano et al., 2014). During this research, by consciously focussing on the need for 'listening, response-ability, and becoming-with' (Daelman et al., 2020), an approach to research that has been employed effectively to ensure a more equal relationship between child and researcher and disabled child and researcher (Davies, 2014; Komulainen, 2007), I was able to promote a more comfortable environment for the student participants. Moreover, as an autistic person myself, capable of imagining that the views of other autistic people, in this case children, are inherently powerful and their position recognisable (Davies, 2014; Lundy, 2007; Lundy et al., 2011), the concepts of 'listening, responseability, and becoming-with' (Daelman et al., 2020) were put into practice during my interactions with participants, as demonstrated in a conversation experienced with Andy:

- (Andy) My mom says you're autistic too. Are you?
- (JH) Yes, she's right. I am autistic.
- (Andy) So you know how it feels, like with the teachers or students?
- (JH) I do. I remember experiencing a lot of the same experiences that you're telling me about now.
- (Andy) Can you tell me?
- (JH) Yes, I remember one time...

(Andy) Yeah! I get that too! So like, you're doing this research for us? For like autistic people?

(JH) I am, yes.

(Andy) So...I guess I am too? Because we're doing an interview? It's like we're working together?

(JH) I like that way of viewing it Andy. Yeah, we are working together.

(Andy) Yeah, it's not like when teachers tell you do to something or something. We're the same.

In this instance, the barrier between researcher and participant was broken down and, despite our age difference and our different roles, we were working together to uncover Andy's truth. In our shared recognition and understanding of the autistic experience, Andy was able to view his role as participant differently and we were able, through listening and through conscious response-ability, to 'become-with' each other, with me experiencing his reality, him experiencing mine, and the two of us experiencing a new shared one based on our experiences (Davies, 2014; Haraway, 2016). The sharing of a 'me too moment' (Warin, 2011), as illustrated by the conversation with Andy, was invaluable in establishing a bond and connection with some student participants, as is further shown in the following exchange with Michael:

(Michael) Why do you care about autism? Why do you want to know these things?

(JH) Well, I am autistic too and autism is something I'm very passionate about.

(Michael) Oh! Oh I didn't know. That makes me feel better. Ha okay, yeah that's awesome!

Here, Michael initially seemed hesitant to speak about his experiences, but when provided with new information about me, the view that he had of me as 'like a doctor in one of those hospitals' (Michael) changed to one that saw me as an ally. In the space of a few words, the barriers between us fell away and we were able to enter into a partnership in the quest to uncover his truth.

Although I attempted to adhere to Ormston et al.'s (2014) notion of empathetic neutrality, the reality of being an autistic person engaged in autism research made this

difficult. I did not set out with the intention of disclosing my autism diagnosis to my participants. However, my membership of autism support groups, which was visible to the parents/guardians of the student participants, and the organic, naturally occurring incidences where it felt important to share my own diagnosis with some of the participants, meant that this aspect of my life was brought into the research more than I expected. Particularly challenging in this regard were the interactions with participants who were aware of their parent/guardian's desire to speak with me about autism. Kate and I, for example, shared the following interaction:

- (JH) Thank you so much for speaking with me Kate. I've really enjoyed this conversation with you!
- (Kate) Yeah, me too. Can you wait for a bit? I think my mom wants to ask you some things.
- (JH) Of course, I'm happy to answer any questions about the research.
- (Kate) No, I think it's about autism questions and what it's like being an adult and if it can go I think...things like that.
- (JH) Oh, I see.
- (Kate) Yeah, or she'll just find things on the internet. I'll get her.

In the conversation with Kate's parent that followed, topics were discussed such as curative measures for autism and the notion of becoming a 'successful' autistic person. The challenge here lay in balancing a number of factors: the role of the researcher, who needs to be cautious in putting forward thoughts and opinions that anyone involved in the research may, consciously or otherwise, take up as fact, the desire to correct ableist assumptions of autism that are damaging to all autistic people, the need to distance myself from the viewpoint that there exists an 'ideal' autistic experience, and the desire to protect myself, an autistic person, as illustrated in another context by my conscious decision to exclude from this thesis a transcribed version of the personal story I disclosed to Andy.

Whilst keeping this conversation with Kate's parent brief and focussed on the research, the realisation that there is sometimes a need to separate my roles as researcher and autistic person meant that whenever I was faced with a situation similar to the one

described, it led to a great deal of reflection on my part as to which role takes precedence and why. It was important to position myself in the research, whilst ensuring that I did not overshadow it or change its focus.

A salient point that has been addressed throughout this thesis is the fact that I am an autistic person conducting research with autistic people or, where participants are not autistic, conducting research relating to autism education. This is an important position to highlight as I am very much aware of the experiences of being autistic and the manner in which a given education system can work against the interests of autistic people. By employing 'Cripistemology' that concerns me using my autistic experience to inform my work on autism and disability (Freeman-Loftis, 2021; Johnson & McRuer, 2014), I was able to gain a unique insight into the lives of my participants and understand on a shared autistic intellectual and autistic cultural level the processes of autocratical discourse the (specifically autistic) participants engaged in when taking part in this research. The result, as will be revealed in chapter 5, is a level of depth in participant responses and engagement (especially from autistic participants) that may otherwise have not been possible. This is due to, as referenced previously in this chapter, my ability to share autistic experiences with autistic people openly, as was the case with Kate or Andy, or even subconsciously owing to the fact that I will always know the lived autistic experience and will respond accordingly even if my own autistic identity was not brought into a given conversation with an autistic student participant. To summarise and, for want of a better phrase, I essentially understand autistic people on an autistic level. This position was invaluable in conducting research with autistic people and concerning autism education.

4.4.3 Reliability and Validity from a Phenomenological Standpoint

The concepts of reliability and validity are positivist by tradition. The belief within positivist thinking is that there is an objective truth to reality that can be uncovered through scientific measures and that can be proven, in part, by the concepts of reliability and validity which clearly establish what can and cannot be done in the pursuit of scientific truth, and how research should be conducted to ensure that the same findings are found again and again (Rose & Johnson, 2020; Nha, 2021). The concepts of reliability and validity are often rejected, however, on the basis that qualitative researchers frequently object to the scientific 'imposition' that the notions of reliability and validity attempt to

establish within the domain of qualitative research (Kvale, 1996; Morse, 2018). It is important to recognise that a phenomenological consideration of the meaning of reliability or validity differs from the positivist definition. Whilst no phenomenologist would dispute the need for valid research, provided the concept of valid research was defined as research that follows methodological steps and uses methodological tools consistently and transparently in the manner stated by the researcher (Høffding et al., 2022), the idea that *reliable* research necessitates the existence of an objective truth, independent of the conceptualisation of the world within the mind, is impossible for the phenomenologist to agree with or even consider (Høffding et al., 2022; Petitmengin, 2017). With that and my own interpretative phenomenological position in mind, this thesis has employed Høffding et al.'s (2022) concepts of reliability and validity in which reliability refers to the extent to which the truth a participant shares is their truth, and validity refers to the method used to analyse the given truth expressed by a participant and the conclusions that can be drawn from that analysis.

In the conduct of this research, it was hoped that some degree of phenomenological reliability would be achieved through the recruitment of participants who could be considered social actors in the matters under investigation in this study, namely autistic students attending, and Chinese teachers employed at Chinese internationalised schools. The experiences and truths of the participants recruited were at the heart of this research. Semi-structured interviews gave them the scope and ability to verbalise their experiences and truths, allowing them to expand upon their viewpoints, and to deliver lengthy, uninterrupted thoughts, opinions, and perspectives, whilst the dialogic nature of semi-structured interviews saw their perspectives pressed in certain areas. This was only possible because the participants were reliable participants.

In essence, when a participant meets given criteria for participation (provided those criteria do not change), and that participant is interviewed in a manner that allows for the participant's truth to be uncovered, outlined, developed, and expanded upon through the researcher-participant dialogue, then 'we should trust the subject' (Jack & Roepstorff, 2003) and their experiences as reliable.

Taking all necessary steps to ensure that this research is considered valid, attention must be given to both the methodological tools used in the research and the tools used for

data analysis. Semi-structured interviews have long been considered appropriate tools through which to gain a phenomenological understanding of disability (Martiny, 2015a; Martiny 2015b; Martiny & Aggerholm, 2016). They have been found to be a valid methodological tool, especially when, as is the case in this research, rich data is gathered directly from a relatively small sample size who are in the unique position of being most knowledgeable about their own perceptions and experiences (Ahlin, 2019). Thematic analysis has been chosen as the tool for data analysis in this research and will be considered in more detail in the next section of this chapter. Suffice it to say at this stage that it presents itself as a valid form of data analysis due to the substantial amount of research that has been undertaken to establish the reasons why thematic analysis is valid and the procedures to follow to ensure that its validity is continuously re-affirmed (Braun & Clarke, 2006; Malterud, 2001; Thorne, 2000; Nowell et al., 2017). Taking all these matters into consideration, the research that has been conducted, and the outcomes of that research can be considered both reliable and valid from a phenomenological viewpoint.

4.5 Data Analysis

The final part of the methodology chapter seeks to complete two tasks. The first is to outline and describe the data analysis tools and strategies used in this research from both a practical viewpoint, as relates to this thesis, and from a theoretical viewpoint. The second task builds upon the first and is an attempt to explain and demonstrate how the findings of this thesis were formulated through the process of data analysis. It is important, once again, to position my own interpretative phenomenological approach at the centre of the analytical process and to emphasise my adherence to critical disability theory, because even the very data collected and included within the chosen qualitative analytical method is inherently influenced by the researcher's beliefs, values, and perspectives (Jootun et al., 2009). My own strict interpretative assumptions dictate an inductive approach to data analysis. This approach requires meaning and theme identification to spawn from the gathered data and not due to any preconceptions held on the part of the researcher or preconceived notions of what ought to be found (Gichuru, 2017). That being said, it is worth noting that general inductive methods do allow for deduction, provided the deductive viewpoint extends no further than considering the research questions and objectives when analysing the data (Thomas, 2006). Excluding data in the analysis is permissible, therefore, if its exclusion is

based on its irrelevance to the research questions and objectives and provided that the steps used in the chosen method of data analysis are followed to the letter.

As a phenomenological perspective underpins the entire methodological assumption of this research, thematic analysis was considered the most appropriate form of data analysis. Thematic analysis is described as 'a method for identifying, analysing and reporting patterns (themes) within data' (Braun & Clarke, 2006) that, despite its apparent simplicity, is both flexible, to take into account the nature of the research and the needs of the researcher, and capable of producing rich and detailed data (Braun & Clarke, 2019; Peel, 2020). As the objective of the research process in this study was to allow participants to describe their experiences in Chinese internationalised schools, thematic analysis allowed for participant descriptions to be explained through researcher reflexivity and through the identification of patterns or themes within participant responses which, when viewed with the research objectives in mind, generated a broader picture as to what phenomena had been uncovered (Guest et al., 2012; Sundler et al., 2019). The tradition of utilising thematic analysis as a data analytical method within phenomenological research is well established (Braun & Clarke, 2021; Joffe, 2011; Kiger & Varpio, 2020). Its particular strength, however, especially in this research, is its ability, as best described by Ho et al. (2017), to 'uncover and present the structure of the meaning of lived experience.' The nature of thematic analysis allowed for comparison between the five sub-questions outlined in the introductory chapter and for themes to be identified that were relevant to those questions. Although different schools of thematic analysis exist, this thesis employs the six-stage approach developed by Braun and Clarke (2006, 2017, 2019). This remains a popular approach, owing to its rigorous framework and its recognition of the value of qualitative data to research (Peel, 2020). The six stages are as follows:

- 1. Familiarising oneself with the data
- 2. Generating initial codes
- 3. Searching for themes
- 4. Reviewing themes
- 5. Defining and naming themes
- 6. Producing the report

4.5.1 Familiarising Oneself With the Data

As the data collected from the twenty participants who took part in this piece of research was in the form of audio recordings, it was essential to transcribe the data into written form in order for a thematic analysis of said data to take place (Braun & Clarke, 2006). This process, which was done electronically by me, has been described by those engaged in thematic analysis as both a suitable way to ensure that one is familiarised with the data, and is an integral act of thematic analysis that goes beyond simply the mechanical process of writing heard words down verbatim, but instead allows one to generate context and meaning surrounding what is heard and transcribed (Braun & Clarke, 2006). In following the guidelines established by research (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2019; Clarke & Braun, 2017), I was able to produce accurate transcripts of every participant interview, in which verbal and, where needed, non-verbal communication was written down as it appeared. Moreover, in listening to each recorded interview multiple times, I was able to ensure that even punctuation added in the transcribed version matched with the original audio so as to refrain from altering the meaning of the finalised transcription (Poland, 2002). Whilst participants were offered the chance to read through their final transcribed interview, no participants deemed this necessary. Whilst this step would have added an extra layer of validity to the transcribed interviews, I deemed it to be ethically unsound to force participants to read through what they had said, when such an act could be uncomfortable for them especially when they explicitly stated that they did not want to. To compensate for this omission, I listened to each audio recording multiple times, I transcribed the audio recording whilst listening to it, and I finished by re-reading the transcribed recording whilst listening to the audio recording to ensure that the transcription was a true representation of the audio recording.

4.5.2 Generating Initial Codes

Following the familiarisation of the data, aided, in part, by the transcribing of the participant audio recordings, it was essential to use that data in the generation of initial codes. The generation of initial codes is particularly important in thematic analysis as coding a piece of text gives a label to a specific idea or theme within the text whilst making analysis of the ideas or themes found within the text much easier (Gläser & Laudel, 2013;

Guest et al., 2012). In other words, coding produces smaller, more manageable units of data for analysis which in turn allows for the meaning behind the text to be better appreciated (Cohen et al., 2018; Gläser & Laudel, 2013). It is worth noting, however, that the process of coding is inherently subjective as it is left to the discretion of the analyst to best identify features of the raw data that are most interesting (Braun & Clarke, 2006). To give an example of the generation of initial codes in action, one could look at Liam's response to the question I asked as to whether his school valued autistic students:

No, I don't think so. The teachers don't really care if you are weird. They only care if you do good on the exams. But I can't talk about it to people because they don't care either. I've not been asked to do anything at school. I don't think they know if I'm at school or not. Ha, I should do that...see if they know when I'm not at school. I don't think they will (Liam).

In this case, several initial codes were generated based on Liam's response including feelings of isolation, teachers not caring, and teachers caring about academics. As coding is left to the discretion of the analyst, these codes were primarily data driven, based on what was uncovered during participant interviews. However, the existence of the research questions and research objectives directed exactly which data would be coded and which would be excluded in order to identify a comprehensive but not a complete list of features uncovered that were relevant to this investigation (Braun & Clarke, 2006). In the case of John, for example, his informing me of his favourite LEGO sets was interesting but was not coded, whilst him describing the feelings of isolation that he has at school that led to him talking about his favourite LEGO sets was. Although much research has been conducted with and surrounding the plethora of coding software that exists and is used to code data electronically (e.g., Castleberry & Nolan, 2018; Elliot-Mainwaring, 2021; Firmin et al., 2017; Oliveira et al., 2013; Williams & Moser, 2019), I chose to code my data without the use of a specific coding software. Instead, using Microsoft Word I chose to demarcate sections of text by highlighting them, before coding the relevant areas of these sections by using the 'comment' tool to name the assigned codes as necessary. Manual coding, though time consuming, has a tradition within thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2019; Clarke & Braun, 2017) and was chosen as the method of coding for this research because of the cost of qualitative analysis software. In generating codes, overlap between codes was considered beneficial as, according to Braun and Clarke (2006), coding as much data as

possible (time permitting) and allowing those overlaps between codes is preferable to not coding enough.

4.5.3 Searching for Themes

Stage three of thematic analysis marks the first point at which the focus of the analysis switches from identifying a broad list of codes drawn from the data in question towards sorting related categories of code together into broadly related themes (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2019; Clarke & Braun, 2017). As has been well documented in literature employing thematic analysis (e.g., Finlay, 2021; Trainor & Bundon, 2021; Wæraas, 2022), some of these codes may emerge as dominant or main themes, others as sub-themes, and a remaining group of codes may be discarded. The end point of this stage is a broad collection of potential main and sub-themes and the sense that some specific themes are beginning to emerge as particularly important. In the case of this research, thematic tables were used to plot initial themes and sub-themes (Figure 3).

Figure 3

Thematic tables highlighting the initial themes and sub-themes. The letters 'S' and 'T' denote the existence of a sub-theme that stemmed from students (S), from teachers (T), or from both students and teachers (ST).

Theme: Feelings of isolation	Theme: Lack of agency	Theme: Lack of voice
Sub themes:	Sub themes:	Sub themes:
1.Few/no friends ST	1.Unable to make decisions ^S	1.Inability to advocate S
2.Trying to fit in ^S	2.Incapable of making decisions ^T	2.No room for alternate voices ST
3.Not trying hard enough ^T	3.No alternatives ST	3.No desire for alternate voices ^T
4.Expected due to differences ST	4.Feelings of powerlessness ^T	
5.Deserving of isolation ^T		

Theme: Feelings of value	Theme: Feelings of support		
Sub themes:	Sub themes:		
1.Not considered important ^S	1.Lack of support from teachers ^S		
2.Less value than neurotypicals ^T	2.Who to support and perceived		
3.Negative feelings of self-value ^S	equity ^T		
	3.Support as earned ^T		
	Sub themes: 1.Not considered important S 2.Less value than neurotypicals T 3.Negative feelings of self-value S		

The themes and sub-themes generated were mostly descriptive in that they arose due to patterns identified in the data that were relevant to the research questions and purpose (Maguire & Delahunt, 2017). Whilst there could be an overlap between various themes or sub-themes, this is to be expected due to the subjective nature of organising coded data into themes and sub-themes and is considered perfectly acceptable due to the further stages of refinement that need to be conducted in the six-stage process (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2019; Clarke & Braun, 2017). Furthermore, it is important to recognise that this thematic table was one that was deemed satisfactory, rather than perfect, owing to the importance, as stated by Braun and Clarke (2006), to 'not get over-enthusiastic with endless re-coding.' That being said, a good sense of relevant themes and sub-themes had been established by this point.

4.5.4 Reviewing Themes

Stage four of the six-stage process of thematic analysis is concerned with the refinement of the candidate themes and sub-themes identified in step three of the process. During this stage, it has been highlighted that various possible candidate themes are not themes at all, whilst other candidate themes, whilst important, are not significant enough or are too inter-related to other candidate themes to exist in their own right (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2019; Clarke & Braun, 2017). The process of reviewing themes is a two-step process

involving, in the first instance, a review of all the coded extracts that combine together to create a given theme to ensure they form a coherent pattern, after which the analyst needs to make certain of the validity of their themes and that they accurately reflect the meanings located within the data (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Whilst this can appear a complex process, it has been suggested that answering various questions related to one's initial thematic map or table can be beneficial. Maguire and Delahunt (2017), for example suggest answering the following questions to assist in the review process:

- Do the themes make sense?
- Does the data support the themes?
- Am I trying to fit too much into a theme?
- If themes overlap, are they really separate themes?
- Are there themes within themes (subthemes)?
- Are there other themes within the data?

(Maguire & Delahunt, 2017)

In adhering to the theme review process outlined by Braun and Clarke (2006, 2017, 2019) and in keeping with the guidance provided by Maguire and Delahunt (2017), a refined thematic table was generated (Figure 4).

Figure 4Thematic table showing reviewed themes and sub-themes.

Theme: Feelings of value	Theme: Lack of Engagement	Theme: School and preparation		
Sub theme: Value as an individual	Sub theme: Lack of agency	1.Not ready for what comes next ST		
1.Not considered important ^S	1.Unable to make decisions ^S	2.Excitement to leave ^S		
2.Less value than neurotypicals ^T	2.Incapable of making decisions ^T	3.Concerns about the future ^S		
3.Negative feelings of self-worth ^S	3.No alternatives ST	4.Low chance of work ST		
	4.Feelings of powerlessness ^T	5.Feelings of hopelessness ^S		

Sub theme: isolation from	Sub theme: Lack of voice	
devaluation	1.Inability to advocate ^S	
1.Few/no friends ST	2.No room for alternate voices ST	
2.Trying to fit in ^S	3.No desire for alternate voices ^T	
3.Not trying hard enough ^T	Sub theme: Lack of support	
4.Expected due to differences ST	1.Lack of support from teachers ^S	
5.Deserving of isolation ^T	2.Who to support and perceived	
	equity ^T	
	3.Support as earned ^T	

Of note in this refined thematic table is the collapsing of various separate themes into other pre-existing themes and their re-emergence as sub-themes rather than as themes in their own right. For example, when looking at the coded data, it became apparent that the feelings of isolation experienced by student participants stemmed from the fact that they were deemed less valuable by their peers and teachers and so were shunned by them.

Likewise, the notion that autistic people are deserving of isolation, which was a theme that was found to be running throughout teacher participant responses, only existed because of the lack of value that autistic people have in the eyes of these teachers. Similarly, the interconnected relationship between the concepts of agency and voice (Conner et al., 2022), meant that it was more appropriate to collapse these themes together to create an overarching theme of a lack of engagement, to which both a lack of a voice and a lack of agency contribute. Whilst the process of reviewing the initial data codes and the themes to which they had been allocated was time consuming, it was essential in ensuring the validity

of the themes generated and contributed to the reflective nature of thematic analysis that encourages continuous review (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

4.5.5 Defining and Naming Themes & Producing the Report

The final stage of the process focusses on the themes generated and is concerned with the need, as best described by Braun and Clarke (2006, p.92), to 'identify the essence of what each theme is about.' This consists of being certain of the capabilities of one's themes and ensuring that they do neither too little nor too much. Furthermore, it is essential to include a narrative as to why each theme is important, how each theme is connected to the overall account that the research is reporting and how these various themes relate to each other (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2019). In the case of this research, presenting a narrative for each theme and discussing their relationship with each other will be a running process that takes place within the 'findings' chapter that directly follows this. Likewise, the sixth stage of the process, producing the report, relates to the narrative process involved in defining and naming themes and will be a running process, starting within the 'findings' chapter. The purpose of this step is, in the words of Braun and Clarke, to 'tell the complicated story of your data in a way which convinces the reader of the merit and validity of your analysis.' (Braun & Clarke, 2006, p. 93). This thesis will now focus its attention towards these areas by firstly presenting the findings of this research and, subsequently, by discussing them as they relate to extant literature and understanding.

Chapter 5: Findings

The themes uncovered during the process of thematic analysis constitute the findings of this thesis. Whilst there was a subjective element to defining and categorizing the data into these themes, they represent what was discussed and revealed during the course of the participant interviews and the subsequent data analysis. This chapter will discuss the findings under the headings of each of the identified themes, namely 'feelings of value', 'lack of engagement', and 'school and preparation'. When discussing each theme or finding, the sub-themes or sub-findings that were highlighted in chapter 4 will be drawn upon to add further depth to what was uncovered. This demarcated process results in a more comprehensive understanding of the findings of this thesis and goes a significant way towards ensuring the presence of a narrative which is a key element of thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2019; Clarke & Braun, 2017).

The findings in this thesis exist mostly as extracts from my interviews with participants and the subsequent analysis of those extracts. This format was chosen for a number of reasons. First, participant responses themselves, as will become apparent during the reading of this findings chapter, provide suitable answers to the research sub-questions outlined in the introduction. Second, this research marks the first of its kind to include the voices of autistic participants within China. Including those voices as much as possible was deemed to be extremely valuable and especially so from a CDT lens as previously discussed in chapter 3. Third, by reducing participant extracts, one could suggest that I had been selective in the quotes that I used. By drawing on greater numbers of these participant extracts, it is hopefully apparent that this was not the case and that such an action instead highlights that participants were, for the most part, unified in agreement with their intergroup cohort who made up a given demographic (either autistic student participants or teacher participants).

5.1 Findings: Feelings of Value

From the theme of feelings of value, two sub-themes emerged. The sub-themes, entitled 'value as an individual' and 'isolation from devaluation' were generated from coding the participant responses given during the interview process. Figure 5 below offers a clearer picture as to what these coded responses are.

Figure 5

Coded responses from the theme of 'Feelings of Value' and the corresponding sub-themes

		Theme: Feel	ings of Value		
Sub-theme: V	alue as an individual		Sub-theme: Is	solation from dev	aluation
Student	Teacher responses	Student and	Student	Teacher	Student and
responses		Teacher	responses	responses	Teacher
		responses			responses

Not considered	Less value than	Attempting to 'fit	Not trying hard	Few/no friends
important by	'neurotypical'	in'	enough to 'fit	
teachers	students		in'	
Negative feelings			Deserving of	Expected
related to self-			isolation	isolation due to
worth				differences

5.1.1: Value as An Individual

An important sub-theme to arise during participant interviews was the concept of autistic students and of autistic people in general having 'value' in the light of their diagnosis of autism. All students interviewed reported that they did not believe themselves to be considered important by their teachers and, as a result, experienced negative feelings of self-worth. All teachers confirmed the validity of this student belief as it became apparent through their interviews that they considered autistic students to be of less value than their neurotypical counterparts as a result of their diagnosis. One explanation for this attitude was given as 'they're just not the same as the other students...they do less, think less, achieve less. I don't know what they can do.' (Tom). In another instance, teacher devaluation of autistic students in comparison with neurotypical students came from fear of what autism is and what autistic students represent.

I don't think they should be in the classroom. They aren't the same as normal children and they don't do everything in the same way. They can be scary. A bit like a robot. Like they are not really a person. They need help all the time or they just stare. They are not even the worst though. They have autism but they are better than other children. But if they are in the classroom, other, more worse, children will also come to class. So I think it is good if only normal children come to class. Normal children are what we should have in school and in the country. (Penny)

In this case, it is important to recognise that, whilst Penny's response made reference to stereotypical descriptions of autistic behaviour in a negative way, her main fear was the possibility that other 'more worse' disabled students would be permitted to attend

internationalised schools as a result of the continued inclusion of autistic students. This was a fear shared by Bill who remarked:

They (autistic students) are the not normal children that we have in school now. I don't want them here because...well...they can be bad. They can take time away from normal children. But, they are not the most bad. But if they come to school, more bad children will come like children with more mental problems. If that happens there will be no time to teach the normal children. We will have autistic children, then children with other things, then children who have the hardest diseases. It is scary because we can't teach the normal children. (Bill)

As with Penny's response, Bill espouses views that devalue autistic students by referring to them as inherently 'bad' as a result of their autism diagnosis. However, the teachers' devaluation of autistic students compared with neurotypical students is part of a wider attitude that devalues disabled students in general. Participant focus was centred around autism due to the nature of my questions, but it could be the case that the devaluation of autistic students stems from the fact that they fall into the wider category of 'disabled students' rather than it being evidence of a very specific 'anti-autism' rhetoric. However, whilst the concept of a fear of disability in general was one that hung over every teacher interview, the majority of participants only made specific reference to autistic students. For Louise and Nora for example, autistic students were valued less than neurotypical students because they were seen as being unable to contribute meaningfully to society once their education was complete.

They might finish school and go to study in college but not in China. They won't pass the exams in other schools. Only here because they pay. But they can't help the country grow more. They just need help they can't give help. The normal classmates are more important because they will give the help and help the country. (Louise)

Well...I don't think they (autistic students) need to be here (at the internationalised school). They are not the children I want to teach. I don't know how to teach them. They can't learn properly. I'm teaching the normal children. If disabled children come they will sit at the back and they can listen or draw pictures but I won't stop teaching normal children. I get paid to teach normal children. The other children (autistic students) won't do anything after they leave anyway. (Nora)

For both Louise and Nora and, indeed, for other teacher participants who made comments such as 'autistic children won't help China' (Alan) or 'they (autistic students) will not appreciate the education. We will spend lots of money but they won't help China' (Helen), the devaluation of autistic students over neurotypical students came from their belief that autistic people would serve as a burden to society rather than as an asset, and that they would not put their education to use serving the nation. In one conversation with Ella, a teacher with 19 years of experience, the direction of the conversation gave me the opportunity to investigate her view that autistic students are unable to contribute to society.

Ella: I don't think autistic children can do much with going to school. They won't get jobs, they won't be the president...haha..., they won't think like normal people. You think they can don't you? That is why you ask me.

JH: I think that there have been lots of successful autistic people who think their education is important.

Ella: Who? Who is that?

JH: Well...erm...ah, Elon Musk...he is autistic and he is very successful.

Ella: But he is from USA. Who has been autistic and for China?

JH: I'm not too sure sorry. But he has been successful.

Ella: Yes, but he could be more if he was normal. He could help his country more if he was normal. Being normal would be better.

JH: So, what if an autistic person had an education and then stayed working in China? Would that be better or worse than a non-autistic person who went to school in China but then left China?

Ella: The normal person who is Chinese would be good. They went to good schools in China and they leave China and show what China can do. The autism person will not be as good because they are not normal. They can be good like *Mǎsīkè* (the Mandarin term for Musk) but not as good as a normal person.

Interestingly, Ella's justification for devaluing autistic students compared with neurotypical students was that autistic students cannot contribute as much to a given society

as a non-autistic person. However, when presented with a situation in which the non-autistic person had left the society they were contributing to, Ella still viewed that individual as more valuable to the society they had left behind than the educated autistic individual who remained. It is reasonable to hypothesise that a neurotypical individual who was educated in China and remained in China would be deemed more valuable to Chinese society than an individual who was educated in China but then left. Ella's statement that this would not be the case in the hypothetical situation under discussion stems directly from the fact that the individual remaining in China was autistic. Such a stance suggests that, in reality, teacher belief that neurotypical students have more value than autistic students is not based on the perceived strengths of neurotypical students compared with autistic students, but is instead based on the ingrained assumption that autistic students are less valuable because of the fact that they are autistic.

As previously mentioned, autistic student participants were aware of their standing in the eyes of their teachers and reported that the teachers considered them to be less important and less valuable than their neurotypical counterparts.

Yeah...my teachers don't think I'm important. They even say that I'm not. I get good grades but that doesn't matter. They don't think I can do anything or that I will have a job. I want to go to Canada and my English is better than the teacher, but they say that I'm not important. They know I have autism and they think I don't matter because of that. (Michael)

The teachers don't care about students like us...we can be the best with the best scores and the best assignments but that doesn't mean that they think we are the best. They think we are the worst because of autism. They hear autism and then we should sit at the back and be quiet. In every class it is the same. (James)

Both Michael and James placed considerable emphasis on their academic performance as justification for their belief that they ought to be considered important by their teachers whilst simultaneously asserting that the stigma that surrounds autism is the reason that they are not considered important. In other interviews, Rory explicitly stated that 'my teacher told me that she doesn't give me grades because of autism' whilst Kate was told by her mother from her teacher that 'I'm at the bottom of the class and I don't get a grade because my teacher has the doctor letter that I have autism.' It is unsurprising that autistic student

participants felt that they were not considered important by their teachers given that the interviews suggest that the teachers quite openly devalue their autistic students. That being said, a number of autistic student participants stated that they have been refusing to let their teachers view them as unimportant by means of achieving success through their academic performance.

I won't let them think I am not the best. I am the best and I only get good grades. They (the teachers) don't like me very much but they have to see I am the best. I study every night because if I do bad they will say that I am autistic so I won't do well. (Alexander)

I get 100% in everything. If Amelia (this is a pseudonym for a neurotypical student who was mentioned) gets 80% then she does well but if I do (get 80%) my teacher says that I'm not good. If I get 80% the teacher says maybe this school is not my school. We are near a disabled school so teacher says I could go there. I have to get 100% or 95% and then I do okay. (John)

These statements from the student participants acknowledged that they are not considered important and are judged by different criteria from their neurotypical counterparts. Michael, James, Alexander, and John all emphasised their own academic performance, expressed their belief that they should be valued more highly as a result of their academic performance, and highlighted the fact that they are required to overperform in order to receive teacher approval. Kate, on the other hand, took a different approach. As a result of her belief that as an autistic student she is considered less important than her neurotypical peers, she reported that she had stopped trying to achieve academically.

Well I don't get grades because of autism so why should I do well? I don't try. I just sit at the back and I think a lot and I think about my cat and I think about stroking my cat. But my teachers don't care so I don't care I'm not important like my classmates. It was bad but now I don't mind. They leave me alone and I can just think. (Kate)

Kate was not alone in demonstrating this attitude, with Rory expanding on his previous statement regarding his teachers not giving him grades as a result of him being autistic.

They don't want me in the class and I don't want to be there. I don't do anything and they don't ask me to. I wanted to be a good student but when they (teachers) say that I am autistic so they won't care about me, why should I be a good student? My mom is angry with me sometimes but if I am a good student I still get bad grades. (Rory)

Regardless of whether or not autistic student participants responded to their teacher attitudes towards them by ensuring that they were academically high performing or by 'trying less' in school, all student participants believed and gave anecdotal evidence that they were not considered important by their teachers, were considered less important or were held to a higher standard than their neurotypical classmates, and were only considered important when they were academically high achieving. In the case of those who believed themselves to be considered important by their teachers only when they were academically high achieving, the standard to which they were held was described as being so high as to be unrealistic and very difficult to reach in reality.

As a result of not being considered important by their teachers, autistic student participants reported negative feelings related to their own self-worth, further highlighting the devaluation of autistic students in Chinese internationalised schools. All ten autistic student participants in this research stated that they viewed themselves as less valuable and less important than their neurotypical classmates as a result of the way that their teachers treated them.

I think they say it so much so I have started to believe them...maybe I am not as good as my classmates...maybe I am not important. They say it so much at class and in school and to my parents and to me that I think that they are right. I tell me that they are not but I think they maybe are. (Liam)

Yeah I believe my teachers when they say it. They are the teacher and I am probably not important. I have autism and that says I am not important in school. If I was important like my classmates I wouldn't have autism. They told me that autism was what makes me not that good so I have it so I must not be that good. (Peter)

They are right. They say it so much so they are right. I just think about my cat and that is not a thing important people do. I can't be good for China when I think about

my cat and that is what I do because that is what they let me do so they are right. I am not important. (Kate)

The influence of teachers on participant self-image is clearly important. The repetition and re-enforcement of negative perceptions of autism by teachers has led participants to de-value their own self-worth and consider themselves unimportant as 'that is what the teachers always say' (Rory). In the case of Peter, not only do his negative feelings of self-worth stem from what his teachers say about him, but they have extended to the concept of autism and of being autistic. Autism is often viewed by autistic people as a part of themselves and has now in itself become an additional cause of Peter's negative feelings of self-worth. The internalization of autism as something negative in and of itself was an experience shared by other participants whose negative interactions with teachers had led them to view themselves as the problem, rather than the problem lying with those with prejudiced views.

I don't like myself much because my teacher always thinks I'm stupid. They used to say it a lot and I used to think they are stupid but now maybe they are right. I think autism is what makes me stupid because they say it a lot (Steve).

I have to keep doing well so I beat autism. My teachers say it and I think they don't have a problem with me but with autism and me. I have to do well because they say bad things if I don't. I think without autism I would be so good but the teachers say autism is bad and so I think it is. They don't like me because of autism and I don't like autism because I am the best and without really the best! (Alexander)

Such negative feelings of self-worth are particularly insidious as they endure without external reinforcement, becoming internalised perceptions of self. Interestingly, the student participants who had 'given up trying' reported negative feelings of self-worth that stemmed solely from teacher attitudes towards them. It was the student participants who had strived to achieve academically in order to be seen as valuable in the eyes of their teachers who had internalised the teacher devaluation of autism and viewed themselves as less than because of their autism diagnosis. This finding was verbalised succinctly by Alexander who recognised that he had internalised the belief that autism equates to being less than.

I think I think like this because the teacher says it so much. But not just that she says it so much. Also because I am the best but actually I'm still not the best. I get the best grades but grades don't make me the best but I should be. If I didn't have autism I would be the best. It is autism that makes me not the best. If autism didn't matter my teacher would say I am the best because I am. But I am not the best with autism. (Alexander)

Alexander's comments highlight the sense of injustice that he feels at being the (self-reported) most academically gifted student in his class but not the recipient of his teacher's recognition and praise. Alexander has taken his teacher's refusal to acknowledge his achievements, coupled with their remarks about autism to mean that the 'autistic part' of Alexander is a negative aspect of his being that is holding him back from his true potential. The concept of autism as a barrier to success was a sentiment shared by a number of other participants who reported that 'I could be so much more and better without autism' (Rory) or that 'autism is what makes me fail...it will always be there so I will always fail' (Peter). Furthermore, both Rory and Peter revealed that this negative attitude towards their 'autistic self' ultimately stemmed from their respective teachers.

My teacher said it so much so now I know they are right. I could be much better if I didn't have autism but I do so I guess it's okay. Well, maybe it's not okay. I don't know...I don't think I'm very good at anything. (Rory)

Yeah my teacher says it a lot and they are a teacher so they are right. They must be right. I fail because of it (autism). My grades are okay but I have to be better than okay because of it (autism). When they are just okay I fail like my teachers say. (Peter)

In every conversation with participants, be they teachers or students, it was apparent that autistic students were not considered valuable as individuals. In all cases however, the devaluation of autistic students stemmed from teacher attitudes and beliefs in relation to the concept of autism, autistic people and students, and the wider concept of disability as a whole. These attitudes, openly displayed by teachers, led the autistic student participants to believe that they were not considered important by their teachers which, in turn, resulted in them all reporting negative feelings of self-worth. These feelings were sometimes 'surface level' feelings that had arisen because of what a teacher or teachers had said to a given

student in the past. Where this was the case, students often reported that they had stopped trying in class in an attempt to protect themselves from further harm from their teacher. Other students, through their desire to prove their teacher wrong, had internalised these negative feelings of self-worth which seemed to stem from a disconnect between actual attainment and the praise that student participants believed should be garnered as a result, and the realization that simply being autistic is enough to ensure that the deserved recognition from teachers would never be given. The lack of value given to and felt by the autistic participants has far reaching impacts and consequences, including feelings of isolation that stem from devaluation.

5.1.2 Isolation from Devaluation

The second sub-theme to emerge from the theme of feelings of value was that of isolation stemming from the devaluation of autistic students. All autistic student participants reported that, despite trying to 'fit in' with their neurotypical peers, they found themselves excluded by them, causing them to feel devalued by their peers and suffering isolation as a result of their exclusion.

I try to fit in and do what my classmates do but I just do things differently... They have those conversations where I don't always know what's happening in them. The conversations where it's like a joke but they all know it but you don't and then it's like you are the joke. I don't think I am the same as my classmates. I don't have friends and they don't want me to be their friend. It makes me sad and I don't feel like I am very good. (Peter)

I would try and be friends with everyone but it was so hard. I could never do stuff the same way. I did have some friends but they got older and didn't want to be my friends anymore. I don't know what I did wrong or how to fix it but I did try. I feel sad sometimes and lonely because I don't have anyone and they don't want me to play with them. (John)

Yeah, I have some friends...well, I did have some friends...maybe not because I don't feel good when I'm around them. They don't play with me and we don't eat food together. They like singing but I like my cat and I talk about my cat a lot so maybe they don't like me. Huh...I think it's hard to have friends and I feel sad.

They don't like me, and they don't want me to play with them. It's just me and my cat. (Kate)

In these extracts from autistic student participant interviews, each of the students described their unhappiness at not being included despite making efforts to establish and maintain friendships and to 'fit in' with their peers. It also became apparent that the isolation they experienced as a result of their exclusion was not self-imposed or desired, but was a direct consequence of the negative attitudes of their neurotypical peers towards them.

I like talking to people and I like being around people, but my classmates say that I'm not good. They don't want to be my friend. They don't think I'm good at anything or that I'm a person, so I don't have anyone to talk to anymore. I just do everything on my own. (Alexander)

I think they listen to what the teachers say so now they don't want to be my friend because they think I'm not good like what the teachers say. I want friends but they listen to the teachers, and they also think I'm not good, so I don't have friends. My classmates won't be my friends. Sometimes I don't talk for lots of days at school. (Steve)

Particularly surprising was the testament of Steve who not only faced devaluation and isolation from his peers but who believed that their treatment of him was influenced by their interactions with teachers. This was not the only example of perceived teacher influence on peer attitudes, however, with Andy stating that 'I try to be the same as my classmates, but my teacher has told them I'm not', and Rory making reference to teachers who 'stop me from being the same as the other children because they don't let me...they tell them I'm not the same.' In each of these instances, the attempts by the students to fit in with their classmates are thwarted by their teachers having already informed their peers that they are not the same. Further discussion with these participants revealed that after the interventions by their teachers, and despite their continued efforts to 'fit in', the sense of devaluation by their peers and the ensuing isolation had already been established.

JH: How does it make you feel that your teacher told your classmates that you're not the same?

Andy: It's lots of teachers. They told my classmates, and it makes me sad and sometimes angry.

JH: Could you tell me a little bit about feeling sad and angry?

Andy: Well, I try to fit in and I keep trying to be the same as them all. If it's just me sometimes I can pretend that I'm the same and sometimes they maybe like me because I can pretend well so they think I'm the same. When the teacher tells them, I can't pretend. They all know I'm different and that different is not good.

JH: I can understand why that would make you sad and angry.

Andy: Yes and they made everything bad because they told my classmates. I try to be the same but now it doesn't matter. They will always think I'm different. I don't have friends because they don't like me because I'm different because the teachers told them. I think the teachers made me have no friends.

JH: Can you tell me a little more about the teachers 'not letting you'?

Rory: Yeah well, they didn't help me fit in. They were the people who said I won't get the chance to fit in. They could not have said anything but they wanted me to have no friends.

JH: I can imagine that must be very frustrating.

Rory: They are the teachers so yes...They should be nice to us but they make it so no one like me. They made me have no friends and it's because of them not me. I try to fit in but they don't want me to so now it's just me and I eat lunch alone.

What is also clear from these particular interview excerpts is that the student participants attributed blame to their teachers and felt feelings of anger, frustration, and sadness that they had not been afforded the opportunity to attempt to 'fit in' on their own terms before their diagnosis of autism or their differences were revealed to their classmates. As a result of teacher intervention, they were labelled by their peers as not valuable, leading to the feelings of isolation and devaluation already described. Whilst it may be puzzling as to why teachers would seemingly 'sabotage' the potential for some of their students to make meaningful connections, teacher responses to interview questions revealed why this might be the case.

All teacher participants interviewed reported that they did not believe that autistic students, real or hypothetical, made 'it really clear that they want to be friends and can be normal.' (Clare). Instead, they believed that autistic students 'do not try to be normal even when they can be. They don't try to be like others enough' (Penny). Put simply, teacher participants believed that autistic students did not try hard enough to 'fit in'. This attitude was epitomised by the following conversation with Louise.

JH: You say that 'they don't try to be like others enough' what does that mean?

Louise: They are different and little strange but they can be normal if they want to be but they don't want to be they want to be different so why will their classmates want to be their friends? I tell their classmates that they have autism but that they can try to be normal if they want.

JH: What have the classmates said to you telling them this?

Louise: They tell me when *names a student diagnosed with autism* is not being normal and I tell them that they shouldn't play with *the student previously mentioned* if they are not being normal. They can leave them alone and play well and work well with each other who can be normal.

JH: I see, how do you think *names the student diagnosed with autism* would feel in these situations? Have they ever spoken to you about it?

Louise: Yes, they don't feel so good but it is their problem. They can be normal if they try but often they don't try so I don't feel so bad for them. When they do well I feel good because they know what to do but when they are being strange, they need to improve.

Whilst this attitude on the part of the teachers may seem unusual, especially when taking into account the well-documented social difficulties experienced by autistic people, other conversations with teacher participants revealed that the belief that autistic people are simply not trying hard enough to 'fit in' has developed as a result of teachers conflating autism, intelligence, and academic ability. Lily stated that:

They are autistic but they can talk, they know what we are doing in class, they can come to school and they do not do things that disabled children do. They are different but they can be smart. Maybe less smart but still a little smart. So then,

they are not trying hard enough because they can do the other things and this bit is easy. They just don't want to (Lily)

Whilst Alan further backed up this belief with their opinion that:

I think they just don't want to be the same as their classmates. They are in a normal school with normal children so they must be normal enough so they can do things that everyone else can do. They say they can't, but they can because they wouldn't go here if they could not. They want to be special, and they don't fit in because they think they are better maybe. If they can sit in class and do class work, then they can be normal with their classmates. They just don't want to. (Alan)

These responses suggest a belief on the part of the teachers that when academic difficulties are not present, autism should have no impact on the life of the individual with the diagnosis. When co-morbidities present themselves, the social difficulties and differences faced by autistic people are much more widely accepted as being 'a real thing when they can't go to school or talk or think very well' (Lily). Interestingly, however, when discussing whether autistic students try hard enough to 'fit in', teacher participants, who had previously referred to autistic students as not belonging in mainstream education due to their academic difficulties, made no mention of such difficulties. Indeed they appeared to consider the autistic students perfectly capable of engaging academically, in total contradiction to what they had said earlier. Although it is an issue that will be dealt with later in this chapter, it is worth noting here that the teachers re-iterated the view that autistic students did not belong in mainstream education when discussing the extent to which Chinese internationalised schools prepare autistic students for life beyond school. There are many examples to be found in medical literature where reference is made to autistic people, particularly those without accompanying intellectual disabilities or linguistic delays, appearing aloof or uninterested in their peers. It could be argued, therefore, that teacher participant references to autistic students not trying hard enough to 'fit in' or, as mentioned by Alan, thinking that they are special, was a recognition of the nature of autism itself. That being said, regardless of whether or not teacher participants were aware that autistic people can present as aloof, the prevalent attitude of the teachers towards autistic students was that they are deserving of the social isolation that they frequently experience, as demonstrated by Tom's response below.

They deserve to be on their own because they just don't try to be friends with anyone. I don't feel bad for them but they probably feel bad for them. They only care about themself and so they deserve to not have friends. The other students are trying to be nice but the student with autism is not nice. (Tom)

Hand in hand with the issue of whether or not autistic students tried hard enough to fit in was the issue of whether or not they had friends. The autistic student participants reported that they had few or no friends, a view that was echoed by the teacher participants.

It is their fault but they must feel alone. Sometimes I wish they could be more normal and like their classmates so they could not be on their own. But then they are the children who make problems so it is their problem. I feel less bad when I remember that but they must still feel alone and not very important. (Nora)

They should feel bad because they don't have friends and they must not like to not talk to anybody. But they just need to try hard like I said. They are the people who are alone so they must fix that and be better at talking and playing and working with their classmates. (Helen)

Well, I think yes they are lonely. It's difficult to help them because they can be so difficult to be friends with. When I think maybe they will be friends, the autism child does a silly thing and then they are not friends so the children feel bad. The other children have more friends to play with after but the autism child doesn't so they have to be alone and sometimes they look sad. (Ella)

Although not necessarily sympathetic to, or even aware of, the difficulties with social interaction that autistic people often face, these views do at least recognise the isolation and devaluation that flow from the absence of friends, whether that be self-imposed, as the teachers believed, or otherwise. Autistic student participants corroborated the teacher perceptions that having few or no friends further exacerbated the feelings of isolation and devaluation that they had already reported.

Yeah, I don't have any friends. They don't want to be my friend or play with me or work with me or anything. It's what I said, the teachers have made it like that but I think also I am different and it's hard to not be different, so I don't have any friends.

I don't feel very good about that. I'm not important to them and I feel lonely. (Andy)

I want friends but it's so difficult. They don't want to talk to me and I feel really bad about that. It's like nobody cares about me and I'm quite lonely because of that. I don't think I'll have many friends in my life but I just want some. If I have some, I'll feel better but maybe I won't have any. (James)

I would like to have some friends. Maybe I would feel better if I had friends and I would feel like I could make people happy or that I could do something important. But I don't have friends, so I feel sad, and I don't think I matter much. I don't want to be the most important but maybe a little important to my friends. But right now, I don't have friends, so I guess I feel sad. (Liam)

Although all participants agreed that autistic students had few or no friends and that having few or no friends would lead to feelings of isolation and devaluation, autistic student responses and teacher responses differed as to the reasons for the lack of friendship. Whilst teacher participants placed the blame on autistic students and their desire to be different or their inability to get along with their classmates, autistic student participants recognised that they were different from their neurotypical classmates but, in many cases, were unable to identify why they had few or no friendships. From a teacher participant perspective, the reasons for having few or no friendships and the ensuing devaluation and isolation were clear to see. They were not so obvious, however, from the point of view of the autistic student participants who, despite what the teacher participants said, seemed to value the idea of friendships, being valued by friends, and fitting in with their classmates who had the potential to become friends.

The final coded response given by both teachers and students which related to the sub-theme of isolation from devaluation, was the concept of expected isolation due to the inherent differences between autistic and neurotypical people. Given the student responses relating to their desire, but inability, to 'fit in' with their neurotypical peers, the view taken by the teachers that the autistic students did not try hard enough to 'fit in' and were, therefore, deserving of isolation, and the belief by both demographics that autistic students would have few or no friends, it is unsurprising that there was an expectation of isolation on the part of all participants. Autistic student participants reported that they 'know that

they are going to be alone' (Kate), whilst teacher participants were more likely to be surprised if an autistic student was not isolated rather than the contrary.

I don't think that I will have any friends. I am used to not having any friends and I am too different from my classmates so I think that it will be really hard for me to have friends. My teachers say I won't have friends and my classmates say it too so it is what I think will happen. I am sad about it but I can't change it. (John)

No, I don't expect to have friends...I would be really surprised to have friends but I'm going to be lonely I know it. I'm too different from my classmates and my teachers and everyone. And they know that I'm different so I don't think I will have anyone. It's a bit sad because no one cares, and I don't have friends or people to talk to but it's not as sad because I know that it is going to happen. (Michael)

Yeah, I think I always think that I will be on my own. I know that I won't have anyone to talk to because I'm too different. I'm not the same so I think I think it's normal to not have some friends or things like that. I feel like people don't care about me, but I do now think that it's normal to not have friends if you're different like me. (Alexander)

I think it would be very surprising if they had friends or if they did not feel alone! They are so different so no, I don't think they would have friends. Yeah they are definitely going to be alone. They are too strange and different. They are always sitting alone, and I'm not surprised. (Alan)

I think they must be very lonely because they are different from the other kids. They don't play or work well with the other kids. It is their responsibility but I think they must still be lonely. If someone has done something bad, they still feel sad about going to prison, so it is like that. They have done the bad things to make them lonely, but they still feel sad because of it I think. It would be strange if they didn't feel lonely. (Ella)

As has been the case with all previous lines of enquiry and participant responses, teacher and autistic student participants all agreed that there was an expectation that autistic students would feel isolated due to their differences. What differs however is the attitude and sentiment of the two distinct groups towards the phenomena. Autistic student

participants appear to want to establish a connection with their peers but have grown despondent with the way they are ostracised due to their differences. Teacher participants on the other hand, continue to lay the blame at the door of the autistic students and, despite recognizing that they are isolated because of their differences, continue to insist that 'autistic kids need to learn how to fit in more. They won't be lonely if they do that' (Tom). It is clear from the analysis of participant responses that autistic students do not feel valued in their internationalised schools, whilst the potential teachers of such students do not value autistic students.

5.2 Findings: Lack of Engagement

From a critical disability perspective, the theme of 'lack of engagement' relates most closely to the concept of disabled people not being afforded control over their own lives in a given aspect of society. In this case, the sub-themes identified were 'lack of agency', 'lack of voice', and 'lack of support'. These sub-themes directly relate to the degree of ownership which the autistic students have over their education within the education system in which they are enrolled. Again, the sub-themes were generated by coding participant responses given during the interview process. The theme of 'lack of engagement' and the coded responses that informed the sub-themes can be seen in figure 6.

Figure 6

Coded responses from the theme of 'Lack of Engagement' and the corresponding subthemes

	Theme: Lack of Engagement								
Sub-theme: Lack of Agency			Sub-theme: Lack of Voice			Sub-theme: Lack of Support			
Student Teacher Student			Student Teacher Student S			Student Teacher Student			
Responses	Responses	&Teacher	Responses	Responses	&Teacher	Responses	Responses	&Teacher	
		responses			responses			responses	
Unable to	Incapable	No	Inability to	No desire	No room	Lack of	Who to		
make	of making	alternatives	advocate	for	for	support	support and		
decisions	decisions								

		alternate	alternate	from	perceived	
		voices	voices	teachers	equality	
Feelings of					Support as	
Powerlessness					earned	

5.2.1: Lack of Agency

This first sub-theme to be addressed relates to the extent to which autistic student participants and teacher participants believe that autistic students in general are able to exert power over their education and the direction it takes. As may be deduced from the title of this sub-theme, interview responses from teacher and student participants revealed that autistic students in general were believed by both groups to have a lack of agency in relation to their education. Autistic students, for example, reported that they were unable to make decisions relating to their education.

I can't do anything different in school. I just have to do what the teachers say. I can't do things how I know work for me like standing up or shaking my hands. I can't take a break, I can't put my hands on my ears if it's too loud, I can't have things done differently even though I am different. It is a lot and it gets me very tired. I have to do everything the same but I am not the same. (Liam)

It's just...everything is the same. When It doesn't work for me, It's still the same. I am autistic so I am different but if I am different why does school not let me be different? I go to this school because it's not a public school. It should be a nice school but it is the same as every school. They make us sit and watch and that's how we learn but I don't learn that way. The teachers know I learn in a different way but they don't care. Everything has to be the same! (Alexander)

Both Liam and Alexander display acute awareness that the pedagogical practices employed in their respective classrooms do not benefit them or their learning. Despite this insight however, neither student has the ability to influence decisions concerning their education that could provide them with a more meaningful school experience. Alexander outlines what could be described as an example of Freire's 'banking model of education' (Freire,

1968) where students are expected to sit, listen, and learn. This is a popular teaching strategy in Chinese public schools that, based on participant responses given in interview, would appear to have made its way into Chinese internationalised schools, despite assertions to the contrary from the schools themselves.

Yeah, well, we have to just sit and listen and remember what the teacher said and they always are right. But, I just can't listen or think. I just think about my cat. We did a fun class where there were lots of different groups and things on tables and I remember everything we did. I would do really good in school if that's what we had to do but I can't say I want that. They won't let me do anything different. (Kate)

School is so bad! I know I am different, the teachers know I am different but I have to sit and listen and sit and listen every day. I don't like it but nothing will change because I can't just do something different so I sit and listen and hope that if I can go to college, it will be better. (Michael)

Urgh, I wish I can do things that help me in school but I can't. They don't let me do what I need to do. I just have to remember what the teacher says, sit and not move, write what the teacher says and just be really boring. It doesn't help me. (James).

In each response, the student participants stated that nothing was done differently in their classrooms to accommodate their needs as autistic learners. They felt as though nothing they did would result in change as they lacked the agency of decision-making that would allow beneficial changes to be made. Their inability to make decisions did not stem from not knowing that they were autistic, or that their learning preferences and profile may look different from a neurotypical peer. On the contrary, they were fully aware of their autism diagnosis and were aware that the methods of education and classroom practices that they experienced and were expected to conform to were not beneficial and would not lead to success. Despite this awareness and, as John mentioned, despite 'always saying to the teacher that I want to do things in my way that can help', autistic student participants felt prevented from being able to make decisions about their education due to being enrolled in an education system that leaves little room for diversity.

As a result of this inability to make decisions relating to their education, autistic student participants all reported feelings of powerlessness that stemmed from and

reinforced their lack of agency. Both Steve and Rory, for example, specifically spoke about the fact that not being able to make decisions about their education left them feeling as though their education was happening to them and despite them instead of with them and for them.

It's really stupid and the teachers just make all the plans and they say what is going to happen. I know me better than they do but they know that what they do is not working and they know I'm different but they won't let anything different happen. It is like I'm not important and they have to do it this way and I just get in the way. I can't do anything. I have no rights in education. (Steve)

So, it's me going to school and it's me learning and I know me better than anyone else knows me so I can help with me going to school? That's what I think but that doesn't happen. The teachers do everything and we just do what they say. It's like, I should be the boss because it's *my* grades and *my* learning things but the teacher is always the boss. I am just like a piece of a car. I think I should be the car in my life but I'm just a piece of the car. (Rory)

These sentiments were echoed by other autistic student participants who expressed feelings of powerlessness due to wanting to make decisions relating to their education but not being afforded the opportunity to do so.

I feel like I can't do anything because I know how I can learn really good but the teachers are making all the decisions. They don't let me do anything different even if it will work for me and help me learn more. I just don't know what to do. I feel so sad about it. (Andy)

I really want to do things how I want them. If the teacher let me just one time I could show them that it works that way but if I try then I have to go and see the principal so now it's like I don't try anymore. I can't do anything to help me be good at learning. I know what I need but I can't get it. It makes me feel so like this *lets out an exaggerated sigh and slumps forwards with his head out of view of the video camera on the desk* it makes me feel like that. (Peter).

Owing to the nature of the Chinese education system, it could be argued that very few students, be they autistic or neurotypical, would be able to influence decisions

regarding their education and feel powerful in doing so. The perception of the autistic student participants, however, was that their neurotypical classmates did have at least some control over their education, leading to further feelings of powerlessness on the part of the autistic students.

It's not fair because my classmates do get to do stuff different. If they want to work in a group or do some talking or like do their work differently then they can. The students who don't listen don't get to though. But I do listen but I still don't get to do things in the way it should be for me. It's not fair and I feel like I don't want to try anymore. It just makes me tired. (Liam)

It's only me that doesn't get to do all the things differently. The teachers say because I have autism then I have to do it their way. My classmates get to do things differently but I don't. If no one got to do things differently, it would be okay and it would not be good but everyone would be the same. It makes me sad because it's only me that's not allowed to do things differently. I feel like I can't do anything in school. Only my teachers can do things for me if they want to. (Michael)

Whilst it could be argued that the only people who would be qualified to say whether or not they were allowed to employ their sense of agency in the classroom and were able to have personal control over their education would be the neurotypical students referred to in Liam and Michael's statements, the fact that autistic student participants believe their neurotypical classmates to possess that agency, when they do not, goes some way towards generating the feelings of powerlessness that were reported by them. Furthermore, teacher responses would suggest that autistic student participants are justified in their belief that it is only they who are denied educational agency. Interviews with teacher participants revealed a belief on their part that autistic students are simply incapable of making decisions relating to their education. It was clear, however, that this belief only extended to autistic students rather than to students in general. Responses from teachers Helen and Louise demonstrate this finding more clearly.

I think it's not if they should make decisions. They *can't* make decisions. It's what autism is like. They are not able to make decisions so I must make them for the children. The other children can make their own decisions because they are normal kids but autistic kids are not normal. They can't think in the same way so I must

decide for them what is good or not good for their learning. Don't listen to when they say that they can make their own things and they can know what to do. (Helen)

They are autistic kids so they should do what I tell them to do because I'm the teacher and I'm normal. I can think better and I know what they need so I make the decisions for them. For the other kids I don't have to because they are normal kids but for autistic kids I need to do that. If I don't do it they will be crazy and not know what to do. So, I decide for them. (Louise)

Whilst the opinions held by these teacher participants are objectionable, they seem to stem from a genuine belief that autistic people are incapable of making decisions for themselves rather than from a desire to curtail the freedoms and rights of autistic people from malice or spite.

I have to do everything for them (autistic students) because they can't do it on their own. They need a teacher to do it all. It is tiring but we can't let them decide because it will not be good. They don't think in a normal way and I will have to talk with my principal if they are doing bad things so I make them do what I want. (Lily)

Yeah, they need me to decide for them. I know how they learn best and I know how to help them. Other students can maybe decide these things but autism kids need us to do it for them. This is what we do at school and I think if this was not what I did probably my boss would be angry. This is what we do and what we should do. (Penny)

This teacher response reaffirms the view that autistic students are incapable of making their own decisions relating to their education, but also indicates that this attitude is one that exists at the macro level and is not simply one that is adopted on a class-by-class basis. In talking with Bill, a teacher in a management position, it was possible to gain a greater insight into what the teachers mean when they are referring to autistic students being incapable of making decisions and the backlash they would face from their principal if they attempted to let autistic students make their own decisions in the classroom.

- (JH) You've said that autistic students can't make their own decisions and that teachers shouldn't be encouraging that in the classroom. Can you tell me a little more about that please?
- (Bill) They are not so normal, and they don't know what is best for them, but our teachers do know. They are the teachers, and they know how to take the autistic kids. They know about their problems, and they know what to do. The kids do not though.
- (JH) So, is this all kids don't know or just autistic kids don't know?
- (Bill) Autistic kids...normal kids we can do more with them. They can make decisions at school but autistic kids can't.
- (JH) So what would happen if an autistic student was allowed to make their decisions in school?
- (Bill) That would be a bad thing for the teacher. They know that we're not doing that. We have rules for kids who are not normal. If we have them doing what they want it would be too hard and they would be too noisy, and the teacher would not have good teaching.
- (JH) So, you're saying that you have rules you have to follow when you teach autistic people?
- (Bill) Yes, but all kids who are not normal. We have to teach them in these ways because they don't know themselves how to learn and how to be good in school.
- (JH) Ah okay, I understand...So, these rules...who makes these rules?
- (Bill) Well...they have always been like this...we do them because it's the right thing. It's always been this way...we can't change it because it's how it should be. They are not normal kids. They can't make good decisions. We need to make these decisions for them. Teachers saying they (autistic students) can make decisions won't happen because they can't. They can't make their decisions.

What became apparent from talking with Bill was that preventing autistic students from making decisions in matters relating to their education and the concept that autistic people are incapable of making decisions related to their education is a policy or an attitude that exists only for students who are deemed abnormal. The presumption that giving autistic

children the chance to make their own decisions will lead to a loss of control in the classroom is seemingly based on an ill-informed notion of what autism actually is. An inaccurate understanding of autism results in teachers harbouring the idea that autistic students are incapable of making their own decisions, whilst educational leaders further reinforce this viewpoint by presenting a rigid framework within which to teach neurodivergent learners, a framework that must be adhered to at all costs lest the classroom is unable to function. In hindsight, pushing for more concrete examples of autistic students making the 'wrong decisions' could have been beneficial during this specific interaction with Bill but was decided against lest Bill viewed this questioning as a challenge and changed his viewpoint accordingly.

The final coded response arising from the sub-theme of a lack of agency was the belief held by all participants that there were no alternatives to the current system, so that even if there were a desire on the part of teachers and students to enable autistic students to have greater agency over their education, there were no means whereby this could be achieved. This issue is not concerned with the will to change a particular system, but with the perceived likelihood of being able to change a system when there are no alternative systems or methods in existence. The belief that no system change is possible, even if the idea of change were supported, raises the prospect that the lack of agency currently experienced by autistic students in matters concerning their education will continue into the future. It was this aspect of lack of agency in the future that was the focus of the autistic student participants when talking about the prospects for alternative education practices that would be of benefit to them.

Nothing will ever change...Like, I will go to college I hope and then other kids the same thing will happen. They (teachers) have said that this is what it is like, and this is how we learn so nothing will change. The teachers think it and so do the principals. They told my mom this is what it is like. So, nothing will change and there is no other way to do it. There is nothing to change to. I will leave and they will always do it with other kids in 100 years. (Alexander)

I want teachers to let me decide in school, but they never will. I don't think they can! They say this is how it always is and how we must always do it like this, so it has to be like this. I don't think there is any different way. It's that they don't want

to but also that if they want to there is no way to do it in a different way. If there is no way and no other way to do stuff and to let me decide then I will never decide things in school. No one like me will ever decide anything. (Rory)

No, it will never be different...everything that the teachers say, they have said for ages of time. So like, I want to make my choices in school but just me wanting to doesn't mean that anything will change. They can't change because they don't want to but also because they don't have anything to change to. It makes me sad because I want to make choices but I can't. I'm not allowed to by teachers but if they want me to I still can't because there is no way that I can. (Steve)

In their responses, autistic student participants recognised that their lack of agency stems from decisions made at a higher level than their teachers. They are aware that they are enrolled in an education system that leaves no room for alternative methods of education for autistic students. Teacher participant responses echoed those of the students. However, rather than lamenting the situation as the students did, they reaffirmed their stance that the current approach to the education of autistic students was the correct one and that there should be no changes to a system in which the agency over their education lies with the education system itself and the teachers.

It is the right way to teach those students. We don't have different ways of teaching them but if we did, I wouldn't want to use them. I don't want those ways to change because they are the best. These students are not normal so we give them normal when we teach this way. Yes, we also do this because there is not another way but I think there is not another way because this way is the best and will always be the best. (Tom)

Oh, new ways? No, we don't need new ways. We bring the best of west and of China together. In China our grades are the best and our students are the best. In the west you have the colleges that have good reputations, but it is *our* students who go to them. We have the best teaching especially for those autistic students. Why would we want to change how we teach them? They find many things hard, so we make it easy for them. They just have to do what we say. (Alan)

No, they need the way of teaching that we have now. These autistic kids and any kids who are not so normal we have to teach in this way. It is good thing that there is not another way because you want to make it so they can go to college easier and get the good jobs but we need normal children to have these jobs. This way is the best way for not normal kids who cannot think in the right way so we should always do this way. It's good no other way is here. (Clare)

Although teacher participants seemed pleased that there are no alternative methods of educating autistic children in China, their reasons for being pleased differed. Clare, for example, felt that the current method of autistic education was beneficial as it ensured jobs for neurotypical children in the future, whilst Alan's response was more humanistic in that his motivation for wanting to maintain the status quo in relation to educational strategies for autistic students was to make life a little easier for them. Regardless of the reasons for the opinions, however, what is clear is that, whilst both teacher and student participants recognised that there are no alternative forms of education in China, autistic student participants expressed their dismay at this reality whilst teacher participants welcomed it.

The student and teacher responses outlined above have Illustrated the fact that autistic students do not have educational agency within Chinese internationalised schools. The lack of educational agency is deep rooted and is recognised by autistic student and teacher participants alike. Autistic students are unable to make decisions about their education, resulting in feelings of powerlessness, teachers do not consider autistic students capable of making decisions relating to their education, and both students and teachers recognise that there is currently no possibility of autistic students acquiring educational agency since there are no opportunities for alternative methods of education for autistic students attending internationalized schools in China.

5.2.2: Lack of Voice

The second sub-theme to emerge under the theme of 'lack of engagement' was a 'lack of voice' in matters relating to the education of autistic students in Chinese internationalised schools. This sub-theme is related to the sub-theme of lack of agency, but differs in that is concerned with the extent to which autistic students are included in discussions about themselves, the extent to which they are able to offer their viewpoints

and preferences, and the extent to which they are able to speak up for themselves when practices that are in place are not beneficial for them or their learning. In essence, the term voice in this context refers to the existence and acknowledgement of the alternative autistic voice that is able to break through traditional discussions around the education of autistic students in Chinese Internationalised schools.

From interviews with teacher and autistic student participants, it became evident that both groups believed that there was no room for alternative autistic voices within the realm of education in Chinese internationalised schools. As has been the case with previous issues reported upon in this findings chapter, the recognition that there is no room for alternative autistic voices elicited different attitudes and responses from the different groups. Autistic student participants expressed their disappointment and frustration at this current reality, whilst teacher participants considered this situation to be beneficial for teachers, neurotypical students, and autistic students alike.

I know that nothing I say will make them do anything differently. I can tell them about autism and what it is like and what works and what I need so I can learn and study and go to school and be a good student but there is no one listening to all the things that I say. They have to do it the way they always do it. So even if I try and do all the things like that, there is nothing different going to happen because they can't listen because I'm just an autistic person and I'm a student. Both things no one will change for. (Andy)

I get upset sometimes because, when you have autism, you need things differently and like help and stuff but, in school, they have to do everything one way. If you tell them, teachers and people, that you need different things they just look at you. They don't know what to do and they just tell you that this is what happens and this is what rules are and stuff. They can't make anything different because they are the ones who make all the rules and you can't have more people making more rules because then it's like having two people in charge. It is bad but this is what happens. (Kate)

I think that it is good when we do it like this. You cannot have lots of people making the rules. This isn't something that we debate on. We are China. We have the Communist party. They are in charge. They are in charge of education as well as everything else. So we follow what they say. We don't listen to what other people say and we have been doing well. We don't need to listen to what other people say and we can't because China doesn't work like this. Autistic people should know that this is how it works in China. (Tom)

We can't have different people saying different things and it is good that we do not. It would be too difficult and too confusing and nothing would ever get done in schools like our school. If autistic people or any people say that we should do things another way we can't listen to what they say which is good. If we did, we would get confused, and nothing would happen. So we don't listen and we can't listen and that is why we still have everything going well at our schools. (Alan)

Teacher participants touched upon the fact that Communist rule and the nature of China's education and political system has removed the possibility of alternative voices. In the eyes of teacher participants this is a good thing in that it prevents the Chinese education system from becoming confused as to which path to take. When asked specifically whether it was possible that allowing alternative voices could lead to new, more beneficial methods of 'doing' education for both autistic and neurotypical students in Chinese internationalised schools, Louise commented that 'our way of teaching is already the best way for normal and autistic kids and all kids...we don't need to listen to other ways' (Louise) whilst Alan had the following to say:

You ask about better ways, but this is the better way. This *is* the best way! With different ways it is too difficult, and nothing happens. In the UK or America you have lots of ways of doing these things and nothing gets done well but in China no one says it is bad because it is not bad. It is really good. This is the best way. What we do now is the best way and we don't need new ways. It was good with *KongZi* (Confucious) and it is good now. (Alan)

What can be seen here is a disconnect between what is deemed beneficial to autistic students from the point of view of the teacher participants and the point of view of the autistic student participants. Whilst both acknowledge that there is currently no room for alternative voices in the Chinese education system, teacher participants maintain that this is beneficial and upholds Chinese superiority in the realm of education. From the perspective of the autistic student participants, however, the absence of an alternative voice means that

autistic voices, that may well advocate for a different approach, are absent from any conversation. The result is the continued propagation of an education system founded over two thousand years ago as best practice in the twenty-first century.

Related to the idea that there is no room for alternative voices comes the finding that there is no *desire* for alternative voices. This was revealed in interviews with teacher participants when discussing what could happen on a theoretical level and whether, if circumstances were different, a new ideal form of education would arise. In this case, all teacher participants stated that, for a variety of reasons, they would not want autistic voices to be included in discussions concerning education. Alan, for example, a teacher who had been particularly outspoken regarding the benefits of the Chinese education system, continued his defence of current methods of education and was vehemently opposed to autistic voices having any input into the educational practices at Chinese internationalised schools.

No, even if it was different and if we had different rules I would not want them to be able to decide how we teach and what we do in our schools. Why should students who are not so normal be the ones who decide how we teach and what we do? They would make it bad and confusing for normal students. I would always want our schools and our teaching to stay like they are now. We don't want not normal students telling us how we should teach them. We know how to teach them and we know what is best. We don't want them saying these things. (Alan)

Lily, on the other hand, expressed her support for excluding hypothetical autistic voices on the basis that autistic students can never truly know what is best for them or what they truly want because of their autism.

No, they should not be allowed to talk about what they *need* in school because they don't really need what they think they do. They don't know themselves but we know them. They think maybe they know but they have autism so they will be wrong about that and about what they need or what they want. Someone who has mental problems we would not listen to them and autism is like a mental problem. What they say is not what they mean. They don't know what they mean but we do. (Lily)

Nora, Helen, and Louise all agreed with Lily that autistic students should not have their voices heard in conversations about education owing to their belief that autistic students are unable to discern what is best for them. They were all also in agreement with Alan that the risks of allowing autistic voices into conversations about education would lead to confusion and to decisions being made that would be to the detriment of neurotypical students.

They don't know what they want but if they did it would be so bad because normal students don't think like them. Normal kids would not have a good education anymore like they have now. (Nora)

It would be the wrong thing because it would be so much confusion and so bad...Autistic kids don't know what they need because they are not normal but if they were deciding what they need I don't know how bad everything would be but it would be really bad for them and normal kids. (Helen)

No no no...It can never happen that autism kids are allowed to say what they want and need. They don't know! We would have schools where we could not do work and scream and just crazy all the time. The normal kids would do what? Maybe they go to special normal schools to get what they need!? No it is a very bad idea. (Louise)

Throughout this 'findings' chapter, a recurring theme on the part of the teacher participants has been the idea that a diagnosis of autism would lead to one being considered incapable. Since those diagnosed with autism are considered by their teachers to be incapable, the teachers would not listen to the voices of autistic students, even on a hypothetical or theoretical level. This finding, coupled with the reality that there are no alternative voices within the Chinese education system, means that autistic students enrolled in Chinese internationalised schools are given no opportunity to advocate for themselves or to use their voice in any form. Had teacher participants been open to listening to the voices of autistic students, this may have had the potential to lead to change in the future. However, an absolute refusal to listen to autistic student voices eliminates this possibility.

Autistic student participants all agreed that they were unable to advocate for themselves. They all commented that the dominance of the Chinese education system, even

within Chinese internationalised schools, together with the refusal of their teachers or individual schools to listen to autistic voices, left them feeling that there was no possibility of using their voice and advocating for themselves and their educational rights, wants, and needs. This belief is best articulated by John and Peter who, during their respective interviews, had the following to say:

We can't say anything that we need. There is no way to say what I need, and no one will listen. My school and my teachers don't listen, and I will be a bad student if I say that things don't work when I'm not allowed to say it. I can't speak for myself, and I can't tell anyone what autism needs in school because they won't listen, and I will be bad if I say things. (John)

Yeah, I can never say what I want or what I need in my school. Everything means that there is no way I can say that I need things to be different. I can't ask for anyone to do anything different, and I can't get help that will help me in school. I know about autism but it's like everyone is full. I can tell them, but they won't listen. I can't even get to where I can tell people. There is no way to say anything except what the schools say. (Peter)

Interestingly, Peter refers to teachers as being 'full' and that he 'can't get to where I can tell people.' These views were echoed by other student participants who commented that autistic voices were 'blocked' (Liam), 'ignored by teachers' (James), and 'not wanted when we talk about what we need when we're in school' (Steve). Furthermore, student participants highlighted the fact that simply finding an audience to listen to one's voice was an even more monumental task due to the fact that communist party control of the education system leaves no avenues or opportunities for alternative voices to be heard.

No one will listen to us...you have to be important like in the party to make decisions and to say things. We are not important so we will not be able to speak about what things we need in school. (Alexander)

There is no way to talk about the things we need because only the government can do that. My Mom said that they are the ones who can make the changes. They are the only thing people can listen to. Only they can speak and say how things should

be. They can talk about autism and about schools if they want to but only they can. I can't and no one else can. (Rory)

The fact that the autistic student participants, the oldest of whom was just seventeen years of age, recognised the dominant role of the Chinese Communist Party in the education system in China is a telling indication of the level of control exerted by the party in matters relating to education. That teenage students were able to specifically identify the body that is denying them the opportunity to speak and preventing their voices from being heard indicates that this problem is so ingrained in the system that, as yet, there is little hope of change. Analysis of the interview responses show that both teacher and autistic student participants recognise that there is no room for autistic voices, that teacher participants do not want to listen to autistic voices and would not wish to do so if they were given the opportunity to speak, and that autistic student participants believe that they have no voice with which to advocate for themselves. These three factors ultimately lead to the finding that autistic students enrolled in Chinese internationalised schools experience a lack of voice in matters relating to them and to their education.

5.2.3: Lack of Support

The final sub-theme within the theme of 'lack of engagement' is 'lack of support'. It relates to teacher opinions as to who should be supported and the concept of equality in the classroom, the issue of support being earned based on perceived and subjective positive traits, and autistic student perceptions that support from teachers is not given to the autistic population based on their failure to meet teacher expectations.

In terms of who receives support, all teacher participants interviewed believed that autistic students should not receive support on the basis that they have needs that are considered to be too challenging. Whilst this may appear counter-intuitive, teacher participants clarified this stance by explaining that autistic students should not receive support from the classroom teacher as it would leave the teacher insufficient time to teach the other children in the class, but that support given in the context of an alternative place of education, such as a special school, would be appropriate.

No they should not get support because who will give them support? If I am giving them the support they need so much. They can't do things on their own so I will have to be with them all the time. So what will the children in the class do if their

teacher is with just one student? They can have support in a different school but this is a normal school. They shouldn't get support here. (Helen)

It's not our job to support autistic kids and I don't think we should. They need so much and we can't give it to them. We are just normal teachers not autism teachers, Maybe in a school for disabled children they will get support and there it will be good. But we can't give them support here because it's too much for us to do. In this school we don't give support because if they come here they don't need support. (Clare)

They have so much things they need help with. We should not be giving support because we are a private school. That means we can accept who we want and if we accept you it means that you shouldn't need support so I think that autistic kids should not have support if they come here. They need lots of support if they need support so they should go to another school where they can get more help. We aren't supposed to help so much. (Lily)

Whilst this extract from the interviews with Helen has been included as an example of teacher participant attitudes, all teachers interviewed shared the same attitude to offering support to autistic students within their respective internationalised schools. On further questioning, however, it became apparent that some of the teachers believed that not only should autistic students not be supported in schools on the basis that they need more support than a school is able to offer, but that they should not be supported within Chinese internationalised schools because they do not belong in school in general. This belief stems from the teachers' opinions that any support provided to autistic students would be a waste owing to the status of autistic people in Chinese society and their negligible prospects of success.

Why should we help them? They should not be here, but they have to be somewhere, and they might have money so they come here. But we should not help them. They won't do anything with the help because their brain doesn't work that way. We can help other students and it will be more useful but for autistic kids, they won't do anything with the help we give them so we should not. (Alan)

It is kind of not helpful to help because what will they do with it? I think maybe we shouldn't help them at school because autistic students won't get help later. They won't really do anything later. They won't get help in their jobs because they won't have jobs so really, we shouldn't help them. It is better we help normal children at school not autistic children or kids like that. (Ella)

In other instances, teacher participants indicated that they considered it an unjust practice to provide a student with academic or social support on the basis that 'giving some kids help and other kids no help is the wrong thing to do...everyone should be the same' (Penny). This view was echoed when making specific reference to autistic students since their perceived support needs were deemed to be so great that equality between autistic students and neurotypical students, considered by the teacher participants to be their goal, would never be achieved in the classroom or in the wider school community.

We are a country where everyone is the same. It's not like in America, everyone here is the same and that is what we want so we can't give autistic kids that much help in school. It's not fair for the other kids who don't get that much help. We can give everyone lots of help but we don't have enough people for that or we can give no one lots of help which is the best way to make everything the same and to help people be strong on their own. (Bill)

If we give lots of help in school to autistic kids it just won't be fair to the normal kids. We need everyone to be equal because we are one in China and we are all the same. So, I think if we help autistic kids it will make it unfair because they will do better with help. They didn't do it on their own really. It will be us doing it for them and we don't do the work for other kids so it is best that we don't help. Everyone is the same then. (Nora)

This notion of equality, as espoused by the teacher participants, indicates a fundamental misunderstanding of the purpose of student support and an equity-based model of education in which students with disabilities may receive support so as to mitigate the challenges they may face as a result of their disabilities. The teachers' equality model of education actively disadvantages autistic students as they are not being provided with the support they may need to fully access and engage with their education.

Whilst expressing their belief in equal treatment for autistic and non-autistic students, teacher participants also reported that that support could be earned and would be given on the basis that a student possesses various desirable attributes to be determined, seemingly at random, by a teacher. Ironically, not only is this approach diametrically opposed to the teacher contention that every student should be treated equally, but a system that allows teachers to offer support to some students but not to others based on a personal checklist is totally out of keeping with principles of equality.

JH So, you've said that you don't think autistic students should be given support because it'll draw attention to them and other students will say it's not fair?

Louise Yes, I think it would be unfair to other students.

JH So are there any situations where you might give a child support in the classroom.

Louise Yes, the good kids I can give support to because they listen and do what I say so I think they have done a good job so I can help them more.

JH Okay, so it's like a reward? Support as a reward is that right?

Louise Yes, it's like this. If they are good students and have done everything then I can help them more. The same with a job. If you work hard you get more money but we can't pay kids haha! So we can like 'pay' them with more help for doing good.

JH So, how do you decide who gets the support? Do you have a checklist or something or do they have to do specific things to be considered as having done a good job? Ha, what makes a good job a good job is what I'm really asking.

Louise Well, it's like I know what they need to do and I see it and I recognise it but it's hard to explain. It's like a feeling if I like them and think they can have more help.

JH So it's if you like them as well?

Louise Yes, of course!

JH Have you ever felt like giving autistic students in your class throughout your career this support? Have you had that feeling that they can have more help or have they done the things that they need to do?

Louise No, never. I think one maybe did the things they had to do. They were good at math but I didn't have the feeling with them that I should give more help.

JH You're saying that you didn't have the feeling? The feeling you didn't like them or another feeling about other things?

Louise Maybe that I didn't like them.

In this conversation with Louise, her initial statement regarding fairness between autistic and non-autistic students unravelled as she went on to describe a meritocratic system of support in the classroom in which those students who met her requirements and whom she liked were supported whilst autistic students were not. This same stance was adopted by teacher participants across the board and was epitomised by Tom during his interview.

I will give help to those who *deserve* it. If they do what I ask, if they listen, if they are smart and good I can give them lots of help. They are the kid I like so of course I give them lots of help. For autistic kids, the ones I have had in class before I don't like them so much. They don't do what I ask or what they should do and they are not so smart. For them I won't give them help. Help is something that I don't have to give. I teach and they listen but help is if I want to. I want to help the good kids be even better. The bad kids I don't have to help. (Tom)

The provision of support to children who seemingly 'deserve' the support is extremely problematic given that the criteria for being considered deserving by the teacher participants would seem to exclude autistic students whose well-documented challenges with social interaction and communication, executive functioning, and task starting, switching, and joint attention mean that they are never likely to match up to the Chinese teacher model of what a good student should look like and are unlikely, therefore, to ever be deemed deserving of support.

The attitudes of teachers did not go unnoticed by the autistic student participants. Based on their own experiences, they commented overwhelmingly that they believed they received insufficient support from their teachers due to their teachers' prejudice against autistic people specifically and against any forms of difference in general.

We don't get support from the teachers because they say we are not normal. They have lots of help they can give but they don't because we are autistic. One of my

teachers said that they just didn't like me so they wouldn't help me. It is a normal thing now I think in China. Even in schools like this. They just don't like us because we are autistic and they hate when people are different so they just will not help. They want us to do badly so they can get rid of us. (James)

They only support normal kids not autistic ones. The teachers just don't care about us because they are told to not care about us. They think we can't do anything so they don't try and help us in any way. It makes me angry because the kids they like gets lots of support but we don't get anything just because we are a little bit different. (Michael)

I think my teachers just have kids they like and everyone has to be like that classmate. If you're not like them then the teacher doesn't like you and they won't help you because they always say that it's your fault or your mistake. Because I'm autistic so I'm not like the teacher's favourite classmate. The teachers never give me help because I'm too different. They think it is useless to help me so I don't get any help ever. (Liam)

Moreover, autistic student participants revealed that they believed the prejudice against autistic people and the refusal of teachers to support autistic students to stem from a lack of understanding as to what autism is and how to support autistic people. This, in turn, led to a fear of autistic students in the classroom and a resultant unwillingness to provide support.

I think they don't support us because they don't know about autism. When they don't know something, they don't like that so they don't like us. We make them think about things they don't know so they maybe feel scared and that is why they don't like us so much. They don't help us because we are like aliens to them and they don't want to say that they don't know about us. (Rory)

They are scared of us...That is why they don't support or help us because we make them feel like they don't know stuff. They don't know it though. They don't know about autism and they don't want to learn. So they don't like us because we show them what they don't know. They don't help us because of this. They would want us to not exist instead of learning about us. (Alexander)

Although the opinion voiced by Alexander that teachers in Chinese internationalised schools would rather autistic students did not exist is a bold one, it is a concept that has been hinted at throughout all the sub-themes of the theme of 'lack of engagement'. The interviews with autistic student participants and teacher participants have highlighted that within Chinese internationalised schools autistic students are denied their agency relating to themselves and their education, are denied their voice in matters relating to their education, and are denied support from their teachers in the course of their education. Furthermore, not only did teacher participants recognise that current systems resulted in a lack of engagement on the part of autistic students in the Chinese internationalised schools they are enrolled in, they actively encouraged and engaged in practices that would ensure that this reality would continue. For these reasons, it is evident that autistic students experience a lack of engagement in their Chinese internationalised schools. It could also be the case, in line with the comment made by Alexander, that these teacher participants, at least, would rather that autistic students did not exist.

5.3 Findings: School and Preparation

The final theme to emerge from the thematic analysis of the data collected during the course of this research was 'School and Preparation". As a result of the fact that the participant responses which led to the development of this theme were often intertwined and inseparable, no specific sub-themes were identified to form the over-arching theme. That being said, thematic elements or coded responses were still identified that were related to the schooling of autistic students in Chinese internationalised schools and the extent to which this schooling prepares them for the wider world as seen from the viewpoint of both teacher and autistic student participants. Figure 7 shows what the coded responses that make up the theme of 'school and preparation'. Unlike sections 5.1 and 5.2 of this chapter, where each sub-section related to a specific sub-theme, the sub-sections in section 5.3 will address firstly student and teacher responses and then student responses for ease of understanding and readability.

Figure 7

Coded responses from the theme of 'School and Preparation' and the corresponding subthemes

Theme: School and Preparation		
Student Responses	Teacher Responses	Student and Teacher Responses
Excitement to leave		Not ready for what comes next
Concerns about the future		Low chance of work
Feelings of hopelessness		

5.3.1: Student and Teacher Responses

All participants agreed that autistic students enrolled in Chinese internationalised schools had not been fully prepared for life after school and the transition into adulthood, and that autistic students who have graduated from Chinese internationalised schools had a low chance of gaining employment in the future. Although they agreed on the outcomes for autistic students, they disagreed on the factors responsible for those outcomes.

Autistic student participants, most of whom were coming to the end of their time at school, felt that they were not fully prepared for life outside school and not ready for 'what comes next' because they had not been adequately included, valued, heard, or supported during their time at school.

I think my school was really bad...They didn't help me, or support me, or give me anything really. They didn't even listen to me. I don't think it has made me ready for leaving school at all. Even in those classes where they talk about leaving school they don't include me. I don't think my school even thinks about me leaving and doing something else. Maybe they do but if they do, they don't care. (Alexander)

I'm not ready for leaving school. In school I learned that I'm not very important, that I should be quiet, that nobody cares, and that I'm bad at everything and a bad

student. I don't think this has made me ready. I had no friends and my teachers didn't like me and I spent my time just being quiet and not getting told off by the teacher. I don't think this has helped me be ready for leaving school. (Rory)

I have learned nothing in my time in school so it hasn't made me ready for what comes next. It's like, other kids, normal kids, learned all that stuff but I was left on my own for all my time in school so I didn't learn any of these things. I was just told I'm doing stuff wrong and not listened to or anything. So I don't think that this has made me ready for leaving school. (Andy)

Interestingly, teacher participants did not disagree with anything that the autistic student participants were saying. From their perspective, however, the reason that autistic students enrolled in Chinese internationalised schools are not ready for 'what comes next' is because they have been enrolled in a school that is not designed for them and have had unrealistic expectations that, despite an autism diagnosis, their education would be the same as that of non-autistic students.

I don't think they are ready for leaving school because this school is not the place for them. They should always go to disabled schools not schools like this. They can't learn anything here but they want everything to be the same as normal kids, but it is not going to be like that. It is their fault not our fault. We teach them this way because they are like this but they think they can learn things here when they can't. We tell them this and we show them this but they want to stay. So it is their fault that they are not ready for leaving school. (Tom)

Yes, I think they are not ready for leaving school. They will never be ready because of how they are. I don't think they should be able to but also they shouldn't have been able to come here to go to school but they do. We can't teach them in these schools but they come and they don't learn and then they think they can't leave school. They need to go to schools that can make them better but we cannot do that. We are a normal school and they are not normal so they are not ready to go to leave school because they are not normal and not designed for these schools. (Ella)

Having them in these schools just does not work. They don't learn anything and they are not ready for when they leave school. They don't do anything and all they

do now is leave and take from people. They won't give back to China. They need help to do everything. They are not ready to leave because these schools are not the schools they should go to. They should go to other schools. To schools for kids like them. Maybe then they would be ready for something? (Louise)

Louise's comment that autistic students wouldn't contribute anything towards China highlights an issue that was touched upon by both teacher and autistic student participants in relation to the poor work prospects of autistic students as a result of the failure of their education to prepare them for 'what comes next'. The autistic students believed the low possibility of them finding work stemmed from the negative attitudes towards autistic people that they had experienced throughout their time at school.

In school from when I remember, the teacher didn't like me, my school didn't like me, my classmates didn't like me. But these are the people that I have to live with when I leave school. These are the people who give jobs and who do all those things. I went to school but I was not allowed to join in and everyone hates me. How will it change when I leave school? I sat at the back and didn't learn, I didn't get grades, and I don't have friends. The teacher says I won't have a job and they are right I won't have a job. (James)

School just made people hate me. Everyone was told that I am not normal. How will I work and have a job when everyone thinks that I can't do anything? Even my teachers think it and say it. They have said it over a long time so when I leave and try and work and I say I am autistic my boss will say oh no and they won't want to give me a job. If you're not normal like me then forever it has been that we won't have any work or a job to do. (Steve)

Teacher participants believed that autistic students would struggle to find work simply because being autistic makes employment very difficult or impossible, They recognised that the schooling received by autistic students enrolled in Chinese internationalised schools was ineffective in promoting their employment prospects, but maintained that this was because autistic students should not be attending mainstream schools.

Of course, they won't have work or jobs...This is what we keep saying to them.

They come to this school and we can't teach them and we don't want to teach them

and they are sad when they can't work. They need to go to a school that is for kids like that because our school cannot do it for them. We cannot help them. They are not ready for work because they are not normal and going to a normal school does not help them. In another school maybe they could find some type of work but not from this type of school. We can't help them with that. (Alan)

They have autism so how would they have a job? We are a normal school so we don't help kids like this with getting work after. All of our kids have work after or they go to college because they are normal. How do autistic kids think this will happen when they go to our school? Our school for normal students? We tell them to go to a different school. When they don't we teach them how we are told and then they leave and cannot do anything because they went to the wrong school. (Lily)

Not only does this viewpoint place the blame of not being able to find work after school onto autistic students, but it also perpetuates the idea that autistic students are 'unteachable' within the context of Chinese internationalised schools. Whilst autistic student participants believe that their schooling does not prepare them for life after school and does not help them gain meaningful employment, teacher participants, far from disagreeing with this belief, maintain that it is not the job of Chinese internationalised schools to prepare autistic students for life outside of school and to help them gain meaningful employment. Simply put, 'these schools are not supposed to be for autistic kids. We are not built for them, and we don't have to give them anything' (Penny).

5.3.2: Student Responses

Autistic student participants reported feeling hopeless about the future as a result of their education. Whilst they did express relief to leave their Chinese internationalised schools, they did not believe that their time spent at their schools had been productive, nor did they feel as though they would have opportunities in the outside world after graduating from school.

I'm glad I can leave but I feel as though now there is nothing. In school I did nothing and I didn't learn anything. People and teachers treat me bad in school and they will out of school too. So I guess I feel sad about that. I don't think anything

will change. School just made me think that people are like this and not so nice so I guess it made me ready to be seen this way forever. (Michael)

Yeah, I want to go and leave but then what will I do? School has just done nothing for me except make me feel sad and make people not like me. So when I leave I don't think anything will be different. I want to leave but it will probably be the same when I leave. I just don't know. Maybe I can like give up? Just live me and my cat. (Kate)

I graduate and then what will happen? We get nothing from school. I want to leave this bad place but I'll just go to another bad place. I'm really tired of having to do all this and be like this. It's just like shit and urgh! School didn't want kids like me and now I don't want to be there and when I leave it'll be the same out of school. I just want to stay home maybe every day. I don't know. Sorry for saying bad words. (Liam)

These responses from autistic student participants provide an appropriate summary of the feelings of autistic student participants in relation to the quality of the education they have received from Chinese internationalised schools and the extent to which they are able to prepare them for life after school.

The purpose of this chapter has been to accurately describe the findings uncovered during this piece of research. Responses from both autistic student participants and teacher participants have shown that autistic students are not valued by Chinese internationalised schools, are not engaged in them, and are not prepared for life by them. Moreover, this chapter has revealed that not only are autistic student participants aware that they are not valued, engaged, or prepared for life by their schools, but that teacher participants actively believe that autistic students hold no value, are incapable of engagement and should not be engaged, and will never be prepared for life by Chinese internationalised schools. The belief held by all teacher participants is that autistic students do not belong in Chinese internationalised schools and that Chinese internationalised schools have not been and never could or should be developed with the needs of autistic students in mind. These findings have positioned autistic students enrolled in school in China as being disadvantaged by the very education system that was theorised to offer them a more socially just method of education.

Chapter 6: Discussion

In the previous 'findings' chapter, it was identified that autistic student participants who attend Chinese internationalised schools and teacher participants who teach in them all believe that their schools do not value autistic students, do not engage them, and do not prepare them for life after secondary education. From the point of view of the student participants, the education they receive completely fails to meet their needs and was considered by them to be belittling and not fit for purpose. From a teacher participant perspective, autistic students attending these schools are an unwanted drain on resources and are enrolled in an education system that is not and never will be designed with their needs in mind. For teacher participants, autistic students represent a challenge to the remit of the Chinese education system who should be disregarded lest attention given to them adversely affects the development and progress of neurotypical students enrolled in the same schools. This chapter will re-visit pre-existing literature in order to ascertain whether the findings of this study accord with extant research and, if so, in what way and to what extent. It is also important to consider these findings within the context of the research subquestions which underpin and combine together to inform the titular research question of this thesis. The purpose of the sub-questions was to ascertain the extent to which Chinese internationalised schools can provide autistic students with a more 'socially just' education, with the concept of a 'socially just' education stemming from a critical disability theory perspective of social justice. The overwhelmingly negative answers to the sub-questions are revealed and clearly signposted in the findings set out in Chapter 5. For ease of reference, the sub-questions are set out again below.

- a. To what extent do autistic students enrolled in Chinese internationalised schools perceive themselves to be valued and included by their schools?
- b. What attitudes do teachers who teach in Chinese internationalised schools have towards autistic students, real or hypothetical, enrolled in those schools?
- c. What perceptions do autistic students enrolled in Chinese internationalised schools have of their life and employment prospects as a result of their education?
- d. To what extent do Chinese internationalised schools propagate awareness of and promote neurodiversity?

e. To what extent do autistic students enrolled in Chinese internationalised schools have a 'voice' within their schools in matters relating to themselves and their education?

By using the framework of these questions together with my own interpretative position, outlined in Chapter 4, that recognises the essential contribution of lived experiences to the development of knowledge, I have attempted, through the lens of critical disability theory and with participant engagement, to discover the extent to which Chinese internationalised schools can provide autistic students with a more 'socially just' education.

The concept of a 'socially just' education is at the very heart of this thesis. From the perspective of critical disability theory, which was considered in Chapter 3, the principles of the acceptance of disability within society and of listening to disabled voices are paramount considerations of social justice. Inversely, reiterating normality and the absence of a disabled voice in matters pertaining to disability results in a society or a particular aspect of society being considered socially unjust. The extent to which Chinese internationalised schools are capable of providing a more 'socially just' education to autistic students is also inextricably linked with the concepts of power, policy, and society as they exist within the socio-political context of the People's Republic of China. It is important, therefore, that consideration be given to these concepts when discussing participant responses, their relationship with pre-existing literature and the critical disability theory concepts of the acceptance of disability/the reiteration of normality and the existence of a disabled (autistic) voice/lack of disabled (autistic) voice. With all these factors in mind, this discussion will deal separately with the notions of 'reiteration of normality' and 'lack of a disabled (autistic) voice', both of which are deemed to be disempowering by critical disability theory. Separating the discussion into these two elements allows for participant responses, extant literature, and the concepts of power, policy, and society to be considered together in a manner that would not be possible if the chapter were simply to be divided into a series of miniature discussions headed by the research sub-questions.

6.1: Reiteration of Normality

Based on participant responses during the interview process and using those responses to answer the sub-questions, it is apparent that Chinese internationalised schools

reiterate and show preference towards normality rather than accepting disability, in this case autism, and the autistic experience. After considering relevant, pre-existing, literature, this finding is not particularly surprising. In the limited number of studies that have been conducted in relation to autism and the Chinese education system, teachers' negative views towards autistic students, a preference for teaching neurotypical students, and ableist understandings as to what autism is and how autistic students can be involved in the life of the school (Clark et al., 2019; Huang et al., 2013; Huang & Wheeler, 2007; Liu et al., 2016; Sun et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2019) have all been found to be the default approach to autism education in China, rather than the exception to the rule. Whilst it has been argued that Chinese internationalised schools provide an alternative to the more exam-orientated public education system (Young, 2018), it is important to remember that they still fall under the remit of the Chinese education department. It is understandable, and perhaps inevitable, therefore, that the same desire to reiterate normality that exists in the sphere of public education has been adopted into the realm of the internationalised school sector. Whilst the practices in place in internationalised schools could theoretically differ from those in their public-school counterparts, the overriding philosophy of the system that governs them both remains consistent in its message. Participant views that referenced the 'othering' and devaluation of autistic students on the basis that autism was not considered the 'normal' or preferred neuro-type illustrate the influence of Confucianist philosophy on Chinese society in general and on education in particular, where disabled (autistic) people are seen as lacking in value and are 'othered' as a result. Confucianist pedagogy, addressed in chapter 2 of this thesis, which can devalue the concept of disabled people receiving an education (Deng & Poon-McBrayer, 2012), is still very much ingrained within all aspects of Chinese society (Degenhardt & Zhang, 2015; Zhang, 2014). Participant responses reported in Chapter 5 of this thesis have shown that autistic student participants were very much aware that these Confucianist attitudes persist, whilst teacher participants actively promoted and adhered to them. Pre-existing literature has highlighted the role of Confucianist beliefs in the sphere of public education in China and should, for the purposes of this research, be extended to include Chinese internationalised schools. Despite the suggestion that these schools may offer a more socially just education for autistic students, in reality they promote the same Confucianist approach to education that does not consider disabled

students, but includes them, if at all, only through a sense of sympathy (Zhang, 2016; Zhang & Rosen, 2018).

Turning specifically to the autistic voices included in this research, the student participants felt overwhelmingly that they were expected to 'normalise' themselves rather than that their schools or teachers would attempt to accommodate their needs. This reiteration of the concept of a 'normal' student and preferences for such a student had been alluded to in prior research which had investigated teacher attitudes towards autistic students in public schools and kindergartens (Ballantyne et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2016, Lu et al., 2020; Xu et al., 2018) but it had not been considered from the viewpoint of autistic students themselves. Confirmation by the student participants that the concept of normality is being reiterated within Chinese internationalised schools and the fact that this is the reality for autistic students within the realm of compulsory education is particularly concerning. Love and Beneke (2021) for example, have suggested that the reiteration and perpetuation of normality within educational settings only serves to slow or even prohibit moves towards inclusive education. By reiterating the concepts of normality that are found on a societal level, educational institutions are relieved of the need to make meaningful change. As one of the participants, Bill, remarked: 'It's always been this way'. Not only does the reiteration of normality encourage power over the disabled (Hehir, 2002) and prefer the abled individual to the disabled (Goodley, 2014) but the inability to escape its influence can also have damaging effects. Those effects became evident during the course of this research in that autistic student participants had begun to internalise beliefs that they were less valuable than their neuro-typical peers. Such beliefs in relation to disabled people had been found to exist in Chinese society (Stein, 2015; Zheng et al., 2014), but the internalisation of those beliefs by the autistic students themselves and their 'defeated' reiteration of them stemmed directly from the treatment they received in the internationalised school environment, thereby refuting the idea that such schools are capable of providing a socially just education.

The policy of reiterating normality is also evident in teacher participant responses which clearly demonstrated their attitudes towards autistic students, real or hypothetical. Whilst earlier research had suggested that Chinese internationalised schools might offer a less stressful and more accepting environment for 'non-conventional' learners such as autistic students (Young, 2018), teacher participant responses showed that this was

categorically not the case and illustrated teacher involvement in upholding and propagating ableist policies and practices within their classrooms and their schools as a whole. These findings accord with those of previous research that investigated teacher attitudes towards autistic students and disabled students in general in public mainstream and special schools (Ballantyne et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2016, Lu et al., 2020; Xu et al., 2018), and found that autistic students were seen as unwanted and ill-suited members of the school community. As the influence of Confucianism extends to the whole of Chinese society, not just to the sphere of public education (Bresciani, 2023; Chen, 2021; Wang & Nahm, 2019), it is not surprising to find that Chinese internationalised schools reiterate normality towards autistic students, since these schools exist within the Chinese education system. What is paradoxical, however, is that these schools came into being as a result of calls from the growing middle class for a school system that is more accommodating in nature (Poole, 2020; Young, 2018). From this perspective, it would seem that the schools are doing themselves a disservice by continuing to reiterate normality when a reasonable percentage of the demographic who attend them do so for the sole reason that they supposedly offer a different and more holistic form of education that is not as 'black and white' as that which is to be found in Chinese public schools (Young, 2018). To explain the contradiction between what Chinese internationalised schools promise and what they deliver, we should perhaps consider whom they serve. Beech et al. (2021) for example, makes the distinction that Chinese internationalised schools have been developed to cater for the middle-class education market, whilst Ying and Wright (2023) maintain that they provide 'new rich' parents the opportunity to ensure that their children are educated in a manner which will facilitate global movement and will provide the prestige of an international education whilst continuing to instil Chinese nationalist ideologies and values. This so-called 'cosmopolitan-nationalism' (Wright et al., 2022), therefore, allows for students at internationalised schools to be educated in institutions which accept and encourage political interference from the CCP and adhere to policy directives and changes stemming from the Chinese education department (Bunnell & Poole, 2022). That being the case, it is to be expected that Chinese internationalised schools and their teachers reiterate normality, thereby contributing to the lack of a socially just education for autistic students, especially when considering the perturbing belief that it is impossible to rid China of all ableist

practices (Zhi, 2011) and that ableism will endure in certain spheres, including the highly regulated realm of education.

Whilst it may be true to say that Chinese internationalised schools provide an elite education to students who may face barriers to education (Bunnell & Poole, 2022; Young, 2018) it is also the case that not all barriers to education have been mitigated by the creation of an internationalised schooling system. Whilst the best education was previously reserved for the societal elite in China (Young, 2018), Chinese internationalised schools have allowed wealthy families to bypass the traditional social requirements for an elite education since their new-found wealth allows them to share certain characteristics with the societal elite. These characteristics do not originate from any connection to the social fabric of the nation, as may be the case when referring to the concept of a 'princeling' (Ho, 2013; Zhang, 2019) but are based purely on economic means and capital (Brooks & Waters, 2009). It remains the case that only social standing qualifies one to belong to the upper echelons of Chinese society. The fact that the 'new rich' are tolerated is partly a consequence of their wealth, but their emergence has been accepted only after careful consideration of their impact on the societal status quo. They have successfully carved their own position within the Chinese social hierarchy without displacing other members of society either below or above them. The enrolment of their children in internationalised schools has done little to disrupt the status of the societal elite or draw the ire of their prejudices (Goodman, 2008; Osburg, 2020).

In the case of autistic students attending internationalised schools, barriers to their education still exist. The fact that they are autistic and, therefore, disabled makes their position far more difficult to navigate. If wealth served as the only factor to be considered, their enrolment into these schools may have been better accepted. However, as disabled people are viewed as being at the bottom of Chinese society (Stein, 2015; Zheng et al., 2014), their inclusion in internationalised schools because of familial wealth may well be met with hostility because of the potential disruption to the social order that will follow, and which wealth cannot prevent. This could provide some explanation as to why teacher participants were so in favour of reiterating normality and so resistant to the concept of autistic students being successful in school. Whilst teachers referred to their general 'dislike' of autistic students, further investigation and questioning, as illustrated by interactions with Alan or Tom, drew out the more fundamental belief that autistic students

were undeserving of an internationalised education and that they, the teachers, needed to adhere to the educational methodologies that have traditionally been used in China. This attitude could result from a fear that the well-established social order might be jeopardised by affording individuals who occupy a place at the bottom of society the same opportunities as those who constitute the new and traditional elites. From the perspective of the autistic students, however, the failure of their schools to accept and support them, based on the Confucianist belief that certain demographics cannot climb up the social hierarchy, results in a system of education that reiterates normality and which, as a result, cannot possibly provide them with a more socially just education.

6.2: Lack of a Disabled (Autistic) Voice

Drawn from my findings in Chapter five and rooted in the critical disability framework that underpins this entire thesis, the concept of a lack of a disabled voice or, in the particular context of this thesis, an autistic voice, is a theme that must be examined. Preexisting literature concerned with the parents of autistic children in China (McCabe, 2007; McCabe-Hobart, 2008; Zhao & Fu, 2020) and teacher attitudes towards autistic students in Chinese public schools (Ballantyne et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2016, Lu et al., 2020; Xu et al., 2018) made no reference to the voices of autistic people themselves. This is not particularly surprising, given the strict social hierarchy that governs Chinese society and education in general (Law, 2020) where there would be no room for autistic voices to be heard. What is interesting, however, is that findings from extant literature relate closely with the findings of the research conducted here in relation to Chinese internationalised schools in that, despite theoretical differences between the different types of school being studied, the schools and the teachers within them were all unable or unwilling to recognise or put forward a disabled (autistic) voice, despite opportunities to do so. Furthermore, the autistic students who took part in this research were also 'unwilling' or unable to access their voice in matters pertaining to their education. The result, therefore, is an absence of a disabled voice that stems from the top down (the school and teachers) and is repropagated from the bottom up (autistic students).

Many of the concepts discussed in section 6.1 of this thesis, such as the adherence to and propagation of Confucianist values and the inflexibility of the Chinese education system, relate equally to the concept of a lack of a disabled (autistic) voice from the point

of view of Chinese internationalised schools and the teachers who teach within them. It would be too simplistic, however, to end the discussion around the lack of a disabled (autistic) voice there. Research from the past forty years has made reference to the fact that across nations, rather than making meaningful change for disabled people, 'lip service' has been paid in relation to promoting the voice of disabled people in matters that pertain to them (Sun et al., 2019). In China, there has been a conscious effort to ensure that the illusion of a disabled voice is present in all spheres of society, with education policies and research appearing, on the surface, to be as involved as possible in promoting disabled voices (Sun et al., 2019). It is interesting, therefore, that the findings in this research that stemmed from the interviews with teachers should be so contrary to the official position of the Chinese education department of creating the illusion that disabled (autistic) voices are a priority and should be heard in matters relating to their education. This deviation from the official party line could be explained by a fear of disability and disabled voices, as demonstrated by participant responses in Chapter five and confirmed by research which found that teachers are fearful of teaching and including disabled students due to a lack of understanding of disability, and the belief that the success of disabled learners takes away from the success of others (Guan et al., 2022, Qi et al., 2023; Qu, 2022). In other nations or school systems this fear is often overcome by teachers being forced to confront their prejudices as part of their day-to-day teaching or through professional development and training (Carballo et al., 2021; Duncan et al., 2021; Fisher & Purcal, 2017) This is not the case, however, for teachers in Chinese internationalised schools. For them, a fear of disability would only continue to grow due to a lack of training and a lack of professional development opportunities in China in general (Trent, 2019; Yan & He, 2015) and due also to their adherence to a Confucianist system that vehemently opposes any change in societal attitudes towards disabled people.

In relation to Chinese internationalised schools as a whole, their lack of a disabled (autistic) voice may also be explained by their ideological set-up and purpose. As research has suggested (Wright et al., 2021; Wright & Lee, 2019; Young, 2018), these schools serve as bastions of Chinese Confucianist and Chinese Communist party values that prepare the children of the new globalised elite with an internationally flavoured education and, for want of a better term, a 'double dose' of ideological education which will stand them in good stead in the event of them leaving China for tertiary education or employment. The

need for Chinese internationalised schools to instil values consistent with 'cosmopolitannationalism' (Wright et al., 2021) that neither veer from Chinese political or societal
thought nor engage in the creation of new identities (Wright & Lee, 2019) means that the
societal positioning of disabled people attending these schools, the extent to which they are
entitled to a voice in matters pertaining to them, and overall attitudes towards them are
reaffirmed. Nor do Chinese internationalised schools operate under the guise of inclusion or
acceptance that may be more subtly employed in Chinese public schools where those
enrolled are less likely to be leaving China. Indeed, teacher participant responses made
reference to the concepts of bringing pride to China and of exporting Chinese talent abroad
in the future. In ensuring that these 'cosmopolitan-nationalist' (Wright et al., 2021) students
are imbued with the 'correct' Chinese communist and Chinese Confucianist values, it
makes sense that official directives concerning the acknowledgement, encouragement, or
promotion of the disabled (autistic) voice would not be implemented as assiduously in
Chinese internationalised schools lest potential future ambassadors for China get the
'wrong idea'.

Related to the idea that ableist policies are pursued more aggressively and openly in Chinese internationalised schools owing to the threat of 'tension between globalist and nationalist forces' (Wright et al., 2021) is the suggestion from the findings of this research that autistic student participants had internalised the fact that they were deprived of a voice within their schools. Campbell (2008, 2009) posits that the internalisation of ableism on the part of disabled people arises from 'the distancing of disabled people from each other and the emulation by disabled people of ableist norms' (2008, p. 155). Chinese internationalised schools that do not actively include disabled people but do encourage disabled 'assimilation' into the norm could, therefore, be responsible for autistic participants accepting that they do not have a voice and even using what voice they do have to agree to the negative perceptions of them put forward by their teachers, as was the case in conversations with me during the course of this research. Moreover, the reality of being an autistic student enrolled in a school in which the autistic voice is not heard has the potential to create the damaging state of passing (Libsack et al., 2021), which involves a disabled individual adopting an accepted norm or ideal, along with the potentially devastating consequences of loss of self, burnout, and a negative self-image (Ahmed, 2017; Campbell, 2009; Jóhannsdóttir et al., 2022). It could explain why autistic student participants,

recognising that they did not have a voice in matters pertaining to their education, made comments about 'giving up' or being 'defeated', still attempting to live up to the ableist expectations and ideals established and propagated by their schools and teachers. In the case of this research, autistic student 'failure' to pass as neurotypical in a school system that only allows for the 'survival' of neurotypical students came at a predicted and, so called, 'great cost' (Ahmed, 2017) that manifested as a lack of a voice in matters pertaining to education, internalised ableist views directed towards self, and a feeling of hopelessness and defeat that permeated every interview I conducted with the autistic student participants.

In discussing the finding of a lack of disabled (autistic) voice, one must also consider the likely effect if a disabled voice were to exist within Chinese internationalised schools. Whilst the political and philosophical underpinnings of these schools may cause them to reinforce more extreme ableist narratives than their public-school counterparts and disseminate these views to all their students, including those with autism, would a clamour for the presence of autistic voices change practices and policies within these schools? In order to answer this hypothetical question, we must turn once again to the structure within which Chinese internationalised schools operate. As an issue of politics and power, it is likely that, even if disabled (autistic) voices were to be listened to, nothing would change owing to the fact that nothing can change within the existing system. Both teacher and autistic student participants made reference to the continuation of policies and practices because for better (from the teacher participants' perspective) or for worse (from the perspective of autistic student participants) they are what those working or enrolled in Chinese internationalised schools are used to and have come to expect. These views directly tie in with research which concerned educational reform from the re-opening of China in the late 1970s to the state of Chinese education in 2020. Whilst grassroots movements that promote educational change have gradually been encouraged, any change must be in line with government desires and recommendations (Wang & Yang, 2020) and any pressure for change remains tightly controlled. It is no surprise, therefore, that this investigation into the lack of a disabled (autistic) voice in Chinese internationalised schools reveals an inflexible system that propagates ableist assumptions and views and encourages those damaged by such assumptions to internalise these beliefs, thereby contributing to a cycle of despair such as was felt when broaching the subject of 'what if it were different?' during chapter 5 of this thesis.

6.3: Discussing Power, Politics, Society, and China

In discussing the reiteration of normality and the absence of a disabled (autistic) voice within Chinese internationalised schools, this chapter has addressed the two themes that permeated through the findings chapter, how those themes can be understood and explained by drawing upon relevant literature, and how they serve as disempowering elements from the perspective of a critical disability theory approach. It is important, however, to ensure that this discussion is not dismissed as being too simplistic in blaming the policies of the Chinese Communist Party or the position of Confucianism as a societal 'glue' for the fact that Chinese internationalised schools cannot offer autistic students a socially just education. Whilst these factors do contribute to this outcome, they also exist as an integral and inseparable part of the modern-day nation of China which owes its unique socio-political system and beliefs to thousands of years of development. Avoiding mention of this issue invites criticism and claims of oversimplification and the reiteration of the belief held by many Chinese people that Chinese society is simply too complex to be understood (Gamble, 2000; Shambaugh, 2008). Chinese internationalised schools cannot provide autistic students with a more socially just education because there is no mechanism for them to be accepted within the society they inhabit. They are powerless because they are not valued by society and because the thought underpinning society is a Chinese Communist Party interpretation of socialism and Confucianism which only positions particular individuals as powerful.

Chapter 7: Conclusions

The purpose of this research was to investigate the extent to which the burgeoning number of Chinese internationalised schools were capable of providing autistic students with a more 'socially just' education. The concept of social justice in this instance has been extrapolated from Critical Disability Theory and applied to the field of educational institutions in China. The research also sought to include the voices of autistic students. Whilst not a research purpose *per se*, the inclusion of autistic voices was essential in the research design and cannot be understated in its importance. A qualitive, interpretative phenomenological approach was adopted for this study as this position is concerned with identifying and understanding people's perceptions of the world and the context or situation that they find themselves in (Teherani et al., 2015). Moreover, the fact that interpretative

phenomenology adheres to critical theory (Teherani et al., 2015; Procyshyn, 2020) allowed the Critical Disability Theory framework underpinning this thesis to be woven throughout the research and writing processes. Interpretative phenomenology allowed the research to be undertaken from the point of view and the experiences of those involved in the area of education under investigation. Allowing for a phenomenon to be investigated from the point of view of those who experience it (Teherani et al., 2015) provided the opportunity to understand more thoroughly the perspectives of autistic students enrolled in Chinese internationalised schools and of teachers who work in them, thereby discovering the extent to which Chinese internationalised schools are capable of providing autistic students with a more socially just education.

This thesis makes an original contribution to a number of fields including autism education in China, the field of critical disability studies, and the still developing concept of internationalised education in China. The importance of this thesis can be highlighted by drawing attention to the fact that little to no work has been conducted in China that directly involved autistic participants, despite a recognition of the need to meaningfully include autistic people in research (Cascio et al., 2020; Pellicano et al., 2022). Furthermore, the majority of autism research in China has been of an aetiological nature. Very little research that has been conducted previously has been with the purpose of 'bettering' the education of autistic students, nor has it been undertaken within the context of Chinese internationalised education which, in itself, is considered an under-investigated area. Along with theorising why Chinese internationalised schools are incapable of offering autistic students a more socially just education, this thesis is, to my knowledge, the first of its kind to utilise Critical Disability Theory as an evaluative tool in order to uncover the capacity of a Chinese societal institution to promote disability existence, rights, access, and inclusion. This thesis also paves the way for greater theorisation as to how autistic education should be 'done' in China. Finally, an unintended consequence of the fact that this is research conducted by an autistic researcher working with autistic participants could be that future ethical debates on the question of autistic people conducting autism research may benefit from the approaches and perspectives spoken about throughout this thesis.

7.1 Main Conclusions

7.1.1 The Reiteration of Normality in Chinese Internationalised Schools

My findings and subsequent discussion of those findings establish that the disempowering behaviour involved in a reiteration of normality is present, propagated, and internalised at Chinese internationalised schools. The reiteration of an ideal 'norm' and preference for neurotypical students was highlighted from participant interviews and conversations. Teacher participants actively adhered to the view that autistic students should learn to behave 'normally' when in school and that Chinese internationalised schools were not built for the success of autistic students, or even for their education at all. In their opinion, autistic students would be better served in public special schools that, as mentioned in chapter 2, autistic students are also often excluded from. When confronted with the reality that autistic students are enrolled in Chinese internationalised schools and, therefore, should be educated there, teacher participants continued to focus on the negatively perceived differences of autistic students from their neurotypical classmates. Of particular interest was the fact that autistic student participants had recognised and internalised the ethos of their schools where a 'normal' ideal was considered to be preferable and desired over the autistic reality. Autistic student participants made references to wanting to fit in with their peers, wanting to be like their peers to please their teachers, and wanting to adhere to the concept of 'normal' so that they would be afforded the opportunity to receive a quality education rather than suffering an existence in the classroom without meaningful engagement or purpose. In some instances, autistic student participants had even begun to attack their own autistic identities and internalise ableist perceptions and preconceptions of success, value, and legitimacy. References to wanting to be 'normal' drew these internalisations to the surface and highlighted the complex and damaging nature of a school system that questions autistic legitimacy and demands that autistic students do the same. Whilst it was apparent that the act of reiterating normality was considered by the teacher participants to be the correct approach to Chinese internationalised education, the reasons for this could not simply be attributed to a lack of understanding or education about autism specifically and disabilities in general. Evidence instead points towards the roles of Chinese Confucianist and Chinese communist thought in all areas of society, including education. The deeply ingrained nature of these ideologies, coupled with the top-down socio-political approach to educational policy in the People's

Republic of China means that not only is the reiteration of normality encouraged, it is also a fundamental tenet of the Chinese education system that has been adopted by Chinese internationalised schools and will never change without a total reformation of treasured national philosophies and practices. Owing to the fact that Chinese Confucianist and Chinese communist philosophies are entrenched in the pedagogy of Chinese internationalised schools and the teachers who teach there, these schools, despite their surface level differences, have far more in common with Chinese public schools where the treatment of autistic students has been the subject of research which has outlined the existence of ableist policies and practices.

7.1.2 The Absence of a Disabled (Autistic) Voice In Chinese Internationalised Schools

The findings of my research revealed that disabled or, more specifically, autistic voices do not have a place within the confines of Chinese internationalised schools. Whilst initial analysis suggested that this may be due to the role of Chinese Confucianist and Chinese communist philosophies in the Chinese education system, further investigation revealed that this may not be the complete story. Although the reiteration of normality has, to all intents and purposes, been an official educational policy in China, excluding disabled voices has not. The official government line is one of the inclusion and promotion of disabled voices. My findings hypothesised that the outright failure to implement such a policy in Chinese internationalised schools that could be deemed as going against the party line stems from the fact that the 'read between the lines' approach to including disabled voices that is employed in Chinese public schools is too subtle a policy for Chinese internationalised schools and runs the risk, were it to be adopted in internationalised schools, of being exported worldwide as an ideology by those of the globalised elite who, after leaving these schools, go abroad to undertake work or tertiary education. My findings also identified a stifling of the autistic voice by the autistic students themselves due to the ideological pressure placed upon them by their schools due to their internationalised status. Furthermore, this research has suggested that autistic students in Chinese internationalised schools take on a neurotypical voice that either stays silent or engages in self-deprecation so as to survive a school system that refuses to acknowledge divergent voices or experiences. Finally, this thesis identified the role of teachers employed in Chinese internationalised schools in disallowing the autistic voice. Owing to the nature of these schools and their focus on 'cosmopolitan-nationalism' (Wright et al., 2021), it is arguable

that teachers have been encouraged to espouse the ableist rhetoric that is found in Chinese society in general, and that the rhetoric has been amplified in these schools due to the perceived need of ensuring that the students receive a stronger injection of Chinese Confucianist and Chinese communist ideology to export worldwide. As a consequence of amplifying ableist agendas, the 'fear' of autistic voices is magnified, resulting in a teaching staff who are perhaps more vigilant in their determination to stifle those voices.

7.2 Limitations

Although this thesis makes an original and important contribution to research, no piece of work is perfect, and its limitations will be addressed in the following section.

7.2.1 Sampling and Diversity

Whilst it would be impossible to include all autistic students, all Chinese internationalised schools, and all teachers who teach at Chinese internationalised schools in any study, it would have been beneficial for this research to have had a more representative sample of female autistic student participants. Although existing research has long made reference to the gender disparity between males and females when it comes to an autism diagnosis (Rivet & Matson, 2011) and to the fact that autistic females are usually diagnosed with autism later in life than autistic males (Begeer et al., 2013; Leedham et al., 2020), a higher number of autistic females would have allowed for a more varied sample, and for additional valuable female insights to be considered. Similarly, although 20 Chinese internationalised schools were sampled, there are currently approximately 700 Chinese internationalised schools across the nation (Poole, 2019), with certain international hotspots such as Shanghai and Shenzhen containing 194 and 103 of the schools respectively (Keeling 2019). For a first investigation into autism within Chinese internationalised schools, this sample size of 20 is satisfactory, but it would be advantageous in future research to sample a greater number of schools in order to obtain a more complete picture and a clearer understanding of the phenomena investigated in this thesis.

7.2.2 Nascent Investigations and Research Scope

As this research was investigating an under-researched population operating within the context of an under-researched area of education, utilising methods and theoretical underpinnings that had not previously been used in research in China, it could be suggested that it was overly ambitious in its scope. Whilst my defence would be that a simultaneous

investigation into all these areas was the only possible way of understanding the experiences of a specific autistic community within a specific type of societal institution, I do concede that the sheer amount of work involved could lead to there being a greater possibility of important factors being overlooked than if each of these areas had been investigated individually. Whilst more generalised studies are often conducted for the purposes of a PhD thesis, more targeted and specific work benefits from being able to inform research and contribute to knowledge whilst avoiding the risk of becoming unmanageable. The risk posed by an overly ambitious thesis could exacerbate the pitfalls that can come with doctoral studies which often mark a researcher's first foray into the world of academia.

7.3 Recommendations and Implications for Future Research and Practice

The purpose of this research was to investigate the extent to which Chinese internationalised schools were capable of providing a more socially just education to autistic students. Whilst the findings have indicated that they are not capable of providing a socially just education such as would be understood through the lens of critical disability theory, that does not mean that valuable information cannot still be gleaned. This section will indicate how the direction of future research, future policies, and future practice could be informed by taking on board the issues discussed, and conclusions reached in this thesis.

7.3.1 Implications for Autism Research in China

This study was comprehensive in its scope and was the first of its kind to conduct research pertaining to the lives, experiences, and needs of autistic students enrolled in Chinese internationalised schools. Furthermore, it was the first to utilise critical disability theory as an evaluative framework in the Chinese context and the first to take an autism-centric approach by including the voices of autistic teenagers as participants. During the literature review, attention was drawn to the aetiological approach of previous autism studies in China and to the fact that autism research in China had been conducted *on* autistic people rather than *with* them. As there has been a growing movement worldwide for the inclusion of autistic people in research (Pellicano et al., 2022), and a shift in attitude towards the purpose of autism research from finding a cure to promoting societal inclusion (O'Reilly et al., 2020; Pukki et al., 2022), it would be hugely beneficial if this change were to be adopted in China owing to the sheer number of autistic people believed to live in the

country, and to the positive impact that an attitudinal shift towards autism could have for the positioning of autistic people in Chinese society. From this perspective, this thesis serves as proof that it is possible to change the narrative around the purpose of autism research in China and that valuable insights can be gained by collaborating with autistic people rather than experimenting on them. From a moral standpoint, this thesis can hopefully serve as an exemplar of how to conduct research with autistic people, particularly in light of the fact that pre-existing autism research in China has excluded autistic people and has been lacking in respect for and tolerance of them.

7.3.2 Implications for Chinese Educational Policy

As has been revealed in this thesis, an educational policy that has its roots in Chinese Confucianist and Chinese communist philosophies is neither supportive nor inclusive of non-conventional learners such as autistic people. Whilst it may be highly unlikely to happen considering the extent to which Chinese Confucianism and Chinese communism are ingrained in Chinese society, this thesis would argue that steps should be taken to reform or even replace the philosophical underpinnings of Chinese internationalised schools specifically and the Chinese education system in general in order that they might move towards more inclusive philosophies that include and value the disabled, including autistic people, both in school and in Chinese society as a whole. Putting aside the obvious position of moral correctness, research has suggested that promoting a schooling system that benefits autistic people has the potential to allow autistic people to contribute to the economy and society by becoming functional members who are respected and valued rather than excluded, treated with pity, and ignored (Beghin, 2021; Roberts & Webster, 2022). Research has highlighted the fact that a diverse population has a greater impact on innovation, originality, and creativity than a homogenous one (Deckert & Schomaker, 2022; Gelfand, 2018). This, in turn, could promote further change in China resulting, in accordance with the wishes of the Chinese Communist Party, in a more harmonious society (Chen, 2021) that is both more tolerant and more respectful of the differences that make us human. Whilst this is beyond the full scope of this thesis, reference to a diverse population does bring to mind the struggles of various 'othered' groups such as the LGBTQ+ community within China that future research may also find could benefit from a reconceptualization of the Chinese education system.

7.3.3 Implications for Autistic People

From my position as an autistic researcher, I hope it is obvious that all research conducted with autistic participants has real world implications on their lives, their experiences, and their very existence. This research has contributed to the debate surrounding the concepts of autistic people conducting research and of autistic people being involved in research, not just in China and within the context of Chinese internationalised schools, but on an international level as well. Following the research methodologies and positionalities put forward by this thesis, I suggest that future research concerned with autism should be designed, conducted, and led by autistic people. As the people who have the most to gain, or lose, from autism research, autistic people should and must continue to use their voices to influence the direction that autism research is taking. Whilst movement towards this goal may not be achieved at a uniform rate owing to current approaches to autism research that differ from country to country and society to society, this thesis has shown that autism-led, and autism-informed research is both possible and valuable. We must move away from a situation where autistic people are simply regarded as a subject matter to be studied.

To that end, this thesis is in the unique position of having been able to truly document the experiences and voices of autistic people in a manner that captures their authentic autistic selves. This result is particularly important for two reasons. The first is that this thesis positions itself as an exemplar for working with autistic people in uncovering autistic experiences in a pre-reflective and organic manner. The second is that, not in a manner dissimilar from a case study, this thesis has been able to highlight in detail ten autistic voices who have informed this research and could, with appropriate care, respect, and consideration further inform research in the future. These autistic voices are inherently powerful, and it is not inconceivable that their words will exist as artefacts in pieces of research highlighting the importance of autistic voices in the future. It is perfectly possible that the words of Alexander, for example, go on to be included in or even inspire additional research and activism. In fact, owing to the specificity of this thesis and the powerful nature of participant responses, one hopes that this thesis as a whole and participant responses in particular be used as a research resource for autism research to come. On a final note, autism research led by and involving autistic people allows genuine autistic voices to contribute to society and to promote societal change that will be of benefit to them. Put simply, this research will hopefully add another voice to the oft cited rallying cry of 'nothing about us, without us' (Charlton, 2006).

7.4 In Closing

This thesis began by highlighting the gaps in research concerning the extent to which Chinese internationalised schools were capable of providing autistic students with a more socially just education. As a nascent investigation into an under-studied area, the value of this research lies in its ability to uncover the 'truth' about the phenomenon of Chinese internationalised schools from a position that includes, values, and promotes the autistic experience within them. In keeping with an interpretative phenomenological position that allows for a phenomenon to be investigated from the point of view of those who experience it (Teherani et al., 2015), and adopting the lens of Critical Disability Theory that is capable of identifying, exposing, and analysing structures in place that disempower disabled people and contribute to the continued dominance of the 'abled' elite (Davis, 2010), this thesis has been able to expose the socially unjust nature of the education delivered in Chinese internationalised schools that have drawn in autistic students with promises of providing a safe haven for non-traditional learners (Young, 2018). In amplifying autistic voices and exposing the existence and promotion of ableism within these schools, it is both hoped and believed that this thesis has offered an insight into a previously neglected area through the accounts of autistic student participants and their teachers, and through the lens of critical disability theory, without which it would not have been possible to expose the inability of Chinese internationalised schools to provide autistic students with a more socially just education. Despite the somewhat pessimistic findings of this research, this thesis emphasizes the notion of the 'optimism of the will' that Gramsci believed was essential in working towards more just and equitable societal institutions (Sultana, 2014).

References

- Adams, D., & Emerson, L.-M. (2021). The Impact of Anxiety in Children on the Autism Spectrum. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *51*(6), 1909–1920. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-020-04673-3
- Adams, J. (2013). The Artful Dodger: Creative Resistance to Neoliberalism in Education.

 *Review of Education, Pedagogy, and Cultural Studies, 35(4), 242–255.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10714413.2013.819726
- Adams, W. C. (2015). Conducting Semi-Structured Interviews. In K. E. Newcomer, H. P. Hatry, & J. S. Wholey (Eds.), *Handbook of Practical Program Evaluation* (1st ed., pp. 492–505). Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119171386.ch19
- Adler, K., Salanterä, S., & Zumstein-Shaha, M. (2019). Focus Group Interviews in Child, Youth, and Parent Research: An Integrative Literature Review. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919887274
- Ahlin, E. (2019). Semi-Structured Interviews With Expert Practitioners: Their Validity and Significant Contribution to Translational Research. SAGE Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781526466037
- Ahmed, S. (2017). Living a feminist life. Duke University Press.
- Al-Ababneh, M. M. (2020). Linking Ontology, Epistemology and Research Methodology. Science & Philosophy, 8(1), 75–91. https://ssrn.com/abstract=3708935
- Alharahsheh, H. H., & Pius, A. (2020). A Review of key paradigms: Positivism VS interpretivism. *Global Academic Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences*, 2(3), 39–43. https://doi.org/10.36348/gajhss.2020.v02i03.001

- Alhuzimi, T. (2021). Stress and emotional wellbeing of parents due to change in routine for children with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) at home during COVID-19 pandemic in Saudi Arabia. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 108, 103822. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2020.103822
- Alresheed, F., Machalicek, W., Sanford, A., & Bano, C. (2018). Academic and Related Skills

 Interventions for Autism: A 20-Year Systematic Review of Single-Case Research. *Review Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 5(4), 311–326.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s40489-018-0141-9
- Alshenqeeti, H. (2014). Interviewing as a Data Collection Method: A Critical Review. *English Linguistics Research*, *3*(1), 39–45. https://doi.org/10.5430/elr.v3n1p39
- Ambrose, K., Simpson, K., & Adams, D. (2021). The relationship between social and academic outcomes and anxiety for children and adolescents on the autism spectrum: A systematic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 90, 102086. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2021.102086
- Ambrosio, J. (2013). Changing the Subject: Neoliberalism and Accountability in Public Education. *Educational Studies*, 49(4), 316–333. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131946.2013.783835
- American Psychiatric Society. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders:*DSM-5. http://www.slv.vic.gov.au/ebl/eblRedirect.php?id=1811753
- Amorim, R., Catarino, S., Miragaia, P., Ferreras, C., Viana, V., & Guardiano, M. (2020). The impact of COVID-19 on children with autism spectrum disorder. *Neurologia*, 71(8), 285–291. https://doi.org/10.33588/rn.7108.2020381
- Anastasiou, D., & Kauffman, J. M. (2013). The Social Model of Disability: Dichotomy between Impairment and Disability. *The Journal of Medicine and Philosophy: A Forum for Bioethics and Philosophy of Medicine*, 38(4), 441–459. https://doi.org/10.1093/jmp/jht026

- Anderson-Chavarria, M. (2022). The autism predicament: Models of autism and their impact on autistic identity. *Disability & Society*, *37*(8), 1321–1341.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2021.1877117
- Andreou, M., & Skrimpa, V. (2020). Theory of Mind Deficits and Neurophysiological Operations in Autism Spectrum Disorders: A Review. *Brain Sciences*, *10*(6), 393. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci10060393
- Andrews, E., & Cappon, D. (1957). Autism and Schizophrenia in a Child Guidance Clinic.

 Canadian Psychiatric Association Journal, 2(1), 1–25.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/070674375700200101
- Annamma, S. A., Boelé, A. L., Moore, B. A., & Klingner, J. (2013). Challenging the ideology of normal in schools. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, *17*(12), 1278–1294. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2013.802379
- Apostolescu, I., & Marino, S. (2022). Varieties of the Lifeworld: Phenomenology and Aesthetic Experience. *Continental Philosophy Review*, *55*(4), 409–416.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11007-022-09576-x
- Aróstegui, J. L. (2020). Implications of neoliberalism and knowledge economy for music education. *Music Education Research*, 22(1), 42–53. https://doi.org/10.1080/14613808.2019.1703923
- Ashby, C. (2012). Disability Studies and Inclusive Teacher Preparation: A Socially Just Path for Teacher Education. *Research and Practice for Persons with Severe Disabilities*, *37*(2), 89–99. https://doi.org/10.1177/154079691203700204
- Asperger, H. (1944). 'Autistic psychopathy' in childhood. *Archiv Für Psychiatrie Und Nervenkrankenheiten*, 117(1), 76–136. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511526770.002
- Attwood, T. (2008). The complete guide to Asperger's syndrome. Jessica Kingsley Publishers.

- Babik, I., & Gardner, E. S. (2021). Factors Affecting the Perception of Disability: A

 Developmental Perspective. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12.

 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.702166
- Bagg, E., Pickard, H., Tan, M., Smith, T. J., Simonoff, E., Pickles, A., Carter Leno, V., & Bedofrd, R. (2023). Testing the social motivation theory of autism: The role of co-occurring anxiety. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 0, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.13925
- Baio, J. (2012). Prevalence of Autism Spectrum Disorders: Autism and Developmental

 Disabilities Monitoring Network, 14 Sites, United States, 2008. Morbidity and Mortality

 Weekly Report. Surveillance Summaries. Volume 61, Number 3. In *Centers for Disease*Control and Prevention (3). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

 https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED530639
- Baise, A. (2020). The objective–subjective dichotomy and its use in describing probability.

 *Interdisciplinary Science Reviews, 45(2), 174–185.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/03080188.2019.1705559
- Bak, M. Y. S., Reilly, A. M., Yang, Y., Abas, H., Pan, Q., & Hugh, M. L. (2022). Familiarity of evidence based practices in Chinese caregivers of autistic children. *International Journal of Developmental Disabilities*, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1080/20473869.2022.2142374
- Ball, S. J. (2016). Neoliberal education? Confronting the slouching beast. *Policy Futures in Education*, *14*(8), 1046–1059. https://doi.org/10.1177/1478210316664259
- Ballantyne, C., Gillespie-Smith, K., & Wilson, C. (2021). A Comparison of Knowledge and Experience of Autism Spectrum Disorder among Teachers in the United Kingdom and China. *International Journal of Disability, Development and Education*, 68(2), 160–171. https://doi.org/10.1080/1034912X.2019.1674254

- Barnes, R. E., & McCabe, H. (2012). Should we welcome a cure for autism? A survey of the arguments. *Medicine, Health Care and Philosophy*, *15*, 255–269. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11019-011-9339-7
- Baron-Cohen, S., Leslie, A. M., & Frith, U. (1985). Does the autistic child have a "theory of mind"? *Cognition*, 21(1), 37–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-0277(85)90022-8
- Baron-Cohen, S., Wheelwright, S., Skinner, R., Martin, J., & Clubley, E. (2001). The Autism-Spectrum Quotient (AQ): Evidence from Asperger Syndrome/High-Functioning Autism,
 Males and Females, Scientists and Mathematicians. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 31, 5–17. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1005653411471
- Bartholomew, T. T., Joy, E. E., Kang, E., & Brown, J. (2021). A choir or cacophony? Sample sizes and quality of conveying participants' voices in phenomenological research.

 Methodological Innovations, 14(2), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1177/20597991211040063
- Bauminger, N., & Kasari, C. (2003). Loneliness and Friendship in High-Functioning Children with Autism. *Child Development*, 71(2), 447–456. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00156
- Beardon, L. (2020). Avoiding Anxiety in Autistic Children (1st ed.). Sheldon Press.
- Beardon, L. (2021). Avoiding Anxiety in Autistic Adults (1st ed.). Sheldon Press.

6

- Beech, J., Koh, A., Maxwell, C., Yemini, M., Tucker, K., & Barrenechea, I. (2021).

 'Cosmopolitan start-up' capital: Mobility and school choices of global middle class parents.

 *Cambridge Journal of Education, 51(4), 527–541.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/0305764X.2020.1863913
- Begeer, S., Mandell, D., Wijnker-Holmes, B., Venderbosch, S., Rem, D., Stekelenburg, F., & Koot, H. M. (2013). Sex Differences in the Timing of Identification Among Children and Adults with Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 43(5), 1151–1156. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-012-1656-z
- BERA. (2018). *Ethical Guidelines for Educational Research, fourth edition* [Research Guidelines]. BERA. https://www.bera.ac.uk/publication/ethical-guidelines-for-educational-research-2018-online#authorship
- Beresford, B., Tozer, R., Rabiee, P., & Sloper, P. (2004). Developing an approach to involving children with autistic spectrum disorders in a social care research project. *British Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *32*(4), 180–185. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-3156.2004.00318.x
- Berry, K., Russell, K., & Frost, K. (2018). Restricted and Repetitive Behaviors in Autism Spectrum Disorder: A Review of Associated Features and Presentation Across Clinical Populations. *Current Developmental Disorders Reports*, *5*(2), 108–115. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40474-018-0139-0
- Bettelheim, B. (1967). *The Empty Fortress: Infantile Autism and the Birth of the Self* (1st ed.). Free Press.
- Bihu, R. (2020). Using Unstructured Interviews in Educational and Social Science Research:

 The Process, Opportunity and Difficulty. *Global Scientific Journals*, 8(10), 712–721.

 https://deliverypdf.ssrn.com/delivery.php?ID=739098086122110021068117000097124011

 1230490280290390270850710741110981061260971190940550340301230180590151190

- 7709707109708612003801305405903902612509707508300012309202203501411708202 4099102031013091029089103110065125121093026121027113020112094003022085&E XT=pdf&INDEX=TRUE
- Blake, J. J., Lund, E. M., Zhou, Q., Kwok, O., & Benz, M. R. (2012). National prevalence rates of bully victimization among students with disabilities in the United States. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 27(4), 210–222. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000008
- Blakeley-Smith, A., Carr, E. G., Cale, S. I., & Owen-DeSchryver, J. S. (2009). Environmental Fit: A Model for Assessing and Treating Problem Behavior Associated With Curricular Difficulties in Children With Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 24(3), 131–145. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088357609339032
- Bolourian, Y., Losh, A., Hamsho, N., Eisenhower, A., & Blacher, J. (2022). General Education Teachers' Perceptions of Autism, Inclusive Practices, and Relationship Building Strategies.

 Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 52(9), 3977–3990.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-021-05266-4
- Botha, M. (2021). Critical realism, community psychology, and the curious case of autism: A philosophy and practice of science with social justice in mind. *Journal of Community Psychology*, *n/a*(n/a), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.22764
- Botha, M. (2022). Community psychology as reparations for violence in the construction of autism knowledge. In D. Milton & S. Ryan (Eds.), *The Routledge International Handbook of Critical Autism Studies* (1st ed., p. 326). Routledge.

 https://www.taylorfrancis.com/chapters/edit/10.4324/9781003056577-8/community-

psychology-reparations-violence-construction-autism-knowledge-1-monique-botha

- Botha, M., Dibb, B., & Frost, D. M. (2022). 'Autism is me': An investigation of how autistic individuals make sense of autism and stigma. *Disability & Society*, *37*(3), 427–453. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2020.1822782
- Botha, M., & Gillespie-Lynch, K. (2022). Come as You Are: Examining Autistic Identity

 Development and the Neurodiversity Movement through an Intersectional Lens. *Human*Development, 66(2), 93–112. https://doi.org/10.1159/000524123
- Bottema-Beutel, K. (2017). Glimpses into the blind spot: Social interaction and autism. *Journal of Communication Disorders*, 68, 24–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcomdis.2017.06.008
- Bottema-Beutel, K., Kapp, S. K., Lester, J. N., Sasson, N. J., & Hand, B. N. (2021). Avoiding Ableist Language: Suggestions for Autism Researchers. *Autism in Adulthood*, *3*(1), 18–29. https://doi.org/10.1089/aut.2020.0014
- Bottema-Beutel, K., Park, H., & Kim, S. Y. (2017). Commentary on Social Skills Training

 Curricula for Individuals with ASD: Social Interaction, Authenticity, and Stigma. *Journal*of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 48(1), 953–964. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803017-3400-1
- Bottini, S. (2018). Social reward processing in individuals with autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review of the social motivation hypothesis. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 45, 9–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2017.10.001
- Bourke, B. (2014). Positionality: Reflecting on the Research Process. *The Qualitative Report*, 19(33), 1–9.
- Bourreau, Y., Roux, S., Gomot, M., Bonnet-Brilhault, F., & Barthélémy, C. (2009). Validation of the repetitive and restricted behaviour scale in autism spectrum disorders. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 18(11), 675–682. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-009-0028-5

- Boyd, B. A., McDonough, S. G., & Bodfish, J. W. (2012). Evidence-Based Behavioral

 Interventions for Repetitive Behaviors in Autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental*Disorders, 42(6), 1236–1248. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-011-1284-z
- Bradbury-Jones, C., Sambrook, S., & Irvine, F. (2009). The phenomenological focus group: An oxymoron? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 65(3), 663–671. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2008.04922.x
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2019). Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis. *Qualitative Research* in Sport, Exercise and Health, 11(4), 589–597.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1628806
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2021). Can I use TA? Should I use TA? Should I not use TA? Comparing reflexive thematic analysis and other pattern-based qualitative analytic approaches. Counselling and Psychotherapy Research, 21(1), 37–47.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/capr.12360
- Brede, J., Remington, A., Kenny, L., Warren, K., & Pellicano, E. (2017). Excluded from school:

 Autistic students' experiences of school exclusion and subsequent re-integration into school. *Autism and Developmental Language Impairments*, 2, 1–20.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/2396941517737511
- Bresciani, U. (2023). *Reinventing Confucianism: The new Confucian movement*. Ricci Institute for Chinese Studies.
- Brinkmann, S. (2007). The Good Qualitative Researcher. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 4(1–2), 127–144. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780880701473516

- Brooks, R., & Waters, J. (2009). A Second Chance at 'Success': UK Students and Global Circuits of Higher Education. *Sociology*, 43(6), 1085–1102.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0038038509345713
- Brown, A., & Danaher, P. A. (2019). CHE Principles: Facilitating authentic and dialogical semi-structured interviews in educational research. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 42(1), 76–90. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2017.1379987
- Bryman, A. (1988). Quantity and quality in social research (Nachdr.). Routledge.
- Bryman, A., Bell, E., Reck, J., & Fields, J. (2022). *Social research methods*. Oxford University Press.
- Bunnell, T. (2022). The crypto-growth of "International Schooling": Emergent issues and implications. *Educational Review*, 74(1), 39–56.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2021.1907316
- Bunnell, T., & Poole, A. (2022). (Re)Considering "precarious privilege" within international schooling: Expatriate teachers' perceptions in China of being International and undervalued. *Educational Studies*, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/03055698.2022.2054270
- Bunnell, T., & Poole, A. (2023). International Schools in China and teacher turnover: The need for a more nuanced approach towards precarity reflecting agency. *Asia Pacific Journal of Education*, 43(2), 463–478. https://doi.org/10.1080/02188791.2021.1940840
- Buzzelli, C., & Johnston, B. (2001). Authority, power, and morality in classroom discourse.

 Teaching and Teacher Education, 17(8), 873–884. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0742-051X(01)00037-3
- Cage, E., & Howes, J. (2020). Dropping out and moving on: A qualitative study of autistic people's experiences of university. *Autism*, 24(7), 1664–1675. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361320918750

- Campbell, F. A. K. (2008). Exploring internalized ableism using critical race theory. *Disability* & *Society*, 23(2), 151–162. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687590701841190
- Campbell, F. K. (2009). *Contours of ableism: The production of disability and abledness*. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Cappadocia, M. C., Weiss, J. A., & Pepler, D. (2012). Bullying Experiences Among Children and Youth with Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 42(2), 266–277. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-011-1241-x
- Carballo, R., Morgado, B., & Cortés-Vega, M. D. (2021). Transforming faculty conceptions of disability and inclusive education through a training programme. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 25(7), 843–859. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2019.1579874
- Cardillo, R., Mammarella, I. C., Demurie, E., Giofrè, D., & Roeyers, H. (2021). Pragmatic Language in Children and Adolescents With Autism Spectrum Disorder: Do Theory of Mind and Executive Functions Have a Mediating Role? *Autism Research*, *14*(5), 932–945. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.2423
- Carrington, S., Campbell, M., Saggers, B., Ashburner, J., Vicig, F., Dillon-Wallace, J., & Hwang, Y.-S. (2017). Recommendations of school students with autism spectrum disorder and their parents in regard to bullying and cyberbullying prevention and intervention.

 International Journal of Inclusive Education, 21(10), 1045–1064.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2017.1331381
- Carrington, S., Mavropoulou, S., Saggers, B., & Nepal, S. (2024). *Inclusive education in Australia policy review* (Policy Review 5.084; p. 67). Queensland University of Technology. https://www.autismcrc.com.au/sites/default/files/reports/5-084 Monograph Inclusive Education In Australia Policy Review.pdf

- Cascio, M. A., Weiss, J. A., & Racine, E. (2021). Empowerment in decision-making for autistic people in research. *Disability & Society*, *36*(1), 100–144.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2020.1712189
- Cascio, M. A., Weiss, J. A., Racine, E., & and the Autism Research Ethics Task Force. (2020).

 Person-oriented ethics for autism research: Creating best practices through engagement with autism and autistic communities. *Autism*, 24(7), 1676–1690.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361320918763
- Cassidy, S., Bradley, L., Shaw, R., & Baron-Cohen, S. (2018). Risk markers for suicidality in autistic adults. *Molecular Autism*, 9, 42. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13229-018-0226-4
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for Interview Research: The Interview Protocol Refinement Framework. *The Qualitative Report*, 21(5), 811–831. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2016.2337
- Castleberry, A., & Nolen, A. (2018). Thematic analysis of qualitative research data: Is it as easy as it sounds? *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 10(6), 807–815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.03.019
- Chacko, E. (2004). Positionality and Praxis: Fieldwork Experiences in Rural India. *Singapore Journal of Tropical Geography*, 25(1), 51–63. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0129-7619.2004.00172.x
- Chapman, J. (1966). The Early Symptoms of Schizophrenia. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 112(484), 225–251. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.112.484.225
- Chapman, R. (2019). Neurodiversity Theory and Its Discontents: Autism, Schizophrenia and the Social Model of Disability. In Ş. Tekin & R. Bluhm (Eds.), *The Bloomsbury companion to philosophy of psychiatry* (Paperback edition, pp. 371–390). Bloomsbury Academic.

- Charlton, J. I. (2006). *Nothing about us without us: Disability oppression and empowerment* (4th ed.). Univ. of California Press.
- Chatzitheochari, S., Parsons, S., & Platt, L. (2014). *Bullying experiences among disabled* children and young people in England: Evidence from two longitudinal studies (Educational Report 11–14; p. 30). 161nternati of Education University of London. https://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/id/eprint/10100674/1/qsswp1411_bullying.pdf
- Chelimskey, E. (1997). Thoughts for a new evaluation society. *Evaluation*, 3(1), 97-109.
- Chen, M., Li, X., & Zhang, Y. (2023). Understanding the practice of self-management friendship relationships in young children with autism: A qualitative study in 161nterna public kindergartens. *Current Psychology*, 42, 26633–26650.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-022-03709-4
- Chen, Y. (2021). "Official Confucianism" as Newly Sanctioned by the Chinese Communist

 Party. In R. Madsen (Ed.), *The Sinicization of Chinese Religions: From Above and Below*(Vol. 18, pp. 44–63). BRILL. https://doi.org/10.1163/9789004465183_004
- Cheng, Y. (2019). Discourses of race and rising china. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Cheon, H. (2006, November). *Korean Kirogi families: Separation so the children can study abroad.* The annual conference of the National Council on Family Relations, Minneapolis,

 MN.
- Chevallier, C., Kohls, G., Troiani, V., Brodkin, E. S., & Schultz, R. T. (2012). The social motivation theory of autism: Trends in Cognitive Sciences. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 16(4), 231–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2012.02.007.
- Chou, W.-J., Wang, P.-W., Hsiao, R. C., Hu, H.-F., & Yen, C.-F. (2020). Role of School Bullying Involvement in Depression, Anxiety, Suicidality, and Low Self-Esteem Among

- Adolescents With High-Functioning Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 11, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00009
- Chown, N. (2017). *Understanding and Evaluating Autism Theory*. London, UK: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Chown, N., & Hughes, L. (2016). History and First Descriptions of Autism: Asperger Versus Kanner Revisited. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 46(6), 2270–2272. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-016-2746-0
- Chown, N., Robinson, J., Beardon, L., Downing, J., Hughes, L., Leatherland, J., Fox, K., Hickman, L., & MacGregor, D. (2017). Improving research about us, with us: A draft framework for inclusive autism research. *Disability & Society*, *32*(5), 720–734. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2017.1320273
- Civinini, C. (2019, August 28). *Sustained Growth for the International School Sector*. The Pie News. http://thepienews.com/
- Clark, E., Zhou, Z., & Du, L. (2019). Autism in China: Progress and challenges in addressing the needs of children and families. *International Journal of School & Educational Psychology*, 7(2), 135–146. https://doi.org/10.1080/21683603.2019.1570885
- Clarke, V., & Braun, V. (2017). Thematic analysis. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, *12*(3), 297–298. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2016.1262613
- Cleland, J. A. (2017). The qualitative orientation in medical education research. *Korean Journal of Medical Education*, 29(2), 61–71. https://doi.org/10.3946/kjme.2017.53
- Cocks, A. (2008). Researching the Lives of Disabled Children: The Process of Participant Observation in Seeking Inclusivity. *Qualitative Social Work*, 7(2), 163–180. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325008089628

- Cohen, L., Manion, L., & Morrison, K. (2018). *Research methods in education* (Eighth edition). Routledge.
- Colizzi, M., Sironi, E., Antonini, F., Ciceri, M. L., Bovo, C., & Zoccante, L. (2020).

 Psychosocial and Behavioral Impact of COVID-19 in Autism Spectrum Disorder: An Online Parent Survey. *Brain Sciences*, *10*(6), Article 6.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci10060341
- Conger, J. A., & Kanungo, R. N. (1988). The Empowerment Process: Integrating Theory and Practice. *The Academy of Management Review*, *13*(3), 471. https://doi.org/10.2307/258093
- Connell, R. (1993). Schools & Social Justice. James Lorimer & Drimer & Company.
- Conner, J., Posner, M., & Nsowaa, B. (2022). The Relationship Between Student Voice and Student Engagement in Urban High Schools. *The Urban Review*, *54*(5), 755–774. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11256-022-00637-2
- Cook, A., Ogden, J., & Winstone, N. (2016). The experiences of learning, friendship and bullying of boys with autism in mainstream and special settings: A qualitative study. British Journal of Special Education, 43(3), 250–271. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8578.12143
- Corsi, C. M. (2023). Effects of a Modified Peer Buddy Program on the Social Skills of Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder and Their Rejected and Neglected Peers [Doctoral thesis, The University of Utah].

 https://www.proquest.com/openview/bc35c20ca9621186acc5e36db34c7887/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y
- Courchesne, V., Tesfaye, R., Mirenda, P., Nicholas, D., Mitchell, W., Singh, I., Zwaigenbaum, L., & Elsabbagh, M. (2022). Autism Voices: A novel method to access first-person

- perspective of autistic youth. *Autism*, 26(5), 1123–1136. https://doi.org/10.1177/13623613211042128
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2017). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches* (4th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Cridland, E. K., Jones, S. C., Caputi, P., & Magee, C. A. (2015). Qualitative research with families living with autism spectrum disorder: Recommendations for conducting semistructured interviews. *Journal of Intellectual and Developmental Disability*, 40(1), 78–91. https://doi.org/10.3109/13668250.2014.964191
- Crompton, C. J., Ropar, D., Evans-Williams, C. V., Flynn, E. G., & Fletcher-Watson, S. (2020).

 Autistic peer-to-peer information transfer is highly effective. *Autism*, 24(7), 1704–1712.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361320919286
- Crow, L. (1996). Including all of our lives: Renewing the social model of disability. In C.

 Barnes & G. Mercer (Eds.), *Exploring the divide: Illness and disability*. Disability Press;

 University of Leeds.
- Cureton, A. (2008). A Rawlsian Perspective on Justice for the Disabled. *Essays in Philosophy*, 9(1), article 5.
- Daelman, S., De Schauwer, E., & Van Hove, G. (2020). Becoming-with research participants:

 Possibilities in qualitative research with children. *Childhood*, 27(4), 483–497.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0907568220927767
- Dale, R., & Robertson, S. L. (Eds.). (2009). *Globalisation and Europeanisation in education*. Symposium Books.
- Davies, B. (2014). *Listening to Children*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315770390
- Davis, L. J. (2002). Bending over backwards: Disability, dismodernism, and other difficult positions. New York University Press.

- Davis, L. J. (2006). Constructing Normalcy. In L. J. Davis (Ed.), *The disability studies reader* (2nd ed). Routledge.
- Davis, L. J. (Ed.). (2010). The disability studies reader (3rd ed). Routledge.
- Davis, L. J. (2016). The disability studies reader (5th ed). Routledge.
- Davis, R., & Crompton, C. J. (2021). What Do New Findings About Social Interaction in Autistic Adults Mean for Neurodevelopmental Research? *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *16*(3), 649–653. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691620958010
- Davis, R., den Houting, J., Nordahl-Hansen, A., & Fletcher-Watson, S. (2022). Helping Autistic Children. In *The Wiley-Blackwell Handbook of Childhood Social Development* (pp. 729–746). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119679028.ch39
- Dawson, G., & Bernier, R. (2010). Development of Social Brian Circuitry in Autism. In D.Coch, G. Dawson, & K. W. Fischer, *Human Behavior, Learning, and the Developing Brain: Atypical Development*. Guilford Press.
- De Saxe, J. G., Bucknovitz, S., & Mahoney-Mosedale, F. (2020). The Deprofessionalization of Educators: An Intersectional Analysis of Neoliberalism and Education "Reform".

 *Education and Urban Society, 52(1), 51–69. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124518786398
- Deckers, A., Muris, P., & Roelofs, J. (2017). Being on Your Own or Feeling Lonely? Loneliness and Other Social Variables in Youths with Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, 48(1), 828–839. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-016-0707-7
- Deckert, C., & Schomaker, R. M. (2022). Cultural tightness—looseness and national innovativeness: Impacts of tolerance and diversity of opinion. *Journal of Innovation and Entrepreneurship*, 11(1), 29. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13731-022-00219-2
- Degenhardt, S., & Zhang, Y. X. (2015). Die VR China auf dem Weg zur inklusiven Schule (P. R. China is on the way to inclusive schooling). In L. Annette, K. Müller, & T.

- Truckenbrodt (Eds.), Die UN-Behindertenrechtskonvention und ihre Umsetzung: Beiträge zur Interkulturellen International vergleichenden Heil- und Sonderpädagogik (The UN-CRPD and its implementation: Contributions to intercultural international compared special education) (pp. 197–205). Verlag Julius Klinkhardt.
- Dempsey, I., & Foreman, P. (1997). Toward a Clarification of Empowerment as an Outcome of Disability Service Provision. *International Journal of Disability, Development and Education*, 44(4), 287–303. https://doi.org/10.1080/0156655970440402
- den Houting, J., Adams, D., Roberts, J., & Keen, D. (2018). Exploring anxiety symptomatology in school-aged autistic children using an autism-specific assessment. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 50, 73–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2018.03.005
- Deng, M., & Manset, G. (2000). "Analysis of the 'Learning in Regular Classrooms' Movement in China." *Mental Retardation*, 38(2), 124–130. https://doi.org/10.1352/0047-6765(2000)038%3C0124:AOTLIR%3E2.0.CO;2
- Deng, M. & Poon-McBrayer, K. (2012). Reforms and challenges in the era of inclusive education: The case of China. *British Journal of Special Education*, *39* (3), 117–122. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8578.2012.00551.x
- Deng, M., & Zhu, X. (2016). Special Education Reform Towards Inclusive Education: Blurring or Expanding Boundaries of Special and Regular Education in China. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, *16*(1), 994–998. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-3802.12244
- Di Sarro, R., Di Santantonio, A., Desideri, L., & Varrucciu, N. (2022). Profiling planning skills and cognitive flexibility of adults with autism spectrum disorders: Preliminary results from an exploratory service-based study. *International Journal of Developmental Disabilities*, 68(5), 651–657. https://doi.org/10.1080/20473869.2020.1871311

- DiCicco-Bloom, B., & Crabtree, B. F. (2006). The qualitative research interview. *Medical Education*, 40(4), 314–321. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2929.2006.02418.x
- Dickter, C. L., Burk, J. A., Zeman, J. L., & Taylor, S. C. (2020). Implicit and Explicit Attitudes

 Toward Autistic Adults. *Autism in Adulthood*, 2(2), 144–151.

 https://doi.org/10.1089/aut.2019.0023
- Dikötter, F. (2015). *The discourse of race in modern China* (Fully revised and expanded second edition). Oxford University Press.
- Dimech, C. (2021). Autism: The literature on gender differences. *Malta Medical Journal*, *33*(1), 73–84.
- Dinishak, J. (2016). The Deficit View and Its Critics. *Disability Studies Quarterly*, 36(4), 1–24. https://doi.org/10.18061/dsq.v36i4.5236
- Dockett, S., Einarsdottir, J., & Perry, B. (2009). Researching with children: Ethical tensions. *Journal of Early Childhood Research*, 7(3), 283–298.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1476718X09336971
- Dolata, J. K., Suarez, S., Calamé, B., & Fombonne, E. (2022). Pragmatic language markers of autism diagnosis and severity. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, *94*, 101970. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2022.101970
- Dubois, M. (2018). Ideology, Sociology of. In J. D. Wright (Ed.), *International encyclopedia of the social & behavioral sciences* (pp. 573–587). Elsevier.
- Duffy, J., & Dorner, R. (2011). The Pathos of 'Mindblindness': Autism, Science, and Sadness in 'Theory of Mind' Narratives. *Journal of Literary & Cultural Disability Studies*, *5*(2), 201–215. https://doi.org/muse.jhu.edu/article/441690.
- Dukpa, D. (2022). *Dukpa*, 2022 [Doctoral thesis, Queensland University of Technology]. https://eprints.qut.edu.au/228608/8/Dawa_Dukpa_Thesis.pdf

- Duncan, J., Punch, R., & Croce, N. (2021). Supporting primary and secondary teachers to deliver inclusive education. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 46(4), 92–107.
- Egner, J. (2022). #ActuallyAutistic: Using Twitter to Construct Individual and Collective

 Identity Narratives | Studies in Social Justice. *Studies in Social Justice*, *16*(2), 349–369.

 https://doi.org/10.26522/ssj.v16i2.2675
- Eisenberg, L., & Kanner, L. (1956). Childhood schizophrenia: Symposium, 1955: 6. Early infantile autism, 1943–55. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 26(3), 556–566. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1939-0025.1956.tb06202.x
- Ejnavarzala, H. (2019). Epistemology–Ontology Relations in Social Research: A Review. Sociological Bulletin, 68(1), 94–104. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038022918819369
- Eldh, A. C., Årestedt, L., & Berterö, C. (2020). Quotations in Qualitative Studies: Reflections on Constituents, Custom, and Purpose. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 19. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920969268
- Elliott-Mainwaring, H. (2021). Exploring using Nvivo software to facilitate inductive coding for thematic narrative synthesis. *British Journal of Midwifery*, 29(11), 628–632. https://doi.org/10.12968/bjom.2021.29.11.628
- Ellis Weismer, S., Lord, C., & Esler, A. (2010). Early Language Patterns of Toddlers on the Autism Spectrum Compared to Toddlers with Developmental Delay. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 40(10), 1259–1273. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-010-0983-1
- Ellsworth, N. J., & Zhang, C. (2007). Progress and Challenges in China's Special Education Development: Observations, Reflections, and Recommendations. *Remedial and Special Education*, 28(1), 58–64. https://doi.org/10.1177/07419325070280010601

- Elmose, M. (2020). Understanding loneliness and social relationships in autism: The reflections of autistic adults. *Nordic Psychology*, 72(1), 3–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/19012276.2019.1625068
- Ennis, L., & Wykes, T. (2016). Sense and readability: Participant information sheets for research studies. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 208(2), 189–194. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.114.156687
- Erevelles, N., & Minear, A. (2010). Unspeakable Offenses: Untangling Race and Disability in Discourses of Intersectionality. *Journal of Literary & Cultural Disability Studies*, 4(2), 127–145. https://doi.org/10.3828/jlcds.2010.11
- Ersan, D., Ata, S., & Kaya, S. (2020). Acceptance in Early Childhood: A Study from Turkish Children. *International Journal of Early Childhood Special Education*, *12*(1), 20–27. https://doi.org/10.20489/intjecse.713680
- Esbensen, A. J., Seltzer, M. M., Lam, K. S. L., & Bodfish, J. W. (2009). Age-Related

 Differences in Restricted Repetitive Behaviors in Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 39(1), 57–66. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-008-0599-x
- Estes, A., Rivera, V., Bryan, M., Cali, P., & Dawson, G. (2011). Discrepancies Between

 Academic Achievement and Intellectual Ability in Higher-Functioning School-Aged

 Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*,

 41(8), 1044–1052. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-010-1127-3
- Factor, R. S., Condy, E. E., Farley, J. P., & Scarpa, A. (2016). Brief Report: Insistence on Sameness, Anxiety, and Social Motivation in Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 46(1), 2548–2554. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-016-2781-x

- Fautley, M. (2019). The implications of evaluation and educational policy reforms on English secondary school music education. *Arts Education Policy Review*, *120*(3), 140–148. https://doi.org/10.1080/10632913.2018.1532369
- Finlay, L. (2021). Thematic Analysis: : The 'Good', the 'Bad' and the 'Ugly'. *European Journal* for Qualitative Research in Psychotherapy, 11, 103–116.
- Firmin, R. L., Bonfils, K. A., Luther, L., Minor, K. S., & Salyers, M. P. (2017). Using text-analysis computer software and thematic analysis on the same qualitative data: A case example. *Qualitative Psychology*, 4(3), 201–210. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000050
- Fisher, K. R., & Purcal, C. (2017). Policies to change attitudes to people with disabilities.

 Scandinavian Journal of Disability Research, 19(2), 161–174.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/15017419.2016.1222303
- Fisher, P., & Goodley, D. (2007). The linear medical model of disability: Mothers of disabled babies resist with counter-narratives: The medical and linear model of disability. *Sociology of Health & Illness*, 29(1), 66–81. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9566.2007.00518.x
- Fletcher-Watson, S., Adams, J., Brook, K., Charman, T., Crane, L., Cusack, J., Leekam, S., Milton, D., Parr, J. R., & Pellicano, E. (2019). Making the future together: Shaping autism research through meaningful participation. *Autism*, *23*(4), 943–953. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361318786721
- Fleury, V. P., Hedges, S., Hume, K., Browder, D. M., Thompson, J. L., Fallin, K., El Zein, F., Reutebuch, C. K., & Vaughn, S. (2014). Addressing the Academic Needs of Adolescents With Autism Spectrum Disorder in Secondary Education. *Remedial and Special Education*, 35(2), 68–79. https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932513518823

- Foley, G., & Timonen, V. (2015). Using Grounded Theory Method to Capture and Analyze

 Health Care Experiences. *Health Services Research*, 50(4), 1195–1210.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.12275
- Folque, M. A. (2020). Interviewing Young Children. In G. MacNaughton, S. A. Rolfe, & I. Siraj (Eds.), *Doing early childhood research: International perspectives on theory and practice* (2nd edition, pp. 235–257). Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.
- Foote, M. Q., & Bartell, T. G. (2011). Pathways to equity in mathematics education: How life experiences impact researcher positionality. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 78(1), 45–68. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10649-011-9309-2
- Freeman-Loftis, S. (2021). The metanarrative of autism: Eternal childhood and the failure of cure. In D. Bolt (Ed.), *Metanarratives of disability: Culture, assumed authority, and the normative social order* (pp. 94–105). Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.
- French, S. (1993). Disability, Impairment or something in between. In J. Swain, S. French, C. Barnes, & C. Thomas (Eds.), *Disabling barriers—Enabling environments*. SAGE Publications.
- Friedenberg, E. Z. (1951). Education as a Social Science. *Bulletin of the American Association of University Professors*, *37*(4), 672–692. https://doi.org/10.2307/40220853
- Frith, U. (1991). Asperger and his syndrome. In U. Frith (Ed.), *Autism and Asperger Syndrome* (pp. 1–36). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511526770.001
- Frith, U., & Happé, F. (1999). Theory of Mind and Self-Consciousness: What Is It Like to Be Autistic? *Mind & Language*, *14*(1), 82–89. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0017.00100
- Gamble, J. (2000). Localizing management in foreign-invested enterprises in China: Practical, cultural, and strategic perspectives. *The International Journal of Human Resource*Management, 11(5), 883–903. https://doi.org/10.1080/095851900422339

- Garland-Thompson, R. (2002). Integrating Disability, Transforming Feminist Theory. *NWSA Journal*, *14*(3), 1–32.
- Gelfand, M. J. (2018). Rule makers, rule breakers: How tight and loose cultures wire our world (First Scribner hardcover edition). Scribner.
- Genova, H. M., Arora, A., & Botticello, A. L. (2021). Effects of School Closures Resulting

 From COVID-19 in Autistic and Neurotypical Children. *Frontiers in Education*, 6, 1–9.

 https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2021.761485
- Gernsbacher, M. A. (2017). Editorial Perspective: The use of person-first language in scholarly writing may accentuate stigma. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 58(7), 859–861. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12706
- Gernsbacher, M. A., Morson, E. M., & Grace, E. J. (2016). Language and Speech in Autism.

 Annual Review of Linguistics, 2(Volume 2, 2016), 413–425.

 https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-linguistics-030514-124824
- Ghanouni, P., Jarus, T., Zwicker, J. G., Lucyshyn, J., Chauhan, S., & Moir, C. (2019). Perceived Barriers and Existing Challenges in Participation of Children with Autism Spectrum Disorders: "He Did Not Understand and No One Else Seemed to Understand Him".

 Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 49(8), 3136–3145.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-019-04036-7
- Gichuru, M. J. (2017). The Interpretative Research Paradigm: A Critical Review of Is Research Methodologies. *International Journal of Innovative Research and Advanced Studies*, *4*(2), 1–5.
- Giles, D. C. (2013). 'DSM-V is taking away our identity': The reaction of the online community to the proposed changes in the diagnosis of Asperger's disorder. *Health: An*

- Interdisciplinary Journal for the Social Study of Health, Illness and Medicine, 18(2), 179–195. https://doi.org/10.1177/1363459313488006
- Giorgi, A. (2009). The descriptive phenomenological method in psychology: A modified Husserlian approach. Duquesne University Press.
- Gläser, J., & Laudel, G. (2013). Life With and Without Coding: Two Methods for Early-Stage

 Data Analysis in Qualitative Research Aiming at Causal Explanations. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, Vol 14, No 2 (2013).

 https://doi.org/10.17169/FQS-14.2.1886
- Glynne-Owen, R. (2010). Early Intervention and Autism: The Impact of Positivism and the Call for Change. *The International Journal of Children's Rights*, *18*(3), 405–416. https://doi.org/10.1163/157181810X497431
- Golis, A. (2024). The work adjustment of expatriate teachers employed in Chinese Internationalized schools: A pedagogical perspective. *Educational Review*, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2024.2341042
- Goodley, D. (2011). Disability studies: An interdisciplinary introduction. SAGE.
- Goodley, D. (2014). Dis/ability Studies. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203366974
- Goodley, D., Lawthom, R., Liddiard, K., & Runswick-Cole, K. (2017). Critical Disability

 Studies. In B. Gough (Ed.), *The Palgrave handbook of critical social psychology*. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Goodley, D., Lawthom, R., Liddiard, K., & Runswick-Cole, K. (2019). Provocations for Critical Disability Studies. *Disability & Society*, *34*(6), 972–997. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2019.1566889

Goodley, D., Liddiard, K., & Runswick-Cole, K. (2018). Feeling disability: Theories of affect and critical disability studies. *Disability & Society*, *33*(2), 197–217. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2017.1402752

Goodman, D. S. G. (2008). The new rich in China: Future rulers, present lives. Routledge.

Graby, S. (2016, June 29). *Unworkable Conditions: Work, benefits and disabled people's*resistance to capitalism [In Person Presentation]. Association for Social and Political Philosophy's annual conference, London.

https://d1wqtxts1xzle7.cloudfront.net/48843713/Unworkable conditions merged presentat ion_Graby_2016-libre.pdf?1473897336=&response-content-

disposition=inline%3B+filename%3DUnworkable Conditions work benefits and.pdf&Ex pires=1713439353&Signature=ZT-pZSbvWBrYE65Vm1KnUPr7rlCqQwFb4SO~SJhXxi-0Wv1PU2CtCW3LAsaphjlohLCRaHj9PCe1dtCfb0nWCUlazwFD-

cbCg8kJeX~6cTZZGzZuB2Y4Nx1GTsdlBGoceGZ0jUAV-

PnJw~pW0qd64ewZwO8lVQBThnIdX0Ym5IAIaihuATdtmOEOCIp4pwKA0gJreZB9bK

YABYj0Zk0vQkWsNJpqWpxyq6DYHG8dMn-5eFYYwpmFkSI0dbPgvRyI
I43Ve5b723yrleEDVmVEq1-

TTsBE0Yg__&Key-Pair-Id=APKAJLOHF5GGSLRBV4ZA

- Graça, J., Calheiros, M. M., & Barata, M. C. (2013). Authority in the classroom: Adolescent autonomy, autonomy support, and teachers' legitimacy. *European Journal of Psychology of Education*, 28(3), 1065–1076. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10212-012-0154-1
- Grenier, M. (2010). Moving to inclusion: A socio-cultural analysis of practice. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 14(4), 387–400.

 $\underline{https:/\!/doi.org/10.1080/13603110802504598}$

- Grix, J. (2019). The foundations of research (Third edition). Red Globe Press.
- Grynszpan, O., Weiss, P. L. (Tamar), Perez-Diaz, F., & Gal, E. (2014). Innovative technology-based interventions for autism spectrum disorders: A meta-analysis. *Autism*, *18*(4), 346–361. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361313476767
- Gu, M. (2006). An analysis of the impact of traditional Chinese culture on Chinese education.

 Frontiers of Education in China, 1(2), 169–190. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11516-006-0001-8
- Guan, W. J., Liu, J. J., & Li, X. (2022). He regression of inclusive education: A qualitative research of the parents' education decision for their autistic children. *Chinese Journal of Special Education*, 1, 75–82.
- Guest, G., MacQueen, K. M., & Namey, E. E. (2012). *Applied thematic analysis*. Sage Publications.
- Gunn, K. C. M., & Delafield-Butt, J. T. (2016). Teaching Children With Autism Spectrum

 Disorder With Restricted Interests. *Review of Educational Research*, 86(2), 408–430.

 https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654315604027
- Guo, Q., & Cui, T. (2012). The Values of Confucian Benevolence and the Universality of the Confucian Way of Extending Love. *Frontiers of Philosophy in China*, 7(1), 20–54. https://doi.org/10.3868/s030-001-012-0002-5
- Hacking, I. (1983). Representing and Intervening: Introductory Topics in the Philosophy of

 Natural Science (1st ed.). Cambridge University Press.

 https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511814563
- Haegele, J. A., & Hodge, S. (2016). Disability Discourse: Overview and Critiques of the Medical and Social Models. *Quest*, 68(2), 193–206. https://doi.org/10.1080/00336297.2016.1143849

- Hall, R., & Pulsford, M. (2019). Neoliberalism and primary education: Impacts of neoliberal policy on the lived experiences of primary school communities. *Power and Education*, 11(3), 241–251. https://doi.org/10.1177/1757743819877344
- Hammersley, M., & Traianou, A. (2012). *Ethics in qualitative research: Controversies and contexts*. SAGE Publications.
- Haraway, D. J. (2016). *Staying with the trouble: Making kin in the Chthulucene*. Duke University Press.
- Harrington, C., Foster, M., Rodger, S., & Ashburner, J. (2014). Engaging young people with A utism S pectrum D isorder in research interviews. *British Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 42(2), 153–161. https://doi.org/10.1111/bld.12037
- Hasson, L., Keville, S., Gallagher, J., Onagbesan, D., & Ludlow, A. K. (2024). Inclusivity in education for autism spectrum disorders: Experiences of support from the perspective of parent/carers, school teaching staff and young people on the autism spectrum. *International Journal of Developmental Disabilities*, 70(2), 201–212.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/20473869.2022.2070418
- Hayden, M., & Thompson, J. (2013). International schools: Antecedents, current issues and metaphors for the future. In R. Pearce (Ed.), *International education and schools: Moving beyond the first 40 years* (pp. 3–23). Bloomsbury.
- Hedley, D., Uljarević, M., Foley, K.-R., Richdale, A., & Trollor, J. (2018). Risk and protective factors underlying depression and suicidal ideation in Autism Spectrum Disorder.

 *Depression and Anxiety, 35(7), 648–657. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22759
- Hehir, T. (2002). Eliminating Ableism in Education. *Harvard Educational Review*, 72(1), 1–33. https://doi.org/10.17763/haer.72.1.03866528702g2105

- Hemmers, J., Baethge, C., Vogeley, K., & Falter-Wagner, C. M. (2022). Are Executive

 Dysfunctions Relevant for the Autism-Specific Cognitive Profile? *Frontiers in Psychiatry*,

 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2022.886588
- Hens, K., Robeyns, I., & Schaubroeck, K. (2019). The ethics of autism. *Philosophy Compass*, 14(1), e12559. https://doi.org/10.1111/phc3.12559
- Hildebrand, V., Phenice, L. A., Gray, M. M., & Hines, R. P. (2008). *Knowing and serving diverse families* (3rd ed). Pearson/Merrill Prentice Hall.
- Hill, P. (2013). Examination Systems (Asia-Pacific Secondary Education System Review Series 1, p. 51). UNESCO.
 https://bangkok.unesco.org/sites/default/files/assets/article/Education/files/examination-systems.pdf
- Ho, K. H. M., Chiang, V. C. L., & Leung, D. (2017). Hermeneutic phenomenological analysis: The 'possibility' beyond 'actuality' in thematic analysis. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 73(7), 1757–1766. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13255
- Ho, W.-C. (2013). The New 'Comprador Class': The re-emergence of bureaucratic capitalists in post-Deng China. *Journal of Contemporary China*, 22(83), 812–827.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/10670564.2013.782128
- Hodge, N., Douglas, P., & Byrne, B. (2023). Developing the Right(s) Approach for Autism. In A. E. Beckett & A.-M. Callus (Eds.), *The Routledge international handbook of children's rights and disability* (p. 17). Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.
- Hodges, H., Fealko, C., & Soares, N. (2020). Autism spectrum disorder: Definition,
 epidemiology, causes, and clinical evaluation. *Translational Pediatrics*, 9(Suppl 1), S55–S65. https://doi.org/10.21037/tp.2019.09.09

- Høffding, S., Martiny, K., & Roepstorff, A. (2022). Can we trust the phenomenological interview? Metaphysical, epistemological, and methodological objections. *Phenomenology and the Cognitive Sciences*, 21(1), 33–51. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11097-021-09744-z
- Holmes, A. G. D. (2020). Researcher Positionality—A Consideration of Its Influence and Place in Qualitative Research—A New Researcher Guide. *Shanlax International Journal of Education*, 8(4), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.34293/education.v8i4.3232
- Horkheimer, M. (1982). Critical theory: Selected essays. Continuum Pub. Corp.
- Hosking, D. L. (2008, September). Critical Disability Theory. 4th Biennial Disability Studies

 Conference. 4th Biennial Disability Studies Conference, Lancaster University, UK.

 https://www.lancaster.ac.uk/fass/events/disabilityconference archive/2008/papers/hosking2

 008.pdf
- Hu, X. (2019). Current Status of Education for Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder in China. In X. Hu & E. Kärnä (Eds.), *Educating Students with Autism Spectrum Disorder in China and Finland* (pp. 23–36). Springer Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-8203-1
- Hua, G. D. (2003). Suiban jiudu hai que shenme? (What is still missing in learning in regular classrooms?). Zhongguo jiaoyu bao.
- Huang, A. X., Jia, M., & Wheeler, J. J. (2013). Children with Autism in the People's Republic of China: Diagnosis, Legal Issues, and Educational Services. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 43(9), 1991–2001. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-012-1722-6
- Huang, A. X., & Wheeler, J. J. (2007). Including Children with Autism in General Education in China. *Childhood Education*, 83(6), 356–360.
 - https://doi.org/10.1080/00094056.2007.10522950

- Huang, R., Yang, W., & Li. H. (2019). On the road to participatory pedagogy: A mixed-methods study of pedagogical interaction in Chinese kindergartens. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 85(1), 81-91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2019.06.009
- Hull, L., Petrides, K. V., Allison, C., Smith, P., Baron-Cohen, S., Lai, M.-C., & Mandy, W.
 (2017). "Putting on My Best Normal": Social Camouflaging in Adults with Autism
 Spectrum Conditions. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 47(8), 2519–2534.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-017-3166-5
- Human Rights Watch. (2013, July 15). 'As Long as They Let Us Stay in Class' Barriers to Education for Persons with Disabilities in China. Human Rights Watch.

 https://www.hrw.org/report/2013/07/15/long-they-let-us-stay-class/barriers-education-persons-disabilities-china
- Hume, R., & Burgess, H. (2021). "I'm Human After All": Autism, Trauma, and Affective Empathy. *Autism in Adulthood*, 3(3), 221–229. https://doi.org/10.1089/aut.2020.0013
- Huppert, E., Cowell, J. M., Cheng, Y., Contreras-Ibáñez, C., Gomez-Sicard, N., Gonzalez-Gadea, M. L., Huepe, D., Ibanez, A., Lee, K., Mahasneh, R., Malcolm-Smith, S., Salas, N., Selcuk, B., Tungodden, B., Wong, A., Zhou, X., & Decety, J. (2019). The development of children's preferences for equality and equity across 13 individualistic and collectivist cultures. *Developmental Science*, 22(2), e12729. https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12729
- Hurley-Hanson, A. E., Giannantonio, C. M., & Griffiths, A. J. (2020). The Stigma of Autism. In
 A. E. Hurley-Hanson, C. M. Giannantonio, & A. J. Griffiths, *Autism in the Workplace* (pp. 21–45). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29049-8
- Hursh, D. (2007). Assessing No Child Left Behind and the Rise of Neoliberal Education Policies. American Educational Research Journal, 44(3), 493–518.
 https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831207306764

- Hursh, D. (2017). Raising the stakes: High-stakes testing and the attack on public education in New York. In B. Lingard, G. Rezai-Rashti, & W. Martino, *Testing Regimes*, *Accountabilities and Education Policy* (1st ed., pp. 36–51). Routledge.
- Huynh, S., McCrimmon, A., & Strong, T. (n.d.). The Change in Classification of Asperger Syndrome: An Exploration of its Effects on Self-Identity.
- Ibrahim, Z., & Alias, M. (2018). A Review on Using Assistive Technology to Enhance Social Skills Competence Among Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD). *Advanced Science Letters*, 24(6), 4250–4254. https://doi.org/10.1166/asl.2018.11582
- Jaarsma, P., & Welin, S. (2012). Autism as a Natural Human Variation: Reflections on the Claims of the Neurodiversity Movement. *Health Care Analysis*, 20(1), 20–30. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10728-011-0169-9
- Jack, A., & Roepstorff, A. (2003). Why Trust the Subject? *Journal of Consciousness Studies*, 10, 5–20.
- Jaffey, S., & Ashwin, C. (2022). Exploring antecedents and outcomes of restricted and repetitive behaviours in autistic children: A thematic analysis of teacher interviews. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 97, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2022.102021
- Jefferson, S. G., & Erp, L. S. (2023). Relation between Restricted and Repetitive Behaviors and Anxiety in Autism Spectrum Disorder: A Meta-Analysis. *Child & Family Behavior Therapy*, 45(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/07317107.2022.2111750
- Jia, Y., Way, N., Ling, G., Yoshikawa, H., Chen, X., Hughes, D., Ke, X., & Lu, Z. (2009). The Influence of Student Perceptions of School Climate on Socioemotional and Academic Adjustment: A Comparison of Chinese and American Adolescents. *Child Development*, 80(5), 1514–1530. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01348.x

- Joffe, H. (2011). Thematic Analysis. In D. Harper & A. R. Thompson (Eds.), *Qualitative Research Methods in Mental Health and Psychotherapy: A Guide for Students and Practitioners* (1st ed., pp. 209–223). Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119973249
- Jóhannsdóttir, Á., Egilson, S. Þ., & Haraldsdóttir, F. (2022). Implications of 181nternationa ableism for the health and wellbeing of disabled young people. *Sociology of Health & Illness*, 44(2), 360–376. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9566.13425
- Johnson, M., & McRuer, R. (2014). Cripistemologies: Introduction. *Journal of Literary & Cultural Disability Studies*, 8(2), 127–148. https://doi.org/10.3828/jlcds.2014.12
- Jones, S. C., Gordon, C. S., Akram, M., Murphy, N., & Sharkie, F. (2022). Inclusion, Exclusion and Isolation of Autistic People: Community Attitudes and Autistic People's Experiences.
 Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 52(3), 1131–1142.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-021-04998-7
- Joon, P., Kumar, A., & Parle, M. (2021). What is autism? *Pharmacological Reports*, 73(5), 1255–1264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s43440-021-00244-0
- Jootun, D., McGhee, G., & Marland, G. R. (n.d.). Reflexivity: Promoting rigour in qualitative research. *Nursing Standard*, 23(23), 42–45.
- Kanner, L. (1943). Autistic Disturbances of Affective Contact. *Nervous Child*, 2, 217–250. https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1943-03624-001
- Kanner, L. (1944). Early infantile autism. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 25, 211–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3476(44)80156-1
- Kanner, L. (1965). Infantile autism and the schizophrenias. *Behavioral Science*, 10(4), 412–420. https://doi.org/10.1002/bs.3830100404

- Kapp, S. K., Gillespie-Lynch, K., Sherman, L. E., & Hutman, T. (2013). Deficit, difference, or both? Autism and neurodiversity. *Developmental Psychology*, 49(1), 59–71.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028353
- Kapp, S. K., Steward, R., Crane, L., Elliot, D., Elphick, C., Pellicano, E., & Russell, G. (2019). 'People should be allowed to do what they like': Autistic adults' views and experiences of stimming. *Autism*, 23(7), 1611–1876. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361319829628
- Keates, N., Waldock, K. E., & Dewar, E. (2022). Tensions Between Autistic Sociality,
 Communication, and Social Skills Research: A Response to Bambara (2022) and Camarata (2022). *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 65(11), 4346–4350.
 https://doi.org/10.1044/2022_JSLHR-22-00331
- Keeling, A. (2019). *Education in China*. International Teacher Magazine. https://consiliumeducation.com/itm/2019/04/03/education-in-china/
- Keen, D., Webster, A., & Ridley, G. (2016). How well are children with autism spectrum disorder doing academically at school? An overview of the literature. *Autism*, 20(3), 276–294. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361315580962
- Kelly, E., Meng, F., Fujita, H., Morgado, F., Kazemi, Y., Rice, L. C., Ren, C., Ochoa Escamilla,
 C., Gibson, J. M., Sajadi, S., Pendry, R. J., Tan, T., Ellegood, J., Basson, M. A., Blakely, R.
 D., Dindot, S. V., Golzio, C., Hahn, M. K., Katsanis, N., ... Tsai, P. T. (2020). Regulation of autism-relevant behaviors by cerebellar–prefrontal cortical circuits. *Nature Neuroscience*, 23(9), 1102–1110. http://doi: 10.1038/s41593-020-0665-z
- Khan, N. Z., Gallo, L. A., Arghir, A., Budisteanu, B., Budisteanu, M., Dobrescu, I., Donald, K., El-Tabari, S., Hoogenhout, M., Kalambayi, F., Kawa, R., Espinoza, I. L., Lowenthal, R., Malcolm-Smith, S., Montiel-Nava, C., Odeh, J., De Paula, C. S., Rad, F., Tarpan, A. K., ...

- Elsabbagh, M. (2012). Autism and the Grand Challenges in Global Mental Health. *Autism Research*, 5(3), 156–159. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.1239
- Kiger, M. E., & Varpio, L. (2020). Thematic analysis of qualitative data: AMEE Guide No. 131. *Medical Teacher*, 42(8), 846–854. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2020.1755030
- Kipnis, A. B. (2011). *Governing educational desire: Culture, politics, and schooling in China*. University of Chicago Press.
- Kirkpatrick, R., & Zang, Y. (2011). The Negative Influences of Exam-Oriented Education on Chinese High School Students: Backwash from Classroom to Child. *Language Testing in Asia*, *I*(3), 36. https://doi.org/10.1186/2229-0443-1-3-36
- Klin, A., Danovitch, J. H., Merz, A. B., & Volkmar, F. R. (2007). Circumscribed Interests in Higher Functioning Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorders: An Exploratory Study. *Research & Practice for Persons with Severe Disabilities*, 32(2), 89–100. https://doi.org/10.2511/rpsd.32.2.89
- Knight, V., McKissick, B. R., & Saunders, A. (2013). A Review of Technology-Based
 Interventions to Teach Academic Skills to Students with Autism Spectrum Disorder.
 Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 43(11), 2628–2648.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-013-1814-y
- Komulainen, S. (2007). The Ambiguity of the Child's 'Voice' in Social Research. *Childhood*, 14(1), 11–28. https://doi.org/10.1177/0907568207068561
- Kong, L., Woods, O., & Zhu, H. (2020). The (de)183nternationaliz appeal of international schools in China: Forging brands, boundaries and inter-belonging in segregated urban space. *Urban Studies*, *59*(1), 242–258. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098020954

- Kostogriz, A., Adams, M., & Bonar, G. (2022). Affective practice architectures of professional learning in international schools. *Studies in Continuing Education*, *44*(2), 247–265. https://doi.org/10.1080/0158037X.2022.2043267
- Kourti, M. (2021). A Critical Realist Approach on Autism: Ontological and Epistemological Implications for Knowledge Production in Autism Research. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.713423
- Krogh, K., & Lindsay, P. (1999). Including people with disabilities in research: Implications for the field of augmentative and alternative communication. *Augmentative and Alternative Communication*, *15*(4), 222–233. https://doi.org/10.1080/07434619912331278765
- Kumari-Campbell, F. A. (2001). Inciting Legal Fictions: Disability's Date with Ontology and the Ableist Body of the Law. *Griffith Law Review*, 10(1), 42–62.
- Kumari-Campbell, F. A. (2009). *Contours of ableism: The production of disability and abledness*. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Kumari-Campbell, F. A. (2008a). Exploring internalized ableism using critical race theory.

 Disability & Society, 23(2), 151–162. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687590701841190
- Kumari-Campbell, F. A. (2008b). Refusing Able(Ness): A Preliminary Conversation about Ableism. *Media-Culture Journal*, 11(3). http://journal.media-culture.org.au/index.php/mcjournal/article/view/46
- Kutrovátz, K. (2017). Conducting qualitative interviews with children methodological and ethical challenges. *Corvinus Journal of Sociology and Social Policy*, *1*(2), 65–88. https://www.ceeol.com/search/article-detail?id=597329
- Kvale, S., & Brinkmann, S. (1996). *Interviews: An introduction to qualitative research interviewing* (1st ed.). Sage.

- Lai, M.-C. (2023). Mental health challenges faced by autistic people. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 7, 1620–1637. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-023-01718-2
- Lai, M.-C., & Szatmari, P. (2020). Sex and gender impacts on the behavioural presentation and recognition of autism. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, *33*(2), 117. https://doi.org/10.1097/YCO.0000000000000575
- Lam, C. S., Tsang, H. W. H., Corrigan, P. W., Lee, Y.-T., Angell, B., Shi, K., Jin, S., & Larson, J. E. (2010, January 1). *Chinese Lay Theory and Mental Illness Stigma: Implications for Research and Practices. | Journal of Rehabilitation | EBSCOhost.*https://openurl.ebsco.com/contentitem/gcd:48316136?sid=ebsco:plink:crawler&id=ebsco:g
 cd:48316136
- Lasgaard, M., Nielsen, A., Eriksen, M. E., & Goossens, L. (2010). Loneliness and Social Support in Adolescent Boys with Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 40(2), 218–226. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-009-0851-z
- LaValle, C. (2013). Chinese Cultural Factors Impacting the Educational Schooling of Children with Autism in China. *DePaul Discoveries*, 2(1), 256–261.
- Laverty, S. M. (2003). Hermeneutic Phenomenology and Phenomenology: A Comparison of Historical and Methodological Considerations. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 2(3), 21–35. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690300200303
- Law, W.-W. (2020). The Role of the State and State Orthodoxy in Citizenship and Education in China. In A. Peterson, G. Stahl, & H. Soong (Eds.), *The Palgrave Handbook of Citizenship* and Education (pp. 297–314). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-67828-3_16
- Lee, G. T., Xu, S., Feng, H., Lee, G. K., Jin, S., Li, D., & Zhu, S. (2019). An Emotional Skills Intervention for Elementary Children with Autism in China: A Pilot Study. *Journal of*

- *Rational-Emotive & Cognitive-Behavior Therapy*, *37*(2), 113–132. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10942-018-0295-5
- Leedham, A., Thompson, A. R., Smith, R., & Freeth, M. (2020). 'I was exhausted trying to figure it out': The experiences of females receiving an autism diagnosis in middle to late adulthood. *Autism*, 24(1), 135–146. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361319853442
- Leekam, S. R., Prior, M. R., & Uljarevic, M. (2011). Restricted and repetitive behaviors in autism spectrum disorders: A review of research in the last decade. *Psychological Bulletin*, 137(4), 562–593. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023341
- Lengel, T., & Kuczala, M. (2010). *The kinesthetic classroom: Teaching and learning through movement*. Corwin: Regional Training Center.
- Levitt, J. M. (2017). Exploring how the social model of disability can be re-invigorated: In response to Mike Oliver. *Disability & Society*, *32*(4), 589–594.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2017.1300390
- Lewis, L. F. (2016). Exploring the Experience of Self-Diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Disorder in Adults. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing*, *30*(5), 575–580. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnu.2016.03.009
- Li, H., Lin, J., Wu, H., Li, Z., & Han, M. (2021). "How do I survive exclusion?" Voices of students with disabilities at China's top universities. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105738
- Li, K., Zhang, P., Hu, B. Y., Burchinal, M. R., Fan, X., & Qin, J. (2019). Testing the 'thresholds' of preschool education quality on child outcomes in China. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 47, 445–456. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2018.08.003
- Li, X. H. (2015). The social image of the disabled: An analysis of deeds of national role models with disabilities. *Disability Rights Research*, 2(1), 1–20.

- Liao, Y., Dillenburger, K., He, W., Xu, Y., & Cai, H. (2020). A Systematic Review of Applied Behavior Analytic Interventions for Children with Autism in Mainland China. *Review Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 7(4), 333–351.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s40489-020-00196-w
- Libsack, E. J., Keenan, E. G., Freden, C. E., Mirmina, J., Iskhakov, N., Krishnathasan, D., & Lerner, M. D. (2021). A Systematic Review of Passing as Non-autistic in Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 24(4), 783–812. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10567-021-00365-1
- Lin, C. E., & Koegel, R. (2018). Treatment for Higher-Order Restricted Repetitive Behaviors (H-RRB) in Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 48, 3831–3845. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-018-3637-3
- Lin, Z., & Yang, L. (2018). Denial of disability discrimination by disabled people in China.

 Disability & Society, 33(5), 804–809. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2018.1446276
- Lipkin, P. H., Macias, M. M., Baer Chen, B., Coury, D., Gottschlich, E. A., Hyman, S. L., Sisk, B., Wolfe, A., & Levy, S. E. (2020). Trends in Pediatricians' Developmental Screening: 2002–2016. *Pediatrics*, 145(4), e20190851. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2019-0851
- Littlejohn, S., & Foss, K. (2009). *Encyclopedia of Communication Theory*. SAGE Publications, Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412959384
- Liu, X., Sun, X., Sun, C., Zou, M., Chen, Y., Huang, J., Wu, L., & Chen, W.-X. (2022).

 Prevalence of epilepsy in autism spectrum disorders: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Autism*, 26(1), 33–50. https://doi.org/10.1177/13623613211045029
- Liu, Y., Li, J., Zheng, Q., Zaroff, C. M., Hall, B. J., Li, X., & Hao, Y. (2016). Knowledge, attitudes, and perceptions of autism spectrum disorder in a stratified sampling of preschool teachers in China. *BMC Psychiatry*, *16*(1), 142. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-016-0845-2

- Liu, Z., Xie, Q., Zhang, Y., & Wang, X. (2016). Quality of Life of Children with ASD. *Autism-Open Access*, 6(3). https://doi.org/10.4172/2165-7890.1000183
- Livingston, L. A., Carr, B., & Shah, P. (2019). Recent Advances and New Directions in Measuring Theory of Mind in Autistic Adults. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 49, 1738–1744. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-018-3823-3
- Lobe, B., Morgan, D. L., & Hoffman, K. (2022). A Systematic Comparison of In-Person and Video-Based Online Interviewing. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 21, 160940692211270. https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069221127068
- Locke, J., Ishijima, E. H., Kasari, C., & London, N. (2010). Loneliness, friendship quality and the social networks of adolescents with high-functioning autism in an inclusive school setting. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, 10(2), 74–81. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-3802.2010.01148.x
- Locke, J., Olsen, A., Wideman, R., Downey, M. M., Kretzmann, M., Kasari, C., & Mandell, D.
 S. (2015). A Tangled Web: The Challenges of Implementing an Evidence-Based Social
 Engagement Intervention for Children With Autism in Urban Public School Settings.
 Behavior Therapy, 46(1), 54–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2014.05.001
- Love, H. R., & Beneke, M. R. (2021). Pursuing Justice-Driven Inclusive Education Research:

 Disability Critical Race Theory (DisCrit) in Early Childhood. *Topics in Early Childhood*Special Education, 41(1), 31–44. https://doi.org/10.1177/0271121421990833
- Lu, D. Y. (1996). Chinese history of people with disabilities. Xue Lin Press.
- Lu, M., Zou, Y., Chen, X., Chen, J., He, W., & Pang, F. (2020). Knowledge, attitude and professional self-efficacy of Chinese mainstream primary school teachers regarding children with autism spectrum disorder. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 72, 101513. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2020.101513

- Lund, I., Helgeland, A., & Kovac, V. B. (2016). Empirically based analysis of methodological and ethical challenges in research with children as participants: The case of bullying in kindergarten. *Early Child Development and Care*, 186(10), 1531–1543. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2015.1110817
- Lundy, L. (2007). 'Voice' is not enough: Conceptualising Article 12 of the United Nations

 Convention on the Rights of the Child. *British Educational Research Journal*, *33*(6), 927–942. https://doi.org/10.1080/01411920701657033
- Lundy, L., McEvoy, L., & Byrne, B. (2011). Working With Young Children as Co-Researchers:

 An Approach Informed by the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child. *Early Education & Development*, 22(5), 714–736. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2011.596463
- Luyster, R. J., Zane, E., & Wisman Weil, L. (2022). Conventions for unconventional language:

 Revisiting a framework for spoken language features in autism. *Autism & Developmental Language Impairments*, 7, 239694152211054. https://doi.org/10.1177/23969415221105472
- Ma, H. Y., & Tan, H. P. (2010). Shanghaishi suiban jiudu jiaoshi xianzhuang diaocha (A Survey of the Status quo of Shanghai Teachers for Special Students Learning in Regular Classroom). *The Journal of Chinese Special Education*, 115(1), 60–63.
- Ma, J., & Zhao, K. (2018). International student education in China: Characteristics, challenges, and future trends. *Higher Education*, 76(4), 735–751. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-018-0235-4
- Macmillan, C. M., Pecora, L. A., Ridgway, K., Hooley, M., Thomson, M., Dymond, S.,
 Donaldson, E., Mesibov, G. B., & Stokes, M. A. (2023). An Evaluation of Education-Based
 Interventions for Students with Autism Spectrum Disorders Without Intellectual Disability:
 A Systematic Review. *Review Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 10(2),
 220–238. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40489-021-00289-0

- Maguire, M., & Delahunt, B. (2017). Doing a thematic analysis: A practical, step-by-step guide for learning and teaching scholars. ,. *AISHE-J: The All Ireland Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*, 9(3). https://ojs.aishe.org/index.php/aishe-j/article/view/335
- Maljaars, J., Noens, I., Scholte, E., & van Berckelaer-Onnes, I. (2012). Language in Low-Functioning Children with Autistic Disorder: Differences Between Receptive and Expressive Skills and Concurrent Predictors of Language. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 42, 2181–2191. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-012-1476-1
- Malterud, K. (2001). Qualitative research: Standards, challenges, and guidelines. *The Lancet*, 358(9280), 483–488. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(01)05627-6
- Mancil, G. R., & Pearl, C. E. (2008). Restricted Interests as Motivators: Improving Academic Engagement and Outcomes of Children on the Autism Spectrum. *TEACHING Exceptional Children Plus*, 4(6), 1–15.
- Martin, T., Dixon, R., Verenikina, I., & Costley, D. (2021). Transitioning primary school students with Autism Spectrum Disorder from a special education setting to a mainstream classroom: Successes and difficulties. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 25(5), 640–655. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2019.1568597
- Martiny, K. M. (2015a). Embodying Investigations of Cerebral Palsy: A Case of Open Cognitive Science [Doctoral thesis, University of Copenhagen].

 http://rgdoi.net/10.13140/RG.2.1.1193.7529
- Martiny, K. M. (2015b). How to develop a phenomenological model of disability. *Medicine*, *Health Care and Philosophy*, *18*(4), 553–565. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11019-015-9625-x
- Martiny, K. M., & Aggerholm, K. (2016). Embodying cognition: Working with self-control in cerebral palsy. *The Cognitive Behaviour Therapist*, 9.

 https://doi.org/10.1017/S1754470X16000192

- Matson, J. L., Wilkins, J., Smith, K., & Ancona, M. (2008). PDD-NOS Symptoms in Adults with Intellectual Disability: Toward an Empirically Oriented Diagnostic Model. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *38*, 530–537. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-007-0422-0
- Matthews, N. L., & Goldberg, W. A. (2016). Theory of mind in children with and without autism spectrum disorder: Associations with the sibling constellation. *Autism*, 22(3), 311–321. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361316674438
- May, K. E., & Kana, R. K. (2020). Frontoparietal Network in Executive Functioning in Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Autism Research*, *13*(10), 1762–1777. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.2403
- Mazurek, M. O. (2014). Loneliness, friendship, and well-being in adults with autism spectrum disorders. *Autism*, *18*(3), 223–232. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361312474121
- McCabe, H. (2007). Parent Advocacy in the Face of Adversity: Autism and Families in the People's Republic of China. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 22(1), 39–50. https://doi.org/10.1177/10883576070220010501
- McCabe, H. (2013). Bamboo shoots after the rain: Development and challenges of autism intervention in China. *Autism*, *17*(5), 510–526. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361312436849
- McCabe-Hobart, H. (2008). Autism and Family in the People's Republic of China: Learning from Parents' Perspectives. *Research and Practice for Persons with Severe Disabilities*, 33(1–2), 37–47. https://doi.org/10.2511/rpsd.33.1-2.37
- McCormack, L., Wong, S. W., & Campbell, L. E. (2023). 'If I don't Do It, I'm Out of Rhythm and I Can't Focus As Well': Positive and Negative Adult Interpretations of Therapies Aimed at 'Fixing' Their Restricted and Repetitive Behaviours in Childhood. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 53(9), 3435–3448. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-022-05644-6

- McDaniel, S. L., Hall, L. J., & Kraemer, B. K. (2022). Exploring Extracurricular Clubs for Building Social Competence of Students With Autism. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *13*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2022.840294
- McDougal, E., Riby, D. M., & Hanley, M. (2020). Teacher insights into the barriers and facilitators of learning in autism—ScienceDirect. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2020.101674
- McManus Holroyd, A. E. (2007). Interpretative hermeneutic phenomenology: Clarifying understanding. *The Indo-Pacific Journal of Phenomenology*, 7(2), 1–12. https://journals.co.za/doi/epdf/10.10520/AJA14457377_58
- McVey, A. J., Jones, D. R., Waisman, T. C., Raymaker, D. M., Nicolaidis, C., & Maddox, B. B. (2023). Mindshift in autism: A call to professionals in research, clinical, and educational settings. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *14*, 1251058. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1251058
- Meekosha, H., & Shuttleworth, R. (2009). What's so 'critical' about critical disability studies?

 Australian Journal of Human Rights, 15(1), 47–75.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/1323238X.2009.11910861
- Meindl, J. N., Delgado, D., & Casey, L. B. (2020). Increasing engagement in students with autism in inclusion classrooms. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 111, 104854. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.104854
- Mercier, C., Mottron, L., & Belleville, S. (2000). A Psychosocial Study on Restricted Interests in High Functioning Persons with Pervasive Developmental Disorders. *Autism*, *4*(4), 406–425. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361300004004006
- Millichap, J. G. (1988). Epilepsy in Autism. *Pediatric Neurology Briefs*, 43–44. https://doi.org/10.15844/pedneurbriefs-2-6-6

- Milton, D. (2016). Re-thinking autism: Diagnosis, identity and equality: Re-thinking autism: diagnosis, identity and equality, edited by Katherine Runswick-Cole, Rebecca Mallet and Sami Timimi, London, Jessica Kingsley Publishers, 2016, 336 pp., £18.99 (paperback), ISBN 978-1-78-450027-6. *Disability & Society*, *31*(10), 1413–1415. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2016.1221666
- Milton, D. (2017). A Mismatch of Salience: Explorations of the nature of autism from theory to practice. Hove, UK: Pavilion Publishing and Media Ltd.
- Milton, D., & Ryan, S. (Eds.). (2023). *The Routledge international handbook of critical autism studies*. Routledge.
- Minich, J. A. (2016). Enabling Whom? Critical Disability Studies Now. *Lateral*, *5*(1). http://csalateral.org/issue/5-1/forum-alt-humanities-critical-disability-studies-now-minich/
- Minichiello, V., Aroni, R., & Hays, T. N. (2008). *In-depth interviewing: Principles, techniques, analysis* (3rd ed). Pearson Education Australia.
- Minshew, N. J., & Payton, J. B. (1988). New perspectives in autism, part I: The clinical spectrum of autism—ScienceDirect. *Pediatric and Adolescent Health Care*, *18*(10), 567–610. https://doi.org/10.1016/0045-9380(88)90021-7
- Mishna, F., Antle, B. J., & Regehr, C. (2004). Tapping the Perspectives of Children: Emerging Ethical Issues in Qualitative Research. *Qualitative Social Work*, *3*(4), 449–468. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325004048025
- Mladenov, T. (2016). Disability and social justice. *Disability & Society*, *31*(9), 1226–1241. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2016.1256273
- Monk, R., Whitehouse, A. J. O., & Waddington, H. (2022). The use of language in autism research. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 45(11), 791–793.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2022.08.009

- Morris, J. (1991). *Pride against prejudice: Transforming attitudes to disability*. New Society Publishers.
- Morse, J. M. (2018). Reframing rigor in qualitative inquiry. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *The SAGE handbook of qualitative research* (5th ed., pp. 796–817). SAGE.
- Murray, D. (2021). Monotropism: An Interest-Based Account of Autism. In F. R. Volkmar (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Autism Spectrum Disorders* (pp. 2954–2956). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-91280-6_102269
- Murray, D., Lesser, M., & Lawson, L. (2005). Attention, monotropism and the diagnostic criteria for autism. *Autism*, *9*, 139–156.
- Mutua, K., & Smith, R. (2016). Disrupting normalcy and the practical concerns of classroom teachers. In S. Danforth & S. L. Gabel (Eds.), *Vital questions facing disability studies in education* (Second edition, pp. 121–132). Peter Lang.
- Namey, E., Guest, G., O'Regan, A., Godwin, C. L., Taylor, J., & Martinez, A. (2020). How Does Mode of Qualitative Data Collection Affect Data and Cost? Findings from a Quasi-experimental Study. *Field Methods*, *32*(1), 58–74. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X19886839
- Narzisi, A., Muratori, F., Calderoni, S., Fabbro, F., & Urgesi, C. (2013). Neuropsychological Profile in High Functioning Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 43, 1895–1909. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-012-1736-0
- Nassaji, H. (2020). Good qualitative research. *Language Teaching Research*, 24(4), 427–431. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362168820941288
- National Autistic Society. (2022). *What is autism*. What Is Autism? National Autistic Society. https://www.autism.org.uk/advice-and-guidance/what-is-autism

- Neubauer, B. E., Witkop, C. T., & Varpio, L. (2019). How phenomenology can help us learn from the experiences of others. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 8(2), 90–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/S40037-019-0509-2
- Nha, V. T. T. (2021). Understanding validity and reliability from qualitative and quantitative research traditions. *VNU Journal of Foreign Studies*, *37*(3). https://doi.org/10.25073/2525-2445/vnufs.4672
- Nicolaidis, C., Raymaker, D., Kapp, S. K., Baggs, A., Ashkenazy, E., McDonald, K., Weiner, M., Maslak, J., Hunter, M., & Joyce, A. (2019). The AASPIRE practice-based guidelines for the inclusion of autistic adults in research as co-researchers and study participants.
 Autism, 23(8), 2007–2019. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361319830523
- Nind, M. (2017). The practical wisdom of inclusive research. *Qualitative Research*, *17*(3), 278–288. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794117708123
- Norwich, B. (2014). How does the capability approach address current issues in special educational needs, disability and inclusive education field? *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, *14*(1), 16–21. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-3802.12012
- Noterdaeme, M., Wriedt, E., & Höhne, C. (2010). Asperger's syndrome and high-functioning autism: Language, motor and cognitive profiles. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 19(6), 475–481. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-009-0057-0
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic Analysis: Striving to Meet the Trustworthiness Criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *16*(1), 160940691773384. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847
- Obeid, R., Daou, N., DeNigris, D., Shane-Simpson, C., Brooks, P. J., & Gillespie-Lynch, K. (2015). A Cross-Cultural Comparison of Knowledge and Stigma Associated with Autism Spectrum Disorder Among College Students in Lebanon and the United States. *Journal of*

- Autism and Developmental Disorders, 45(11), 3520–3536. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-015-2499-1
- O'Dell, L., Bertilsdotter Rosqvist, H., Ortega, F., Brownlow, C., & Orsini, M. (2016). Critical autism studies: Exploring epistemic dialogues and intersections, challenging dominant understandings of autism. *Disability & Society*, *31*(2), 166–179. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2016.1164026
- Oliveira, M., Bitencourt, C., Teixeira, E., & Santos, A. C. (2013). Thematic Content Analysis: Is There a Difference Between the Support Provided by the MAXQDA and NVivo Software Packages? In I. Ramos & A. Mesquita (Eds.), *Proceedings of the 12th European Conference on Research Methods: ECRM 2013* (pp. 304–311). Academic Publishing and Conferences International.
- Oliver, M. (1996). The Social Model in Context. In M. Oliver, *Understanding Disability* (pp. 30–42). Macmillan Education UK. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-349-24269-6_4
- Oliver, M. (2013). The social model of disability: Thirty years on. *Disability & Society*, 28(7), 1024–1026. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2013.818773
- Oliver, M., Sapey, B., & Thomas, P. (2012). *Social work with disabled people* (4th ed). Palgrave Macmillan.
- O'Reilly, M., Lester, J. N., & Kiyimba, N. (2020a). Autism in the Twentieth Century: An Evolution of a Controversial Condition. In S. J. Taylor & A. Brumby (Eds.), *Healthy Minds in the Twentieth Century: In and Beyond the Asylum* (pp. 137–165). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-27275-3_7
- O'Reilly, M., Lester, J. N., & Kiyimba, N. (2020b). Autism in the Twentieth Century: An Evolution of a Controversial Condition. In S. J. Taylor & A. Brumby (Eds.), *Healthy Minds*

- *in the Twentieth Century* (pp. 137–165). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-27275-3_7
- Ormston, R., Spencer, L., Barnard, M., & Snape, D. (2014). The Foundations of Qualitative Research. In J. Ritchie, J. Lewis, C. McNaughton Nicholls, & R. Ormston (Eds.), *Qualitative research practice: A guide for social science students and researchers* (2. ed, pp. 1–27). Sage.
- Osburg, J. (2020). *Anxious Wealth: Money and Morality Among China's New Rich*. Stanford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1515/9780804785358
- Oyler, C. (2011). Teacher Preparation for Inclusive and Critical (Special) Education. *Teacher Education and Special Education: The Journal of the Teacher Education Division of the Council for Exceptional Children*, 34(3), 201–218.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0888406411406745
- Ozonoff, S., Cook, I., Coon, H., Dawson, G., Joseph, R. M., Klin, A., McMahon, W. M., Minshew, N. J., Munson, J. A., Pennington, B. F., Rogers, S. J., Spence, M. A., Tager-Flusberg, H., Volkmar, F. R., & Wrathall, D. (2004). Performance on Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Automated Battery Subtests Sensitive to Frontal Lobe Function in People with Autistic Disorder: Evidence from the Collaborative Programs of Excellence in Autism Network. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *34*, 139–150. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JADD.0000022605.81989.cc
- Parekh, G. (2024). Ableism in education: Rethinking school practices and policies. Routledge.

- Parsloe, S. M. (2015). Discourses of Disability, Narratives of Community: Reclaiming an Autistic Identity Online. *Journal of Applied Communication Research*, 43(3), 336–356. https://doi.org/10.1080/00909882.2015.1052829
- Parsons, L., Cordier, R., Munro, N., & Joosten, S. (2017). A systematic review of pragmatic language interventions for children with autism spectrum disorder | PLOS ONE. *PLoS ONE*, 12(4), 1–37. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0172242
- Patten Koenig, K., & Hough Williams, L. (2017). Characterization and Utilization of Preferred Interests: A Survey of Adults on the Autism Spectrum. *Occupational Therapy in Mental Health*, *33*(2), 129–140. https://doi.org/10.1080/0164212X.2016.1248877
- Pearson, A., Rose, K., & Rees, J. (2023). 'I felt like I deserved it because I was autistic':

 Understanding the impact of interpersonal victimisation in the lives of autistic people.

 Autism, 27(2), 500–511. https://doi.org/10.1177/13623613221104546
- Peel, K. L. (2020). A Beginner's Guide to Applied Educational Research using Thematic Analysis. *Practical Assessment, Research, and Evaluation*, 25(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.7275/RYR5-K983
- Pellicano, E. (2007). Links between theory of mind and executive function in young children with autism: Clues to developmental primacy. *Developmental Psychology*, *43*(4), 974–990. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.43.4.974
- Pellicano, E., Dinsmore, A., & Charman, T. (2014a). Views on Researcher-Community

 Engagement in Autism Research in the United Kingdom: A Mixed-Methods Study. *PLoS*ONE, 9(10), e109946. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0109946
- Pellicano, E., Dinsmore, A., & Charman, T. (2014b). What should autism research focus upon? Community views and priorities from the United Kingdom. *Autism*, *18*(7), 756–770. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361314529627

- Pellicano, E., Lawson, W., Hall, G., Mahony, J., Lilley, R., Heyworth, M., Clapham, H., & Yudell, M. (2022). "I Knew She'd Get It, and Get Me": Participants' Perspectives of a Participatory Autism Research Project. *Autism in Adulthood*, 4(2), 120–129. https://doi.org/10.1089/aut.2021.0039
- Pesonen, H. V., Äikäs, A., Viljamaa, E., Heiskanen, N., Syrjämäki, M., & Kärnä, E. (2023). Professionals' stories of supporting belonging for autistic children in Finnish early childhood education and care. *Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood*, 1. https://doi.org/10.1177/146394912312129
- Petersson-Bloom, L., & Holmqvist, M. (2022). Strategies in supporting inclusive education for autistic students—A systematic review of qualitative research results. *Autism & Developmental Language Impairments*, 7. https://doi.org/10.1177/23969415221123429
- Petitmengin, C. (2017). Enaction as a Lived Experience Towards a Radical Neurophenomenology. *Constructivist Foundations*, 11(2), 138–147.
- Pickard, H., Pellicano, E., den Houting, J., & Crane, L. (2022). Participatory autism research: Early career and established researchers' views and experiences. *Autism*, 26(1), 75–87. https://doi.org/10.1177/13623613211019594
- Pires, J., & Duarte, M. (2019). Gaokao: Far more than an exam. *Revista Diadorim*, 21, 168–185. https://doi.org/10.35520/diadorim.2019.v21nEspa27418
- Poed, S., & Fox, R. A. (2023). Identifying and removing ableism from Tier 1 school-wide positive behaviour support practices. *International Journal of Developmental Disabilities*, 69(1), 83–94. https://doi.org/10.1080/20473869.2022.2111969
- Poland, B. D. (2002). Transcription Quality. In J. Gubrium & J. Holstein (Eds.), *Handbook of Interview Research: Context and Method* (pp. 629–650). SAGE.

 https://books.google.com.hk/books?hl=en&lr=&id=uQMUMQJZU4gC&oi=fnd&pg=PP11

- &dq=Poland,+Blake+D.+2002.+%E2%80%9CTranscription+Quality.%E2%80%9D+In+H
 andbook+of+Interview+Research:+Context+and+Method,+edited+by+Jaber+Gubrium+an
 d+James+Holstein,+629%E2%80%93650.+London:+Sage.&ots=V08dI1W6J&sig=biW_nuYrHu0Yjlap1ixtRHWMCXA&redir_esc=y#v=onepage&q&f=false
- Poole, A. (2018). 'We Are a Chinese School': Constructing School Identity from the Lived Experiences of Expatriate and Chinese Teaching Faculty in a Type C International School in Shanghai, China. *International Journal of Progressive Education*, *14*(1), 105–121. https://doi.org/EJ1170069
- Poole, A. (2020). Decoupling Chinese internationalised schools from normative constructions of the international school. *Compare: A Journal of Comparative and International Education*, 50(3), 447–454. https://doi.org/10.1080/03057925.2019.1682839
- Pothier, D., & Devlin, Richard. F. (Eds.). (2006). *Critical disability theory: Essays in philosophy, politics, policy, and law*. UBC Press.
- Potter, J., & Hepburn, A. (2005). Qualitative interviews in psychology: Problems and possibilities. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 2(4), 281–307. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088705qp045oa
- Preece, D. (2002). Consultation with children with autistic spectrum disorders about their experience of short-term residential care. *British Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *30*(3), 97–104. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1468-3156.2002.00179.x
- Preece, D., & Howley, M. (2018). An approach to supporting young people with autism spectrum disorder and high anxiety to re-engage with formal education the impact on young people and their families. *International Journal of Adolescence and Youth*, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673843.2018.1433695

- Preece, D., & Jordan, R. (2010). Obtaining the views of children and young people with autism spectrum disorders about their experience of daily life and social care support. *British Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 38(1), 10–20. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-3156.2009.00548.x
- Prelock, P. J., & Nelson, N. W. (2012). Language and Communication in Autism: An Integrated View. *Pediatric Clinics*, 59(1), 129–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcl.2011.10.008
- Procyshyn, A. (2020). Phenomenology and critical theory. In D. De Santis, B. C. Hopkins, & C. Majolino (Eds.), *The Routledge handbook of phenomenology and phenomenological philosophy* (pp. 667–681). Routledge.
- Puar, J. K. (2017). The right to maim: Debility, capacity, disability. Duke University Press.
- Pukki, H., Bettin, J., Outlaw, A. G., Hennessy, J., Brook, K., Dekker, M., Doherty, M., Shaw, S.
 C. K., Bervoets, J., Rudolph, S., Corneloup, T., Derwent, K., Lee, O., Rojas, Y. G.,
 Lawson, W., Gutierrez, M. V., Petek, K., Tsiakkirou, M., Suoninen, A., ... Yoon, W.-H.
 (2022). Autistic Perspectives on the Future of Clinical Autism Research. *Autism in Adulthood*, 4(2), 93–101. https://doi.org/10.1089/aut.2022.0017
- Qi, C., Wang, Y., Lai, J., & Jiao, Y. (2023). Hidden hurt: A qualitative study of the microaggressions experienced by disabled children in education in China. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2023.106200
- Qu, X. (2022a). Confucianism and human rights—Exploring the philosophical base for inclusive education for children with disabilities in China. *Disability & Society*, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2022.2143324
- Qu, X. (2022b). Structural barriers to inclusive education for children with special educational needs and disabilities in China. *Journal of Educational Change*, 23(2), 253–276. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10833-021-09426-2

- Qu, Y. (2020). Understanding the body and disability in Chinese contexts. *Disability & Society*, 35(5), 738–759. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2019.1649123
- Rappaport, J. (1984). "Studies in empowerment: Introduction to the issue". In J. Rappaport, C. F. Swift, & R. Hess (Eds.), *Studies in empowerment: Steps toward understanding and action* (pp. 1–7). Haworth Press.
- Rasco, A. (2020). Standardization in education, a device of Neoliberalism. *Journal for Critical Education Policy Studies*, 18(2), 227–255.
- Raulston, T. J., & Hansen, S. G. (2022). Promoting Generalization of Social Skills to Inclusive Play Settings for Children With Autism and Their Peers. *TEACHING Exceptional Children*, *54*(6), 434–439. https://doi.org/10.1177/00400599211025550
- Reaume, G. (2014). Understanding critical disability studies. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 186(16), 1248–1249. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.141236
- Resnik, D. B. (2020, December 23). What Is Ethics in Research & Why Is It Important?

 [Government Website]. National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences.

 https://www.niehs.nih.gov/research/resources/bioethics/whatis
- Ripamonti, L. (2016). Disability, Diversity, and Autism: Philosophical Perspectives on Health. *The New Bioethics*, 22(1), 56–70. https://doi.org/10.1080/20502877.2016.1151256
- Rivet, T. T., & Matson, J. L. (2011). Review of gender differences in core symptomatology in autism spectrum disorders. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, *5*(3), 957–976. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2010.12.003
- Roberts, J., & Simpson, K. (2016). A review of research into stakeholder perspectives on inclusion of students with autism in mainstream schools. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 20(10), 1084–1096. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2016.1145267

- Roberts, J., & Webster, A. (2022). Including students with autism in schools: A whole school approach to improve outcomes for students with autism. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 26(7), 701–718. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2020.1712622
- Robinson, O. C. (2014). Sampling in Interview-Based Qualitative Research: A Theoretical and Practical Guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 11(1), 25–41. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2013.801543
- Rood, C. E., & Ashby, C. (2020). Losing hope for change: Socially just and disability studies in education educators' choice to leave public schools. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 24(2), 130–146. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2018.1452054
- Rose, J., & Johnson, C. W. (2020). Contextualizing reliability and validity in qualitative research: Toward more rigorous and trustworthy qualitative social science in leisure research. *Journal of Leisure Research*, *51*(4), 432–451.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.2020.1722042
- Rosen, N. E., Lord, C., & Volkmar, F. R. (2021). The Diagnosis of Autism: From Kanner to DSM-III to DSM-5 and Beyond. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *51*(12), 4253–4270. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-021-04904-1
- Rotheram-Fuller, E., Kasari, C., Chamberlain, B., & Locke, J. (2010). Social involvement of children with autism spectrum disorders in elementary school classrooms. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *51*(11), 1227–1234. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2010.02289.x
- Routel, C. (2012). Special Education Teacher Preparation and Student Outcomes: How the Infusion of Disability Studies Can Create Change. *PowerPlay*, *5*(1), 392–429.
- Rowe, A. (2014). Situating the Self in Prison Research: Power, Identity, and Epistemology.

 Qualitative Inquiry, 20(4), 404–416. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800413515830

- Runswick-Cole, K., Mallett, R., & Timimi, S. (Eds.). (2016). *Re-thinking autism: Diagnosis, identity and equality*. Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Russell, A., Scriney, A., & Smyth, S. (2023). Educator Attitudes Towards the Inclusion of Students with Autism Spectrum Disorders in Mainstream Education: A Systematic Review.

 Review Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 10(3), 477–491.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s40489-022-00303-z
- Russell, K. M., Frost, K. M., & Ingersoll, B. (2019). The relationship between subtypes of repetitive behaviors and anxiety in children with autism spectrum disorder. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 62, 48–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2019.03.006
- Rutter, M. (1968). Concepts of autism: A review of research. *Child Psychology & Psychiatry & Allied Disciplines*, 9(1), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.1968.tb02204.x
- Saggers, B., & Carrington, S. (2021). Moving from a special education model to an inclusive education model: Implications for supporting students on the autism spectrum in inclusive settings An evidence-based approach. In *Supporting Students on the Autism Spectrum in Inclusive Schools*. Routledge.
- Sagoe, D. (2012). Precincts and Prospects in the Use of Focus Groups in Social and Behavioral Science Research. *The Qualitative Report*, *17*, 1–16.

 https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ974852.pdf
- Sandoval-Norton, E. H., Shkedy, G., & Shkedy, D. (2019). How much compliance is too much compliance: Is long-term ABA therapy abuse? *Clinical Psychology and Neuropsychology*, 6, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311908.2019.1641258Page 2 of 8
- Sarrett, J. (2012). Autistic Human Rights-A Proposal. *Disability Studies Quarterly*, 32(4). https://doi.org/10.18061/dsq.v32i4.3247

- Saunders, B., Kitzinger, J., & Kitzinger, C. (2015). Anonymising interview data: Challenges and compromise in practice. *Qualitative Research*, *15*(5), 616–632.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794114550439
- Saunders, M. (2006). The 'presence' of evaluation theory and practice in educational and social development: Toward an inclusive approach. London Review of Education, 4(2). https://doi.org/10.1080/14748460600855526
- Saunders, M. N. K., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2012). *Research methods for business students* (6th ed). Pearson.
- Sawaya, H., McGonigle-Chalmers, M., & Kusel, I. (2021). Identifying set-switching difficulties in autism spectrum disorder using a rule following task. *International Journal of Developmental Disabilities*, 67(4), 245–255.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/20473869.2019.1580473
- Schaeffer, J., Abd El-Raziq, M., Castroviejo, E., Durrleman, S., Ferré, S., Grama, I., Hendriks,
 P., Kissine, M., Manenti, M., Marinis, T., Meir, N., Novogrodsky, R., Perovic, A., Panzeri,
 F., Silleresi, S., Sukenik, N., Vicente, A., Zebib, R., Prévost, P., & Tuller, L. (2023).
 Language in autism: Domains, profiles and co-occurring conditions. *Journal of Neural Transmission*, 130, 433–457. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00702-023-02592-y
- Schwartz-Shea, P., & Yanow, D. (2020). Interpretivism. In P. Atkinson, S. Delamont, A. Cernat, J. W. Sakshaug, & R. A. Williams (Eds.), *SAGE Research Methods Foundations*. SAGE Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781526421036915455
- Scotland, J. (2012). Exploring the Philosophical Underpinnings of Research: Relating Ontology and Epistemology to the Methodology and Methods of the Scientific, Interpretative, and Critical Research Paradigms. *English Language Teaching*, *5*(9), 9–16.

 https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v5n9p9

- Sellick, T., Ure, A., & Williams, K. (2021). Repetitive and restricted behaviours and anxiety in autism spectrum disorder: Protocol for a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Systematic Reviews*, 10, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-021-01830-2
- Seltzer, M. M., Krauss, M. W., Shattuck, P. T., Orsmond, G., Swe, A., & Lord, C. (2003). The Symptoms of Autism Spectrum Disorders in Adolescence and Adulthood. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 33(6), 565–581. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JADD.0000005995.02453.0b
- Shadish, W. R., Zelinsky, N. A. M., Vevea, J. L., & Kratochwill, T. R. (2016). A survey of publication practices of single-case design researchers when treatments have small or large effects. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 49(3), 656–673.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.308
- Shah, K. (2001). What Do Medical Students Know about Autism? *Autism*, *5*(2), 127–133. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361301005002003
- Shahamiri, S. R., & Thabtah, F. (2020). Autism AI: A New Autism Screening System Based on Artificial Intelligence. *Cognitive Computation*, *12*(4), 766–777. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12559-020-09743-3
- Shakespeare, T., & Watson, N. (1997). Defending the Social Model. *Disability & Society*, *12*(2), 293–300. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599727380
- Shambaugh, D. L. (2008). *China's Communist Party: Atrophy and adaptation*. Woodrow Wilson Center Press University of California Press.
- Shamsi, F., Hosseini, S., Tahamtan, M., & Masoumeh, B. (2017). Methodology Report: The Impaired Theory of Mind in Autism Spectrum Disorders and the Possible Remediative Role of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation. *Journal of Advanced Medical Sciences and Applied Technologies*, *3*, 175–178. https://doi.org/10.32598/jamsat.3.3.175.

- Shang, X., Fisher, K. R., & Xie, J. (2011). Discrimination against children with disability in China: Children with disability in China. *International Journal of Social Welfare*, 20(3), 298–308. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2397.2009.00666.x
- Shattuck, P. T., Seltzer, M. M., Greenberg, J. S., Orsmond, G. I., Bolt, D., Kring, S., Lounds, J., & Lord, C. (2007). Change in Autism Symptoms and Maladaptive Behaviors in Adolescents and Adults with an Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 37(9), 1735–1747. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-006-0307-7
- Sheffer, E. (2018). *Asperger's children: The origins of autism in Nazi Vienna* (1st ed). W.W. Norton & company.
- Shi, Y., Shen, X., Wang, T., Li, C., & Wang. A. (2021). Dialogic teaching of controversial public issues in a Chinese middle school. *Learning, Culture and Social Interaction*, 30(1), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lcsi.2021.100533
- Shildrick, M. (2012). "Critical disability studies: Rethinking the conventions for the age of postmodernity". In N. Watson, A. Roulstone, & C. Thomas (Eds.), *Routledge handbook of disability studies* (First issued in paperback). Routledge.
- Shildrick, M. (2015). "Why Should Our Bodies End at the Skin?": Embodiment, Boundaries, and Somatechnics. *Hypatia*, *30*(1), 13–29. https://doi.org/10.1111/hypa.12114
- Shirk, S. L. (2021). *Competitive Comrades: Career Incentives and Student Strategies in China*. University of California Press.
- Shuval, K., Harker, K., Roudsari, B., Groce, N. E., Mills, B., Siddiqi, Z., & Shachak, A. (2011).

 Is Qualitative Research Second Class Science? A Quantitative Longitudinal Examination of Qualitative Research in Medical Journals. *PLOS ONE*, *6*(2), e16937.

 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0016937

- Silberman, S. (2015). *Neurotribes 9780399185618*. Retrieved 26 March 2024, from https://www.penguinrandomhouse.com/books/310415/neurotribes-by-steve-silberman-foreword-by-oliver-sacks/
- Smith, J. A., Flowers, P., & Larkin, M. (2009). *Interpretative phenomenological analysis:*Theory, method and research. SAGE.
- Smith, O., & Jones, S. C. (2020). 'Coming Out' with Autism: Identity in People with an Asperger's Diagnosis After DSM-5. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 50(2), 592–602. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-019-04294-5
- Smith, P. C. (1991). Hermeneutics and human finitude: Toward a theory of ethical understanding. Fordham University Press.
- Soulières, I., Dawson, M., Gernsbacher, M. A., & Mottron, L. (2011). The Level and Nature of Autistic Intelligence II: What about Asperger Syndrome? *PLOS ONE*, *6*(9), e25372. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0025372
- Spencer, L. G., & Kulbaga, T. A. (2018). Trigger warnings as respect for student boundaries in university classrooms. *Journal of Curriculum and Pedagogy*, *15*(1), 106–122. https://doi.org/10.1080/15505170.2018.1438936
- Stein, N. (2015). A Society Disabled: State of the Right to Education for People with Disabilities in China. *International Law and Politics*, 47(501), 501–527.
- Stephenson, J., Browne, L., Carter, M., Clark, T., Costley, D., Martin, J., Williams, K., Bruck,
 S., Davies, L., & Sweller, N. (2021). Facilitators and Barriers to Inclusion of Students With
 Autism Spectrum Disorder: Parent, Teacher, and Principal Perspectives. *Australasian Journal of Special and Inclusive Education*, 45(1), 1–17.
 https://doi.org/10.1017/jsi.2020.12

- Stokes, M. A., Thomson, M., Macmillan, C. M., Pecora, L., Dymond, S. R., & Donaldson, E.
 (2017). Principals' and Teachers' Reports of Successful Teaching Strategies With Children
 With High-Functioning Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Canadian Journal of School Psychology*, 32(3–4), 192–208. https://doi.org/10.1177/0829573516672969
- Sulaimani, M. F., & Gut, D. M. (2019). Hidden Curriculum in a Special Education Context: The Case of Individuals with Autism. *Journal of Educational Research and Practice*, 9(1), 30–39.
- Sullivan, O. A., & Wang, C. (2020). Autism Spectrum Disorder Interventions in Mainland
 China: A Systematic Review. *Review Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*,
 7(3), 263–277. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40489-019-00191-w
- Sultana, F. (2017). Reflexivity, Positionality and Participatory Ethics: Negotiating Fieldwork Dilemmas in International Research. *ACME: An International E-Journal for Critical Geographies*, 6(3), 374–385.
- Sultana, R. G. (2014). Pessimism of the intellect, optimism of the will? Troubling the relationship between career guidance and social justice. *International Journal for Educational and Vocational Guidance*, *14*(1), 5–19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10775-013-9262-y
- Sun, Q. (2008). Confucian educational philosophy and its implication for lifelong learning and lifelong education. *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, 27(5), 559–578. https://doi.org/10.1080/01411920802343269
- Sun, X., Allison, C., Auyeung, B., Baron-Cohen, S., & Brayne, C. (2013). A review of healthcare service and education provision of Autism Spectrum Condition in mainland China. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 34(1), 469–479. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2012.08.013

- Sun, X., Allison, C., Matthews, F. E., Zhang, Z., Auyeung, B., Baron-Cohen, S., & Brayne, C. (2015). Exploring the Underdiagnosis and Prevalence of Autism Spectrum Conditions in B eijing. *Autism Research*, 8(3), 250–260. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.1441
- Sun, X., Allison, C., Wei, L., Matthews, F. E., Auyeung, B., Wu, Y. Y., Griffiths, S., Zhang, J., Baron-Cohen, S., & Brayne, C. (2019). Autism prevalence in China is comparable to Western prevalence. *Molecular Autism*, 10(1), 250–260. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13229-018-0246-0
- Sundler, A. J., Lindberg, E., Nilsson, C., & Palmér, L. (2019). Qualitative thematic analysis based on descriptive phenomenology. *Nursing Open*, nop2.275.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/nop2.275
- Swain, D., Scarpa, A., White, S., & Laugeson, E. (2015). Emotion Dysregulation and Anxiety in Adults with ASD: Does Social Motivation Play a Role? *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 45(12), 3971–3977. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-015-2567-6
- Tai, C., Chang, C.-W., Yu, G.-Q., Lopez, I., Yu, X., Wang, X., Guo, W., & Mucke, L. (2020).

 Tau Reduction Prevents Key Features of Autism in Mouse Models. *Neuron*, *106*(3), 421-437.e11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2020.01.038
- Tan, C., & Tan, L. (2016). A shared vision of human excellence: Confucian spirituality and arts education. *Pastoral Care in Education*, *34*(3), 156–166. https://doi.org/10.1080/02643944.2016.1167109
- Tang, L., & Bie, B. (2016). The stigma of autism in china: An analysis of newspaper portrayals of autism between 2003 and 2012. *Health Communication*, 31(4), 445–452. https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2014.965381
- Tao, K. T. (1982). Diagnosis and attribution of infant autism. *Chinese Journal of Neuropsychiatry*, 15(2), 104–107.

- Teherani, A., Martimianakis, T., Stenfors-Hayes, T., Wadhwa, A., & Varpio, L. (2015).

 Choosing a Qualitative Research Approach. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*, 7(4), 669–670. https://doi.org/10.4300/JGME-D-15-00414.1
- Thomas, A., & Bambara, L. M. (2020). Using Peer-Mediation to Enhance Conversation and Reduce Inappropriate Communication Acts in Adolescents with Autism. *Education and Training in Autism and Developmental Disabilities*, 55(2), 185–200.
- Thomas, C. (1999). Female forms: Experiencing and understanding disability. Open University Press.
- Thomas, C. (2007). Sociologies of disability and illness: Contested ideas in disability studies and medical sociology. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Thomas, C. (2010). Medical Sociology and Disability Theory. In G. Scambler & S. J. Scambler (Eds.), *New directions in the sociology of chronic and disabling conditions: Assaults on the lifeworld* (pp. 37–56). Palgrave Macmillan.
- Thomas, D. R. (2006). A General Inductive Approach for Analyzing Qualitative Evaluation

 Data. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 27(2), 237–246.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1098214005283748
- Thorne, S. (2000). Data analysis in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, *3*(3), 68–70. https://doi.org/10.1136/ebn.3.3.68
- Tipton, L. A., & Blacher, J. (2014). Brief Report: Autism Awareness: Views from a Campus Community. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 44(2), 477–483. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-013-1893-9
- Tisoncik, L. A. (2020). Autistics.Org and Finding Our Voices as an Activist Movement. In S. K. Kapp (Ed.), *Autistic Community and the Neurodiversity Movement: Stories from the Frontline* (pp. 65–76). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-8437-0_5

- Tong, S. X., Wong, R. W. Y., Kwan, J. L. Y., & Arciuli, J. (2019). Theory of Mind as a Mediator of Reading Comprehension Differences between Chinese School-Age Children with Autism and Typically Developing Peers. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 24(4), 292– 306. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888438.2019.1666133
- Torralva, T., Gleichgerrcht, E., Roca, M., Ibanez, A., Marenco, V., Rattazzi, A., & Manes, F. (2013). Impaired theory of mind but intact decision-making in Asperger syndrome:

 Implications for the relationship between these cognitive domains. *Psychiatry Research*, 205(3), 282–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2012.08.023
- Trainor, L. R., & Bundon, A. (2021). Developing the craft: Reflexive accounts of doing reflexive thematic analysis. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, *13*(5), 705–726. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2020.1840423
- Tremain, S. (2017). *Foucault and feminist philosophy of disability*. University of Michigan Press.
- Trent, J. (2020). Wither teacher professional development? The challenges of learning teaching and constructing identities across boundaries in China. *Asia Pacific Journal of Education*, 40(3), 315–329. https://doi.org/10.1080/02188791.2020.1717438
- Uljarević, M., Frazier, T. W., Jo, B., Billingham, W. D., Cooper, M. N., Youngstrom, E. A., Scahill, L., & Hardan, A. Y. (2022). Big Data Approach to Characterize Restricted and Repetitive Behaviors in Autism. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 61(3), 446–457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2021.08.006
- Vehmas, S., & Watson, N. (2014). Moral wrongs, disadvantages, and disability: A critique of critical disability studies. *Disability & Society*, 29(4), 638–650.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2013.831751

- Verhoeff, B. (2015). Fundamental challenges for autism research: The science–practice gap, demarcating autism and the unsuccessful search for the neurobiological basis of autism.

 Medicine, Health Care and Philosophy, 18, 443–447. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11019-015-9636-7
- Vincent, J. (2019). It's the fear of the unknown: Transition from higher education for young autistic adults. *Autism*, 23(6), 1575–1585. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361318822498
- Virues-Ortega, J., Julio, F. M., & Pastor-Barriuso, R. (2013). The TEACCH program for children and adults with autism: A meta-analysis of intervention studies. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *33*(8), 940–953. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2013.07.005
- Volkmar, F. R., & McPartland, J. C. (2014). From Kanner to DSM-5: Autism as an Evolving Diagnostic Concept. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, *10*(Volume 10, 2014), 193–212. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032813-153710
- Wæraas, A. (2022). Thematic Analysis: Making Values Emerge from Texts. In G. Espedal, B.
 J. Løvaas, S. Sirris, & A. Wæraas (Eds.), Researching Values Methodological Approaches for Understanding Values Work in Organisations and Leadership (pp. 153–170). Palgrave Macmillan.
- Waite, D., & Waite, S. F. (2021). The Work of the Neoliberal University: A Critique. In J. Zajda (Ed.), *Third International Handbook of Globalisation, Education and Policy Research* (pp. 171–191). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-66003-1_10
- Walker, D. R., Thompson, A., Zwaigenbaum, L., Goldberg, J., Bryson, S. E., Mahoney, W. J., Strawbridge, C. P., & Szatmari, P. (2004). Specifying PDD-NOS: A Comparison of PDD-NOS, Asperger Syndrome, and Autism. *Journal of the American Academy of Child* &

- Adolescent Psychiatry, 43(2), 172–180. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-200402000-00012
- Waltz, M. (2005). Reading case studies of people with autistic spectrum disorders: A cultural studies approach to issues of disability representation. *Disability & Society*, 20(4), 421–435. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687590500086575
- Waltz, M. (2008). Autism = death: The social and medical impact of a catastrophic medical model of autistic spectrum disorders. *Popular Narrative Media*, *I*(1), 13–23. https://doi.org/10.3828/pnm.1.1.4
- Waltz, M. (2013). The Social Construction of Autism. In M. Waltz, *Autism* (pp. 47–72). Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137328533_4
- Waltz, M. (2014). "Worlds of Autism: Across the Spectrum of Neurological Difference." *Disability & Society*, 29(8), 1337–1338. http://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2014.934064.
- Wang, B., Cao, F., & Boyland, J. T. (2019). Addressing Autism Spectrum Disorders in China:

 Addressing Autism Spectrum Disorders in China. *New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development*, 2019(163), 137–162. https://doi.org/10.1002/cad.20266
- Wang, F., Lu, L., Wang, S.-B., Zhang, L., Ng, C. H., Ungvari, G. S., Cao, X.-L., Lu, J.-P., Hou, C.-L., Jia, F.-J., & Xiang, Y.-T. (2018). The prevalence of autism spectrum disorders in China: A comprehensive meta-analysis. *International Journal of Biological Sciences*, 14(7), 717–725. https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.24063
- Wang, J., Hedley, D., Bury, S. M., & Barbaro, J. (2020). A systematic review of screening tools for the detection of autism spectrum disorder in mainland China and surrounding regions.

 Autism, 24(2), 285–296. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361319871174

- Wang, J., & Nahm, K. (2019). From Confucianism to Communism and Back: Understanding the Cultural Roots of Chinese Politics. *Journal of Asian Sociology*, 48(1), 91–114. http://doi:10.21588/jas/2019.48.1.006
- Wang, L., Peng, J.-L., Qiao, F.-Q., Cheng, W.-M., Lin, G.-W., Zhang, Y., Gao, T.-G., Sun, Y.-Y., Tang, W.-Z., & Wang, P. (2021). Clinical Randomized Controlled Study of
 Acupuncture Treatment on Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD): A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*,
 2021, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/5549849
- Wang, M., Zan, F., Liu, J., Liu, C., & Sharma, U. (2012). A Survey Study of Chinese In-service Teachers' Self-efficacy About Inclusive Education. *Journal of International Special Needs Research*, 15(2), 107–119. https://doi.org/10.9782/2159-4341-15.2.107
- Wang, S., & Yang, F. (2020). Adaptive Social Mobilization in Grassroots Policy

 Implementation: Administrative Control and Multiple Participation. *Social Sciences in China*, 41(4), 85–104. https://doi.org/10.1080/02529203.2020.1844445
- Wang, S.-Y., Parrila, R., & Cui, Y. (2013). Meta-Analysis of Social Skills Interventions of Single-Case Research for Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorders: Results from Three-Level HLM. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 43(7), 1701–1716. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-012-1726-2
- Wang, X. (2010). Education in China Since 1976. McFarland.
- Wang, Z., Lu, T., Li, X., Jiang, M., Jia, M., Liu, J., Zhang, D., Li, J., & Wang, L. (2022).

 Altered Expression of Brain-specific Autism-Associated miRNAs in the Han Chinese

 Population. *Frontiers in Genetics*, *13*, 865881. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2022.865881

- Ward, T. F., & Hoddinott, B. A. (1965). A Study of Childhood Schizophrenia and Early
 Infantile Autism: Part I Description of the Sample. *Canadian Psychiatric Association Journal*, 10(5), 377–382. https://doi.org/10.1177/070674376501000508
- Warin, J. (2011). Ethical Mindfulness and Reflexivity: Managing a Research Relationship With Children and Young People in a 14-Year Qualitative Longitudinal Research (QLR) Study. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 17(9), 805–814. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800411423196
- Watson, N. (2012). Theorising the Lives of Disabled Children: How Can Disability Theory Help? *Children & Society*, 26(3), 192–202. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1099-0860.2012.00432.x
- White, J., McGarry, S., Falkmer, M., Scott, M., Williams, P. J., & Black, M. H. (2023).
 Education Sciences | Free Full-Text | Creating Inclusive Schools for Autistic Students: A
 Scoping Review on Elements Contributing to Strengths-Based Approaches. *Education Sciences*, 13(7), 709. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci13070709
- Williams, M. (2000). Interpretivism and Generalisation. *Sociology*, *34*(2), 209–224. https://doi.org/10.1177/S0038038500000146
- Williams, M., & Moser, T. (2019). The Art of Coding and Thematic Exploration in Qualitative Research. *International Management Review*, *15*(1), 45–55.
- Wilson, C. E., Happé, F., Wheelwright, S., Ecker, C., Lombardo, M. V., Johnston, P., Daly, E.,
 Murphy, C. M., Spain, D., Lai, M.-C., Chakrabati, B., Sauter, D. A., MRC AIMS
 Consortium, Baron-Cohen, S., & Murphy, D. G. M. (2014). The Neuropsychology of Male
 Adults With High-Functioning Autism or Asperger Syndrome. *Autism Research*, 7(5), 568–581. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.1394

- Wing, L. (1988). The continuum of autistic characteristics. In E. Schopler & G. B. Mesibov,

 Diagnosis and assessment in autism (pp. 91–110). Plenum Press.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4899-0792-9_7
- Wolbring, G. (2008). The Politics of Ableism. *Development*, *51*(2), 252–258. https://doi.org/10.1057/dev.2008.17
- Wong, Y.-L. (2022). Student Alienation in Higher Education Under Neoliberalism and Global Capitalism: A Case of Community College Students' Instrumentalism in Hong Kong.

 Community College Review, 50(1), 96–116. https://doi.org/10.1177/00915521211047680
- Wood, R. (2021). Autism, intense interests and support in school: From wasted efforts to shared understandings. *Educational Review*, 73(1), 34–54. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2019.1566213
- Wood, R. (2023). Autism, intense interests and support in school: From wasted efforts to shared understandings. In J. Martin, M. Bowl, & G. Banks, *Mapping the Field: 75 Years of Educational Review, Volume II* (1st ed., pp. 325–346). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003403722
- Wood, R., & Happé, F. (2020). Barriers to tests and exams for autistic pupils: Improving access and longer-term outcomes. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2020.1866685
- Wood-Downie, H., Wong, B., Kovshoff, H., Mandy, W., Hull, L., & Hadwin, J. A. (2021).
 Sex/Gender Differences in Camouflaging in Children and Adolescents with Autism.
 Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 51(4), 1353–1364.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-020-04615-z

- Woods, R. (2017). Exploring how the social model of disability can be re-invigorated for autism: In response to Jonathan Levitt. *Disability & Society*, 32(7), 1090–1095. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2017.1328157
- Woods, R., Milton, D., Arnold, L., & Graby, S. (2018). Redefining Critical Autism Studies: A more inclusive interpretation. *Disability & Society*, 33(6), 974–979. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2018.1454380
- Woods, R., & Waldock, K. E. (2021). Critical Autism Studies. In F. R. Volkmar (Ed.),
 Encyclopedia of Autism Spectrum Disorders (pp. 1240–1248). Springer International
 Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-91280-6_102297
- Woods, R., & Waltz, M. (2019). The strength of autistic expertise and its implications for autism knowledge production: A response to Damian Milton. *Autonomy, the Critical Journal of Interdisciplinary Autism Studies*, 1(6), 1-7.
- World Health Organisation. (2019). *International Statistical Classification of Diseases and**Related Health Problems 10th Revision. ICD-10 Version:2019.

 https://icd.who.int/browse10/2019/en
- World Health Organisation. (2024). *Nternational Statistical Classification of Diseases and**Related Health Problems 11th Revision. International Classification of Diseases 11th

 *Revision. https://icd.who.int/en
- Wright, E., & Lee, M. (2019). Re/producing the global middle class: International Baccalaureate alumni at 'world-class' universities in Hong Kong. *Discourse: Studies in the Cultural Politics of Education*, 40(5), 682–696. https://doi.org/10.1080/01596306.2019.1573880
- Wright, E., Ma, Y., & Auld, E. (2022). Experiments in being global: The cosmopolitan nationalism of international schooling in China. *Globalisation, Societies and Education*, 20(2), 236–249. https://doi.org/10.1080/14767724.2021.1882293

- Xiao, F. (2003). Modernization of concepts: Source of motivation for the development of special education. *Renmin Jiaoyu*, 6, 24–25.
- Xie, R., Sun, X., Yang, L., & Guo, Y. (2020). Characteristic Executive Dysfunction for High-Functioning Autism Sustained to Adulthood. *Autism Research*, *13*(12), 2102–2121. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.2304
- Xie, Y., & Chen, G. (2014). Confucian thoughts on special education in China: Key thoughts and impact. *International Journal on Disability and Human Development*, *I*(1), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1515/ijdhd-2013-0031
- Xu, S. Q., Cooper, P., & Sin, K. (2018). The 'Learning in Regular Classrooms' initiative for inclusive education in China. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 22(1), 54–73. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2017.1348547
- Xu, X., Li, X.-M., Zhang, J., & Wang, W. (2018). Mental Health-Related Stigma in China.
 Issues in Mental Health Nursing, 39(2), 126–134.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/01612840.2017.1368749
- Xu, Y., Yang, J., Yao, J., Chen, J., Zhuang, X., Wang, W., Zhang, X., & Lee, G. T. (2018). A Pilot Study of a Culturally Adapted Early Intervention for Young Children With Autism Spectrum Disorders in China. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 40(1), 52–68. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053815117748408
- Yan, C., & He, C. (2015). 'Short courses shouldn't be short-lived!' Enhancing longer-term impact of short English as a foreign language INSET initiatives in China. *Professional Development in Education*, 41(5), 759–776. https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2014.944671
- Yan, W., Han, Y., & Cai, Y. (2015). Internationalization and Globalization in Chinese K–12 Schools and University Education. In M. Hayden, J. Levy, & J. Thompson, *The SAGE*

- *Handbook of Research in International Education* (pp. 569–582). SAGE Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781473943506.n38
- Yan, X., & Mohd, S. (2023). Trends and Causes of Regional Income Inequality in China. Sustainability, 15(9), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.3390/su15097673
- Yang, L. X. (2009). Residential care to social participation: Evolution of social protection policies of disabled in China. *Social Security Studies*, *4*(1), 67–77.
- Yang, T., Zhu, J., Li, Q., Chen, L., Wu, L.-J., Jia, F.-Y., Hao, Y., Ke, X.-Y., Yi, M.-J., Jin, C.-H., Chen, J., & Li, T. Y. (2021). China Multi-Center Preschool Autism Project (CMPAP):
 Design and Methodologies to Identify Clinical Symptom Features and Biomarkers of
 Autism Spectrum Disorders. Frontiers in Psychiatry, 11, 613519.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.613519
- Yavuz, H. M., Selçuk, B., & Korkmaz, B. (2019). Social competence in children with autism. *International Journal of Developmental Disabilities*, 65(1), 10–19.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/20473869.2017.1346224
- Yen, H.-C., & Wu, Y.-Y. (2015). The Conflict Between Social Mobility and Individual

 Development. In S. Hsu & Y.-Y. Wu (Eds.), *Education as Cultivation in Chinese Culture*(Vol. 26, pp. 201–221). Springer Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-287-224-1 10
- Yi, H., & Siu, Q. K. Y. (2020). "His inner-self must be good": An ethnographic-vignette study of social interactions between children with autism spectrum disorder and typically developing peers. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, *38*(1), 232–255. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407520959456
- Ying, M., & Wright, E. (2023). Outsourced concerted cultivation: International schooling and educational consulting in China. *International Studies in Sociology of Education*, *32*(3), 799–821. https://doi.org/10.1080/09620214.2021.1927143

- Ylönen, M., & Aven, T. (2023). A framework for understanding risk based on the concepts of ontology and epistemology. *Journal of Risk Research*, 26(6), 581–593. https://doi.org/10.1080/13669877.2023.2194892
- You, Y. (2019). The seeming 'round trip' of learner-centred education: A 'best practice' derived from China's New Curriculum Reform? *Comparative Education*, *55*(1), 97–115. https://doi.org/10.1080/03050068.2018.1541662
- Young, K. S., & Mintz, E. (2008). A comparison: Difference, dependency, and stigmatization in special education and disability studies. In S. L. Gabel & S. Danforth (Eds.), *Disability & the politics of education: An international reader* (1st ed., pp. 499–516). Peter Lang.
- Young, N. A. E. (2018). Departing from the beaten path: International schools in China as a response to discrimination and academic failure in the Chinese educational system.

 *Comparative Education, 54(2), 159–180. https://doi.org/10.1080/03050068.2017.1360566
- Yu, L., Stronach, S., & Harrison, A. J. (2020). Public knowledge and stigma of autism spectrum disorder: Comparing China with the United States. *Autism*, 24(6), 1531–1545. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361319900839
- Yu, L., Su, X., & Liu, C. (2011). Issues of teacher education and inclusion in China. *PROSPECTS*, 41(3), 355–369. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11125-011-9204-8
- Yuan, M., Gao, W., Liu, X., & Dervin, F. (2021). ANALYSING LEGISLATION ON INCLUSIVE EDUCATION BEYOND ESSENTIALISM AND CULTURALISM: SPECIFICITIES, OVERLAPS AND GAPS IN FOUR CONFUCIAN HERITAGE REGIONS (CHRS). British Journal of Educational Studies, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071005.2021.1905151

- Zeidan, J., Fombonne, E., Scorah, J., Ibrahim, A., Durkin, M. S., Saxena, S., Yusuf, A., Shih, A., & Elsabbagh, M. (2022). Global prevalence of autism: A systematic review update. *Autism Research*, *15*(5), 778–790. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.2696
- Zhang, C., & Song, B. A. (2012). The enlightenment of experiences of social security for the disabled in western developed countries to China. *Northeast Asia Forum*, 2, 89–95. https://doi.org/: 10.3969/j
- Zhang, D., & Spencer, V. G. (2015). Addressing the Needs of Students with Autism and Other Disabilities in China: Perspectives from the Field. *International Journal of Disability, Development and Education*, 62(2), 168–181.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/1034912X.2014.998175
- Zhang, N. (2014). Web-based backpacking communities and online activism in China: Movement without marching. *China Information*, 28(2), 276–296. https://doi.org/10.1177/0920203X14538384
- Zhang, T. H. (2019). THE RISE OF THE PRINCELINGS IN CHINA: CAREER

 ADVANTAGES AND COLLECTIVE ELITE REPRODUCTION. *Journal of East Asian*Studies, 19(2), 169–196. https://doi.org/10.1017/jea.2019.11
- Zhang, X., Lv, C.-C., Tian, J., Miao, R.-J., Xi, W., Hertz-Picciotto, I., & Qi, L. (2010). Prenatal and Perinatal Risk Factors for Autism in China. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 40(11), 1311–1321. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-010-0992-0
- Zhang, Y., Li, N., Li, C., Zhang, Z., Teng, H., Wang, Y., Zhao, T., Shi, L., Zhang, K., Xia, K., Li, J., & Sun, Z. (2020). Genetic evidence of gender difference in autism spectrum disorder supports the female-protective effect. *Translational Psychiatry*, 10(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-020-0699-8

- Zhang, Y., & Rosen, S. (2018). Confucian philosophy and contemporary Chinese societal attitudes toward people with disabilities and inclusive education. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, 50(12), 1113–1123. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131857.2018.1434505
- Zhao, M., & Fu, W. (2020). The resilience of parents who have children with autism spectrum disorder in China: A social culture perspective. *International Journal of Developmental Disabilities*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1080/20473869.2020.1747761
- Zheng, Q.-L., Tian, Q., Hao, C., Gu, J., Lucas-Carrasco, R., Tao, J.-T., Liang, Z.-Y., Chen, X.-L., Fang, J.-Q., Ruan, J.-H., Ai, Q.-X., & Hao, Y.-T. (2014). The role of quality of care and attitude towards disability in the relationship between severity of disability and quality of life: Findings from a cross-sectional survey among people with physical disability in China. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, *12*(1), 25. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7525-12-25
- Zhi, J. (2011). Living, Acting, and Experiencing Otherwise than We Do: Rethinking China's Laws on the Protection of Persons with Disabilities. *Transnational Law and Contemporary Problems*, 279, 280–302.
- Zhou, M. S., Nasir, M., Farhat, L. C., Kook, M., Artukoglu, B. B., & Bloch, M. H. (2021).
 Meta-analysis: Pharmacologic Treatment of Restricted and Repetitive Behaviors in Autism
 Spectrum Disorders. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*,
 60(1), 35–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2020.03.007
- Zhou, W., Zhang, J., Li, Z., Lin, X., Li, J., Wang, S., Yang, C., Wu, Q., Ye, A. Y., Wang, M., Wang, D., Pu, T. Z., Wu, Y., & Wei, L. (2019). Targeted resequencing of 358 candidate genes for autism spectrum disorder in a Chinese cohort reveals diagnostic potential and genotype–phenotype correlations. *Human Mutation*, 40(6), 801–815.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.23724

- Zhou, Y. (2023). Exploring the Gender Imbalance in Teaching Staff in China: How to Break Gender Stereotypes in Education Industry. *Journal of Education, Humanities and Social Sciences*, 12, 211–216.
- Ziegler, M., Matthews, A., Mayberry, M., Owen-DeSchryver, J., & Carter, E. W. (2020). From Barriers to Belonging: Promoting Inclusion and Relationships Through the Peer to Peer Program. *TEACHING Exceptional Children*, *52*(6), 426–434.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0040059920906519
- Ziegler, S. M. T., & Morrier, M. J. (2022). Increasing Social Interactions of Preschool Children
 With Autism Through Cooperative Outdoor Play. *The Journal of Special Education*, *56*(1),
 49–60. https://doi.org/10.1177/00224669211032556
- Zilli, C., Parsons, S., & Kovshoff, H. (2019). Keys to engagement: A case study exploring the participation of autistic pupils in educational decision-making at school. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 90(3), 770–789. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12331
- Zwozdiak-Myers, P. (2020). Ethics in Educational Research. In I. Burnell & J. Roffey-Barentsen (Eds.), *Completing Your EdD: The Essential Guide to the Doctor of Education* (pp. 61–89). Emerald Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1108/978-1-78973-563-520201005

Appendices



3 May 2023

Dear Jonathan (Hay)

Thank you for submitting your ethics application and additional information for "Autism and Internationalised schools: the search for a socially just education in the People's Republic of China." The information you provided has been reviewed and I can confirm that approval has been granted for this project.

As principal investigator your responsibilities include:

- ensuring that (where applicable) all the necessary legal and regulatory requirements in order to conduct the research are met, and the necessary licenses and approvals have been obtained;
- reporting any ethics-related issues that occur during the course of the research or arising from the research (e.g. unforeseen ethical issues, complaints about the conduct of the research, adverse reactions such as extreme distress) to the Research Ethics Officer (Dr Richard Budd or Dr Jonathan Vincent).
- submitting details of proposed substantive amendments to the protocol to your supervisor, Dr Sue Cranmer, for referral and subsequent approval.

Please do not hesitate to contact your supervisor if you require further information about this. Kind regards,

Sheila Walton

Programme Administrator Doctoral Programme in Education and Social Justice

Head of Department Professor Paul Ashwin, BA, MSc, PhD Professors Carolyn Jackson, BSc, PhD Don Passey, BSc, MA, PhD Murray Saunders, BA, MA, PhD Malcolm Tight, BSc, PhD Paul Trowler, BA, MA, Cert Ed., PhD Jo Warin, BA, MA, PGCE, PhD

http://www.lancaster.ac.uk/fass/edres/

Educational Research
County South
Lancaster University
Bailrigg Campus
Lancaster
LA1 4YD
United Kingdom
TEL: (+44) (0)1524 593572

Appendix Two - WeChat Message Text for Student Participation

Hello,

My name is Jonathan Hay, and I am currently a PhD candidate at Lancaster University in the UK. My PhD thesis is concerned with the experiences of students (between the ages of 15-18) diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder who attend an internationalised school in China and teachers who teach at an internationalised school in China.

If you are:

A student diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder who attends an internationalised school in China,

I would love to hear more about your experiences and would like to invite you to take part in my PhD research project.

I have included participant information sheets below this message for your consideration.

If you have any questions or would like to take part in this research, please do email me at <u>j.hay2@lancaster.ac.uk</u>.

Best wishes,

Jonathan

Appendix Three – *WeChat* Message Text for Teacher Participation

Hello,

My name is Jonathan Hay, and I am currently a PhD candidate at Lancaster University in the UK. My PhD thesis is concerned with the experiences of students (between the ages of 15-18) diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder who attend an internationalised school in China and teachers who teach at an internationalised school in China.

If you are:

A teacher who teaches at an internationalised school in China,

I would love to hear more about your experiences and would like to invite you to take part in my PhD research project.

I have included participant information sheets below this message for your consideration.

If you have any questions or would like to take part in this research, please do email me at i.hay2@lancaster.ac.uk.

Best wishes,

Jonathan

Appendix Four – Teacher Participant Information Sheet



Participant information sheet 2

Autism and internationalised schools: The search for a socially just education in the People's Republic of China

For further information about how Lancaster University processes personal data for research purposes and your data rights please visit our webpage: www.lancaster.ac.uk/research/data-protection

My name is Jonathan Hay, I am a PhD student at Lancaster <u>University</u> and I would like to invite you to take part in a research study entitled: Autism and internationalised schools: The search for a socially just education in the People's Republic of China

Please take time to read the following information carefully before you decide whether or not you wish to take part.

What is the study about?

This study aims to investigate whether the growing number of internationalised schools in China are capable of offering students diagnosed with level one autism spectrum disorder an education that contributes to their inclusion in society, helps them to achieve their life goals, and enables them to become active and participatory citizens.

Why have I been invited?

I have approached you because you are a teacher who teaches at an internationalised school within the People's Republic of China. I would like to hear your thoughts on teaching students with autism spectrum disorders and your opinions on the ability of your internationalised school to provide these students with a <a href="https://doi.org/10.108/j.com/https://do

What will I be asked to do if I take part?

If you decided to take part, this would involve the following: You will be asked to participate in an individual interview. During the course of the interview, we will be discussing your thoughts on teaching students with autism spectrum disorder and the ability of your internationalised school to support and involve these students. There will be no formal interview questions however questions may develop throughout the course of our conversation. The interview can take place online or face to face in a location that you feel comfortable in. If you choose to participate in an online interview, the online interview will take place on Microsoft Teams. This meeting room will be private, and password protected and instructions on how to access Microsoft Teams will be provided to all online participants privately. Microsoft Teams will be used to record the online interview to allow for transcription by myself at a later stage. All recordings will be destroyed after transcription has taken place. If the interview takes place in a face-to-face setting, the voice recorder application on a Microsoft computer will be used to record the interview. As with online interviews, once I have transcribed our conversation, all recordings will be deleted.

What are the possible benefits from taking part?

If you participate in this study, your insights could help advance research and allow us to understand how teachers view autistic students who attend internationalised schools in China and whether or not internationalised schools are capable of providing autistic students with a more socially just education. You may find potential benefit in being able to talk about your experiences.

Do I have to take part?

No. It's completely up to you to decide whether or not you take part. Your participation is voluntary.

What if I change my mind?

If you change your mind, you are free to withdraw at any time during your participation in this study whether it be before, during, or after your interview. If you want to withdraw, please let me know, and I will extract any ideas or information you contributed to the study and destroy them. However, it is difficult and often impossible to take out data from one specific participant when this has already been anonymised or pooled together with other people's data. Therefore, you can only withdraw up to 2 weeks after your interview has taken place.

What are the possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?

It is unlikely that there will be any major disadvantages to taking part although the interview/focus group process will last approximately 60 minutes which, depending on your schedule, may serve as a slight inconvenience. It may be the case that, for some participants, discussing experiences and views of autism could be regarded as a sensitive topic. If discussing your experiences and views of autism is likely to make you feel uncomfortable in any way, it is recommended that you do not take part in this piece of research

Will my data be identifiable?

After the interview only I, the researcher conducting this study, will have access to the ideas you share with me. I may quote you in my thesis however the full transcribed interview will remain accessible only to myself. Audio recordings, once transcribed, will be deleted to further protect your identity.

I will keep all personal information about you (e.g. your name and other information about you that can identify you) confidential, that is I will not share it with others. I will remove any personal information from the written record of your contribution. All reasonable steps will be taken to protect the anonymity of the participants involved in this project. The only information that will be recorded will be your status as a teacher at an internationalised school, your level of education, your age and gender, and your number of years teaching.

How will we use the information you have shared with us and what will happen to the results of the research study?

I will use the information you have shared with me only in the following ways:
I will use it for research purposes only. This will include my PhD thesis and other
publications, for example journal articles. I may also present the results of my study at
academic conferences.

When writing up the findings from this study, I would like to reproduce some of the views and ideas you shared with me. I will only use anonymised quotes, so that although I will use your exact words, all reasonable steps will be taken to protect your anonymity in our publications.

If <u>anything</u> you tell me in the interview suggests that you or somebody else might be at risk of harm, I will be obliged to share this information with others (my PhD supervisor and, potentially, a relevant professional). If <u>possible</u> I will inform you of this breach of confidentiality.

How my data will be stored

Your data will be stored in encrypted files (that is no-one other than me, the researcher will be able to access them) and on password-protected computers. I will store hard copies of any data securely in locked cabinets. I will keep data that can identify you separately from non-personal information (e.g. your views on a specific topic). In accordance with <u>University</u> guidelines, I will keep the data securely for a minimum of ten years

What if I have a question or concern?

If you have any queries or if you are unhappy with anything that happens concerning your participation in the study, please contact myself at i.hay2@lancaster.ac.uk. You are also welcome to contact my PhD supervisor, III supervisor, III supervis

If you have any concerns or complaints that you wish to discuss with a person who is not directly involved in the research, you can also contact: Dr. Jan McArthur atj.mcarthur@lancaster.ac.uk.

This study has been reviewed and approved by the Faculty of Arts and Social Sciences and Lancaster Management School's Research Ethics Committee.

Thank you for considering your participation in this project.

Appendix Five – Student Participant Information Sheet



Participant information sheet 1

Autism and internationalised schools: The search for a socially just education in the People's Republic of China

For further information about how Lancaster University processes personal data for research purposes and your data rights please visit our webpage: www.lancaster.ac.uk/research/data-protection

My name is Jonathan Hay, I am a PhD student at Lancaster <u>University</u> and I would like to invite you to take part in a research study entitled: Autism and internationalised schools: The search for a socially just education in the People's Republic of China

Please take time to read the following information carefully before you decide whether or not you wish to take part.

What is the study about?

This study aims to investigate whether the growing number of internationalised schools in China are capable of offering students diagnosed with level one autism spectrum disorder an education that contributes to their inclusion in society, helps them to achieve their life goals, and enables them to become active and participatory citizens.

Why have I been invited?

I have approached you because you are currently a student who attends an internationalised school within the People's Republic of China, and you have been diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder. As this study is concerned with the experiences of autistic people, it is your voice I would like to hear from and your experiences of attending an internationalised school and views concerning your education that are important.

I would be very grateful if you would agree to take part in this study.

What will I be asked to do if I take part?

If you decided to take part, this would involve the following: You will be asked to participate in an individual interview. During the course of the interview, we will be discussing your experiences as an autistic person who attends an internationalised school. There will be no formal interview questions however questions may develop throughout the course of our conversation. This interview can take place online or face to face in a location that you feel comfortable in. If you choose to be interviewed online, this interview will take place on Microsoft Teams. This meeting room will be private, and password protected and instructions on how to access Microsoft Teams will be provided to all online participants privately. Microsoft Teams will be used to record the online interview to allow for transcription by myself at a later stage. All recordings will be destroyed after transcription has taken place. If the interview takes place in a face-to-face setting, the voice recorder application on a Microsoft computer will be used to record the interview. As with online interviews, once I have transcribed our conversation, all recordings will be deleted.

What are the possible benefits from taking part?

If you participate in this study, your insights could help advance research and allow us to understand the experiences of autistic people who attend internationalised schools in China

and whether or not internationalised schools are capable of providing autistic students with a more socially just education. You may find potential benefit in being able to talk about your experiences or hear from others (if you are part of a focus group).

Do I have to take part?

No. It's completely up to you to decide whether or not you take part. Your participation is voluntary.

What about my parent(s) or guardian(s)?

As you are between the ages of 15-18 and in full time education permission from your parent(s) or guardian(s) will be required for your participation in this piece of research. Most importantly however is your consent to take part in this research. If your parent(s) or guardian(s) wishes for you to take part in this research but you do not, you are under no obligation to take part.

What if I change my mind?

If you change your mind, you are free to withdraw at any time during your participation in this study whether It be before, during, or after your interview. If you want to withdraw, please let me know, and I will extract any ideas or information you contributed to the study and destroy them. However, it is difficult and often impossible to take out data from one specific participant when this has already been anonymised or pooled together with other people's data. Therefore, you can only withdraw up to 2 weeks after your interview has taken place.

What are the possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?

It is unlikely that there will be any major disadvantages to taking part although the interview/focus group process will last approximately 60 minutes which, depending on your schedule, may serve as a slight inconvenience. It may be the case that, for some participants, discussing experiences and views of autism could be regarded as a sensitive topic. If discussing your experiences and views of autism is likely to make you feel uncomfortable in any way, it is recommended that you do not take part in this piece of research.

Will my data be identifiable?

After the interview, only I, the researcher conducting this study, will have access to the ideas you share with me. I may quote you in my thesis however the full transcribed interview will remain accessible only to myself. Audio recordings, once transcribed, will be deleted to further protect your identity.

I will keep all personal information about you (e.g. your name and other information about you that can identify you) confidential, that is I will not share it with others. I will remove any personal information from the written record of your contribution. All reasonable steps will be taken to protect the anonymity of the participants involved in this project. The only information that will be recorded will be your status as a student at an internationalised school, your age and gender, and your diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder.

How will we use the information you have shared with us and what will happen to the results of the research study?

I will use the information you have shared with me only in the following ways: I will use it for research purposes only. This will include my PhD thesis and other publications, for example journal articles. I may also present the results of my study at academic conferences.

When writing up the findings from this study, I would like to reproduce some of the views and ideas you shared with me. I will only use anonymised quotes, so that although I will use your exact words, all reasonable steps will be taken to protect your anonymity in our publications.

If <u>anything</u> you tell me in the interview suggests that you or somebody else might be at risk of harm, I will be obliged to share this information with others (my PhD supervisor and, potentially, a relevant professional). If <u>possible</u> I will inform you of this breach of confidentiality.

How my data will be stored

Your data will be stored in encrypted files (that is no-one other than me, the researcher, will be able to access them) and on password-protected computers. I will store hard copies of any data securely in locked cabinets. I will keep data that can identify you separately from non-personal information (e.g. your views on a specific topic). In accordance with University guidelines, I will keep the data securely for a minimum of ten years.

What if I have a question or concern?

If you have any queries or if you are unhappy with anything that happens concerning your participation in the study, please contact myself at j.hay2@lancaster.ac.uk. You are also welcome to contact my PhD supervisor, Dr. Sue Cranmer, at s.cranmer@lancaster.ac.uk.

If you have any concerns or complaints that you wish to discuss with a person who is not directly involved in the research, you can also contact: Dr. Jan McArthur at imcarthur@lancaster.ac.ukmailto:

This study has been reviewed and approved by the Faculty of Arts and Social Sciences and Lancaster Management School's Research Ethics Committee.

Thank you for considering your participation in this project.

Appendix Six – Parent/Guardian of Student Participant Information Sheet



Participant information sheet 1 (Parental/Guardian information)

Autism and internationalised schools: The search for a socially just education in the People's Republic of China

For further information about how Lancaster University processes personal data for research purposes and your data rights please visit our webpage: www.lancaster.ac.uk/research/data-protection

My name is Jonathan Hay, I am a PhD student at Lancaster <u>University</u> and I would like to invite your child to take part in a research study entitled: Autism and internationalised schools: The search for a socially just education in the People's Republic of China

Please take time to read the following information carefully before you decide whether or not you wish to take part.

What is the study about?

This study aims to investigate whether the growing number of internationalised schools in China are capable of offering students diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder an education that contributes to their inclusion in society, helps them to achieve their life goals, and enables them to become active and participatory citizens.

Why has your child been invited?

I have approached your child because they are currently a student who attends an internationalised school within the People's Republic of China, and who has been diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder. As this study is concerned with the experiences of autistic people, it is their voice I would like to hear from and their experiences of attending an internationalised school and views concerning their education that are important.

What will your child be asked to do if they take part?

If your child decides to take part, this would involve the following: They will be asked to participate in an individual interview. During the course of the interview, we will be discussing their experiences as an autistic person who attends an internationalised school. There will be no formal interview questions however questions may develop throughout the course of our conversation. The interview can take place online or face to face in a location that your child feels comfortable in. If your child chooses to participate in an online interview, the online interview will take place on Microsoft Teams. This meeting room will be private, and password protected and instructions on how to access Microsoft Teams will be provided to all online participants privately. Microsoft Teams will be used to record the online interview to allow for transcription by myself at a later stage. All recordings will be destroyed after transcription has taken place. If the interview takes place in a face-to-face setting, the voice recorder application on a Microsoft computer will be used to record the interview. As with online interviews, once I have transcribed any conversation, all recordings will be deleted.

What are the possible benefits from taking part?

If your child participates in this study, their insights could help advance research and allow us to understand the experiences of autistic people who attend internationalised schools in China and whether or not internationalised schools are capable of providing autistic students

with a more socially just education. Your child may find potential benefit in being able to talk about their experiences or hear from others (if they are part of a focus group).

Does my child have to take part?

No. It's completely up to your child to decide whether or not they take part. Their participation is voluntary.

What about me/us as (a) parent(s) or guardian(s)?

As your child is between the ages of 15-18 and in full time education, permission from you, as a parent(s) or guardian(s), will be required for your child's participation in this piece of research. Most importantly however is your child's consent to take part in this research. If you, as a parent(s) or guardian(s), wish for your child to take part in this research but your child does not, your child will be under no obligation to take part.

What if my child changes their mind?

If your child changes their mind, they are free to withdraw at any time during their participation in this study whether It be before, during, or after your interview within 2 weeks of the interview taking place. If they want to withdraw, please let me know, and I will extract any ideas or information they contributed to the study and destroy them. However, it is difficult and often impossible to take out data from one specific participant when this has already been anonymised or pooled together with other people's data. Therefore, your child can only withdraw up to 2 weeks after their interview has taken place.

What are the possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?

It is unlikely that there will be any major disadvantages to taking part although the interview/focus group process will last approximately 60 minutes which, depending on your child's schedule, may serve as a slight inconvenience. It may be the case that, for some participants, discussing experiences and views of autism could be regarded as a sensitive topic. If discussing experiences and views of autism is likely to make your child feel uncomfortable in any way, it is recommended that they do not take part in this piece of research.

Will my child's data be identifiable?

After the interview, only I, the researcher conducting this study, will have access to the ideas your child has shared with me. I may quote your child in my thesis however the full transcribed interview will remain accessible only to myself. Audio recordings, once transcribed, will be deleted to further protect your child's identity.

I will keep all personal information about your child (e.g. name and other information about your child that can identify them) confidential, that is I will not share it with others. I will remove any personal information from the written record of your child's contribution. All reasonable steps will be taken to protect the anonymity of the participants involved in this project. The only information that will be recorded will be your child's status as a student at an internationalised school, their age and gender, and their diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder.

How will we use the information your child <u>have</u> shared with us and what will happen to the results of the research study?

I will use the information your child <u>have</u> shared with me only in the following ways: I will use it for research purposes only. This will include my PhD thesis and other publications, for example journal articles. I may also present the results of my study at academic conferences.

When writing up the findings from this study, I would like to reproduce some of the views and ideas your child has shared with me. I will only use anonymised quotes, so that although I will use your child's exact words, all reasonable steps will be taken to protect your child's anonymity in our publications.

If <u>anything</u> your child tells me in the interview suggests that they or somebody else might be at risk of harm, I will be obliged to share this information with others (my PhD supervisor and, potentially, a relevant professional). If <u>possible</u> I will inform you and your child of this breach of confidentiality.

How my child's data will be stored

Your child's data will be stored in encrypted files (that is no-one other than me, the researcher, will be able to access them) and on password-protected computers. I will store hard copies of any data securely in locked cabinets. I will keep data that can identify your child separately from non-personal information (e.g. your child's views on a specific topic). In accordance with University guidelines, I will keep the data securely for a minimum of ten years.

What if I have a question or concern?

If you have any queries or if you are unhappy with anything that happens concerning your child's participation in the study, please contact myself at hay2@lancaster.ac.uk. You are also welcome to contact my PhD supervisor, Dr. Sue Cranmer, at s.cranmer@lancaster.ac.uk.

If you have any concerns or complaints that you wish to discuss with a person who is not directly involved in the research, you can also contact: Dr. Jan McArthur at i.mcarthur@lancaster.ac.ukmaito:

This study has been reviewed and approved by the Faculty of Arts and Social Sciences and Lancaster Management School's Research Ethics Committee.

Thank you for considering your child's participation in this project.

Appendix Seven – Participant Consent Form

CONSENT FORM

Project Title: Autism and internationalised schools: The search for a socially just education in the People's Republic of

mail: j.hay?@lancaster.ac.uk lease tick each box			
I confirm that I have read and understand the information sheet for the above study. I have had the opportunity to consider the information, ask questions and have had these answered satisfactorily			d the
I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time before or during my participation in this study and within 2 weeks after I took part in an interview without giving any reason. If I withdraw within 2 weeks of an interview my data will be removed.			
. I understand that if I am between the ages of 15-18 parental/guardian consent will be sought as well as school consent if I learned about this research from my school.			ll as
I understand that any information given by me may be used in future reports, academic articles, publications or presentations by the researcher/s, but my personal information will not be included, and all reasonable steps will be taken to protect the anonymity of the participants involved in this project.			
I understand that my anonymised data will not be shared with any external party or external data bank.			ank.
I understand that my name/my schools name will not appear in any reports, articles, or presentations.			ns.
. I understand that any interviews will be audio-recorded and transcribed, and that data will be protected on encrypted devices and kept secure.			cted
 I understand that whilst my audio- transcribed data will be kept accordend of the study. 	e 🗆		
I agree to take part in the above stu	dy.		
me of Participant Date gnature of parent/guardian (if applicable) confirm that the participant was give rticipant have been answered corrected to giving consent, and the consent has	le) n an opportunity to ask qu ctly and to the best of my	ability. I confirm that the individ	he questions asked by the
gnature of Researcher /	Date	Day/month/year	
One copy of this form will be given to t	he participant and the origin	al kept in the files of the researcher at	t Lancaster University
8-9-19			

Appendix Eight – Interview Questions Asked to Student Participants

My name is Jonathan Hay, I am a PhD student at Lancaster University, and I would like to invite you to take part in a research study entitled: **Autism and internationalised schools:**The search for a socially just education in the People's Republic of China. Today I just want to ask you some questions related to your experiences of being an autistic student who attends an internationalised (change internationalised depending on familiarity with other terms such as Chinese international or bilingual) school in China. Would that be okay?

The concept of valuing autism and/or being valued as an autistic student within Chinese internationalised schools

- So, let's start with a really common question, how do you find school? Is there anything you like or dislike? Anything you think could be better? Anything you think is really good?
- How do you feel being identified as autistic has impacted your time at school so far?
- So, I'm really interested in how autistic people, such as yourself, are viewed in school. How do you feel your school views you?
- How do you think your school supports your individual needs as an autistic student?
 Are there any specific supports or accommodations that you feel are missing or could be improved upon in your school?
- Do you feel that your teachers and staff members understand your strengths and challenges as an autistic student?
- Have you ever felt excluded or misunderstood by your classmates or peers? If so,
 can you provide examples and describe how it made you feel?

- How comfortable do you feel expressing your needs and to your teachers and Do you feel that your input is valued?
- Have you been involved in any decision-making processes related to your education (give examples if needed)? If so, can you describe those experiences and how they made you feel?
- Can you think of any instances where your school has gone above and beyond to make you feel valued and included?

The quality of education provided to autistic students and the extent to which this education can lead to meaningful opportunities

- How would you describe the educational opportunities and resources available to you in your school?
- How do you feel about your education being designed specifically to support autistic students like yourself? How is this similar or different to your school?
- In your opinion, how effectively does your school's curriculum take into account your strengths, challenges, and interests?
- Have you had opportunities to participate in extracurricular activities, clubs, or projects that align with your interests and talents? Has this helped you in school?
- Have you received any guidance or support from your school in looking at what happens after you leave school?
- Do you think that your school has helped you become ready for what comes next?
- Are there any areas where you feel your school could improve its support and education to better help you after you finish at school?

 Overall, how confident are you that the education you are receiving at your school will help you achieve your dreams?

Difference and attitudes towards difference that exist within the school community

- How would you describe the overall attitude towards difference within your school?
- Have you personally experienced or observed instances of acceptance towards those with differences?
- Have there been any situations where you felt that differences were not appreciated or understood?
- How well do you think your teachers and classmates understand what autism is and what it's like to be autistic?
- Have you ever encountered any negative views of autism? How did this make you feel within your school?
- Can you describe any activities that your school does to help people understand and accept differences?
- How comfortable would you feel talking to your teachers and classmates about autism?
- Are there any changes or improvements you would like to see in your school to better support those with differences?
- How do you think your school's understanding of differences has impacted your education?

Closing

- Well, they are all the questions I have. Is there anything that you would like to add that we haven't discussed or anything that you'd like to bring up?
- Thank you so very much in taking part in this interview. Your responses will help us
 develop a better understanding of just how internationalised schools operate in
 supporting autistic students.

Appendix Nine – Interview Questions Asked to Staff Participants

My name is Jonathan Hay, I am a PhD student at Lancaster University, and I would like to invite you to take part in a research study entitled: **Autism and internationalised schools:**The search for a socially just education in the People's Republic of China. Today I just want to ask you some questions related to your experiences of being a teacher who works at an internationalised (change internationalised depending on familiarity with other terms such as Chinese international or bilingual) school in China and who may or may not have specifically taught autistic students. Would that be okay?

The concept of valuing autism and/or being valued as an autistic student within Chinese internationalised schools

- So, let's start with a really common question, how do you find working in an
 internationalised school? Is there anything you like or dislike? Anything you think
 could be better? Anything you think is really good?
- How do you feel working with autistic students could impact your time at school work?
- So, I'm really interested in how you as a teacher view autistic students (real or hypothetically) in your school

- How do you think your school supports the needs of autistic students? Are there any
 specific supports or accommodations that you feel are missing or could be improved
 upon in your school?
- Do you feel that you and your colleagues understand the strengths and challenges of autistic students?
- How comfortable would you feel working with autistic students. Would you feel that their input was important?
- Have you been involved in any decision-making processes related to the educational practices in your school?
- Can you think of any instances where your school has gone above and beyond to make students feel valued and included?

The quality of education provided to autistic students and the extent to which this education can lead to meaningful opportunities

- How would you describe the educational opportunities and resources available to autistic students in your school?
- How do you feel about your school's curriculum being designed specifically to support autistic students? How is this similar or different to now?
- In your opinion, how effectively does your school's curriculum take into account the needs of autistic people?
- Do autistic students have opportunities to participate in extracurricular activities,
 clubs, or projects that align with their interests and talents?
- Do autistic students receive any guidance or support from your school in looking at what happens after school?

- Do you think that your school has helped autistic students become ready for what comes next?
- Are there any areas where you feel your school could improve its support and education to better help autistic students after they finish at school?
- Overall, how confident are you that the educational experience that your school provides will help autistic people in life?

Difference and attitudes towards difference that exist within the school community

- How would you describe the overall attitude towards difference within your school?
- Have you personally experienced or observed instances of acceptance towards those with differences?
- Have there been any situations where you felt that differences were not appreciated or understood?
- How well do you think you, your students, and your colleagues understand what autism is and what it's like to be autistic?
- Have you ever encountered any negative views of autism? How do you feel about these views?
- How does your school work in promoting differences? Should your school promote differences?
- How comfortable would you feel talking to your students or colleagues about autism and autism education? Should there be discussions about this?
- Are there any changes or improvements you would like to see in your school to better support those with differences?

 How do you think your school's understanding of differences has impacted your professional development?

Closing

- Well, they are all the questions I have. Is there anything that you would like to add that we haven't discussed or anything that you'd like to bring up?
- Thank you so very much in taking part in this interview. Your responses will help us
 develop a better understanding of just how internationalised schools operate in
 supporting autistic students.